# JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technologies

Development and Evaluation of Rehabilitation, Physiotherapy and Assistive Technologies, Robotics, Prosthetics and Implants, Mobility and Communication Tools, Home Automation and Telerehabilitation Volume 9 (2022), Issue 3 ISSN 2369-2529 Editor in Chief: Sarah Munce, MS, PhD

## Contents

### **Original Papers**

The Utility and Acceptability of a New Noninvasive Ventilatory Assist Device, Rest-Activity Cycler-Positive Airways Pressure, During Exercise in a Population of Healthy Adults: Cohort Study (e35494)	
Julie Reeve, Sarah Mooney, Nicola Jepsen, David White.	3
Mobility-Focused Physical Outcome Measures Over Telecommunication Technology (Zoom): Intra and Interrater Reliability Trial (e38101)	
Marie-Louise Bird, Felix Peel, Matt Schmidt, Natalie Fini, Emily Ramage, Brodie Sakakibara, Dawn Simpson, Carey Mather, Dominique Cadilhac, Kiran Ahuja, Heather Bridgman, Coralie English	16
Assistive Robots for Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: Exploratory Task-Based Evaluation Study With an Early-Stage Demonstrator (e35304)	
Robert Klebbe, Stefan Scherzinger, Cornelia Eicher.	25
Use of a Social Robot (LOVOT) for Persons With Dementia: Exploratory Study (e36505)	
Birthe Dinesen, Helle Hansen, Gry Grønborg, Anne-Kirstine Dyrvig, Sofie Leisted, Henrik Stenstrup, Cathrine Skov Schacksen, Claus Oestergaard.	43
A Mixed Reality Cognitive Orthosis to Support Older Adults in Achieving Their Daily Living Activities: Focus Group Study With Clinical Experts (e34983)	
Amel Yaddaden, Guillaume Spalla, Charles Gouin-Vallerand, Patricia Briskie-Semeniuk, Nathalie Bier.	55
Detection of Low Back Physiotherapy Exercises With Inertial Sensors and Machine Learning: Algorithm Development and Validation (e38689)	
Abdalrahman Alfakir, Colin Arrowsmith, David Burns, Helen Razmjou, Michael Hardisty, Cari Whyne	74
Automated Assessment of Balance Rehabilitation Exercises With a Data-Driven Scoring Model: Algorithm Development and Validation Study (e37229)	
Vassilios Tsakanikas, Dimitris Gatsios, Athanasios Pardalis, Kostas Tsiouris, Eleni Georga, Doris-Eva Bamiou, Marousa Pavlou, Christos Nikitas, Dimitrios Kikidis, Isabelle Walz, Christoph Maurer, Dimitrios Fotiadis.	87
mHealth Apps for Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation: Systematic Search in App Stores and Content Analysis (e34355)	
Shíofra Ryan, Noirín Ní Chasaide, Shane O' Hanrahan, Darragh Corcoran, Brian Caulfield, Rob Argent.	102

XSL•F<del>O</del> RenderX

Lessons Learned From Clinicians and Exergames: Multiple Case Study (e31	I Stroke Survivors About Using Telereha 305)	abilitation Combined With	
Dorra Allegue, Shane Sweet, Johanne Higgins, 1	Philippe Archambault, Francois Michaud, William 2	ı Miller, Michel Tousignant, Dahlia Kairy 6	
Feasibility of Virtual Reality Exercises	at Home for Post-COVID-19 Condition	: Cohort Study (e36836)	
Tjitske Groenveld, Retze Achttien, Merlijn Smits	, Marjan de Vries, Ron van Heerde, Bart Staal, Ha	arry van Goor, COVID Rehab Group	140
Return-to-Work Following Occupationa	al Rehabilitation for Long COVID: Descri	iptive Cohort Study (e39883)	
Katelyn Brehon, Riikka Niemeläinen, Mark Hall,	Geoff Bostick, Cary Brown, Marguerite Wieler, D	ouglas Gross	156
Internet-Based Information Sharing Wi	th Families of Patients With Stroke in a R	Rehabilitation Hospital During	
Tatsunori Murakami, Yumi Higuchi, Tetsuya Uec	da, Wataru Kozuki, Aki Gen		171

## Review

Real-Time Telerehabilitation in Older Adults With Musculoskeletal Conditions: Systematic Review and	
Meta-analysis (e36028)	
Nathaphon Jirasakulsuk, Pattaridaporn Saengpromma, Santhanee Khruakhorn	114



#### **Original Paper**

## The Utility and Acceptability of a New Noninvasive Ventilatory Assist Device, Rest-Activity Cycler-Positive Airways Pressure, During Exercise in a Population of Healthy Adults: Cohort Study

Julie Reeve<sup>1</sup>, Grad Dip (Physiotherapy), MSc, PhD; Sarah Mooney<sup>1</sup>, BSc (Hons), MSc, DHSc; Nicola Jepsen<sup>1</sup>, BHSc, MPH; David White<sup>2</sup>, BE, ME, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Clinical Sciences, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand
<sup>2</sup>Department of Mechanical Engineering, Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Nicola Jepsen, BHSc, MPH School of Clinical Sciences Auckland University of Technology Department of Physiotherapy 90 Akoranga Drive Auckland, 0627 New Zealand Phone: 64 9219999 ext 7951 Email: <u>nicola.jepsen@aut.ac.nz</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** Noninvasive ventilation has been demonstrated to benefit people who have moderate to severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease during acute exacerbations. Studies have begun to investigate the effectiveness of noninvasive ventilation during pulmonary rehabilitation to improve outcomes for people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; however, the lack of portability and humidification of these devices means their use is limited, especially when performing activities of daily living. A new prototype device, RACer-PAP (rest-activity cycler-positive airways pressure), delivers battery-operated positive airway pressure via a nasal interface while regulating nasal airway apportionment bias, removing the need for supplementary humidification. This device may offer people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease an improved ability to participate in pulmonary rehabilitation and activities of daily living.

**Objective:** To assess the feasibility of exercising with the RACer-PAP in situ and the acceptability of the device during exercise in normal, healthy individuals.

**Methods:** A total of 15 healthy adults were invited to attend 2 exercise sessions, each 1 week apart. Sessions lasted approximately 1 hour and included 2 baseline 6-minute walk distance assessments, once with and once without the RACer-PAP in situ. Vital signs and spirometry results were monitored throughout, and spirometry was performed pre- and posttesting with RACer-PAP. Subjective questionnaires ascertained participant feedback on exercising with the device in situ.

**Results:** Of the 15 initial participants, 14 (93%) completed both sessions. There were no adverse events associated with exercising with the device in situ. There were no differences in vital signs or 6-minute walk distance whether exercising with or without the device in situ. There were small increases in maximum dyspnea score (on the Borg scale) when exercising with the device in situ (median score 2.0, IQR 0.5-3.0, vs 3.0, IQR 2.0-3.25). There were small increases in forced vital capacity following exercise with the RACer-PAP. None of the participants reported symptoms associated with airway drying. Participant feedback provided recommendations for modifications for the next iteration of the device prior to piloting the device with people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

**Conclusions:** This study has shown RACer-PAP to be safe and feasible to use during exercise and has provided feedback for modifications to the device to improve its use during exercise. We now propose to consider the application of the device in a small pilot feasibility study to assess the safety, feasibility, and utility of the device in a population of people with moderate to severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

Trial Registration:AustralianNewZealandClinicalTrialsRegistryACTRN12619000478112;https://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=375477375477

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e35494) doi:10.2196/35494

#### **KEYWORDS**

noninvasive ventilation; exercise; feasibility; humans; COPD; physiotherapy; pulmonary rehabilitation; rehabilitation

#### Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a term for progressive chronic lung diseases that cause airflow limitation, including emphysema, chronic bronchitis, and chronic asthma [1]. Based on large epidemiological studies, the global prevalence of COPD is estimated to be around 11.7% (95% CI 8.4%-15%), with around 3 million deaths occurring annually [2]. It is the fourth leading cause of mortality worldwide [1]. Guidelines for the management of COPD support a combination of interventions, including pharmacological therapy, smoking cessation, self-management of exacerbations, and pulmonary rehabilitation (PR) to improve health outcomes. Pulmonary rehabilitation is widely considered the gold standard intervention in patients with COPD to reduce dyspnea, improve exercise capacity, and improve health-related quality of life (QOL) [3].

Noninvasive ventilation (NIV) has been demonstrated to benefit people who have moderate to severe COPD during acute exacerbations and can help to reduce respiratory rate, mortality and intubation rates, and improve arterial oxygenation [4,5]. Studies have begun to investigate the effectiveness of NIV during exercise or PR to improve outcomes for patients with COPD. A recent meta-analysis [4] investigating NIV during exercise training found that NIV may help people with COPD to exercise at a greater intensity and duration and to achieve better training results compared to exercise training alone or exercise with sham NIV.

Most NIV devices are impractical for undertaking everyday activities and exercise because they are large, heavy, expensive, and rely on an AC power source. A further problem with many devices is the lack of humidification of inspired gases, which can dry the airways and airway secretions and cause problems for people with COPD. Additionally, most devices use a face mask interface, which is often unacceptably claustrophobic during exercise for people with COPD [6]. A lightweight, portable, humidified NIV device with a more user-friendly interface has the potential to improve PR outcomes and impact the lives of those with COPD who are restricted in their day-to-day lives due to their reduced exercise tolerance and breathlessness.

The RACer-PAP (rest activity cycler-positive airway pressure) is an NIV device designed by author DW and his design team at the BioDesign Laboratory of the Auckland University of Technology, which specializes in biomedical engineering. The prototype device was originally designed to increase comfort for patients with sleep apnea. It has been safely tested in a small sample of this population and has been found to reduce drying of the airways and nasal congestion [7]. The prototype RACer-PAP operates on room air and works in a similar manner to a continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) machine. CPAP

is a widely utilized form of NIV and has been shown to splint open the airways at end expiration, counter intrinsic positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP), and reduce the work of breathing [6,8]. Use of CPAP during exercise has also been shown to reduce breathlessness and improve exercise tolerance in people with COPD [6,9,10]. However, while using CPAP, the nasal cycle (where one nostril periodically conducts a greater apportionment of tidal airflow than the other [11]) is abolished [12], leading to airway drying [13,14]. Current CPAP machines use supplementary humidification to prevent this airway drying, which is impractical if using the device during travel or mobility. The prototype RACer-PAP device delivers the same positive airway pressure to the nose as a CPAP machine while simultaneously regulating nasal airflow apportionment bias. This device effectively reinstates the body's natural air-conditioning and protection systems and removes the need for supplementary humidification [15]. RACer-PAP technology, if acceptable to people with COPD, may be useful for applying positive airway pressure during travel, exercise, and activities of daily living.

The prototype RACer-PAP uses nasal pillows (Figure 1) as the interface. While the nasal breathing cycle is not fully understood, it is thought that, under usual circumstances, one nostril allows more airflow to pass through than the other, with flow alternating between nostrils approximately every three hours [11]. This is caused by periodic unilateral obstruction by turbinate hypertrophy and is believed to aid in the removal of contaminants [11]. A unique feature of the RACer-PAP is that the device determines the natural flow-dominant nostril for each individual within its first few assisted breaths, and following this, the device ramps up to an operator-set positive pressure to ensure that the dominant nostril passes a higher airflow than the nondominant nostril. PEEP is adjusted to each person's comfort level, with a range from 6 to 20 cm H<sub>2</sub>O, and accommodates each person's intrinsic PEEP [8]. This airflow bias between nostrils continues for a preset time, then switches, so that the other nostril receives the higher flow rate. This cycle time is predetermined by the therapist. The device can deliver up to 73 liters per minute of room air through each of the hoses (via each side of the nasal pillow), ensuring that the device is able to meet the high air flow demands of users, even during exercise. Through this process, the RACer-PAP device eliminates the need for supplementary humidification. The device can be battery operated, offering the convenience of treatment portability. We believe the RACer-PAP may have the potential to improve the ability of people with moderate to severe COPD to participate in PR and in activities of daily living. Prior to testing the acceptability, utility, and effectiveness of this device in people with COPD, the prototype RACer-PAP device requires evaluation in healthy volunteers.



Figure 1. RACer-PAP prototype in situ.



The aims of this study were to (1) assess the feasibility of exercising with the RACer-PAP prototype in situ; (2) investigate the utility and acceptability of the RACer-PAP prototype during rest and exercise; and (3) identify potential safety issues while utilizing the RACer-PAP prototype during exercise.

## Methods

#### **Ethics Approval**

Ethical permission for the study was granted by the Health and Disability Ethics Committee of New Zealand on December 5, 2018 (study number 18/NTB/191). Institutional ethics approval was granted by the Auckland University of Technology Ethics Committee on April 15, 2019 (study number 19/129). The study was prospectively registered and approved on ANZCTR (ACTRN12619000478112) on March 22, 2019.

#### **Study Design**

This was a feasibility study to establish the utility and acceptability of the prototype RACer-PAP device during exercise in normal, healthy individuals. Participants individually attended 2 sessions at the Auckland University of Technology (Auckland, NZ) that were held a maximum of 1 week apart. At session 1, participants completed baseline screening and became familiar with the prototype RACer-PAP device and the 6-minute walk test (6MWT). At session 2, participants completed exercise testing with and without the prototype RACer-PAP in situ in

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35494
```

randomized order and provided feedback on exercise with the RACer-PAP. Both sessions were at a similar time of day (to negate circadian variability) and lasted a maximum of 1.5 hours.

#### Participants

Participants were purposefully selected to include a diversity of ages, sexes, and ethnicities. Subjects were included if they were healthy adults aged >25 years and were able to attend both scheduled sessions. Subjects were excluded if they had facial deformities, nasal polyps, or turbinate abnormalities, such as a sinus infection or other conditions, that might have influenced nasal airflow regulation; were unwilling to wear the device or unable to tolerate the nasal pillow interface; had a diagnosis of heart disease, high blood pressure, respiratory disease, or any illness or injury that impaired physical performance; had an active infection; had positive findings from the Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q) and Electronic Physical Activity Readiness Medical Examination (ePARmed-X+) risk assessment tools; were under advice from a medical practitioner to avoid exercise; had spirometry results indicating airflow obstruction, with a forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1)/forced vital capacity (FVC) ratio of less than 70% [1]; or were unable to understand written or spoken English (this study lacked funding for translators).

#### Procedures

Two health care professionals were present at each session. The participants were screened for their suitability to participate using the PAR-Q risk assessment tool. If the PAR-Q result was positive, the participant completed an ePARmed-X+ [16] assessment to determine if they required referral to a medical professional for exercise clearance. If a participant was eligible to take part in the study, baseline screening of vital signs (heart rate, blood pressure, oxygen saturation) and spirometry (FEV1, FVC, and FEV1/FVC ratio) were undertaken. A trial 6MWT was undertaken following best practice guidelines [17]. This

Figure 2. RACer-PAP at rest (side view).

was followed by a 30-minute rest and was then followed by a second 6MWT.

Following baseline testing, the participant was shown the RACer-PAP, the device was explained, and the participant was fitted with the device at rest and during exercise (see Figure 2, Figure 3, and Figure 4). The device was worn at rest for 10 minutes at a participant-selected PEEP level between 6 to 10 cm  $H_2O$ . The participant-selected PEEP level was noted for further testing purposes at session 2. Participants were instructed to nose breathe, if possible, but to mouth breathe when necessary.





#### Reeve et al

Figure 3. RACer-PAP at rest (posterior view).



Immediately following removal of the RACer-PAP, spirometry testing and vital sign measurement were undertaken and the "RACer-PAP at rest" questionnaire was completed. Participants were allocated their own RACer-PAP nasal interface and tubing, which were sterilized and used for both assessments. After 1 week, the participants underwent baseline testing of vital signs and spirometry (as per session 1) and then completed two 6MWT assessments, one with the PACer-PAP in situ, and one without. The order in which these assessments were undertaken was randomized using computer-generated numbers to wash out any order effect. The allocation of the first assessment was stored in a sealed envelope and was either 6MWT with RACer-PAP in situ at the participant-determined comfortable PEEP level or 6MWT without RACer-PAP in situ. Immediately following the 6MWT, vital signs and spirometry were assessed. Participants then had a 30-minute rest, completed the second 6MWT, and underwent spirometry and vital sign measurements. The second RACer-PAP questionnaire (on exercise) was completed prior to the end of the session, when participants were encouraged to provide feedback through a Likert scale and an open-ended question requesting "any other comments."



#### Reeve et al

Figure 4. RACer-PAP during exercise.



#### **Data Analysis**

As this was a small feasibility study (N=15), the only reason to conduct statistical testing was to ascertain a measure of variance and within-subject differences. Demographic data were analyzed using descriptive statistics. Normally distributed data were described using the mean (SD) and nonnormally distributed data using the median (IQR). Data were analyzed for within-subject differences using paired-sample 2-tailed *t* tests to determine any differences in interval or ratio measures with and without the RACer-PAP in situ. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to analyze nonparametric data. Results of the Likert scale questions about the acceptability and comfort of the device were collated, and open comments were themed for commonality.

### Results

#### Participants

Fifteen participants were recruited via display posters at the Auckland University of Technology between December 2019 and December 2020. Fifteen participants attended session 1. One participant dropped out following session 1 (no reason for the dropout was given); thus, session 2 was attended by 14 participants. Although there was an 18-week study shutdown period in the middle of data collection due to COVID-19 lockdowns, the target sample size was achieved. The authors consider that the data from the sample of 15 participants is adequate to provide useful information about the feasibility, usability, and acceptability of this device [18]. Baseline characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 1.



Table 1. Baseline characteristics of all participants (N=15).

Characteristics	Values
Sex, n (%)	
Female	6 (40)
Male	9 (60)
Ethnicity, n (%)	
New Zealander European	8 (54)
Māori	2 (13)
Asian	2 (13)
Pacific Peoples	1 (7)
European	1 (7)
Other	1 (7)
Age (years), mean (SD, range)	50.6 (12.6, 26-68)
Height (cm), mean (SD, range)	171.4 (9.2, 154-184)
Weight (kg), mean (SD, range)	79.7 (15.7, 51.9-105.8)
Resting heart rate (bpm), mean (SD, range)	74.2 (12.9, 55-100)
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg), mean (SD, range)	127.9 (14.9, 105-152)
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg), mean (SD, range)	79.1 (8.4, 66-99)
Resting SpO <sub>2</sub> (%), mean (SD, range)	97.4 (1.5, 95-100)
Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (L/min), mean (SD, range)	3.14 (0.77, 1.57-4.76)
Forced vital capacity (L/min), mean (SD, range)	3.95 (0.98, 2.28-5.87)
Forced expiratory volume in 1 second/forced vital capacity ratio, mean (SD, range)	0.79 (0.06, 0.69-0.92)
6-minute walk distance (meters), mean (SD, range)	651.3 (86.6, 490-751)

#### Outcomes

Table 2 shows outcomes following 6MWT with and without the RACer-PAP in situ at session 2. The Wilcoxon signed-rank test revealed a significant increase in maximum dyspnea experienced during the 6MWT with the RACer-PAP in situ, with a moderate effect size (r=-0.45). A significant increase in FVC was seen following the 6MWT with the RACer-PAP in situ (Table 2). There were no significant changes in any other outcomes measured during this testing.

Table 2. (	Outcomes following	6-minute walk tes	t with and without the	device (rest-activity	y cycler-	positive airways	pressure) in situ
------------	--------------------	-------------------	------------------------	-----------------------	-----------	------------------	-------------------

Outcome	Subjects, n	After test 1 (without RACer-PAP <sup>a</sup> )	After test 2 (with RAC- er-PAP)	Test statistic	P value
Six-minute walk distance (meters), mean (SD)	14	657.9 (109.5)	653.5 (103.4)	t <sub>13</sub> =0.274	.79
Forced expiratory volume in 1 second (L/min), mean (SD)	12 <sup>b</sup>	3.19 (0.68)	3.18 (0.79)	t <sub>11</sub> =0.237	.82
Forced vital capacity (L/min), mean (SD)	12 <sup>b</sup>	3.95 (0.98)	4.11 (1.02)	t <sub>11</sub> =-2.506	.03
Forced expiratory volume in 1 sec- ond/forced vital capacity ratio, mean (SD)	12 <sup>b</sup>	0.81 (0.11)	0.77 (0.03)	t <sub>11</sub> =1.294	.22
Resting heart rate (bpm), mean (SD)	14	87.1 (18.6)	91.3 (16.3)	t <sub>13</sub> =-1.537	.15
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg), mean (SD)	8 <sup>b</sup>	129 (9.8)	132 (11.1)	<i>t</i> <sub>7</sub> =-1.240	.26
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg), mean (SD)	8 <sup>b</sup>	81.9 (5.1)	84.1 (6.3)	$t_6 = -0.949$	.38
Resting SpO <sub>2</sub> (%), mean (SD)	14	97.8 (0.89)	97.6 (1.3)	t <sub>13</sub> =0.715	.49
Maximum dyspnea (Borg scale), medi- an (IQR)	14	2.0 (0.5-3.0)	3.0 (2.0-3.25)	Z=-2.41	.02

<sup>a</sup>RACer-PAP: rest-activity cycler-positive airways pressure

<sup>b</sup>The number of participants was lower for these outcomes, as data were unavailable due to equipment error, malfunction, or poor participant technique.

There were no adverse events at any time during the testing period and no participants asked for the RACer-PAP to be removed at any point. Participants were asked to select their own breathing pressure (range 6-10 cm H<sub>2</sub>O). Six of 15 participants (40%) selected 6 cm H<sub>2</sub>O pressure, 3/15 participants (20%) selected 7 cm H<sub>2</sub>O, 4/15 participants (27%) selected 8

cm  $H_2O,$  and 2/15 participants (13%) selected 10 cm  $H_2O.$  The mean pressure selected was 7.3 (SD 1.4) cm  $H_2O.$ 

Participants were asked to rate the utility and comfort of the RACer-PAP at rest and during exercise using a Likert scale. The results are shown in Table 3 and Table 4.

Table 3. Likert scale ranking of utility and comfort of the device (rest-activity cycler-positive airways pressure) at rest (N=15).

Question	Scale	Participant ratings, n (%)		Rank mode (mean)			
		1	2	3	4	5	
How easy was it to fit the device?	Very easy (1) to very difficult (5)	0	5 (33)	5 (33)	5 (33)	0	2 (2.93)
How do you find wearing the device?	Very comfortable (1) to very uncomfort- able (5)	0	8 (53)	4 (27)	2 (13)	1 (7)	2 (2.63)
How would you rate the overall comfort of wearing this device?	Very comfortable (1) to very uncomfort- able (5)	0	7 (47)	5 (33)	3 (20)	0	2 (2.7)
How well does the device fit at rest?	Very well (1) to not well at all (5)	1 (7)	9 (60)	3 (20)	2 (13)	0	2 (2.4)
How would you rate the comfort of the waist strap?	Very comfortable (1) to very uncomfort- able (5)	3 (20)	7 (47)	1 (7)	2 (13)	1 (7)	2 (2.29)
How would you rate the overall comfort with the nasal mask whilst wearing this device?	Very comfortable (1) to very uncomfort- able (5)	0	6 (40)	5 (33)	4 (27)	0	2 (2.77)
How do you rate the weight of the device?	Very light (1) to very heavy (5)	2 (13)	2 (13)	5 (33)	6 (40)	0	3 (2.93)
How would you rate your overall ability to breathe whilst wearing the device at rest?	Very easy (1) to very difficult (5)	1 (7)	4 (27)	5 (33)	5 (33)	0	3 (2.90)
How would you rate the dryness in your nose (mouth) whilst wearing the device at rest?	Very moist (1) to very dry (5)	1 (7)	3 (20)	9 (60)	1 (7)	1 (7)	3 (2.83)

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 4. Likert scale ranking of utility and comfort of the device (rest-activity cycler-positive airways pressure) during exercise (N=14).

Question	Scale	Participant ratings, n (%)		Rank mode (mean)			
		1	2	3	4	5	
How did you find the weight of the device during exercise?	Very light (1) to very heavy (5)	0	4 (29)	5 (36)	4 (29)	1 (7)	3 (3.10)
How did you rate the overall portabil- ity of the device during exercise?	Very portable (1) to not portable (5)	4 (29)	3 (22)	1 (7)	5 (36)	1 (7)	4 (2.71)
How did you rate the overall comfort of the nasal mask during exercise?	Very comfortable (1) to very uncomfortable (5)	1 (7)	5 (36)	3 (22)	5 (36)	0	2 and 4 (2.82)
How did you rate the overall comfort of the waist strap during exercise?	Very comfortable (1) to very uncomfortable (5)	1 (7)	4 (29)	7 (50)	1 (7)	1 (7)	3 (2.75)
How do you rate your overall ability to move whilst exercising with the device compared to exercising with- out the device?	Much easier (1) to much harder (5)		0	3 (21)	11 (79)	0	4 (3.71)
How stable did the device feel during exercise?	Very stable (1) to very unstable (5)	0	7 (50)	5 (36)	1 (7)	1 (7)	2 (2.64)
How do you rate your overall ability to breathe while exercising with the device, compared to exercising with- out the device?	Much easier (1) to much harder (5)	0	0	0	11 (79)	3 (21)	4 (4.14)
How do you rate your overall ability to exercise with the device, compared to exercising without the device?	Much easier (1) to much harder (5)	0	2 (14)	2 (14)	8 (57)	2 (14)	4 (3.68)
How would you rate the dryness in your nose (mouth whilst wearing the device during exercise?	Very moist (1) to very dry (5)	0	7 (50)	3 (21)	2 (14)	2 (14)	2 (2.93)

#### **Open Comments**

Participant feedback was obtained both at rest (during session 1) and following exercise (during session 2). At both time points, comments centered around 3 emergent themes: the device and related interfaces, the effect of the device on breathing, and recommendations for future use.

## Session 1: Device and Related Interfaces (RACer-PAP at Rest)

The weight of the device was a dominant theme, with several participants describing the weight of the device as unfavorable. A smaller device was recommended to enhance the clinical utility of the device and allow future users to use the device more discreetly. Participants also suggested that shorter, less bulky tubing would be desirable. The nasal interface was described by a small number of participants as uncomfortable, causing their noses to become wet.

## Session 1: Device Effect on Breathing (RACer-PAP at Rest)

Several participants commented on the effect of the device on their breathing. One participant reported that their breathing was easier, one reported that their breathing felt "strange," resulting in increased awareness, one reported difficulty synchronizing their breathing at rest, and one person described the removal of the device as resulting in "...a wave of relaxed sensation lasting 5 seconds."

## Session 2: Device and Related Interface (RACer-PAP After Exercise)

The weight of the device was again considered too heavy and potentially cumbersome, with some participants recommending a smaller device. Participants found that the device bounced against the lower back, noting that improved stabilization of the device was necessary. Some participants felt that the belt with the device in situ felt "unbalanced," requiring frequent adjustment. Some suggested that this might impact breathing or cause discomfort during exercise. Some comments noted that the tubing was too long and that the nasal interface was uncomfortable. A softer, smaller, more discreet interface was suggested for use during activities of daily living. Some participants also noted mild discomfort during exercise in relation to the air temperature: they experienced nostril dampness and their spectacles steamed up.

## Session 2: Device Effect on Breathing (RACer-PAP After Exercise)

Several participants commented on the effect of the device on their breathing during exercise. For some, breathing required increased awareness and effort, especially during the expiratory phase. One participant described difficulty with nose breathing during exercise.

#### **Recommendations for Further Use**

Suggestions from participants included reduced device operating noise and a smaller, lighter device, which would be more discreet and aesthetically pleasing when undertaking activities.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

They also suggested that improved portability and flexibility of the interfaces (tubing, head strap, and nasal interface) would improve the usability of the device. It was also recommended that the device be simple and compact, to ensure that individuals can assemble and put on the device independently.

### Discussion

This small study found that in healthy individuals, exercising with the RACer-PAP in situ was safe, feasible, and acceptable to participants. Suggestions to increase comfort and utility of the device for exercise rehabilitation purposes and everyday activity were provided and will enable the development team to make ongoing modifications to the device.

Enabling people with respiratory disease to improve exercise capabilities, reduce dyspnea, and improve QOL has been the focus of PR for several decades. High quality evidence has shown PR to be a cornerstone intervention in achieving such outcomes [1], but patients with severe to very severe COPD may have difficulty achieving a sufficient training intensity with PR to achieve improvements in outcomes [19]. In a Cochrane review undertaken in 2014 [4], the use of NIV during PR was found to be safe; it improved exercise tolerance and dyspnea in a single treatment session, but evidence of improvement compared to controls was less consistent with longer-term training. It is currently unclear whether the demonstrated benefits of NIV during exercise training are clinically worthwhile or cost-effective [4]. The main limitations of the studies mentioned in a review by Menadue et al [4] were that NIV was applied only during exercise training, not during normal, day-to-day activities. Most devices lack portability and the ability to humidify during longer periods; these factors may also limit the use of NIV devices during PR. Additionally, the cost and time required to closely supervise exercise with such devices is prohibitive. The RACer-PAP, while still a prototype, offers a potential solution to overcoming these limitations and may provide patients with the ability to undertake activities of daily living in community settings due to its portability and humidification features. To our knowledge, this is unique in today's assisted ventilation market. Prior to testing the device in a population of patients with COPD, assessing the device in healthy individuals was necessary.

Our study has focused on assessing the feasibility and utility of this new novel assistive ventilatory device in healthy individuals during exercise, with a view to extending this to a population of people with COPD. The prototype device has previously been investigated and found to be safe in several populations (including in healthy people at rest and in those with sleep apnea) [7,20], but has not previously been tested during exercise. During this study, we observed no adverse events with the RACer-PAP during either rest or exercise. There were no significant differences between pre- and posttest results for any cardiovascular, oxygenation, or exercise tolerance measures. There was a significant increase in the participants' subjective assessment of their breathlessness during the 6MWT with the RACer-PAP in situ. While this difference was modest (a change in mean score of 2 to 3 on the Borg dyspnea scale), a change of 1 unit represents the minimal clinically important difference

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35494
```

for this scale [21]. This increase in dyspnea score while using the RACer-PAP during the 6MWT in healthy individuals was anticipated by the research team prior to the study. The research team expected that healthy participants might find the increased inspiratory flow and expiratory pressure uncomfortable during exercise testing. An increase in the perceived work of breathing was also reflected in the subjective comments by participants. At rest, participants reported that the device was comfortable, although 5/15 participants (33%) reported that breathing at rest with the device was "harder." During exercise, all participants (14/14, 100%) found it "harder" or "much harder" to breathe with the RACer-PAP, and 10 participants (10/14, 71%) rated their overall ability to exercise with the RACer-PAP "harder" or "much harder." All participants' dyspnea scores reverted to baseline within 2 minutes of ceasing the exercise test. All participants fully completed the exercise testing with the prototype RACer-PAP in situ and no participants requested the device be removed during the testing.

In people with COPD, it is possible that dyspnea and the perceived work of breathing may improve with the use of the RACer-PAP. One study of people with oxygen-dependent COPD found that using nasal high flow oxygen therapy (HFOT) increased tidal volume and end-expiratory lung volume and reduced respiratory rate at rest [22]. The mechanisms considered likely to be responsible for these changes were the probable reduction in anatomical dead space, the end-expiratory pressure of the HFOT device, and that the device functioned to match the participants' increased flow demands to the flow provided by the device, reducing the airflow resistance and work of breathing. We hypothesize that the RACer-PAP has the potential to be equivalent to humidified high flow therapy and optimum end-expiratory pressures, potentially offering a viable option for improving outcomes in people with COPD.

Interestingly, in this study, there was a significant increase in FVC following exercise with the RACer-PAP in situ. This was not accompanied by an increase in FEV1 or FEV1/FVC ratio. Nonetheless, the actual mean difference in FVC with and without RACer-PAP in situ was only 160 ml (95% CI 19 ml-295 ml), which is unlikely to be clinically significant in healthy adults. It is possible that this data is either spurious or dependent on improvement in participant technique; it requires ongoing evaluation.

The use of other types of NIV during exercise in people with COPD has shown an unloading of both the inspiratory and expiratory respiratory muscle pumps [23], with the reduction in dyspnea being proportional to the respiratory muscle unloading [24]. Similarly, improvements in gas exchange and breathing pattern [24-27] have been demonstrated. Improved regional muscle perfusion [28] and decreased exercise-induced lactic acidosis [28] have been shown with the use of NIV during exercise training, resulting in an associated reduction in symptoms of muscle fatigue [28,29]. We hypothesize that the RACer-PAP may also provide similar benefits to people with COPD.

Dynamic hyperinflation (DH) of the lungs occurs in people with COPD during exercise when inspiration is initiated prior to complete exhalation of the previous breath, resulting in an

XSL•FO RenderX

increase in end-expiratory lung volume and subsequent restrictions on inspiratory capacity. Patients with airflow obstruction and subsequent gas trapping breathe at higher lung volumes, which requires a greater inspiratory effort to overcome elastic load. During exercise, an increase in respiratory rate, air trapping, expiratory flow limitation, and reduced expiratory time occurs. These changes can become significantly disabling and lead to exertional dyspnea. The use of strategies to reduce DH during exercise has been investigated, including pursed lip breathing, expiratory positive airway pressure devices, and NIV. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis [30] investigated the use of low-cost expiratory positive airway pressure (EPAP) devices, which increase resistance on expiration, increasing expiratory time and allowing for improved emptying of the lungs. While that study found that EPAP did not change DH, there was a reduction in respiratory rate. Limitations of the intervention included the use of face masks as the interface, a lack of additional inspiratory flow, no humidification, and that the EPAP levels were determined by the study authors, rather than by patient preference. It should be noted that if EPAP levels are too high, DH can increase dyspnea. Due to the low number of studies, low methodological quality, and small sample sizes of the studies in that review, further studies should be undertaken to assess the impact of EPAP on reducing DH and increasing exercise capacity in patients with COPD. The RACer-PAP offers an opportunity to further research in this area by offering a humidified, portable CPAP device with the addition of increased inspiratory flow to determine the impact on DH, exertional dyspnea, associated cardiovascular hemodynamics, and exercise capacity.

No limitations of the study design were identified by the research team. Several limitations related to the device were identified—participants' comments about the prototype

RACer-PAP highlight feasibility and utility issues. Prior to recruitment, participants were informed that the purpose of this initial study was to test the RACer-PAP during exercise in healthy individuals, with a view to determining the comfort and ease of use of the device prior to assessing the device in those with lung disease. Many participants commented on the device with this future objective in mind. It should be noted that none of the participants had previously used any form of positive pressure device and that their study experiences were not compared to any other NIV or positive pressure technologies. The participants made the following suggestions for future prototypes: reduce device weight and bulk, reduce length and size of tubing, improve device appearance (including the interfaces) to increase aesthetic discreetness when patients exercise or perform activities of daily living away from home, develop an alternative to the waist straps, increase the ease of self-administration of the RACer-PAP device, and develop an alternative to the current nasal interface.

Given the findings of this study, the research team hypothesizes that in those with COPD, the physiological effect of exercising with RACer-PAP in situ may reduce exercise-induced dyspnea, potentially leading to improvements in exercise and health-related QOL outcomes. We now propose to consider the application of the device in a small pilot feasibility study to assess the safety, feasibility, and utility of the device in a population of patients with moderate to severe COPD.

The current study has shown the prototype RACer-PAP to be safe and feasible to use during exercise in healthy participants. Further modifications to the device, as highlighted by the participants, are underway, and studies to assess the feasibility of use of the RACer-PAP with people with COPD have been proposed.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the following Auckland University of Technology physiotherapy students who acted as research assistants during this project's planning and data collection: Matthew Joubert, Oceane Maihi, Sam Kingi, and Cheri Koh.

#### **Data Availability**

The data sets generated and analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

DW is listed as co-inventor in the RACer-PAP patent.

#### References

- Global Strategy For The Diagnosis, Management, And Prevention Of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: 2021 Report. Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. URL: <u>https://goldcopd.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/</u> <u>GOLD-REPORT-2021-v1.1-25Nov20\_WMV.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-06-22]
- Adeloye D, Chua S, Lee C, Basquill C, Papana A, Theodoratou E, Global Health Epidemiology Reference Group (GHERG). Global and regional estimates of COPD prevalence: Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Glob Health 2015 Dec;5(2):020415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7189/jogh.05-020415] [Medline: 26755942]
- McCarthy B, Casey D, Devane D, Murphy K, Murphy E, Lacasse Y. Pulmonary rehabilitation for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Feb 23(2):CD003793. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD003793.pub3</u>] [Medline: <u>25705944</u>]

- 4. Menadue C, Piper AJ, van 't Hul AJ, Wong KK. Non-invasive ventilation during exercise training for people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014 May 14(5):CD007714. [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007714.pub2] [Medline: 24823712]
- 5. Yang IA, Brown JL, George J, Jenkins S, McDonald CF, McDonald VM, et al. COPD-X Australian and New Zealand guidelines for the diagnosis and management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: 2017 update. Med J Aust 2017 Nov 20;207(10):436-442. [doi: 10.5694/mja17.00686] [Medline: 29129177]
- Ambrosino N, Xie L. The Use of Non-invasive Ventilation during Exercise Training in COPD Patients. COPD 2017 Aug;14(4):396-400. [doi: <u>10.1080/15412555.2017.1298582</u>] [Medline: <u>28339309</u>]
- 7. White DE, Bartley J, Campbell A, Neill AM. Preliminary Evaluation of Second-Generation n-CPAP Machine Pilot Sleep Study Data. Sleep 2018;41(suppl\_1):A204. [doi: <u>10.1093/sleep/zsy061.545</u>]
- 8. Kallet RH, Diaz JV. The physiologic effects of noninvasive ventilation. Respir Care 2009 Jan;54(1):102-115 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19111110]
- O'Donnell DE, Sanii R, Giesbrecht G, Younes M. Effect of continuous positive airway pressure on respiratory sensation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease during submaximal exercise. Am Rev Respir Dis 1988 Nov;138(5):1185-1191. [doi: 10.1164/ajrccm/138.5.1185] [Medline: 3059891]
- 10. Petrof B, Calderini E, Gottfried S. Effect of CPAP on respiratory effort and dyspnea during exercise in severe COPD. J Appl Physiol (1985) 1990 Jul;69(1):179-188. [doi: <u>10.1152/jappl.1990.69.1.179</u>] [Medline: <u>2203722</u>]
- 11. White DE, Bartley J, Nates RJ. Model demonstrates functional purpose of the nasal cycle. Biomed Eng Online 2015 Apr 24;14:38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12938-015-0034-4] [Medline: 25907572]
- 12. White DE, Bartley J, Shakeel M, Nates RJ, Hankin RK. Nasal airway responses to nasal continuous positive airway pressure breathing: An in-vivo pilot study. J Biomech 2016 Jun 14;49(9):1887-1890. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2016.04.034] [Medline: 27173595]
- 13. White D, Bartley J, Nates R. Why nasal airways experience drying during nasal-applied continuous positive airway pressure therapy. J Sleep Res 2017 Oct 24;26:57-57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jsr.65\_12619]
- 14. White DE, Nates RJ, Bartley J. Model identifies causes of nasal drying during pressurised breathing. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 2017 Sep;243:97-100. [doi: 10.1016/j.resp.2017.06.002] [Medline: 28606767]
- 15. Bartley J, White D. The Rationale behind a Continous Nasal Positive Airway Pressure Machine That Approximates the Nasal Cycle during Sleep. J Otolaryngol-ENT res 2017 May 16;7(2):1-3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15406/joentr.2017.07.00202]
- 16. Warburton DER, Jamnik VK, Bredin SSD, Gledhill N. The Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire for Everyone (PAR-Q+) and Electronic Physical Activity Readiness Medical Examination (ePARmed-X+): Summary of Consensus Panel Recommendations. Health Fit J Can 2011 Aug 07;4(2):37 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14288/hfjc.v4i2.105]
- 17. Six-Minute Walk Test. Lung Foundation Australia. URL: <u>https://pulmonaryrehab.com.au/patient-assessment/</u> <u>assessing-exercise-capacity/six-minute-walk-test/</u> [accessed 2022-06-22]
- Thabane L, Ma J, Chu R, Cheng J, Ismaila A, Rios LP, et al. A tutorial on pilot studies: the what, why and how. BMC Med Res Methodol 2010 Jan 06;10:1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-10-1] [Medline: 20053272]
- 19. Gloeckl R, Andrianopoulos V, Stegemann A, Oversohl J, Schneeberger T, Schoenheit-Kenn U, et al. High-pressure non-invasive ventilation during exercise in COPD patients with chronic hypercapnic respiratory failure: A randomized, controlled, cross-over trial. Respirology 2019 Mar;24(3):254-261. [doi: 10.1111/resp.13399] [Medline: 30242790]
- Bartley J, Campbell A, Neill A, White D. Pilot evaluation of n-CPAP machine during sleep that approximates the nasal cycle preliminary results. J Sleep Res 2017 Oct 24;26:68-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jsr.93\_12619]
- 21. Ries AL. Minimally clinically important difference for the UCSD Shortness of Breath Questionnaire, Borg Scale, and Visual Analog Scale. COPD 2005 Mar;2(1):105-110. [doi: 10.1081/copd-200050655] [Medline: 17136970]
- 22. Fraser JF, Spooner AJ, Dunster KR, Anstey CM, Corley A. Nasal high flow oxygen therapy in patients with COPD reduces respiratory rate and tissue carbon dioxide while increasing tidal and end-expiratory lung volumes: a randomised crossover trial. Thorax 2016 Aug;71(8):759-761 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207962] [Medline: 27015801]
- Kyroussis D, Polkey MI, Hamnegård CH, Mills G, Green M, Moxham J. Respiratory muscle activity in patients with COPD walking to exhaustion with and without pressure support. Eur Respir J 2000 Apr;15(4):649-655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1034/j.1399-3003.2000.15d05.x] [Medline: 10780754]
- 24. Maltais F, Reissmann H, Gottfried SB. Pressure support reduces inspiratory effort and dyspnea during exercise in chronic airflow obstruction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995 Apr;151(4):1027-1033. [doi: 10.1164/ajrccm.151.4.7697226]
- 25. van 't Hul A, Gosselink R, Hollander P, Postmus P, Kwakkel G. Acute effects of inspiratory pressure support during exercise in patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 2004 Jan 01;23(1):34-40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.03.00016903] [Medline: 14738228]
- 26. Dreher M, Storre JH, Windisch W. Noninvasive ventilation during walking in patients with severe COPD: a randomised cross-over trial. Eur Respir J 2007 May;29(5):930-936 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1183/09031936.00075806] [Medline: 17331969]

- Hernandez P, Maltais F, Gursahaney A, Leblanc P, Gottfried SB. Proportional assist ventilation may improve exercise performance in severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Cardiopulm Rehabil 2001;21(3):135-142. [doi: 10.1097/00008483-200105000-00003] [Medline: <u>11409222</u>]
- Borghi-Silva A, Oliveira C, Carrascosa C, Maia J, Berton D, Queiroga F, et al. Respiratory muscle unloading improves leg muscle oxygenation during exercise in patients with COPD. Thorax 2008 Oct;63(10):910-915. [doi: <u>10.1136/thx.2007.090167</u>] [Medline: <u>18492743</u>]
- 29. Bianchi L, Foglio K, Porta R, Baiardi R, Vitacca M, Ambrosino N. Lack of additional effect of adjunct of assisted ventilation to pulmonary rehabilitation in mild COPD patients. Respir Med 2002 May;96(5):359-367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1053/rmed.2001.1287] [Medline: 12113387]
- Cardoso DM, Gass R, Sbruzzi G, Berton DC, Knorst MM. Effect of the expiratory positive airway pressure on dynamic hyperinflation and exercise capacity in patients with COPD: a meta-analysis. Sci Rep 2020 Aug 06;10(1):13292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-70250-4] [Medline: 32764718]

#### Abbreviations

6MWT: 6-minute walk test **BP:** blood pressure **COPD:** chronic obstructive pulmonary disease **CPAP:** continuous positive airways pressure DH: dynamic hyperinflation **EPAP:** expiratory positive airways pressure ePARmed-X+: Electronic Physical Activity Readiness Medical Examination FEV1: forced expiratory volume in 1 second FVC: forced vital capacity **HFOT:** high flow oxygen therapy HR: heart rate NIV: noninvasive ventilation PAR-Q: Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire **PEEP:** positive end-expiratory pressure PR: pulmonary rehabilitation **QOL:** quality of life RACer-PAP: rest-activity cycler-positive airways pressure SpO<sub>2</sub>: peripheral oxygen saturation

Edited by T Leung; submitted 06.12.21; peer-reviewed by D Peña, AA Seid; comments to author 05.04.22; revised version received 30.05.22; accepted 10.06.22; published 01.08.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Reeve J, Mooney S, Jepsen N, White D The Utility and Acceptability of a New Noninvasive Ventilatory Assist Device, Rest-Activity Cycler-Positive Airways Pressure, During Exercise in a Population of Healthy Adults: Cohort Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e35494 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35494 doi:10.2196/35494 PMID:35916705

©Julie Reeve, Sarah Mooney, Nicola Jepsen, David White. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 01.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

#### **Original Paper**

## Mobility-Focused Physical Outcome Measures Over Telecommunication Technology (Zoom): Intra and Interrater Reliability Trial

Marie-Louise Bird<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Felix Peel<sup>2</sup>, BHSc (Hons); Matt Schmidt<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Natalie A Fini<sup>4</sup>, PhD; Emily Ramage<sup>5</sup>, PhD; Brodie M Sakakibara<sup>6</sup>, PhD; Dawn B Simpson<sup>7</sup>, PhD; Carey Mather<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Dominique A Cadilhac<sup>8,9</sup>, PhD; Kiran D K Ahuja<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Heather Bridgman<sup>2</sup>, DPhil; Coralie English<sup>7,10</sup>, PhD

<sup>7</sup>School of Health Sciences and Priority Research Centre for Stroke and Brain Injury, University of Newcastle, Callaghan, Australia

<sup>8</sup>Translational Public Health and Evaluation Division, Stroke and Ageing Research, Department of Medicine, School of Clinical Sciences at Monash Health, Monash University, Heidelberg, Australia

<sup>9</sup>Public Health, Stroke Division, Florey Institute of Neuroscience and Mental Health, University of Melbourne, Heidelberg, Australia
<sup>10</sup>Heart and Stroke Research Program, Hunter Medical Research Institute, Newcastle, Australia

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Marie-Louise Bird, PhD School of Health Sciences College of Health and Medicine University of Tasmania Newnham Drive Launceston, 7250 Australia Phone: 61 3 63245497 Email: birdm@utas.edu.au

## Abstract

**Background:** Rehabilitation provided via telehealth offers an alternative to currently limited in-person health care. Effective rehabilitation depends on accurate and relevant assessments that reliably measure changes in function over time. The reliability of a suite of relevant assessments to measure the impact of rehabilitation on physical function is unknown.

**Objective:** We aimed to measure the intrarater reliability of mobility-focused physical outcome measures delivered via Zoom (a commonly used telecommunication platform) and interrater reliability, comparing Zoom with in-person measures.

**Methods:** In this reliability trial, healthy volunteers were recruited to complete 7 mobility-focused outcome measures in view of a laptop, under instructions from a remotely based researcher who undertook the remote evaluations. An in-person researcher (providing the benchmark scores) concurrently recorded their scores. Interrater and intrarater reliability were assessed for Grip Strength, Functional Reach Test, 5-Time Sit to Stand, 3- and 4-Meter Walks and Timed Up and Go, using intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) and Bland-Altman plots. These tests were chosen because they cover a wide array of physical mobility, strength, and balance constructs; require little to no assistance from a clinician; can be performed in the limits of a home environment; and are likely to be feasible over a telehealth delivery mode.

**Results:** A total of 30 participants (mean age 36.2, SD 12.5 years; n=19, 63% male) completed all assessments. Interrater reliability was excellent for Grip Strength (ICC=0.99) and Functional Reach Test (ICC=0.99), good for 5-Time Sit to Stand (ICC=0.842) and 4-Meter Walk (ICC=0.76), moderate for Timed Up and Go (ICC=0.64), and poor for 3-Meter Walk (ICC=-0.46). Intrarater reliability, accessed by the remote researcher, was excellent for Grip Strength (ICC=0.91); good for Timed Up and Go, 3-Meter Walk, 4-Meter Walk, and Functional Reach (ICC=0.84-0.89); and moderate for 5-Time Sit to Stand (ICC=0.67). Although

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Department of Physical Therapy, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>School of Health Sciences, College of Health and Medicine, University of Tasmania, Launceston, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>School of Health Sciences, College of Health and Medicine, University of Tasmania, Hobart, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Physiotherapy Department, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>School of Health Sciences, University of Newcastle, Callaghan, Australia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Occupational Science and Occupational Therapy, University of British Columbia, Kelowna, BC, Canada

recorded simultaneously, the following time-based assessments were recorded as significantly longer via Zoom: 5-Time Sit to Stand (1.2 seconds), Timed Up and Go (1.0 seconds), and 3-Meter Walk (1.3 seconds).

**Conclusions:** Untimed mobility-focused physical outcome measures have excellent interrater reliability between in-person and telehealth measurements. Timed outcome measures took approximately 1 second longer via Zoom, reducing the reliability of tests with a shorter duration. Small time differences favoring in-person attendance are of a similar magnitude to clinically important differences, indicating assessments undertaken using telecommunications technology (Zoom) cannot be compared directly with face-to-face delivery. This has implications for clinicians using blended (ie, some face-to-face and some via the internet) assessments. High intrarater reliability of mobility-focused physical outcome measures has been demonstrated in this study.

#### (JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e38101) doi:10.2196/38101

#### **KEYWORDS**

reliability; mobile health; telemedicine; telehealth; rehabilitation; mobility; consultation; physical function; assessment; Zoom

### Introduction

Globally, many people suffer from health conditions that require ongoing care from health professionals [1]. Telehealth can enable an effective and equitable service to help overcome current pandemic-induced and preexisting geographical and service-related barriers to accessing health care systems [2]. Telehealth is any health service that is being implemented or provided over telecommunication technologies [3], including assessment or service provision using audio, video, or app-based communication [4]. The provision of services via telehealth has rapidly increased over the last 2 years [5]; however, measurement of the effectiveness of such services in rehabilitation is hampered by the lack of research on the reliability of clinically relevant assessments, and in particular, mobility-focused physical outcome measures, recorded over telehealth technologies.

A handful of studies with small numbers of participants (less than 20) have included an element of mobility in their telehealth reliability measures; for example, Sit to Stand for patients with liver transplant [6], and Timed Up and Go for patients with knee arthroplasty [7], patients with Parkinson disease [8], and those with heart failure [9]. Validation of the reliability of a comprehensive suite of mobility-focused outcome measures delivered by telehealth is particularly relevant to rehabilitation services, where accurate assessment and tracking of changes in patient status, especially remotely, is crucial [10].

Given the likelihood and opportunity for ongoing growth of telehealth services, the reliability of mobility-focused physical outcome measures completed via telehealth technology is of interest and needs to be further explored, and the differences in these measures compared to face-to-face delivery need to be investigated. Simultaneous measurement of telehealth and conventional assessments has the advantage of ensuring that there is no potential for variance in the state of the patient [10]. In this study, we aimed to determine the reliability of several commonly used mobility-focused physical outcome measures when delivered via telehealth in a healthy population of individuals aged 18-60 years. The specific research questions addressed were the following:

• What is the interrater reliability of mobility-focused physical outcome measures assessed face-to-face and via Zoom, simultaneously?

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38101
```

- What is the level of agreement between mobility-focused physical outcome measures recorded face-to-face and via telehealth, simultaneously?
- What is the intrarater reliability of mobility-focused physical outcome measures recorded via telehealth?

## Methods

#### Study Design

This was an observational measurement study designed to measure the reliability of mobility-focused physical outcome measures recorded using telecommunication technology. All testing was performed in a locked room to prevent disruption during data collection at the University of Tasmania, Launceston, Australia, between August and September 2021. The participant data collection area was a carpeted room, 10 meters long, with a standard-height chair (45 cm), a table, a laptop, and the equipment needed for each physical assessment: marker cones, handheld dynamometer, and measuring tape.

#### **Participants and Recruitment**

Participants were recruited via posters placed around the campus and emails from the university administration that provided information and contact details for the research staff. Inclusion criteria were the following: individuals aged 18-60 years, willing and safe to participate, as measured by the Adult Preexercise Screening System tool. Exclusion criteria were any ongoing illness or mobility issues that would prevent the ability to safely perform physical measures. A total of 30 participants met the inclusion criteria and participant recruitment ceased when the sample size was met.

#### **Ethics Approval**

The study protocol was explained to participants, and written informed consent was obtained prior to study entry. Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the University of Tasmania Human Research Ethics Committee (project ID 21690).

#### Sampling

A suite of 7 commonly used clinical and research mobility-focused physical outcome measures were assessed. Measures and the number of trials completed in the assessment are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Physical outcome measures assessed in the reliability study.

Measurement items	Number of trials
5-Time Sit-To-Stand Test [11]	2
3-Meter Walk Test [12]	2
4-Meter Walk Test [13]	2
Timed Up and Go Test [14]	2
Grip Strength Test [15]	3
Functional Reach Test [16]	3
Static Balance Test [12]	1

The 3-Meter Walk Test used a standing start, and the timing started when the telehealth researcher said "go," as this comprises part of the Short Physical Performance Battery protocol [12]. In contrast, the walking speed for measuring the 4-Meter Walk timing started when the participant passed a marker on the floor, so it was not dependent on the reaction of the participant to start and then the researcher to see that start (to record usual walking speed more closely).

#### **Data Collection Process**

Two researchers (MLB and FP) concurrently recorded the participant's performance in each outcome measure. MLB is a physiotherapist with 20 years of clinical experience, and FP is a postgraduate researcher with 3 years of experience in measuring these clinical outcome measures. One researcher was present in the room with the participant, while a second researcher provided the assessment instructions and recorded measurements via a standard Zoom meeting, in another room. The participant's laptop (brand Dell; latitude 7480, with a 35-cm screen) was set up and connected to the remote evaluator, via a call through Zoom. All assessments were completed in view of the laptop's camera. Concurrently, the researcher in the room with the participant, who had limited interaction with the participant and did not provide any instructions, also recorded results of each physical assessment independently. Both researchers recorded results for each assessment on a paper-based form, which was later transcribed into a database; they also took field notes on the quality of assessments and so as to capture any potential issues with the technology. The measures were performed in a random order to account for any participant fatigue and to reduce any ordering bias. Randomization was undertaken via a free web-based randomizer [17]. There were no time constraints on the participants performance for the duration of the assessment. Appointments were scheduled 30 minutes apart.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were undertaken using RStudio software (version 1.4; RStudio, PBC) [18] and tidyverse, blandr, ggplot2, and irr packages. Interrater reliability was determined between in-person (gold standard) and telehealth recorded results with a 1-way agreement intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC95), using the percentage method. If both raters recorded the same response, the ICC would be 100. For larger variations, the ICC

would be lower. Each test had repetitions of the trials analyzed together, with missed trials excluded from the data. The ICCs were rated as excellent (>90), good (75-90), moderate (50-75), or poor (<50) [19]. Bland-Altman plots were created to assess agreement and biases between researchers. Intrarater reliability was assessed between consecutive telehealth trials for all measures in the same session. A sample size of 30 participants was chosen a priori for this reliability study, based on previous reliability trials using Functional Reach outcome measure (ie, 3 trials for intrarater data collection) [20].

#### Results

#### **Participant Characteristics**

A total of 30 individuals (11 female, 19 male) with a mean age of 36.2 (SD 12.5) years were recruited. Of them, 21 participants identified English as their first language, whereas 9 identified English as their second language, with various first languages including French, Mandarin, and Persian. Among the participants, 22 were familiar with at least one of the assessments prior to the study.

Excellent interrater reliability was seen for Grip Strength and Functional Reach Test (Table 2 and Figure 1). For the timed tests, there was good reliability in 5-Time Sit to Stand and 4-Meter Walk, moderate reliability in Timed Up and Go, and poor reliability in 3-Meter Walk (Table 2 and Figure 2). Intrarater reliability was excellent for Grip Strength; it was good for Timed Up and Go, 4-Meter Walk, and Functional Reach Test (ICC=0.84-0.89); and moderate for 5-Time Sit to Stand (Table 3). The number of trials for the intrarater reliability was determined by the use of standard protocols for face-to-face evaluation.

Bland-Altman analysis indicated a bias for the timed tests with a reaction time dependent component (ie, there was a lag between the Zoom instructor saying "go" and the participant moving). These biases led to longer times for the following telehealth results: 5-Time Sit to Stand (1.2 seconds), Timed Up and Go (1.0 seconds), and 3-Meter Walk (1.3 seconds).

A ceiling effect was observed for the static balance task from the Short Physical Performance Battery, and interrater and intrarater reliability could not be calculated.



Table 2.	Intraclass correlation coefficient	(ICC) for interrater	(1:1) and intrarater	reliability measures

Measurements	Total trials, n	Telehealth mea- sures, mean (SD)	In-person measures, mean (SD)	ICC <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)	ICC <sup>b</sup> (95% CI)
5-Time Sit to Stand (s)	58	10.46 (2.10)	9.25 (2.09)	0.84 (0.75-0.90)	0.67 (0.42-0.83)
Timed Up and Go (s)	60	7.61 (1.13)	6.63 (1.07)	0.64 (0.47-0.77)	0.84 (0.70-0.92)
3-Meter Walk Test (s)	59	3.48 (0.41)	2.23 (0.40)	-0.46 (-0.64-0.24)	0.89 (0.79-0.95)
4-Meter Walk Test (s)	58	3.48 (0.54)	2.48 (0.45)	0.76 (0.62-0.85)	0.86 (0.72-0.93)
Functional Reach Test (cm)	86	36.37 (8.22)	36.17 (8.24)	0.99 (0.98-0.99)	0.86 (0.76-0.92)
Grip Strength (kg)	180	38.47 (9.95)	38.43 (0.97)	0.99 (0.99-0.99)	0.91 (0.42-0.96)
Static Balance Test (points)	30	12 (0)	12 (0)	NA <sup>c</sup>	NA

<sup>a</sup>Interrater reliability of telehealth (Zoom) versus in-person trials.

<sup>b</sup>Intrarater reliability between telehealth trials.

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

Figure 1. Interrater reliability and levels of agreement between in-person and Zoom measures for performance-based outcome measures.



Figure 2. Interrater reliability and levels of agreement between in-person and Zoom measures for time-based outcome measures.





Table 3. I	ntrarater reliability	of mobility-focused	physical or	utcome measures reco	rded over	telehealth	technology	(Zoom)
------------	-----------------------	---------------------	-------------	----------------------	-----------	------------	------------	--------

Assessment	Trial 1, mean (SD)	Trial 2, mean (SD)	Trial 3, mean (SD)
5-Time Sit to Stand (s)	10.82 (2.48)	9.92 (1.64)	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Timed Up and Go (s)	7.75 (1.23)	7.47 (1.02)	N/A
3-Meter Walk (s)	3.45 (0.42)	3.5 (0.40)	N/A
4-Meter Walk (s)	2.58 (0.58)	2.42 (0.50)	N/A
Functional Reach Test (cm)	35.58 (8.76)	36.6 3 (8.21)	37.44 (8.67)
Grip Strength (kg)	38.24 (9.92)	38.62 (10.20)	38.48 (9.90)
Static Balance Test (points)	12 (0)	N/A	N/A

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### **Field Notes Describing Difficulties Encountered**

The camera was in front of the participant for the walking tests and created some challenge for the remote evaluator due to depth perception issues. The remote evaluator recorded 3 instances of the camera freezing, which lasted less than 1 second. The angle of the laptop screen and integrated camera needed to be adjusted between some tests so that the appropriate body part could be seen. Instructions such as changing the chair orientation or distance from camera produced the correct adjustments, with instructions repeated only a couple of times by the remote evaluator. On 2 occasions, the in-person researcher, but not the telehealth researcher, noted that the participant lifted their heel during the Functional Reach Test. If the participant was further from the laptop, it was harder to hear their responses to questions. No adverse events such as pain or falls occurred during assessments. Two participants attended without their glasses and made small errors in reading the results from the Grip Strength dynamometer and the ruler on the Functional Reach Test.

#### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

Comparing telehealth to in-person assessments of strength, balance, and mobility resulted in reliability measures ranging from poor to excellent, depending on the type of assessment.

The results showed excellent reliability for Grip Strength and Functional Reach tasks; however, the reliability of mobility-focused physical outcomes assessed over telehealth, using Zoom, was poor to moderate compared to in-person assessments. Intrarater reliability for the Zoom assessments was moderate to excellent. For the Static Balance task, we could not conduct the interrater and intrarater reliability using the Bland-Altman analysis, due to a lack of data variability [21].

The interrater reliability was lower for measures that included a reaction time-dependent component, due in part to a time bias of longer times for telehealth recordings. Tests of a shorter duration were more impacted by the delay. Given the delay in some tests, caution is warranted when using traditional face-to-face assessments in a telehealth setting, and further information on the reliability and normative values of these assessments when delivered via telehealth is needed.

#### https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38101

XSL•FO RenderX **Comparison With Prior Work** 

In this study, the assessments conducted via telehealth that were performance-based rather than time-based were extremely reliable and consistent. The highest reliability tests included the Grip Strength and Functional Reach Tests with excellent interrater reliability (ICC=0.99) in a telehealth setting, compared to in-person results. This finding is consistent with previous feasibility assessments and questionnaire-based reliability assessments [22] and is not surprising, given these assessments are not subject to any time delays over telehealth [23]. Practitioners can be extremely confident in the use of these assessments via telehealth for clinical practice.

Time-based mobility measures that were reaction time dependent had less reliable results. For example, in the Timed Up and Go task, the telehealth researcher started the timer when they said "go" and stopped the timer when the participant returned to their seat. These aspects of the task could be affected by network latency and could potentially increase and add variability to the time measured by the telehealth assessor, and it may explain the longer times consistently recorded by the remote evaluator. This finding adds to data from two small studies that found longer times for Timed Up and Go, albeit of smaller magnitudes (around 0.4 seconds), in a population of people after total knee replacement [7] and heart failure [9]. In combination, these studies suggest that it is not possible to directly compare data collected in person and via Zoom for the same individual, as these values are in the same order or magnitude as the minimally important clinical difference (eg, 0.6 of a second as calculated at 0.5 SD) [24]. These differences in values between in-person and Zoom data collection reduces the ability to use population norms from face-to-face data collection in making decisions related to data collection via telehealth. For clinical populations, where the overall time to complete these assessments is longer, the impact of the small lag will be less, resulting in higher reliability.

The stability of the lag reported by the remote evaluator and whether or not it is dependent on bandwidth or other features of the technology used remains unknown. Further research to quantify lag time in remote sessions compared with in-person testing is warranted if practitioners plan to use blended models of health service delivery (eg, a mix of face-to-face and telehealth) in the future. Alternatively, to avoid the time lag issues that we identified over videoconferencing, future research

could investigate technologies that provide remote assessment without the need for timing over videoconferencing. For example, preliminary research is emerging regarding the use of mobile apps and body-worn sensor technology for walking and balance outcome measurement data in people who had a stroke [25].

#### **Future Directions**

Telehealth assessments produced moderate to excellent intrarater reliability between trials. The Timed Up and Go and walking tests all produced good intrarater reliability between telehealth trials. Clinicians who provide services only via telehealth can be confident in the reliability of these tests when delivered via telehealth. The 5-Time Sit to Stand produced moderate intrarater reliability. This reduced reliability was likely due to a learning affect as participants' second trial averaged 0.9 seconds quicker, which is consistent with previous reports [26]. Ensuring a practice trial is included before assessments would help reduce the learning effect between results in future research [27].

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

This trial has collected data using robust methods; these methods may be appropriate to use when collecting data in clinical populations; however, the results of this study cannot be generalized to those cohorts. It is a limitation that the impact of changes in the internet connection or bandwidth on latency is unknown, potentially impacting the reproducibility of these results. Other potential sources of bias that may have influenced the results include the familiarity of some participants with some of the assessment items, contamination of intrarater's second score, the difference in researchers' experiences, and the fact that we could not test the reliability over a range of scores as is more likely in clinical practice.

#### Recommendations

In this study, we identified considerations for practice to ensure high-quality and consistent telehealth assessments can be completed. The bias in some measures (eg, longer times of around 1 second via telehealth) has implications for blended practice and needs to be considered when comparing real changes in functions between in-person and remotely measured assessments. Measuring network latency prior to starting the assessment may be needed to help identify and correct for telehealth time biases. Measuring walking speed remotely remains challenging. Potential improvements include using a side-on view for walking tests to reducing the impact of depth perception issues. Further to this, it should always be ensured both parties can hear appropriately. External speakers or wireless headphones could assist in minimizing communication issues when the participant is at a distance from the computer. Lastly, the camera angle should be set in a way to show a participant's full body, wherever possible.

#### Conclusions

We provided important information on the reliability of mobility-focused physical outcome measures and recommendations of the utility of these measures for telehealth delivery. Practitioners can be very confident in undertaking performance-based measures based on our findings. Longer timed assessments produce the best reliability compared to shorter assessments. Consequently, practitioners should favor longer timed tests and protocols that do not depend on reaction times of the participant for the most optimal and consistent results. Further research is needed with clinical populations to assess reliability of the measures included in this study, with an appropriate balance assessment for the intended population. The biases detected in reaction time-dependent tests indicate that direct comparison with face-to-face delivery and comparison to normative data collected face-to-face cannot be made. High intrarater reliability of mobility-focused physical outcome measures have been demonstrated in this study.

#### Acknowledgments

All authors contributed to the development of the manuscript and review of the final submission. The study was conceptualized by MLB, NAF, ER, DBS, DAC, CM, KDKA, BMS, and CE. FP and MLB undertook the data collection. KDKA and MS assisted FP with data analysis.

#### **Data Availability**

Data is available from corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

ER discloses ownership interest in Hydro Functional Pty Ltd.

#### References

- Harrison C, Britt H, Miller G, Henderson J. Prevalence of chronic conditions in Australia. PLoS One 2013 Jul 23;8(7):e67494 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0067494] [Medline: 23935834]
- 2. Javanparast S, Roeger L, Reed RL. Experiences of patients with chronic diseases of access to multidisciplinary care during COVID-19 in South Australia. Aust Health Rev 2021 May 20:525-532. [doi: 10.1071/AH20328] [Medline: 34016255]
- 3. Thomas EE, Haydon HM, Mehrotra A, Caffery LJ, Snoswell CL, Banbury A, et al. Building on the momentum: sustaining telehealth beyond COVID-19. J Telemed Telecare 2020 Sep 26;28(4):301-308. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x20960638]

- English C, Ceravolo MG, Dorsch S, Drummond A, Gandhi DB, Halliday Green J, et al. Telehealth for rehabilitation and recovery after stroke: state of the evidence and future directions. Int J Stroke 2022 Jun 05;17(5):487-493. [doi: 10.1177/17474930211062480] [Medline: <u>34983266</u>]
- Heiskanen T, Rinne H, Miettinen S, Salminen A. Uptake of tele-rehabilitation in Finland amongst rehabilitation professionals during the COVID-19 pandemic. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Apr 20;18(8):4383 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18084383] [Medline: 33924234]
- Keating SE, Barnett A, Croci I, Hannigan A, Elvin-Walsh L, Coombes JS, et al. Agreement and reliability of clinician-in-clinic versus patient-at-home clinical and functional assessments: implications for telehealth services. Arch Rehabil Res Clin Transl 2020 Sep;2(3):100066 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.arrct.2020.100066] [Medline: 33543092]
- Cabana F, Boissy P, Tousignant M, Moffet H, Corriveau H, Dumais R. Interrater agreement between telerehabilitation and face-to-face clinical outcome measurements for total knee arthroplasty. Telemed J E Health 2010 Apr;16(3):293-298. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2009.0106] [Medline: 20406116]
- Russell TG, Hoffmann TC, Nelson M, Thompson L, Vincent A. Internet-based physical assessment of people with Parkinson disease is accurate and reliable: a pilot study. J Rehabil Res Dev 2013;50(5):643-650 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1682/jrrd.2012.08.0148] [Medline: 24013912]
- Hwang R, Mandrusiak A, Morris NR, Peters R, Korczyk D, Russell T. Assessing functional exercise capacity using telehealth: is it valid and reliable in patients with chronic heart failure? J Telemed Telecare 2016 Jul 09;23(2):225-232. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x16634258]
- 10. Russell TG, Martin-Khan M, Khan A, Wade V. Method-comparison studies in telehealth: study design and analysis considerations. J Telemed Telecare 2017 Sep 11;23(9):797-802. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633x17727772</u>]
- Whitney S, Wrisley D, Marchetti G, Gee M, Redfern M, Furman J. Clinical measurement of sit-to-stand performance in people with balance disorders: validity of data for the Five-Times-Sit-to-Stand Test. Phys Ther 2005;85(10):1034-1045. [doi: <u>10.1093/ptj/85.10.1034</u>]
- 12. Guralnik JM, Simonsick EM, Ferrucci L, Glynn RJ, Berkman LF, Blazer DG, et al. A short physical performance battery assessing lower extremity function: association with self-reported disability and prediction of mortality and nursing home admission. J Gerontol 1994 Mar 01;49(2):M85-M94. [doi: 10.1093/geronj/49.2.m85] [Medline: 8126356]
- Abellan van Kan G, Rolland Y, Andrieu S, Bauer J, Beauchet O, Bonnefoy M, et al. Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people an International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) Task Force. J Nutr Health Aging 2009 Dec 3;13(10):881-889. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z</u>] [Medline: <u>19924348</u>]
- 14. Podsiadlo D, Richardson S. J Am Geriatr Soc 1991 Feb 27;39(2):142-148. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1532-5415.1991.tb01616.x</u>] [Medline: <u>1991946</u>]
- 15. Mijnarends DM, Meijers JM, Halfens RJ, ter Borg S, Luiking YC, Verlaan S, et al. Validity and reliability of tools to measure muscle mass, strength, and physical performance in community-dwelling older people: a systematic review. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2013 Mar;14(3):170-178. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jamda.2012.10.009</u>] [Medline: <u>23276432</u>]
- Duncan PW, Weiner DK, Chandler J, Studenski S. Functional reach: a new clinical measure of balance. J Gerontol 1990 Nov 01;45(6):M192-M197. [doi: <u>10.1093/geronj/45.6.m192</u>] [Medline: <u>2229941</u>]
- 17. Randomizor. URL: <u>https://www.random.org/lists/</u> [accessed 2022-07-27]
- 18. RStudio. URL: http://www.rstudio.com/ [accessed 2022-07-27]
- 19. Koo TK, Li MY. A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. J Chiropr Med 2016 Jun;15(2):155-163. [doi: 10.1016/j.jcm.2016.02.012]
- 20. Bujang M, Baharum N. A simplified guide to determination of sample size requirements for estimating the value of intraclass correlation coefficient: a review. Arch Orofacial Sci 2017;12(1):1-11 [FREE Full text]
- Ho AD, Yu CC. Descriptive statistics for modern test score distributions: skewness, kurtosis, discreteness, and ceiling effects. Educ Psychol Meas 2015 Jun 15;75(3):365-388 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0013164414548576] [Medline: 29795825]
- 22. Chapman JE, Cadilhac DA, Gardner B, Ponsford J, Bhalla R, Stolwyk RJ. Comparing face-to-face and videoconference completion of the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) in community-based survivors of stroke. J Telemed Telecare 2019 Dec 09;27(8):484-492. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x19890788]
- 23. Durfee WK, Savard L, Weinstein S. Technical feasibility of teleassessments for rehabilitation. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2007 Mar;15(1):23-29. [doi: 10.1109/tnsre.2007.891400]
- 24. Norman GR, Sloan JA, Wyrwich KW. Interpretation of changes in health-related quality of life. Medical Care 2003;41(5):582-592. [doi: 10.1097/01.mlr.0000062554.74615.4c]
- 25. Fell N, True HH, Allen B, Harris A, Cho J, Hu Z, et al. Functional measurement post-stroke via mobile application and body-worn sensor technology. Mhealth 2019 Oct;5:47-47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2019.08.11] [Medline: 31728382]
- 26. Özden F, Coşkun G, Bakırhan S. The test-retest reliability and concurrent validity of the five times sit to stand test and step test in older adults with total hip arthroplasty. Exp Gerontol 2020 Dec;142:111143. [doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2020.111143] [Medline: 33157185]

27. Volkman K, Stergiou N, Stuberg W, Blanke D, Stoner J. Factors affecting functional reach scores in youth with typical development. Pediat PhysTher 2009;21(1):38-44. [doi: 10.1097/pep.0b013e318196f68a]

#### Abbreviations

ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient

Edited by T Leung; submitted 28.03.22; peer-reviewed by H Mehdizadeh, H Pilabré; comments to author 09.05.22; revised version received 30.05.22; accepted 23.06.22; published 22.08.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Bird ML, Peel F, Schmidt M, Fini NA, Ramage E, Sakakibara BM, Simpson DB, Mather C, Cadilhac DA, Ahuja KDK, Bridgman H, English C Mobility-Focused Physical Outcome Measures Over Telecommunication Technology (Zoom): Intra and Interrater Reliability Trial JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e38101 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38101 doi:10.2196/38101 PMID:35994327

©Marie-Louise Bird, Felix Peel, Matt Schmidt, Natalie A Fini, Emily Ramage, Brodie M Sakakibara, Dawn B Simpson, Carey Mather, Dominique A Cadilhac, Kiran D K Ahuja, Heather Bridgman, Coralie English. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 22.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Original Paper**

## Assistive Robots for Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: Exploratory Task-Based Evaluation Study With an Early-Stage Demonstrator

Robert Klebbe<sup>1</sup>, MA; Stefan Scherzinger<sup>2</sup>, Dipl Ing, Dr Ing; Cornelia Eicher<sup>1</sup>, MSc, MPH, Dr rer medic

<sup>1</sup>Department of Geriatrics and Medical Gerontology, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin, Germany

<sup>2</sup>FZI Research Center for Information Technology, Karlsruhe, Germany

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Robert Klebbe, MA Department of Geriatrics and Medical Gerontology Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin and Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin Reinickendorfer Straße 61 Berlin, 13347 Germany Phone: 49 030450553784 Email: robert.klebbe@charite.de

## Abstract

**Background:** Although robotic manipulators have great potential in promoting motor independence of people with motor impairments, only few systems are currently commercially available. In addition to technical, economic, and normative barriers, a key challenge for their distribution is the current lack of evidence regarding their usefulness, acceptance, and user-specific requirements.

**Objective:** Against this background, a semiautonomous robot system was developed in the research and development project, robot-assisted services for individual and resource-oriented intensive and palliative care of people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ROBINA), to support people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) in various everyday activities.

**Methods:** The developed early-stage demonstrator was evaluated in a task-based laboratory study of 11 patients with ALS. On the basis of a multimethod design consisting of standardized questionnaires, open-ended questions, and observation protocols, participants were asked about its relevance to everyday life, usability, and design requirements.

**Results:** Most participants considered the system to provide relevant support within the test scenarios and for their everyday life. On the basis of the System Usability Scale, the overall usability of the *robot-assisted services for individual and resource-oriented intensive and palliative care of people with ALS* system was rated as excellent, with a median of 90 (IQR 75-95) points. Moreover, 3 central areas of requirements for the development of semiautonomous robotic manipulators were identified and discussed: requirements for semiautonomous human-robot collaboration, requirements for user interfaces, and requirements for the adaptation of robotic capabilities regarding everyday life.

**Conclusions:** Robotic manipulators can contribute to increase the autonomy of people with ALS. A key issue for future studies is how the existing ability level and the required robotic capabilities can be balanced to ensure both high user satisfaction and effective and efficient task performance.

#### (JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e35304) doi:10.2196/35304

#### KEYWORDS

amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; disability; disabled; disabilities; assistive robotics; human robot interaction; robotic manipulator; semi-autonomous control; motor independence; activity of daily living; daily need; everyday activities; activities of daily living; development; usability; user design; motor impairment; physical disability; robot; assistive technology; assistive device; Europe

#### Introduction

#### Background

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) belongs to the group of motor neuron diseases and is a chronic degenerative disease of the motor nervous system. Recent data indicate incidence of 0.6 to 3.8 and prevalence of 4.1 to 10.5 per 100,000 persons worldwide [1-3]. The average age of onset is between 58 and 63 years [4,5], with the youngest patients being aged between 20 and 30 years [1,6]. The male-to-female ratio shows a slightly high chance for men to develop the disease [6,7]. During the course of the disease, there is progressive loss of voluntary motor function, leading up to complete paralysis [5]. Leading symptoms of the disease include progressive muscle paresis, muscle atrophy, and muscle spasticity; however, body and sensory perception are not affected. The disease initially begins in an isolated muscle region and progressively spreads from there. The continuous loss of motor function owing to the disease leads to multiple limitations in manipulative abilities related to activities of daily living (ADLs), leading to high dependence and need for support in those affected. The corresponding support network usually consists of professional and informal caregivers who share the burden of the need to provide the necessary assistance and, at the same time, and promoting the independence and respecting self-determination of those affected [8-10]. In this context, assistive technologies and devices play a prominent role in the disease management among users who are affected [11]. According to the American Assistive Technology Act of 2004, assistive technologies and devices are defined as "...any item, device, or product system, whether commercially purchased, modified, or customized, that is designed to increase, maintain, or improve the functional abilities of individuals with disabilities" [12]. Currently, various assistive technology systems are in use to compensate for the loss of body function (eg, life support devices such as ventilators and feeding tubes, environmental control devices, orthotics, transfer devices, augmentative and alternative communication devices, and mobility aids such as powered and manual wheelchairs) [11,13]. However, in general, many of these technologies are highly specialized (task-limited assistive devices), with clearly defined and often nonmanipulative functional applications. ADLs, such as picking up and placing objects independently, preparing food, eating, and drinking, or independent personal hygiene can be addressed by these systems only to a limited extent, if at all. In this context, the use of assistive robotic manipulators is expected to have great potential in promoting independence and motor self-determination among people with functional limitations. Despite a high demand for assistive robotic manipulators in the target groups, currently, only a few systems are commercially available, and only a small proportion of those affected are provided with such systems. Reasons for this include technical, economic, and normative challenges and insufficient system implementation potential into existing care processes [14]. In contrast, there is low level of empirical evidence on the perceived usefulness and acceptance of the systems by the potential user groups [15,16]. The following section provides an overview of the current state of the art.

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35304
```

#### State of the Art

Research and development on assistive robotic manipulators to assist people with functional limitations dates back to the 1960s [16,17]. The key functionality of such manipulators is to promote the user's independence by compensating for functional limitations, especially with respect to the upper limbs. Driessen [18], who refers to robotic manipulators as rehabilitation robotic devices, divides them into three categories: (1) single-task robots, (2) workstations, and (3) wheelchair-mounted manipulators. Single-task robots are specialized to perform a specific task that is implemented as a predefined operational sequence in the robot controls and, as a result, can be retrieved using very simple input devices. Examples of commercially available single-task robots include various food intake assistance systems such as My Spoon (Secom), obi (Design LLC), and Bestic (CaminoCare). These systems provide a robotic arm with a spoon (in some cases, also a special plate for portioning the meal) and a simple interaction interface, which can be extended in most cases using individually designed controls. However, the potential for promoting independence is relatively low for single-task robots owing to the high degree of specialization and the required standardization of the operational environment. In contrast, robotic lightweight arms are used as stationary workstations or as manipulation aids attached to a wheelchair. Stationary workstations allow the user to detect various objects in a predefined manipulation area and to have the robotic manipulator pick them up and position them using predefined functions. Therefore, workstation systems have high flexibility with respect to the manipulation tasks, but remain limited to a fixed location. Wheelchair-mounted manipulators form the last category. These robot arms provide 6 df (7 df including the gripper) and are characterized by very slim and lightweight design [16,18-20]. Well-known and commercially available assistive robot arms for assisting people with mobility impairment are Manus, iARM (Exact Dynamics), and JACO and MICO (Kinova). These systems also have various mounting options that allow stationary use at a table or bed [19]. In addition, studies are investigating several other existing systems from the industrial setting and various prototypes; however, they have not entered the health care market [16]. Wheelchair-mounted manipulators can be used in various settings for different manipulation tasks.

The control of the systems is performed as teleoperation via a 3-axis joystick attached to the armrest of the wheelchair. The 3 df are thereby mapped to a subset of the Cartesian arm translation and wrist rotation control. To control the 7 df (3 df for movement in 3D space, 3 df for wrist movement, and 1 df for opening and closing gripper), the user must switch between different Cartesian levels [16,20].

Teleoperation by the user without specific autonomous behavior forms a control strategy that is less expensive as the user remains in charge, which reduces the complexity of the control system. Moreover, this approach offers high level of personal safety for the operation of the systems in highly unstructured and dynamic environments and in the immediate proximity of the user. In contrast, this control strategy is associated with high cognitive and physical efforts for people with physical impairments [16,18].

XSL•FO

Against this background, current studies are investigating novel approaches to simplify the control system. The focus is on novel user interfaces (UIs) and the different possibilities of sensor fusion techniques for semiautonomous control [18,21]. In this context, Petrich et al [16] cite approaches in which participants use gestures or eye gazes to select objects that can be approached autonomously by the robot. Other interfaces for controlling robot behavior also involve electromyography, electroencephalography, and electrocorticography. As part of a systematic review of current approaches for the use of computer vision for semiautonomous control of robotic manipulators, Bengtson et al [21] highlighted three major challenges: (1) the need for adaptive semiautonomous control schemes that allow the user some control over the entire task process, (2) the handling of arbitrary objects through approaches that rely on specific grasping points and primitive shapes instead of predefined objects, and finally, (3) the precise sensing of the environment by considering different viewpoints.

In addition to the development of novel control approaches, the identification of relevant application areas in the everyday life of users who are affected is another field of research. The goal is to determine user-specific requirements for performance parameters to develop appropriate manipulation taxonomies [17,19,22].

#### **Robot-Assisted Services for Individual and Resource-Oriented Intensive and Palliative Care of People With ALS**

Robot-assisted services for individual and resource-oriented intensive and palliative care of people with ALS (ROBINA) is a research and development project funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research. The aim of the project was to develop a semiautomatic robotic manipulator that can be controlled via a multimodal UI to support people with ALS in their independence in various ADLs. Related to this, another objective of the project was to relieve professional and informal caregivers from repetitive support activities.

#### Objectives

This paper summarizes the results of the final evaluation of an early-stage demonstrator developed within our project. The objective of the study was to identify the specific needs, preferences, and requirements of people with ALS for the development of a semiautonomous robotic manipulator to promote autonomy and independence in ADLs.

## Methods

#### Overview

This investigation was conducted as an exploratory task-based laboratory evaluation study. Data collection was based on a mixed methods design comprising validated and self-developed questionnaires, standardized observation protocols, and semistructured interviews. The study was designed as a task-based evaluation, and the study duration was 2 weeks.

#### Laboratory Study Setting

Figure 1 shows the setup for the study. It was built around a 7-axis Panda manipulator (Franka Emika) with torque sensors in its joints that enabled it to interact sensitively with the participants. Moreover, the robotic system was equipped with a 2-fingered gripper. The functional modes of the gripper included opening and closing of the 2 fingers. Rotation of the gripper to align it with the manipulation object was not possible. The control software was based on the "Robot Operating System" [23], a software framework established in robotics research for developing complex applications. It combined open-source components and custom-developed enhancements into a state machine that managed the patients' inputs and overall control flow. The robot was controlled over the provided Franka control interface that enabled a real-time bidirectional communication. Custom-built Robot Operating System controllers used and regulated the robot's capabilities to mimic the physical appearance of a mechanical spring. The software ran as a distributed system on 3 PCs that communicated over a shared, closed network. In total, 2 of the PCs performed computationally intensive operations with real-time communication to the robot and red, green, blue, and depth (RGB-D) camera-based object detection in a Linux-based operating system (Ubuntu Desktop 16.04 Long Term Support; Canonical Foundation, Ubuntu Community). The software for control via the patient's sensors ran on a tablet with Windows operating system. It was implemented as a locally communicating application for modern internet browsers and accessed via control units by the patients. These control units comprised a variety of input devices to best cover each participant's capabilities, such as joysticks that were directly operated in the hand or attached to a gooseneck mount, a head control system (Smart Nav Natural Point), and an eye control system (Alea Technologies gmbh) that offered control when only eye gaze was available.



Figure 1. Evaluation setup of the robot-assisted services for individual and resource-oriented intensive and palliative care of people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis system.



All inputs were mapped to a mouse pointer, with which the patients navigated the menus of the browser-based graphical user input (GUI) and controlled the robot. Different task scenarios (refer to the following section) were implemented as movement sequences that the participants could execute, pause,

reset, and customize to their needs by adjusting the parameters of the workflow (Figures 1-3). The system supported partial autonomy, such as face and lip detection during drinking and visual-based grasping of objects from a tabletop.



Klebbe et al

Figure 2. Graphical user interface for the scratching scenario, with customizable settings.

Drink	Free r	novements	Hand over object	Scratch	Demo
Skin Scra	atching				
Brush		Intensity	Duration		
		light	short		R
		moderate	medium		
		intense	long		

Figure 3. Graphical user interface during the execution of a robot action, with the options to pause or cancel the execution by the user themselves.



#### **Evaluation Tasks**

The different task scenarios for the evaluation are described in the following sections.

#### Serve a Drink

The robot system serves a cup with a silicone straw. After selecting the requested function via the UI, the robotic manipulator grips the cup autonomously with its 2-fingered

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35304
```

XSL•F() RenderX

gripper. The movement to the user's mouth is determined from the calculated pose for the center of the mouth in relation to the tip of the straw. The robot autonomously leads the cup up to 10 cm from the mouth of the participant, by using visual mouth tracking. To drink, the participant must actively move their head toward the straw.

#### Hand Over a Mobile Phone

The study participant initiates the *hand over of a mobile phone* by clicking on the corresponding icon on the UI. Then, the robot system picks up and places the mobile phone autonomously in a predefined transfer zone. The phone is in a predefined pickup area, and the robot grasps the mobile phone autonomously with its end effector. It tracks the phone via visual object recognition.

#### Skin Scratching

The participant initiates the task by choosing the duration and intensity of scratching and the type of brush (Figure 2). The robot arm autonomously picks up the brush and then slowly approaches the human forearm. The forearm of the participant rests on an arm padding, which serves the robot system as position recognition. The robot sensors continuously check the contact between the brush and the human arm to adjust the robot movement in case of limb position changes. If contact is interrupted, time limit is exceeded, or execution is stopped by the user, the robot stops scratching, places the brush back on the table, and returns to its standby position.

#### Free Manipulation

In this task, the study participant can move the robot arm freely in a defined area and manipulate objects. For a standardized assessment of the task, the participants were asked to stack cubes on top of each other. The participant controlled all movements of the robot systems by clicking six direction levels (left, right, up, down, backward, and forward) and opening and closing the gripper on the UI.

#### **Participants' Safety**

Owing to the early-stage demonstrator status of the ROBINA system, risk analysis was conducted, defining necessary measures for participants' safety. Principal measures included conducting the evaluation under laboratory conditions and technical supervision by specially trained staff. Furthermore, except for the scratching scenario, the robotic arm could not reach the study participant at any time. In addition, formal and informal caregivers of the participants were included in the study to assist in the monitoring of their well-being and general condition. Moreover, a familiarization phase for the ROBINA system and evaluation task was conducted at the beginning. Another safety measure was a "Pause/Cancel" button on the UI, with which the participants could interrupt each scenario at any time. In addition, the correct execution was monitored by specially trained staff and could be interrupted by them immediately. All materials used were checked for sharp edges or damages, and participants were required to wear safety goggles throughout the testing procedure.

#### **Ethics Approval**

The ethics committee of the Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, corporate member of Freie Universität Berlin and

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35304
```

Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin approved the study (EA2/145/19). Moreover, the study was registered with the German Clinical Trials Register (DRKS00016554).

#### **Study Population**

Participants were recruited by the Geriatrics Research Group over a period of 4 weeks. The following were the inclusion criteria for the study: participants were aged  $\geq 18$  years and had clinically diagnosed ALS. To investigate the functional limitations that influence the operation of the ROBINA system, we used the ALS functional rating scale (ALS-FRS) [24], limited to the two questionnaire dimensions on limitations in speech and finger function.

In total, 11 individuals with clinically diagnosed ALS participated in the study. Of the 11 participants, 8 (73%) were male and 3 (27%) were female. The mean age was 57.1 (SD 5.9; range 51-70) years. In total, 73% (8/11) of the participants had their arms affected (arm paresis, tetraparesis, or similar conditions). Regarding the ALS-FRS dimension regarding speech, of the 11 participants, 4 (36%) participants showed no limitations, 5 (45%) showed mild to medium limitations, and 1 (9%) had lost the ability to speak. Regarding functional limitations of the fingers, of the 11 participants, 1 (9%) participant stated that they have no limitations, 6 (55%) mentioned mild to medium limitations, and 4 (36%) have severe limitation (ie, they were not able to press keys on a keyboard).

#### **Study Procedure**

Participants were contacted first via telephone and informed about the purpose and procedure of the study. After providing formal consent, they were invited to the research facility of the Geriatric Research Group.

As a first step, sociodemographic data and subdomains of ALS-FRS-Extended were recorded. Then, the most appropriate control device for operating the research demonstrator was selected with the assistance of an experienced project partner and set up according to the participant's needs (eg, head control, eye control, joystick, PC mouse, or ball mouse). In the second step, familiarization with the system and test scenarios was conducted. In this context, the experimental setup and procedure of the single scenarios, UI, robot actions, and required safety measures were presented. In addition, a functional demonstration of the system was performed to familiarize the users with the system.

Subsequently, the task-based evaluation phase was conducted, in which the study participants tested and evaluated each of the scenarios presented in the previous sections. During the execution, a standardized observation protocol was used to record the system and user errors and spontaneous expressions of the participants (think aloud). In addition, after each task, participants were asked to rate the system using a self-developed, standardized, and validated questionnaire (refer to the following sections).

#### **Quantitative Evaluation**

On the basis of a self-developed questionnaire, participants in the task-based intervention section of the study were asked to rate the categories of relevance to everyday life, usability, and

feeling of safety during task execution for each scenario on a 5-point Likert scale. Another item about the preference for human support over robotic support comprised 3 response

categories. The questions asked under each category are shown in Table 1.

**Table 1.** Self-developed questionnaire to evaluate the robot-assisted services for individual and resource-oriented intensive and palliative care of people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis system regarding usability.

Categories and questions	Response categories	
Relevance to everyday life		
How relevant do you think the scenario is to your current everyday life?	1=very relevant to 5=not relevant	
Usability		
How do you rate the operability with the control unit you use?	1=very easy to 5=very difficult	
How did you feel about the speed of movement of the robotic manipulator?	1=very fast to 5=very slow	
How did you feel about being [e.g., served a drink or scratched] by a robotic manipulator?	1=very comfortable to 5=very unpleasant	
Feeling of safety during task execution		
How safe did you feel during the execution of actions in thescenario?	1=very safe to 5=very unsafe	
Preference for human assistance		
In the current scenario, would you prefer the assistance of a human to that of the robotic manipulator?	1=ves, 2=no, and 3=do not know	

The general evaluation of the ROBINA system was based on the System Usability Scale (SUS) [25], which is a simple and technology-independent instrument for assessing the subjectively perceived usability of a technical system. The SUS comprises 10 items that are answered on a 5-point Likert scale. The answers of the users are transformed according to a recoding table and then summed up (percentile interpretation). The possible score ranges from 0 to 100 points, whereby a score of 68 is required as a benchmark for at least good usability. A score of 100 corresponds to perfect usability.

In addition to SUS, a self-developed questionnaire was used to determine user perception in the following categories: feelings of anxiety during use, system size, and design of the graphical UI (Table 2).

 Table 2. Self-developed questionnaire to evaluate the robot-assisted services for individual and resource-oriented intensive and palliative care of people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis system regarding user perception.

Categories and questions	Response categories		
Feeling of anxiety			
Have you been afraid during the testing of the robotic manipulator?	1=great fear, 2=little fear, and 3=no fear		
System size			
How did you feel about the size of the robot manipulator?	1=too big, 2=appropriate, and 3=too small		
Design of the graphical user interface			
How did you like the design of the graphical user interface?	1=very good to 4=very poor		
How well could the elements be recognized on the graphical user interface?	1=very good to 4=very poor		
How well did the robot performance meet your expectations towards task description in the graphical user interface?	1=very good to 4=very poor		

#### **Qualitative Evaluation**

To gain deep insight into the subjective perception and evaluation of the ROBINA system, qualitative data were 2 First, from collected in ways. open-ended questions-regarding task-based evaluation, the participants were asked to state their preference for human or robotic assistance. In addition, they were asked about the aspects of each scenario that they like the most and those that they do not like at all. In the general evaluation, the participants were asked an open-ended question about the suggestions they had for improving the UI. Second, qualitative data were collected using observation protocols. As part of a think-aloud protocol,

participants' spontaneous expressions during testing were recorded; human and technical errors were also recorded.

#### Analysis

Quantitative data were analyzed descriptively using SPSS (version 28.0; IBM Corp) for Windows. Results are presented as medians, IQRs, and minimums and maximums as most of our data had an ordinal scale level or did not have a Gaussian normal distribution. Owing to the exploratory nature of our laboratory study, hypotheses and significance tests were not performed.

Qualitative results obtained from open-ended questions and observation protocols were analyzed using systematic structuring



content analysis, according to Mayring [26]. Considering the targeted study objective, the analysis included the paraphrasing of content-relevant text passages in the different materials. On this basis, the targeted level of abstraction was determined, and the paraphrases were generalized under that level. Subsequently, the first reduction of paraphrases with the same meaning was conducted through selection. In a further reduction step, paraphrases were pooled and integrated at the targeted abstraction level. To ensure data quality, these analysis steps were conducted by 2 trained researchers, who have experience with qualitative studies. The analysis steps of paraphrasing, generalization, and reduction were performed using Excel (version 2016; Microsoft).

## Results

As mentioned in the previous section, the experimental setup included various input devices to best meet the abilities of each

participant. The following input devices were used to control the ROBINA system via the GUI within the four scenarios: eye control (1/11, 9%), normal PC mouse (3/11, 27%), ball mouse with switch (1/11, 9%), head control (5/11, 45%), and wheelchair joystick (1/11, 9%).

#### **Task-Based Evaluation**

In the following section, the results of the task-based evaluation of the ROBINA system are presented. In this context, the relevance of the evaluation scenario for the everyday life of the participants who are affected, usability (including ease of use of the control unit, speed of semiautonomous robotic movement, and subjective perception of the robotic support), feeling of safety, and preference for human support over robotic support are described. For better illustration of the results, they are also presented graphically (Figures 4-7). Finally, the presentation of each scenario ends with the participants' assessments obtained from the open-ended questions.

Figure 4. Aggregated presentation of the response distributions in the categories' relevance of the evaluation scenario (serve a drink) to everyday life, usability, feeling of safety during semiautonomous robotic behavior, and preference for human assistance over robotic assistance.





#### Klebbe et al

Figure 5. Aggregated presentation of the response distributions in the categories' relevance of the evaluation scenario (hand over a mobile phone) to everyday life, usability, feeling of safety during semiautonomous robotic behavior, and preference for human assistance over robotic assistance.



Figure 6. Aggregated presentation of the response distributions in the categories' relevance of the evaluation scenario (scratching) to everyday life, usability, feeling of safety during semiautonomous robotic behavior, and preference for human assistance over robotic assistance.





#### Klebbe et al

Figure 7. Aggregated presentation of the response distributions in the categories' relevance of the evaluation scenario (free movement) to everyday life, usability, feeling of safety during semiautonomous robotic behavior, and preference for human assistance over robotic assistance.



Most participants (9/11, 82%) rated the relevance of the *serve a drink* scenario for everyday life as very or rather relevant. Only 9% (1/11) of the participants rated this scenario as not relevant for everyday life. Regarding usability, all participants (11/11, 100%) rated the ease of use of the control unit as very easy or rather easy. The movement speed of the robot was rated as appropriate by 45% (5/11) of the participants. In contrast, 45% (5/11) of the participants rated it as rather slow or very slow. A participant perceived the movement speed to be rather fast. The subjective perception of the robotic support in this scenario was rated as very comfortable or rather comfortable by most participants (10/11, 91%). A participant perceived it to be neither pleasant nor unpleasant.

Furthermore, all participants (11/11, 100%) stated that they felt very safe while performing the semiautonomous robotic behaviors.

Finally, for the *serve a drink* scenario, 18% (2/11) of the participants indicated that they would prefer human assistance. In contrast, more than half of the participants (6/11, 55%) indicated that they would not prefer human assistance. Of the 11 participants, 3 (27%) participants could not provide a preference.

As part of the qualitative evaluation, the participants were asked about the aspects of the *serve a drink* scenario that they particularly liked or disliked. In particular, the participants appreciated the precise and fast reactions and the smooth motion. Moreover, the semiautonomous actions were mentioned positively. However, at the same time, participants preferred to fully control the system as long as they were physically and cognitively able to do so. In the event of a physical or cognitive decrease, for example, owing to fatigue, participants preferred the system to take over control and act autonomously. Offering

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35304
```

XSL•F() RenderX a drink to the mouth was found to be pleasant and a great relief. The size of the system, which makes it unsuitable for home use, was critically highlighted. In addition, a respondent criticized the system for taking different paths to pick up and serve the cup. In another case, the cup was served in a slightly skewed position; thus, the risk of spilling liquid was criticized. In 3 cases, the system collided with the surrounding devices when returning to the starting position (twice with the tablet and once with a wheelchair control), which caused irritation among the participants. Of the 11 participants, 2 (18%) participants noted the incompleteness of the scenario, as a third person was required to fill the cup and bring it into the robot's interaction field.

A key requirement that emerged from the *serve a drink* scenario was the reliability of the robot's actions in an unstructured environment and when manipulating objects. In this context, a participant stated that the robot needed to know its interaction radius. For reliable object manipulation, the system should also be able to recognize the material of the objects and grasp them with appropriate force. A third finger was suggested to increase the reliability of grasping.

The *hand over a mobile phone* scenario was rated as very relevant or rather relevant for their everyday lives by most respondents (9/11, 82%). A participant rated it as neither relevant nor irrelevant, and another participant rated it as rather not relevant.

Regarding the 3 questions on the usability of the ROBINA system in this scenario, the ease of use of the control unit was rated as very easy or rather easy by all participants (11/11, 100%). The evaluation of the speed of movement showed a differentiated image. Of the 11 participants, 3 (27%) participants rated it as very fast or rather fast and 4 (36%) other participants

rated the movement speed as adequate. Similarly, 36% (4/11) of the participants rated the speed of movement as rather slow. Finally, the robotic assistance was rated as very comfortable or rather comfortable by most respondents (10/11, 91%). A participant perceived it as neither pleasant nor unpleasant.

Regarding participants' feeling of safety during the semiautonomous task execution, all participants indicated that they felt very safe or rather safe (11/11, 100%).

Similar to the *serve a drink* scenario, 18% (2/11) of the respondents indicated a preference for human assistance. In contrast, 73% (8/11) of the participants did not prefer human assistance over robot assistance. A participant could not report a preference.

Regarding qualitative evaluation, the transfer of objects into the interaction field of the individuals who are affected, careful pickup of the mobile phone, and fast and precise motion sequence over large distances were described as positive. In general, the task was described as being "close to reality." However, in a few cases, the phone was dropped rather than carefully put down during the delivery. In addition, participants emphasized that the scenario was only suitable for people who can still pick up and operate a phone independently.

In summary, 3 key requirements were mentioned: first, direct transfer of the mobile phone to the user or into an appropriate holder; second, connection of the mobile phone control to the robot or wheelchair control (to operate it); and third, safety function that prevents the robotic system from dropping an object during the transfer.

In total, 82% (9/11) of the participants rated the *scratching* scenario as very relevant or rather relevant for their everyday life. Of the 11 participants, 1 (9%) participant each rated it as neither relevant nor irrelevant.

The ease of use of the control unit was rated as very easy or rather easy by all participants (11/11, 100%). In the *scratching* scenario, the evaluation of the speed of movement varied. Of the 11 participants, 3 (27%) participants found the speed to be very fast or rather fast, approximately half of the participants (n=6, 55%) rated it as appropriate, and 2 (18%) participants felt the speed was rather slow. Robotic assistance was rated as very comfortable or rather comfortable by most respondents (10/11, 91%). A participant perceived it as rather unpleasant.

Most participants (10/11, 91%) felt very safe during the semiautonomous task execution. A participant rated the feeling of safety as rather unsafe.

Preference for human assistance over that provided by the robot was not expressed by most participants in the *scratching* scenario (7/11, 64%). However, a participant indicated preference for human assistance. In total, 27% (3/11) of the participants were not able to provide a preference.

In the qualitative evaluation of the *scratching* scenario, a participant particularly liked the quick satisfaction of solving an acute problem and the increase in privacy and independence. Moreover, participants perceived the scratching as pleasant, however, depending on the brush and skin type. Similarly, the degree of scratching duration and intensity explicitly

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35304
```

corresponded to the ideas of the users, as did the possibility to adjust them. In contrast, a participant questioned the practicality of the task, particularly in the facial area. Another user was unsure how the system localized the area to be scratched. Uncertainty among participants occurred in cases where the system picked up the brush, skewed with the 2-finger grippers. In these cases, participants expressed concern about injury to the skin. The requirements for the correct positioning of the participant in relation to the ROBINA system were also viewed critically, because although this was plausible for safety reasons, it could not be implemented in everyday life independently by patients with ALS and limited mobility. In this respect, dependence on other people will remain. It was further critically stated that the positioning of the participant in relation to the system results in an irregular scratching movement, and therefore, the intensity varies over the distance of the scratching movement. Finally, the lack of a separate start button in the GUI was criticized, as it was not clear to the participants how the scenario can be started once the parameters had been selected.

As requirements for further development in this scenario, the possibility of the exact determination of the location of the itch instead of the vague selection of whole-body regions was highlighted. Another requirement was a clearly defined button to start the scenario. Finally, some participants wished for better adaptation of the scratching movements and the brush to the body shape.

All participants (11/11, 100%) rated the relevance of the *free movement* scenario as very relevant or rather relevant for their everyday life.

Regarding usability, the ease of use of the control unit was rated by most participants (10/11, 91%) as very simple or rather simple. A participant evaluated it as adequate. The speed of movement was also considered differently in this scenario. Of the 11 participants, 2 (18%) participants perceived it as rather fast, more than half of the participants (n=6, 55%) found it to be adequate, and 3 (27%) participants rated it as rather slow or very slow. The robotic support was rated as very pleasant or rather pleasant by all participants (11/11, 100%).

The subjective feeling of safety during the robotic executions was rated as very safe by 91% (10/11) of the participants. A participant reported to have felt rather unsafe.

For this scenario, of the 11 participants, 2 (18%) participants preferred human support, 6 (55%) other participants did not prefer human assistance to that provided by the robot, and 3 (27%) participants could not indicate a preference.

In the qualitative evaluation of the *free movement* scenario, the perceived independence from human assistance was highlighted. A participant mentioned that he would prefer care assistant to the system. However, if verbal communication was no longer possible for him, this task would be of great importance. In addition, both the precise movement control (ability to choose between small and large movements) and the sensitivity of the ROBINA system were positively highlighted. Critically, in this scenario, it was emphasized that the movement speed could not be adjusted. Furthermore, regarding the use of head control, it

XSL•FO RenderX

was emphasized that holding the head position and the many micromovements to trigger robot movements were strenuous. Another point of criticism was the nonuniformity of the robot's movements, which did not follow a straight line.

As requirements for further development, several users wished for stepless control. For movements over long distances, a context menu that will allow speed control via sliders was suggested. Alternatively, movements over long distances can depend on the duration of pressing a corresponding button on the graphical UI.

Across the scenarios, 36% (4/11) of the participants described a potential for the promotion of independence and autonomy by the system. In total, 18% (2/11) of the participants had no preference for human or robotic support. Another 18% (2/11) of the participants stated that they will only use robotic assistance as long as it did not lead to the total replacement of their caregivers. A participant felt more comfortable with humans. This participant stated that they will use robotic assistance if their physical functionalities were very limited or if no other person was present to provide support. Apart from that, the respondent perceived the robot as a burden relief for his relatives.

#### **General Evaluation**

Following the task-based evaluation, the participants were asked to provide a general evaluation of the system.

The overall usability of the ROBINA system was measured using SUS. On average, the ROBINA system was rated with median of 90 (mean 86.1; IQR 75-95; minimum 70; maximum 97.5) points, and thus, ranked in the upper range of "excellent" or grade A [27].

In addition, based on a self-developed questionnaire, participants were asked questions about the perceived fear while using the ROBINA system, the system's size, and the design of the graphical UI.

For the task-based use of the ROBINA system, all participants (11/11, 100%) indicated that they had not felt any anxiety.

Regarding the size, 64% (7/11) of the participants felt that the ROBINA system was very large and 36% (4/11) of the participants felt it was appropriate.

Another focus was the general evaluation of the graphical UI. This was generally assessed as good (8/11, 73%) or very good (3/11, 27%) by most participants. Regarding the visualization of the various functions in the graphical UI, 73% (8/11) of the participants stated that these were very well recognizable. In total, 27% (3/11) of the participants rated it as good. In addition, 64% (7/11) of the participants indicated that the representations for semiautonomous execution by the ROBINA system on the graphical UI met their expectations for robot performance well. Overall, 36% (4/11) of the participants indicated that the actual executions met these expectations very well. Figure 8 presents a graphical overview of the participants' evaluations. Within the qualitative evaluations of the graphical UI, the participants were asked to provide detailed suggestions for improvement. According to the participants, 3D symbols should be displayed to better clarify the robot's control directions. The font should be more legible (ie, large and thick) and contrasting to the background. Contrast and brightness should be adjusted for operation in the dark. In general, some settings such as color and contrast should be customizable. When using the head control, there was a risk that the user would unconsciously trigger a function without looking at the screen. In 2 cases, the participants actively approached the study staff about this concern, and in another case, there was actually an unconscious cancellation of the running task after the participant had averted his gaze from the tablet to the real task execution. In total, 18% (2/11) of the participants recommended an area within the control design of the GUI into which the user can look without fear of triggering something unconsciously. In the free movements task, users were in favor of revising the navigation label or making it more intuitive by using a suitable color concept. Furthermore, the live image of the robot's position with respect to the manipulation object in the graphical UI was hardly used. Instead, the participants observed the process in the real study setup. The participants explained that this was because of the small size of the live image in the graphical UI, which did not show the entire interaction space of the robot. Another reason was that spatial perception of the interaction area via the 2D live image was severely limited (Figure 3).


Figure 8. Responses to the survey questions about the general evaluation of the graphical user interface (GUI).



### Discussion

### **Principal Findings**

This study aimed to investigate the key requirements and needs of people with ALS for the use of a semiautonomous robotic manipulator for supporting ADLs. For this purpose, four exemplary activities (*serve a drink, hand over a mobile phone, scratching*, and *free movement*) were evaluated in an explorative and task-based laboratory study with 11 individuals from the target group. The study was based on a multimethod approach comprising quantitative and qualitative methods.

Regarding the quantitative part, the use of a robotic manipulator was considered to be relevant in the investigated exemplary scenarios. Most participants evaluated the operation of the system as easy and the semiautonomous robotic actions as pleasant. At the same time, most participants felt safe during the semiautonomous robot actions. Differences existed, especially regarding the execution speed of the semiautonomous robot actions and the preference for human assistance over robotic support.

The qualitative analysis of the open-ended questions about the application and the observation and think-aloud protocols provided a deep insight into the user-centered assessments and development requirements. These findings can be summarized into 3 requirement areas.

The first area concerns the role and design of semiautonomous robot actions. In general, the investigated semiautonomous robot capabilities were evaluated positively. The precise and dynamic motion sequences and the careful picking up of objects were particularly highlighted. However, at the same time, errors such as irregular motion paths, collision with equipment in the

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35304
```

RenderX

environment, and inaccurate pickup of objects became evident. Against this background, precise and reliable execution of semiautonomous robot motions and object manipulations and environmental and object recognition capabilities were key development requirements. Another central result concerns the execution speed, which should be customizable according to the user's abilities. Generally, the participants desire a largely self-responsible control of the robotic manipulator. In contrast, semiautonomous robotic actions should be applied when the user's physical abilities decline during the day (eg, owing to fatigue) or owing to the progressive course of the disease.

Another area of requirements concerns the control unit. Regarding the different input devices for operating the robot arm (such as head control, mouse control, and joystick), the use of head control was perceived as strenuous for the user in the scenarios with increased input requirements. As the input device used corresponded to the physical abilities that were still available, there is great demand for the design of a UI for those affected, who can no longer use their extremities for operation. Regarding the graphical UI, an increasing number of input options requires attention to design a differentiated display for better distinction of the corresponding robotic abilities.

Finally, the last area covers the requirements for the adaptation of robotic capabilities regarding the everyday life of the target group. According to the participants, the use of a robotic manipulator will enhance their independence, autonomy, and privacy in everyday life. However, at the same time, the current state of development of the test scenarios will still make the user dependent on human assistance. Consequently, the developed robot capabilities focused only on specific subareas of the respective everyday activity and require various preliminary activities that neither the user himself nor with use

of the robot can implement independently. Finally, regarding promoting autonomy and independence, it was also emphasized that the use of robotic systems should not lead to the replacement of human assistance.

### **Comparison With Previous Studies**

In the following sections, our findings will be discussed in comparison with previous studies. We will focus on the three central requirement areas identified through the qualitative analysis: requirements for semiautonomous human-robot collaboration, requirements for UI, and requirements for the adaptation of robotic capabilities regarding the everyday life of the target group.

## Requirements for Semiautonomous Human-Robot Collaboration

Regarding using semiautonomous robotic manipulators to compensate for functional limitations, 3 characteristics are of particular importance: design of the control model, handling of objects, and execution speed.

In their scoping review of recent studies on using computer vision for semiautonomous control of assistive robotic manipulators, Bengtson et al [21] found that most of the studies focused on rather fixed schemes for semiautonomous control, which are based on predefined roles for the user and the system. An advantage of this distinct distribution of role models was that the user is relieved of challenging control processes and that the accountability of responsibilities between the user and the system is simplified. However, according to the authors, a disadvantage was that the user has only limited access to autonomous processes, which in turn can have a negative impact on the user experience. As a solution to this problem, the authors suggested an adaptive semiautonomous control approach that continuously involves the user in this process. With this arbitration of control, the robot control can be more strongly adapted to the user's capabilities and thus achieve a high degree of individualization of the human-robot collaboration.

A similar conclusion was reached by Kim et al [28]. On the basis of a vision-based 6 df UCF-MANUS, the authors conducted a comparative study of two different control models (supervised autonomous operation vs manual or Cartesian operation) with the target group of individuals with traumatic spinal cord injury. The evaluation was conducted over 1 to 2 hours weekly, over a period of 3 weeks. Interestingly, both groups had comparable task completion times at the end of the study, which the authors attributed to the learning effects in the manual operating group. In addition, the authors found that the results from the autonomous operation mode showed significant reduction in the number of clicks and task completion time. At the same time, participant satisfaction did not increase. The authors concluded that participants wanted to perform the appropriate tasks independently with the robotic system. Another key finding of the study was that participants who tested both control modes required an adaptive control system that allowed them to switch between the 2 control modes as needed.

As our results have shown, another challenge of semiautonomous control models is the precise and safe object manipulation. Overall, 2 aspects are of importance here. First,

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35304
```

the identification and localization of an object, and second, the precise and safe grasping. Regarding the first aspect, different approaches are already available, such as proximity-based approaches or the detection of an object by a sensor (such as laser pointer, eye-tracking, or electroencephalography) [21,28,29]. Regarding the second aspect of the grasping process, different approaches are currently under review, which are based either on predefined objects or specific shapes. As these approaches deal with simplified assumptions about an object, a major challenge involves the manipulation of arbitrary objects. Bengtson et al [21] considered a solution to this problem using approaches that focus either on the recognition of suitable grasping points or the decomposition of the object into different shapes. Another approach is to involve the user in identifying and marking such grasping points for the system or teach the system to grasp different shapes of everyday objects independently. Finally, another solution to improve the manipulation properties is to adapt the gripper by using at least three fingers or use specific adapters for specific objects [22,28].

The third main challenge is regarding the execution speed of robotic actions. Various studies have shown that semiautonomous control models have led to significant improvement in both success rate and execution time of tasks compared with commercially available Cartesian control models. At the same time, in accordance with our results, some studies also show that target groups desire high execution speeds [15,28]. Thus, the user-centered adaptation of movement speed can be interpreted as an essential factor for user experience. However, at the same time, this represents an essential parameter for ensuring safe human-robot collaboration. Therefore, a potential solution to this issue can be a gradual expansion of the performance level of the robotic manipulator linked to specific operating skills. This should consider both positive adaptation to the system and potential limitations of use owing to the course of the disease. Particularly considering the progressive physical decline, it currently remains unclear to what extent the users are able to perform such system configurations on their own responsibility. Thus, to support the users in their daily use of such robotic systems, an appropriate adjustment of the system configuration, especially regarding the speed of movement, should be supervised by qualified experts.

### **UI Requirements**

In addition to the requirements for semiautonomous human-robot collaboration, our results show that the UI is also essential for effective and efficient use of a robotic manipulator. Currently, commercially available UIs mostly rely on teleoperation via a 3-axis joystick. The 3 df are thereby mapped to a subset of the Cartesian arm translation and wrist rotation control. To control the 7 df, the user must switch between different Cartesian levels [20]. Thus, grasping an object using a robotic manipulator is transformed into a multitude of distinct movements that require frequent switching between and within different Cartesian levels. For people with functional limitations of the upper extremities, this can result in high physical and mental stress.

In this context, Chung et al [30] investigated the performance of a tablet-based UI versus a conventional joystick control in a comparative pilot study with 8 participants with upper extremity impairments using a JACO (Kinova) robotic manipulator. The use of the touch screen UI resulted in high execution speeds and low task completion times compared with the conventional control form; however, no equal distribution of UI users was realized within the study. In addition, the participants rated the touch screen UI as simple and less stressful. The authors attribute this result to the low user errors owing to the better visual-spatial assignment, low mode changes, and low physical strain compared with conventional operation using joystick and shift key.

Graphical UIs provide a promising approach as they allow to present different control levels simultaneously, and thus make them more easily accessible. Moreover, they provide a wide range of visualization opportunities to make the control characteristics more comprehensible. At the same time, most of the tablet-based UIs offer the possibility to connect additional input devices such as head or eye control. Sunny et al [31] also followed such an approach. The authors investigated the usability of a control system consisting of an eye-gaze interface and a tablet-based graphical UI for a wheelchair-mounted xArm 6 from UFactory in different manipulation tasks. A total of 10 healthy participants were included in the study. Although this is not a representative sample for the addressed target group of people with disabilities, high success rate could be achieved in the manipulation tasks. The participants highlighted the large buttons of the graphical UI as a key feature of usability in the design of the control system.

### **Requirements for Everyday Use**

Consistent with the current state of the art on assistive robots, the results of our study demonstrate that a major challenge lies in the identification and classification of relevant task domains and associated motion and performance parameters. A key task here is to develop a taxonomy that balances robotic capabilities with health care requirements and user-centered needs.

In this context, research and development of assistive robots often refer to the International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF) [16,17]. The ICF is a standardized and international classification system for describing a person's functional health status, disability, social impairment, and relevant environmental factors. For this purpose, the ICF is divided into two parts, each with 2 components: first, functioning and disability (components: body functions and structures, activities, and participation) and second, contextual factors (components: environmental factors and person-related factors). Each component is divided into different domains, which in turn are composed of different categories that form the units of the classification.

Thus, the ICF provides a standardized framework for classifying health-related functional limitations or requirements in the performance of ADLs and social participation. For robotic research and development, the ICF classification provides an important approach for identifying and developing functional parameters for robotic assistance and evaluating their performance. However, at the same time, the ICF does not

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35304
```

provide a basis for identifying all tasks or making conclusions about their relevance and frequency in the everyday life of the individuals concerned. Therefore, more advanced approaches for the identification of relevant assistive activities and functional parameters are needed. Petrich et al [16] proposed such an approach. In their study, the authors investigated different lifelogging databases to determine both the frequency of ADL tasks in daily life and short-term arm and hand movements during domestic tasks.

Furthermore, in the process of prioritizing ADLs for robotic support, it is essential to consider the perspectives of third parties in the caring network. These parties play a crucial role because they form a secondary user group that will be involved in facilitating and supporting the use of assistive robots by the primary target group of people with functional limitations. Therefore, the consideration of their needs plays an essential role in acceptance and long-term use; however, the rating of ADL tasks varies between those parties [17].

### Limitations

The generalizability of the study results is subject to several limitations, which are discussed in this section. Owing to the small sample size, the results should be considered as indicative of future studies. In addition, several influencing factors were derived from the experimental and exploratory study design. The first factor is the safety measures taken owing to the early stage of technical development of the study demonstrator. Some of our findings suggest that these measures had an impact on the user evaluations (scratching scenario). In addition, the fact that we used a stationary robot from the industrial environment can be considered as another influencing factor (robot size). Current systems, such as the Kinova or Exact Dynamics systems, can be mounted on the user's wheelchair and are characterized by a slim and lightweight design. Owing to the explorative pilot nature of the study, various influencing variables such as learning effect, novelty effect, and Hawthorne effect cannot be excluded. In this context, the study duration of 1 visit per participant should be mentioned as a particular factor. Therefore, the results presented in this paper need to be evaluated through further studies with field trials.

### Conclusions

Assistive robots are expected to have great potential in supporting and promoting the autonomy and independence of people with functional impairments in various ADLs. To achieve effective and efficient compensation of disease-related functional losses, high demands are imposed on user-friendly system design. In this context, this study investigated and discussed the requirements and needs of people with ALS for the development of a semiautonomous robotic manipulator for everyday life support. We identified 3 key requirement areas that should be pursued as foci of user-centered development in future research and development projects, consistent with previous studies. An essential prerequisite for development is the active and continuous involvement of the target group in the control processes. Therefore, a promising approach consists of adaptive semiautonomous control systems that enable the user to be involved in the autonomous decision-making and operational processes. A key question to be addressed is how

to effectively mediate between the user's skill level and the technical challenges in motion planning and object and environment recognition for efficient task accomplishment. Another focus of development is the UI. Owing to physical limitations, conventional input devices can be a high mental and physical burden in everyday life. Tablet-based graphical UIs can provide great relief in this regard, by simplifying access to various robot functions and making robot behavior more predictable and comprehensible through the use of diverse visualization options. Finally, there is a strong need to develop a specific taxonomy for assistive robots that provides a standardized assessment of task parameters, efficiency, and performance to serve as a comparative standard in research and development.

### Acknowledgments

This study was supported in part by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research under grant 16SV7712. The authors acknowledge the support from the German Research Foundation and the Open Access Publication Fund of Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

### References

- Longinetti E, Fang F. Epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an update of recent literature. Current Opinion in Neurology 2019 Aug 12;32(5):771-776 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1097/WCO.00000000000730</u>] [Medline: <u>31361627</u>]
- Brown CA, Lally C, Kupelian V, Flanders WD. Estimated prevalence and incidence of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and SOD1 and C9orf72 genetic variants. Neuroepidemiology 2021 Jul 09;55(5):342-353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000516752] [Medline: <u>34247168</u>]
- Vasta R, Moglia C, Manera U, Canosa A, Grassano M, Palumbo F, PIEMONTE AND VALLE D'AOSTA REGISTER FOR ALS (PARALS). What is amyotrophic lateral sclerosis prevalence? Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener 2022 May 23;23(3-4):203-208. [doi: 10.1080/21678421.2021.1936557] [Medline: 34151660]
- 4. Kiernan MC, Vucic S, Cheah BC, Turner MR, Eisen A, Hardiman O, et al. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Lancet 2011 Mar 12;377(9769):942-955 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61156-7] [Medline: 21296405]
- 5. Talbott EO, Malek AM, Lacomis D. The epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Handbook Clin Neurol 2016;138:225-238. [doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-802973-2.00013-6] [Medline: 27637961]
- Wijesekera LC, Leigh PN. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2009 Feb 03;4:3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-4-3] [Medline: 19192301]
- Spittel S, Maier A, Kettemann D, Walter B, Koch B, Krause K, et al. Non-invasive and tracheostomy invasive ventilation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: utilization and survival rates in a cohort study over 12 years in Germany. Eur J Neurol 2021 Apr 28;28(4):1160-1171. [doi: 10.1111/ene.14647] [Medline: 33210770]
- Bakker M, Creemers H, Schipper K, Beelen A, Grupstra H, Nollet F, et al. Need and value of case management in multidisciplinary ALS care: a qualitative study on the perspectives of patients, spousal caregivers and professionals. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener 2015 Jan 22;16(3-4):180-186. [doi: <u>10.3109/21678421.2014.971811</u>] [Medline: <u>25611162</u>]
- Hogden A, Foley G, Henderson RD, James N, Aoun SM. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: improving care with a multidisciplinary approach. J Multidisciplin Healthcare 2017 May 19;10:205-215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/JMDH.S134992] [Medline: 28579792]
- Galvin M, Corr B, Madden C, Mays I, McQuillan R, Timonen V, et al. Caregiving in ALS a mixed methods approach to the study of Burden. BMC Palliat Care 2016 Sep 05;15(1):1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12904-016-0153-0] [Medline: 27596749]
- Funke A, Spittel S, Grehl T, Grosskreutz J, Kettemann D, Petri S, et al. Provision of assistive technology devices among people with ALS in Germany: a platform-case management approach. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener 2018 Jan 30;19(5-6):342-350. [doi: 10.1080/21678421.2018.1431786] [Medline: 29382225]
- 12. Bausch M, Mittler J, Hasselbring T, Cross D. The assistive technology act of 2004: what does it say and what does it mean? Physical Disabilities Education and Related Services. 2005 Sep. URL: <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ842007.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-08-03]
- 13. Maier A, Eicher C, Kiselev J, Klebbe R, Greuèl M, Kettemann D, et al. Acceptance of enhanced robotic assistance systems in people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis-associated motor impairment: observational online study. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2021 Dec 06;8(4):e18972 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18972] [Medline: 34874891]
- 14. Kehl C. Robotik und assistive Neurotechnologien in der Pflege gesellschaftliche Herausforderungen. In: TAB-Arbeitsbericht 177. Berlin: Büro für Technikfolgenabschätzung beim Deutschen Bundestag (TAB); 2018.

- Beaudoin M, Lettre J, Routhier F, Archambault PS, Lemay M, Gélinas I. Impacts of robotic arm use on individuals with upper extremity disabilities: a scoping review. Can J Occupational Ther 2018 Dec;85(5):397-407. [doi: 10.1177/0008417418820878] [Medline: 30866682]
- 16. Petrich L, Jin J, Dehghan M, Jagersand M. Assistive arm and hand manipulation: how does current research intersect with actual healthcare needs? arXiv 2021:8 [FREE Full text]
- Chung C, Wang H, Cooper RA. Functional assessment and performance evaluation for assistive robotic manipulators: literature review. J Spinal Cord Med 2013 Jul;36(4):273-289 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1179/2045772313Y.000000132] [Medline: 23820143]
- Driessen BJ, Evers HG, van Woerden JA. MANUS--a wheelchair-mounted rehabilitation robot. Proc Inst Mech Eng H 2001 Aug 05;215(3):285-290. [doi: 10.1243/0954411011535876] [Medline: 11436271]
- Maheu V, Frappier J, Archambault P, Routhier F. Evaluation of the JACO robotic arm: clinico-economic study for powered wheelchair users with upper-extremity disabilities. IEEE Int Conf Rehab Robotics 2011;2011:5. [doi: 10.1109/ICORR.2011.5975397] [Medline: 22275600]
- 20. Campeau-Lecours A, Lamontagne H, Latour S, Fauteux P, Maheu V, Boucher F, et al. Kinova modular robot arms for service robotics applications. Int J Robotics Application Technol 2017;5(2):49-71. [doi: <u>10.4018/IJRAT.2017070104</u>]
- Bengtson SH, Bak T, Andreasen Struijk LN, Moeslund TB. A review of computer vision for semi-autonomous control of assistive robotic manipulators (ARMs). Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2020 Oct;15(7):731-745. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2019.1615998] [Medline: 31268368]
- 22. Langdon B, Wang H, Ding D. Analysis of Assistive Robotic Manipulator (ARM) performance based on a task taxonomy. In: Proceedings of the RESNA/NCART 2016. 2016 Presented at: RESNA/NCART 2016; Jul 10-14, 2016; Arlington, VA URL: <u>https://www.resna.org/sites/default/files/conference/2016/emerging\_technology/langdon.html</u>
- 23. Quigley M, Conley K, Gerkey B, Faust J, Foote T, Leibs J, et al. ROS: an open-source Robot Operating System. ICRA Workshop Open Source Softw 2009;3(3.2):1-6 [FREE Full text]
- 24. Abdulla S, Vielhaber S, Körner S, Machts J, Heinze H, Dengler R, et al. Validation of the German version of the extended ALS functional rating scale as a patient-reported outcome measure. J Neurol 2013 Sep 05;260(9):2242-2255. [doi: 10.1007/s00415-013-6955-6] [Medline: 23736973]
- 25. Brooke J. SUS: a quick and dirty usability scale. In: Usability Evaluation in Industry. Boca Raton, Florida, United States: CRC Press; Jun 11, 1996.
- 26. Mayring P. Qualitative inhaltsanalyse. In: Einführung in die qualitative Sozialforschung. Weinheim Basel: Beltz; 2016.
- 27. Bangor A, Kortum P, Miller J. Determining what individual SUS scores mean: adding an adjective rating scale. J Usab Stud 2009;4(3):114-123.
- 28. Kim D, Hazlett-Knudsen R, Culver-Godfrey H, Rucks G, Cunningham T, Portee D, et al. How autonomy impacts performance and satisfaction: results from a study with spinal cord injured subjects using an assistive robot. IEEE Trans Syst Man Cybern A 2012 Jan;42(1):2-14. [doi: 10.1109/tsmca.2011.2159589]
- 29. Wang J, Wang Z, Zou Z, Zhang A, Tian R, Gao S. Semi-autonomous grasping system based on eye movement and EEG to assist the interaction between the disabled and environment. TechRxiv. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.techrxiv.org/articles/</u> preprint/Semi-autonomous Grasping System Based on Eye Movement and EEG to Assist the Interaction Between the Disabled and Environment/14604138 [accessed 2022-05-21]
- Chung C, Ka HW, Wang H, Ding D, Kelleher A, Cooper RA. Performance evaluation of a mobile touchscreen interface for assistive robotic manipulators: a pilot study. Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil 2017;23(2):131-139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1310/sci2302-131] [Medline: 29339889]
- Sunny MS, Zarif MI, Rulik I, Sanjuan J, Rahman MH, Ahamed SI, et al. Eye-gaze control of a wheelchair mounted 6DOF assistive robot for activities of daily living. J NeuroEngineering Rehab 2021 Dec 18;18(1):12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12984-021-00969-2] [Medline: 34922590]

### Abbreviations

ADL: activities of daily living ALS: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis ALS-FRS: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis functional rating scale GUI: graphical user input ICF: International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health RGB-D: red, green, blue, and depth ROBINA: robot-assisted services for individual and resource-oriented intensive and palliative care of people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis SUS: System Usability Scale UI: user interface



Edited by T Leung; submitted 03.12.21; peer-reviewed by C Kehl, D McDonnell; comments to author 07.02.22; revised version received 25.05.22; accepted 10.06.22; published 23.08.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Klebbe R, Scherzinger S, Eicher C Assistive Robots for Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: Exploratory Task-Based Evaluation Study With an Early-Stage Demonstrator JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e35304 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e35304 doi:10.2196/35304 PMID:35998031

©Robert Klebbe, Stefan Scherzinger, Cornelia Eicher. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 23.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



### **Original Paper**

# Use of a Social Robot (LOVOT) for Persons With Dementia: Exploratory Study

Birthe Dinesen<sup>1</sup>, MSc, PhD; Helle Kidde Hansen<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Gry Bruun Grønborg<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Anne-Kirstine Dyrvig<sup>2</sup>, MSc, PhD; Sofie Dalskov Leisted<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Henrik Stenstrup<sup>3</sup>, MSc; Cathrine Skov Schacksen<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Claus Oestergaard<sup>1</sup>, MSc

<sup>2</sup>The Danish Clinical Quality Program, National Clinical Registries, Odense, Denmark

<sup>3</sup>The Innovation Department for the Elderly, Aalborg Municipality, Aalborg, Denmark

### **Corresponding Author:**

Birthe Dinesen, MSc, PhD Laboratory for Welfare Technologies - Digital Health & Rehabilitation, Sports Sciences - Performance and Technology Department for Health Science and Technology Aalborg University Niels Jernes vej 14, Office 3-210 Aalborg, 9200 Denmark Phone: 45 20515944 Email: <u>bid@hst.aau.dk</u>

### Abstract

**Background:** Approximately 50 million people worldwide are living with dementia. Social robots have been developed and tested to determine whether they improve the quality of life for persons with dementia. A new mobile social robot called LOVOT has artificial intelligence and sensor technologies built in. LOVOT, which is manufactured in Japan, has not yet been tested for use by persons with dementia.

**Objective:** This study aimed to explore how the social robot LOVOT interacts with persons with dementia and how health care professionals experience working with LOVOT in their interaction with persons with dementia.

**Methods:** The study was carried out at 3 nursing homes in Denmark, all with specialized units for persons with dementia. The interaction between the persons with dementia and LOVOT was tested in both individual sessions for 4 weeks and group sessions for 12 weeks. A total of 42 persons were included in the study, of which 12 were allocated to the individual sessions. A triangulation of data collection techniques was used: the World Health Organization-5 questionnaire, face scale, participant observation, and semistructured focus group interviews with health care professionals (n=3).

**Results:** There were no clinically significant changes in the well-being of the persons with dementia followed in the individual or group interaction sessions over time. The results from the face scale showed that in both the individual and group sessions, persons with dementia tended to express more positive facial expressions after the sessions. Findings on how persons with dementia experienced their interaction with LOVOT can be stated in terms of the following themes: LOVOT opens up communication and interaction; provides entertainment; creates a breathing space; is accepted and creates joy; induces feelings of care; can create an overstimulation of feelings; is not accepted; is perceived as an animal; is perceived as being nondemanding; and prevents touch deprivation. Findings regarding the health care professionals' experiences using LOVOT were as follows: the artificial behavior seems natural; and it is a communication tool that can stimulate, create feelings of security, and open up communication. Our findings indicate that the social robot is a tool that can be used in interactions with persons with dementia.

**Conclusions:** The LOVOT robot is the next generation of social robots with advanced artificial intelligence. The vast majority of persons with dementia accepted the social robot LOVOT. LOVOT had positive effects, opened up communication, and facilitated interpersonal interaction. Although LOVOT did not create noticeable effects on social well-being, it gave individual persons a respite from everyday life. Some residents were overstimulated by emotions after interacting with LOVOT. Health care professionals accepted the social robot and view LOVOT as a new tool in the work with persons with dementia.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Laboratory for Welfare Technologies - Digital Health & Rehabilitation, Sports Sciences - Performance and Technology, Department for Health Science and Technology, Aalborg University, Aalborg, Denmark

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e36505) doi:10.2196/36505

### **KEYWORDS**

dementia; social robots; artificial intelligence; health care professionals; health care; persons with dementia

### Introduction

Approximately 50 million people worldwide are living with dementia [1]. Dementia causes deterioration in memory and mental skills such as speech. Living with dementia in everyday life can affect the person's mood, causing apathy, depression, and anxiety [1,2]. Dementia is a progressive disease, such that persons with a severe degree of dementia must live in nursing facilities that specialize in dementia care. With an increasing prevalence of dementia, health care professionals are being challenged to provide quality care and give optimum attention to persons living with dementia. New technological innovations, such as social robots, have been developed and tested to assess whether they could improve the quality of life for persons living with dementia [3]. Social robots are designed to interact with humans to increase social interaction and improve well-being [4]. Góngora Alonso et al [5] have elaborated a 4-way classification of social robots: pet robots, humanoid robots, telepresence robots, and socially assistive robots (SAR). Examples of currently deployed social robots are PARO (robot seal), Aibo (robot dog), NeCoRo (robot cat), and CuDDler (robot teddy bear) [6].

A review by Góngora Alonos et al [5] concluded that the use of social robots for persons with dementia helped provide security and reduce stress. A systematic review of the use of social robots in mental health and well-being found that SAR are used largely with persons with dementia. However, these are only pilot studies, and there are limitations in the methods applied [3].

A review by Ghafurian et al [7] showed that social robots for the care of persons with dementia have received the most attention in the literature in the context of therapy or for increasing engagement, whereas robots designed for assisting with daily activities or providing health guidance received relatively limited attention. PARO was the most commonly used robot in dementia care studies [7]. A review of the use of PARO for persons with dementia has identified benefits such as improved mood, improved social engagement, and reduced negative emotions [8]. PARO's ability to positively influence mood is indicated by the person with dementia becoming more active and relaxed and smiling. In addition, PARO has been shown to improve both verbal and visual engagement in social interactions. Factors that inhibited the use of PARO were the cost of the robot, increased workload for health care professionals working with the robot, infection concerns, and stigma and ethical issues related to a social robot in dementia care [6].

Despite the potential benefits of social robots for persons with dementia, the use of social robots currently faces several challenges. The current evidence base assessing the benefits of social robots for persons with dementia is still at an early stage, with relatively few studies. In addition, many of the existing study methods are characterized by short-term intervention durations and only a few subjects enrolled in the trials [5,9]. Furthermore, a lack of acceptance or outright resistance to social robots among older persons or those living with dementia has also been identified. This resistance may be explained by the fact that the robots studied so far have had limited social and auditory abilities; as such, they were unable to respond to any emotion or react to persons with dementia, nor were they fully aware of the social context [7,10,11].

Some of these deficiencies have been alleviated by the development of a new mobile social robot called LOVOT, which is manufactured in Japan. LOVOT possesses artificial intelligence and sophisticated sensor technologies. LOVOT has its own personality that develops over time with the purpose of creating joy in the user or patient [12]. Until our study, LOVOT had not yet been tested among persons with dementia. Figure 1 shows a photo of 2 LOVOT robots.

This study aims to explore (1) how the social robot LOVOT interacts with persons with dementia who are living in nursing homes in Denmark; and (2) how health care professionals experience working with LOVOT in their everyday interaction with persons with dementia.

Figure 1. LOVOT as a social robot (reproduced from Groove X [12], with permission from Groove X).





### Methods

### **LOVOT Specifications**

The social robot LOVOT was developed by the Groove X company. LOVOT weighs 4.2 kg and has a width of 28 cm, a height of 43 cm, and a depth of 26 cm. LOVOT is built with artificial intelligence, which makes it move in real time and act like a human being. LOVOT uses multiple sensors all over its body, including touch and distance sensors. The touch sensors are used to make LOVOT recognize stimulations on the body and can be warm or cold; it can even "fall asleep" when a person is stimulating the sensors. Distance sensors are used to determine the distance to objects, which makes it possible for LOVOT to move around without colliding with objects or walls [12]. The anatomy of LOVOT can be seen in Figure 2 and Multimedia Appendix 1. LOVOT was designed with a block-shaped "horn" on top of the head, as shown in Figure 2.

The horn can be used to turn LOVOT on and off. The horn includes a 360-degree thermal camera, which is used to determine humans from objects. The horn can also determine the direction of sounds and voices. LOVOT is implemented with 3 wheels, which can be enabled whenever LOVOT wants to move. LOVOT can be active for 40 minutes, after which it will need to return to its charging nest for a 20-minute charge. LOVOT can normally find and connect with the nest itself, although sometimes it needs help locating the nest. LOVOTs are designed with different personalities. For example, it can be programmed to be shy or outgoing in its personality. The personality can change over time as it gets more familiar with its user. Groove X has also developed an app that can be used in collaboration with each LOVOT. The app enables LOVOT to access the internet. LOVOT can use the internet to navigate over distances. LOVOT can take pictures of faces and use facial recognition as part of its artificial intelligence. In this study, LOVOT was not connected to the internet due to the European General Data Protection Regulation [13] and to avoid data being stored on a foreign server at Groove X in Japan [12].





### **Ethical Considerations**

The North Denmark Region Committee on Health Research Ethics was contacted to ensure that the project would be approved by the Ethical Committee. As the project did not include a new treatment approach and because the social robot LOVOT was not a medical device, the project did not require approval by the Ethical Committee (according to mail correspondence on September 23, 2019). Nevertheless, we have followed the Helsinki Declaration. Some persons with dementia were capable of signing the informed consent themselves, but the majority of the older persons had their guardian (spouse, daughter, or son) sign the informed consent form on behalf of the person with dementia. A data sharing agreement has been signed between the parties of the project.

### Context and Intervention of the Study

The study took place at 3 nursing homes in Denmark, all with specialized units for persons with dementia. The nursing homes were located in the Danish Municipalities of Aalborg, Viborg, and Skive.

The interaction between the persons with dementia and LOVOT was tested in both individual and group sessions. Individual interaction sessions between the person with dementia and the LOVOT robot took place over a 4-week period. The aim of the interaction sessions was to facilitate the activities of daily living (eg, eating and getting out of bed), companionship, health guidance (eg, receiving vaccinations), and individual engagement (eg, receiving visits from a relative) between the person with dementia and LOVOT. The individual sessions were facilitated by a health care professional and included approximately two 20- to 30-minute sessions with LOVOT per week. Group sessions, where a group of 4 to 6 persons interacted with 2 robots, were held over a 12-week period. The aim of these sessions was to facilitate communication and interaction between the persons and LOVOTs. Each of the 3 participating nursing homes established 2 groups. The group sessions, facilitated by a health care professional, lasted from 30 to 45 minutes and were held twice a week.

### **Participants and Recruitment**

The participants in the study were recruited based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria listed in Textbox 1.

```
(SL•FO
```

Participants enrolled in the study were diagnosed with dementia prior to the study and before they moved into the specialized nursing homes for persons with dementia. In Denmark, persons are diagnosed with dementia at the geriatric ward of a hospital and in collaboration with the person's own general practitioner via memory test, blood samples, computer tomography scan of the brain, and the assessment of the person's daily functioning in everyday life. The researchers were not involved in this assessment process. Before recruiting the persons for the LOVOT study, we conducted meetings in the specialized nursing homes with persons with dementia, their relatives, and health care professionals. The aim of the meetings was to introduce LOVOT and its functions and give further information about the trial. At the meetings, participants were able to ask questions about the trial.

Figure 3 shows a CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) diagram of the included persons and number of persons completing the sessions.

Textbox 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for participation in the study.

Inc	lusion criteria
•	Diagnosed with mild dementia
•	Lives at 1 of the participating nursing homes in Aalborg, Viborg, and Skive Municipalities
•	Meets one or more of the following behavioral criteria:
	• Lonely
	• High arousal
	Introverted behavior
Exc	lusion criteria
•	Refusal to participate
•	Diagnosed with a neurological disorder
•	Diagnosed with a psychiatric disorder

Figure 3. CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) diagram of the number of older adults included in this study.



### **Outcome Measures and Data Collection Techniques**

The outcome measures of the study were the following:

- Well-being
- Impact on the person's mood
- Impact on the person's behavior

- Acceptance of LOVOT
- LOVOT's interaction with persons with dementia

Outcome measures, data collection techniques, and the time of collection for individual and group sessions are shown in Tables 1 and 2. The data collection process is described below.

Outcome measures	Data collection techniques	Baseline	Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4
Well-being	World Health Organiztion-5 questionnaire 🖌 🖌			✓		
LOVOT's impact on the person's mood	Face scale 🗸 🗸 🗸		1	1		
LOVOT's impact on the person's behavior	or Participant observation $\checkmark$			1		
Acceptance of LOVOT	Participant observation			1		
LOVOT's interaction with the person	Focus group interviews with health care professionals	✓				1

Table 2. Overview of outcome measures and data collection techniques for the group sessions.

Outcome measures	Data collection techniques	Baseline	Week 1	Weeks 2-12
Well-being	World Health Organization-5 questionnaire	✓		✓ (weeks 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 12)
LOVOT's impact on the person's mood	Face scale		1	✓ (weeks 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, and 12)
LOVOT's impact on the person's behavior	Participant observation		1	✓ (weeks 4, 8, and 12)
Acceptance of LOVOT	Participant observation		1	✓ (weeks 4, 8, and 12)
LOVOT's interaction with the persons	Focus group interviews with health care professionals	1		✓ (week 12)

### Well-Being

The World Health Organization-5 questionnaire (WHO-5) was used to measure the well-being of the persons over the course of the test period. The questionnaire consists of 5 questions, with responses scored from 1 to 5—a higher response score indicating greater well-being. The questionnaire was administered by the health care professionals and based on their perception of the person's well-being. Since the health care professionals knew the persons very well, they were capable of making an informed assessment. The questionnaire was administered at baseline and then every other week during the test period for both the individual and the group sessions. The data analysis was performed according to WHO guidelines [14].

### **Face Scale**

The face scale [15] was used to measure LOVOT's impact on the persons' mood before and after a session. The original face scale, inspired by Wada et al [16], consists of 20 facial expressions. For our study, we selected the 7 most common expressions and set up a 7-point scoring scale, with 1 being the most positive expression and 7 being the most negative expression. The face scale was measured by the health care professionals once a week during the test period. The health care professionals knew the persons very well and were therefore capable of making an informed assessment. The data analysis was performed according to guidelines described by Lorish and Maisiak [15].

### **Participant Observations**

During the sessions, the health care professionals caried out observations [17] of the person's behavior when interacting with LOVOT. We designed an observational guide [15] that focused on observations such as nonverbal behavior, interaction, and communication of the persons in their interaction with LOVOT. The health care professionals had received training in carrying out and recording their observations. By using the health care professionals as observers instead of outside researchers, we eliminated the risk that we would attract the person's attention during their interaction with the robot. In addition, COVID-19 restrictions prevented researchers from entering the nursing homes. The observations were documented in a text file and analyzed by researchers using NVivo qualitative data analysis software (version 12.0; QSR International).

### **Semistructured Focus Group Interviews**

The 3 semistructured focus group interviews, inspired by Brinkmann and Kvale [18], were conducted with the health care professionals at each nursing home. The first interview was a baseline interview, which was to obtain knowledge about each person's life history and dementia. The collection of data from each person included their age, gender, work history, family information, life history, and dementia symptoms. After the test period, we conducted the second, follow-up interview. The aim of the second interview was to explore how each person with dementia had interacted with LOVOT. Each interview lasted 60 to 90 minutes and was tape-recorded and transcribed. The

interviews were coded using NVivo software and analyzed in steps inspired by Brinkmann and Kvale [18].

### **Data Analysis**

The quantitative data, collected using the face scale and WHO-5, were analyzed by calculating the median and IQR for the data from the individual and group sessions. The 5 questions from the WHO-5 were summarized and multiplied by 4 to generate a range of values between 0 and 100, with a score of 0 indicating the worst possible well-being and a score of 100 indicating the best possible well-being for the older person. A clinically significant change in the WHO-5 score is assessed if we recorded a change of at least 10%, corresponding to 10 points in WHO-5. Data are presented in graphs, showing the median and IQR. The interviews and observational notes were analyzed

using NVivo software, in steps inspired by Brinkmann and Kvale [18].

### Results

### **Baseline Data**

A total of 42 persons with dementia were included in the study, of which 30 were allocated to the group sessions and 12 to the individual sessions. The sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of the participants in the individual and group sessions at baseline are shown in Table 3. We use either the number of persons and percentage or the median and IQR for the different parameters.

In Figure 4, the results from the individual sessions using the WHO-5 questionnaire are presented. In Figure 5, the results from groups sessions over a 12-week test period are presented.

Table 3. Characteristics of the persons at baseline.

Characteristic	Individual sessions (n=12)	Group sessions (n=30)
Gender, n (%)		
Male	1 (8)	8 (27)
Female	11 (92)	22 (73)
Age (year), median (IQR)	83 (67-92)	84 (66-96)
Years at nursing home, median (IQR)	1.75 (0.5-4)	1.9 (0.08-5)
Years with dementia, median (IQR)	2 (0.5-10)	3,5 (0.25-10)
Have children, n (%)	10 (83)	27 (90)
Type of dementia, n (%)		
Alzheimer disease	8 (67)	12 (40)
Other	4 (33)	18 (60)

Figure 4. Results from individual sessions using the WHO-5 questionnaire. WHO: World Health Organization.





Figure 5. Results from the WHO-5 questionnaire for the group sessions over the 12-week test period. WHO: World Health Organization.



### **Impact on Mood**

Figure 6 presents the results attained from the face scale for the individual sessions. A higher score expresses a more negative face expression. Therefore, based on the median score illustrated in Figure 6, there is a trend toward more negative facial

expressions before the LOVOT sessions than after the LOVOT sessions were completed.

Figure 7 presents the results attained from the face scale for the group sessions. Based on the median score illustrated in Figure 7, there is a trend toward more negative facial expression prior to undertaking the LOVOT sessions than after the LOVOT sessions were completed.

Figure 6. Results from individual sessions using the face scale.



Before intervention — After intervention







### **Qualitative Findings**

### Focus Group Interviews

Tables 4 and 5 present findings on how the persons and health care professionals responded to LOVOT and the effect of LOVOT on the persons with dementia. These findings are based

on the follow-up focus group interviews with the health care professionals and the professionals' own observations at each session. In the following sections, the findings from the focus group interviews are supplemented with illustrative quotations taken from the focus group interviews. We consider these quotations to be representative of our findings.

**Table 4.** Findings on the experiences of how the persons experienced the interaction with LOVOT along with quotations from focus groups (FGs) with health care professionals from the nursing homes.

Theme/category	Illustrative quotation			
Diverts and is calming	• "This weekend, he also had a period where he wanted to go home, and during the shift change, I used LOVOT to calm him down." (FG 1)			
Opens up communication and interaction	• "When LOVOT is there, she smiles and is happy. She speaks more with the other [older] persons. She's someone who doesn't say much." (FG 1)			
Provides entertainment	• "They are fun to watch, both individually and together." (FG 1)			
Creates a breathing space	• "LOVOT has given her a boost, a breathing space, where there is just something positive in her everyday life." (FG 1)			
Is accepted and creates feelings of happiness	• "When she got LOVOT up in her hand, she started crying because she was so happyit evoked feelings of happiness. She was moved to tears, absolutely." (FG 1)			
Induces feelings of care	• "She has stepped into a mother role. She was one of the first ones we noticed who started treating it like a child. She sits and rocks itShe sits and rocks her leg just like you do with an infant or at least a little baby. She really just wants to sit with it and then just have that feeling." (FG 2)			
Can create an overstimulation of feelings	• "He was quickly taken away because he reacted violently after being with LOVOT." (FG 2)			
Is not accepted	• "She was not really able to relate to LOVOT. She has had other things in mind. She cannot find peace with it. She can just look at it and say, 'Yes,' but she has something else going on. So it has not had any positive effect on her either." (FG 2)			
Is perceived as an animal	• "But she clearly sees it as something animal, because she is very fond of dogs, so she almost claps her hands when they come." (FG 1)			
Is perceived as being nondemand- ing	• "But she has also always talked to it as if it were a person who was with her and has meant a lot. I don't know whether a person with dementia can relate more to such a thing compared to us humans, because we demand something, I don't know if they have that feeling. Because LOVOT demands nothing, [like] a dog, other than to be petted. The rest of us always demand something." (FG 3)			
Prevents "skin hunger"	• "But we talked a little about touch deprivationShe sat with [LOVOT] on the sofa, where it sat up next to her, and she sat like that and cuddled it. She has received the warmth from LOVOT and the sounds. It can stimulate something in relation to skin hunger when she does not have much contact and touch with others." (FG 2)			

**Table 5.** Findings on how the health care professionals experienced using LOVOT along with quotations from focus groups (FGs) with health care professionals from the nursing homes.

Theme/category	Illustrative quotation
Artificial behavior appears natural	• "LOVOT's behavior seems natural, even though we know it is artificial intelligence, the robots have different personalities." (FGs 1, 2, and 3)
Communication tool that can stimulate, create feelings of security, and facilitate communication	<ul> <li>"We think that LOVOT is a good tool for creating space for collaboration with residents with dementia." (FGs 1 and 2)</li> <li>"Relatives have also been very positive about what LOVOT is doing to her. Her daughter has also been to a session and seen what it does to her. Her eyes lit up so completely, and she smiled and became happy. And she spoke to [LOVOT] as if it were a child. She knows it's a robot." (FG 2)</li> </ul>
LOVOT is user-friendly and fun	• "It is user-friendly and easy to operate, but it's difficult for a person with dementia." (FGs 1, 2, and 3)

## Persons With Dementia and Their Interaction With LOVOT

The health care professionals described LOVOT as having an entertaining and calming effect on the persons with dementia. LOVOT has also influenced the persons to communicate and interact more with each other and the staff. The health care professionals stated that LOVOT provided a degree of entertainment value for the persons. It was further described how the interaction with LOVOT allowed the person to have a breathing space and relax. According to the health care professionals, some of the persons accepted LOVOT, and it evoked positive feelings, even joy. LOVOT also evoked feelings of care for the persons, where some of the persons treated LOVOT as if it were a child. Being together with LOVOT was at times even overstimulating for some of the older persons. Not all the participants in the study accepted LOVOT. Some of the persons with dementia thought that LOVOT was simply nonsense, whereas others found the robot difficult to relate to or interact with. The staff also described how some of the persons perceived LOVOT as an animal and interacted with LOVOT as they might with an animal, such as snapping at it or calling LOVOT to get its attention. The health care professionals further described how this acceptance and promotion of positive feelings could be due to the residents' perceiving LOVOT as not demanding anything other than being petted. The ability to touch and hug LOVOT has been shown to help prevent touch deprivation in some of the persons who might not have much physical contact with others.

### Health Care Professionals' Experience With LOVOT

The health care professionals described how LOVOT's artificial behavior seemed natural. The health care professionals described LOVOT as an effective tool for communication between the staff and persons with dementia, in that it can create feelings of security and facilitate communication. LOVOT was described as user-friendly and fun, but the health care professionals stated that LOVOT could also be a burden on some of the residents.

### Discussion

### **Principal Findings**

Our results showed that there were no clinically significant changes in the well-being of the persons with dementia who participated in the individual or group sessions with the LOVOT robot. Results from the face scale showed that in both the individual and group sessions, the persons with dementia tended to express more positive facial expressions after the session with LOVOT. In other words, interacting with LOVOT made them happier. The effect on mood varied throughout the test period, however. The results indicated that LOVOT may have a positive impact on the current mood of the person with dementia, but this is not a sustained effect over time. Findings on how persons with dementia experienced their interaction with LOVOT can be summarized in terms of the following: the robot has an amusing or calming effect; facilitates more open communication and interaction; has some entertainment value; creates a breathing space; is accepted and creates a degree of happiness or good feeling; creates feelings of care; can even create an overstimulation of feelings at times; may not be

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36505

accepted by all residents; can be perceived as an animal; is perceived as being nondemanding; and prevents touch deprivation. We emphasize that LOVOT was not intended as, nor did it prove to be, an effective tool for each person with dementia.

Findings on the health care professionals' experiences using LOVOT indicated that they found that its artificial behavior seems natural; that LOVOT is viewed as a communication tool that can stimulate, create feelings of security, and facilitate communication; and that LOVOT is viewed as user-friendly, fun, and a positive tool. The health care professionals found that the social robot, as a new tool in their "care toolbox," can be used in interactions with persons with dementia. The professionals expressed no ethical dilemmas regarding the use of the robot.

In our study, we did not identify any significant changes in the well-being of persons with dementia during the period when they had interactions with the social robot. We think that the persons did not have sufficient time for interactions with LOVOT in the individual and group sessions, such that insufficient time for adjustment might explain the lack of any identified changes in their well-being.

The finding that LOVOT can have a positive impact on the person's current mood is consistent with the results of other studies that have examined the effects of social robots on persons with dementia. Wada et al [16] also used the face scales to evaluate the influence of the robot seal PARO on the mood of the persons, studying their interaction over a 3-month period. Wada et al [16] found that the face scale score was lower after the session than before the start of the session. A systematic literature review by Kang et al [19] describes a study that examined persons' facial expressions during group sessions with PARO over a 6-week period. Here, significant positive changes were noted: following their interactions with PARO, the persons were smiling more and happier. Both these studies are limited by their low sample size of the persons, but they nevertheless support the findings of LOVOT's positive impact on the persons' momentary mood.

The LOVOT robot is the next generation of social robots with advanced artificial intelligence. The LOVOT has not previously been tested in any clinical settings outside of Japan. The social robot LOVOT is still under development and can be categorized as the most advanced SAR at the moment internationally. We have not identified other studies that have documented these findings, as this is the first study that tests LOVOT interacting with persons with dementia. However, studies of other, less advanced social robots interacting with persons with dementia found that social robots can provide positive outcomes; they can improve social engagement, such as facilitating more communication and promoting positive mood [6-8]. We found that LOVOT was able to open up communication and enhance the expression of feelings, laughter, and feelings of care due to LOVOT's advanced ability to respond and interact with human beings in a humanlike way. LOVOT's state-of-the-art artificial intelligence gave it a certain advantage here. A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies by Pu et al [20] found that social robots appeared to reduce agitation

XSL•FO RenderX

and anxiety and enhance the quality of life for older adults, but the studies were not statistically significant. A narrative review by Pu et al [20] indicated that social robots can improve engagement, enhance interaction, reduce loneliness, and reduce stress indicators.

We found that LOVOT could create an overstimulation of feelings for persons with dementia. Participant-observation notes showed that some persons were either crying or became extremely extroverted in their behavior. Robinson et al [10] have found that some persons with dementia may find that the behavior of some social robots provokes anxiety. A systematic review by Hung et al [8] on the use on PARO in care settings found that PARO could cause negative emotional responses, including fearfulness, anger, and agitation. In their review, Hung et al [8] question whether past negative experiences with animals could have influenced whether the person "likes" or "dislikes" a social robot. Further research is needed to explore this variable.

Some persons with dementia in our study did not accept the LOVOT. Our consort diagram shows that 7 persons out of the 70 accessed for eligibility did not like the robot, equivalent to 10% of our sample. As social robots are new to dementia care, it is understandable that not everyone in the older generation would be comfortable accepting the LOVOT. The range of attitudes about social robots is also confirmed by other studies [5,6,20].

Health care professionals felt that LOVOT's artificial behavior seemed natural in its interactions with the persons with dementia, and overall, they found LOVOT to be an effective tool for communication and interaction for persons with dementia. The review by Hung et al [8] found that the use of social robots in dementia care can lead to perceptions that care has become infantilizing and dehumanizing. However, this aspect was not found in our study. One may question if this perception is due to the appearance of LOVOT and its potential to interact with persons with dementia. This issue needs to be explored further in future international studies. Abdi et al [6], in a scoping review on the use of SAR in care for older persons, identified several potential roles that the SAR could have-as affective therapy, cognitive training, social facilitator, companionship, and physiological therapy. Ghafurian et al [7] have emphasized the need for more robust research, in an international context, to fully assess the value of SAR in care for older persons. As social robots become more advanced, with

artificial intelligence, there is a need for further, comprehensive testing of social robots within care for older persons and to develop a range of data collection techniques that can effectively assess the efficacy of social robots and identify the ethical issues connected with using social robots with persons living with dementia.

### Limitations

The target group for this trial was older persons with dementia who live in nursing homes. A limitation of the study is the gender distribution, as our sample had only 9 men among the 42 subjects. Another limitation is the fact that we were not able to interview the residents directly about their condition but had to rely on observations and data from health care staff. We have instead used a triangulation of data collection techniques to explore how the persons with dementia in our study (and the health care staff) experienced their encounter with LOVOT. However, it was the health care professionals who filled out the questionnaires about the residents. This had an advantage because the staff had intimate knowledge of each resident. Another limitation is that we have not incorporated the perspectives of the residents' relatives in this study, which could have enriched our data regarding the use of SAR in dementia care for older persons. We are aware that this is a pilot study, and there will be a need to conduct studies with LOVOT using a longer duration period and on a larger scale to fully explore LOVOT's potential and limitations for persons with dementia.

### Conclusions

The LOVOT robot is the next generation of social robots with advanced artificial intelligence. The vast majority of persons with dementia accepted the social robot LOVOT. LOVOT had positive effects, opened up communication, and facilitated interpersonal interaction. Although LOVOT did not create noticeable effects on social well-being, it gave individual persons a respite from everyday life. Some residents were overstimulated by emotions after interacting with LOVOT. Health care professionals accepted the social robot and view the LOVOT as a new tool in the work with persons with dementia. As social robots become more advanced, with artificial intelligence, there is a need for testing the advanced social robots within care for older persons and to develop a new toolbox that can fully assess the value of the social robots for persons with dementia in the health care sector.

### Acknowledgments

We wish to thank the citizens and health care professionals at the nursing homes in Mou (Aalborg Municipality), Skovbakkehjemmet (Viborg Municipality), and Skovaenget (Skive Municipality) for participating in this study. This study has been financed by the National Health Authorities in Denmark. We also wish to thank Groove X, who allowed us the use of their LOVOT social robots free of charge for use in this study and for the delivery of pictures and drawing for the paper. Peter Astrup and Anne Schlünsen at the Test and Development Center of Viborg Municipality have developed an implementation toolbox on how to implement LOVOT for older persons with dementia. We thank Lars Noer, former chief consultant; and Louise Weikop, manager at the Innovation Department for the Elderly, Aalborg Municipality, Denmark, for supporting the study.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.



### Multimedia Appendix 1

Visualization of LOVOT's anatomy (reproduced from Groove X [12], with permission from Groove X). [PNG File , 227 KB - rehab\_v9i3e36505\_app1.png]

### References

- 1. Dementia. World Health Organization. 2021 Sep 02. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia</u> [accessed 2022-01-12]
- Kales HC, Gitlin LN, Lyketsos CG. Assessment and management of behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. BMJ 2015 Mar 02;350(mar02 7):h369-h369 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.h369] [Medline: 25731881]
- 3. Scoglio AA, Reilly ED, Gorman JA, Drebing CE. Use of social robots in mental health and well-being research: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jul 24;21(7):e13322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13322] [Medline: 31342908]
- 4. Pino M, Boulay M, Jouen F, Rigaud AS. "Are we ready for robots that care for us?" attitudes and opinions of older adults toward socially assistive robots. Front Aging Neurosci 2015 Jul 23;7:141 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00141] [Medline: 26257646]
- Góngora Alonso S, Hamrioui S, de la Torre Díez I, Motta Cruz E, López-Coronado M, Franco M. Social robots for people with aging and dementia: a systematic review of literature. Telemed J E Health 2019 Jul;25(7):533-540. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2018.0051] [Medline: 30136901]
- 6. Abdi J, Al-Hindawi A, Ng T, Vizcaychipi MP. Scoping review on the use of socially assistive robot technology in elderly care. BMJ Open 2018 Feb 12;8(2):e018815 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018815] [Medline: 29440212]
- 7. Ghafurian M, Hoey J, Dautenhahn K. Social robots for the care of persons with dementia: a systematic review. J Hum Robot Interact 2021 Dec 31;10(4):1-31. [doi: 10.1145/3469653]
- Hung L, Liu C, Woldum E, Au-Yeung A, Berndt A, Wallsworth C, et al. The benefits of and barriers to using a social robot PARO in care settings: a scoping review. BMC Geriatr 2019 Aug 23;19(1):232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-019-1244-6] [Medline: 31443636]
- Casey D, Barrett E, Kovacic T, Sancarlo D, Ricciardi F, Murphy K, et al. The perceptions of people with dementia and key stakeholders regarding the use and impact of the social robot MARIO. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Nov 20;17(22):8621 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17228621] [Medline: 33233605]
- Robinson NL, Cottier TV, Kavanagh DJ. Psychosocial health interventions by social robots: systematic review of randomized controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 10;21(5):e13203 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/13203</u>] [Medline: <u>31094357</u>]
- 11. Jung M, van der Leij L, Kelders S. An exploration of the benefits of an animallike robot companion with more advanced touch interaction capabilities for dementia care. Front ICT 2017 Jun 26;4:16. [doi: 10.3389/fict.2017.00016]
- 12. GROOVE X. URL: https://groove-x.com/en/ [accessed 2022-01-12]
- 13. General Data Protection Regulation. Intersoft Consulting. URL: https://gdpr-info.eu/ [accessed 2022-01-12]
- 14. Kvorning J. WHO-5 Questionnaires. Psykiatric Center North Zealand, Psychiatric Research Unit. URL: <u>https://www.psykiatri-regionh.dk/who-5/who-5-questionnaires/Pages/default.aspx</u> [accessed 2022-01-12]
- Lorish CD, Maisiak R. The Face Scale: a brief, nonverbal method for assessing patient mood. Arthritis Rheum 1986 Jul;29(7):906-909. [doi: <u>10.1002/art.1780290714</u>] [Medline: <u>3741503</u>]
- 16. Wada K, Shibata T, Saito T, Tanie K. Robot assisted activity at a health service facility for the aged for ten weeks: an interim report of a long-term experiment. Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part I: Journal of Systems and Control Engineering 2006 Dec 27;220(8):709-715. [doi: 10.1243/09596518JSCE159]
- 17. Kristiansen S, Krogstrup HK. Deltagende observation. 2 ed. Copenhagen, Denmark: Hans Reitzels Forlag; 2015.
- 18. Brinkmann S, Kvale S. InterViews: Learning the Craft of Qualitative Research Interviewing. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2015.
- 19. Kang HS, Makimoto K, Konno R, Koh IS. Review of outcome measures in PARO robot intervention studies for dementia care. Geriatr Nurs 2020;41(3):207-214. [doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2019.09.003] [Medline: 31668459]
- Pu L, Moyle W, Jones C, Todorovic M. The effectiveness of social robots for older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. Gerontologist 2019 Jan 09;59(1):e37-e51. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gny046</u>] [Medline: <u>29897445</u>]

### Abbreviations

**CONSORT:** Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials **SAR:** socially assistive robots **WHO-5:** World Health Organization-5 questionnaire Edited by T Leung; submitted 16.01.22; peer-reviewed by V Stara; comments to author 04.02.22; revised version received 31.05.22; accepted 21.06.22; published 01.08.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Dinesen B, Hansen HK, Grønborg GB, Dyrvig AK, Leisted SD, Stenstrup H, Skov Schacksen C, Oestergaard C Use of a Social Robot (LOVOT) for Persons With Dementia: Exploratory Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e36505 URL: <u>https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36505</u> doi:10.2196/36505 PMID:<u>35916689</u>

©Birthe Dinesen, Helle Kidde Hansen, Gry Bruun Grønborg, Anne-Kirstine Dyrvig, Sofie Dalskov Leisted, Henrik Stenstrup, Cathrine Skov Schacksen, Claus Oestergaard. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 01.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



### **Original Paper**

### A Mixed Reality Cognitive Orthosis to Support Older Adults in Achieving Their Daily Living Activities: Focus Group Study With Clinical Experts

Amel Yaddaden<sup>1,2</sup>, MSc; Guillaume Spalla<sup>2,3</sup>, MSc; Charles Gouin-Vallerand<sup>2,3</sup>, PhD; Patricia Briskie-Semeniuk<sup>1,4</sup>, MSc; Nathalie Bier<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>École de réadaptation, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Centre de recherche de l'Institut universitaire de gériatrie de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Laboratoire Domus, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Centre de recherche interdisciplinaire en réadaptation du Montréal métropolitain, Centre intégré universitaire de santé et de services sociaux du Centre-Sud-de-l'Île-de-Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

### **Corresponding Author:**

Amel Yaddaden, MSc École de réadaptation Université de Montréal 7077 Av du Parc Montreal, QC, H3N 1X7 Canada Phone: 1 5149927145 Email: amel.yaddaden@umontreal.ca

### Abstract

**Background:** Mixed reality is an emerging technology that allows us to *blend* virtual objects into the actual user's environment. This can be realized using head-mounted displays. Many recent studies have suggested the possibility of using this technology to support cognition in people with neurodegenerative disorders (NDs). However, most studies have explored improvements in cognition rather than in independence and safety during the accomplishment of daily living activities. Therefore, it is crucial to document the possibility of using mixed reality to support the independence of older adults in their daily lives.

**Objective:** This study is part of a larger user-centered study of a cognitive orthosis using pure mixed reality to support the independence of people living with NDs. This study aimed to explore (the difficulties encountered by older adults with NDs in their daily life to ensure that pure mixed reality meets their needs, (the most effective interventions with this population to determine what types of assistance should be provided by pure mixed reality technology, how the pure mixed reality technology should provide assistance to promote aging in place, and the main facilitators of and barriers to the use of this technology.

**Methods:** We conducted a descriptive, qualitative study. A total of 5 focus groups were completed with occupational therapists who had expertise in the disease and its functional impacts (N=29) to gather information. Each focus group met once for a 1-hour period. All sessions were held over a 3-month period. A semistructured interview guide was used. All group interviews were audiotaped with the consent of each participant to facilitate the data analysis. We conducted inductive qualitative analysis in four stages using a thematic analysis approach: full transcription of the audio recordings, first-order coding of the transcribed data, second-order coding from the first-order code list, and data reduction and matrix development.

**Results:** The results suggested that the main difficulties encountered by this population were in remembering to complete tasks, initiating the tasks, and planning the tasks. Several interventions are used to improve the independence of this population, such as prevention, simplification or facilitation, adaptation, and compensation. The use of pure mixed reality in older adults with NDs to promote independence and safety at home is promising and may respond to several clinical functions identified by the participants. Finally, pure mixed reality has good potential for use in this population and involves certain facilitators and obstacles, such as resources, technical aspects, and social considerations.

**Conclusions:** The cognitive orthosis that will be developed in light of this study will act as a proof of concept for the possibility of supporting people with NDs using pure mixed reality.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e34983) doi:10.2196/34983

### **KEYWORDS**

cognitive orthosis; mixed reality; older adults; daily activities; qualitative study; focus group; mobile phone; smartphone

### Introduction

According to the World Health Organization [1], in 2050, approximately 24% of the world population will comprise older adults compared with 14% in 2015. The aging of the population has led to an increase in the presence of neurodegenerative disorders (NDs), such as Alzheimer disease (AD) or mild cognitive impairments (MCIs), which has resulted in several challenges for this population and for society in general. Indeed, NDs have an important impact on the health care system, as it has been documented that 11% of people aged ≥65 years are living with an ND in Canada [2]. NDs rank fourth in the burden of disease, which is constantly increasing among caregivers and in the health care systems [3].

A way of reducing the burden on caregivers and on the health care system is to support aging in place by promoting home care through assistive technologies (ATs), comprising assistive, adaptive, and rehabilitative devices used to improve functioning and quality of life for people with disabilities or the population of older adults [4-7]. This would also support older adults' desire to remain in their homes and thus live independently in the community for as long as possible [8]. To live independently in the community, a person must be able to perform basic activities of daily living (BADL), such as washing oneself and eating, as well as instrumental activities of daily living (IADL), such as managing finances, preparing meals, and taking medication. These activities are crucial for aging in place and maintaining the ability to live independently at home [9-11].

To assist in performing IADL, the AT should be able to spontaneously provide help to the person, including warning them of dangerous situations [12]. Such AT is called intelligent AT, which encompasses technologies that are able to capture and interpret the context in which the person is situated when

performing an activity so that it requires the least amount of interaction and input from them [4,13,14]. To guide the development of such ATs and maximize their adoption by users, the zero-effort technology (ZET) principles have been proposed [12]. These principles involve designing technologies that (1) fit into the person's environment and real-world setting, (2) compensate for the difficulties experienced by the person and match their residual capacities, (3) use intuitive interfaces, (4) reduce the caregiver burden, (5) protect the person's privacy and allow a sense of control, and (6) allow for adaptation and customization according to the person's preferences. Technologies that adhere to these principles involve minimal interaction with the user, allowing the user to focus on completing the task instead of on how to use the technology. In addition, it has been suggested that such technology presents better acceptability for people with moderate to severe cognitive impairments, such as older adults with NDs [15].

Pure mixed reality realized with a head-mounted display (HMD; Figure 1) can, from a theoretical point of view, meet the ZET principles and has the potential to support older adults with cognitive deficits during their BADL and IADL. Pure mixed reality encompasses technologies that allow us to blend virtual objects in the actual user's environment [16]. This is different from augmented reality (AR), in which holograms are overlayed onto the user's environment [16]. To do so, the device uses various embedded sensors and computational capabilities to interpret the environment and understand the user's context. This will allow the technology to intervene at any time and add virtual assistance to the environment without having to physically modify it. For example, the HMD can be used to scan the surroundings to detect where the user is in the home and what the user is doing. The HMD can also scan the surroundings to detect and recognize objects and provide assistance.

Only a few devices can currently realize pure mixed reality, the most advanced of which is the Microsoft HoloLens 2 [17,18]. One of the reasons for selecting an HMD rather than a mobile device such as a smartphone is that an HMD is, by definition, worn. It can continuously capture the environment, in contrast to a smartphone, which is carried. HMD will also always display the virtual information in front of the user's eyes, in contrast to

a smartphone, which needs to be pointed in the right direction. For these reasons, the use of an HMD can realize pure mixed reality efficiently and from a theoretical point of view, meeting the ZET principles.

To the best of our knowledge, the study of this technology to support older adults with NDs in achieving their daily activities

Figure 1. The head-mounted display.



is just beginning [13,14]. However, some researchers such as Blattgerste et al [13] are suggesting that their use in technologies to support older adults will increase because of the advantages it offers, such as providing audio and/or visual assistance and various possibilities for interactions (audio, gestures, and gaze). It is also expected that this technology will become more available in the years to come when prices will drop [13], and new designs will make HMD more usable and more versatile. To date, there has been positive reception from participants in studies conducted with HMD (based on AR and pure mixed reality) [13,19,20].

However, the types of difficulties for which older adults with NDs would require pure mixed reality assistance have not yet been documented in the literature. It is important to document these difficulties to be able to develop a prototype of an HMD based on the needs of the targeted population. Furthermore, it has not yet been specified in the literature how an HMD prototype can provide assistance to support the independence and safety of this population in BADL and IADL. Indeed, considering the limited literature on the subject, we need to understand what role the HMD could play in assisting this population and when to use such technology. It has been documented that the noncompatibility of technological advances with the needs of older adults is a major obstacle to their use and implementation; therefore, it is important to document their needs from the perspective of experts involved with this population, such as occupational therapists (OTs), to design a version that can later be tested with this population [21]. OTs are clinicians' experts who have the knowledge and skills to assess older adults with NDs and provide appropriate ATs [22].

The objectives of this study were to document, from the experts' perspective, (1) the main difficulties encountered by older adults with NDs in their daily life to ensure that the pure mixed reality meets their needs, (2) the most effective interventions for this population to determine what types of assistance should be given by the pure mixed reality technology, (3) how the mixed reality headset should provide assistance to respond to clinical purposes of promoting safety and independence at home, and (4) the main facilitators of and barriers to the use of this technology among this population to develop a version ready for laboratory testing.

### Methods

### The Research Design

This study is part of a larger user-centered design project on the design of a cognitive orthosis using pure mixed reality to support the independence of people living with NDs. Such an approach generally comprises four steps: exploration, ideation, generation, and evaluation [23,24]. This study reports the exploration phase, which aims to better understand users' needs, motivations, and attitudes [22].

As various methods can be used to conduct the exploration phase [24], we selected a *descriptive inductive qualitative research design* to document the main difficulties of older adults

with NDs and how assistance can be provided with pure mixed reality [25]. We collected the data through focus groups with OTs and experienced stakeholders to document their perspectives on an example of a mixed reality headset [20]. It has been documented that focus groups are relevant and appropriate for obtaining a detailed portrait of a phenomenon for which little literature exists [26]. The focus group method is particularly appropriate in this context to document the perspective of experts about the potential of using our first prototype to generate ideas because of group synergy [24].

### **Participants and Recruitment Process**

Invitations were sent to several OTs working in various clinical settings in specialized psychogeriatrics and experienced stakeholders of a local Alzheimer association. OTs are health professionals entitled to assess the needs of people living with cognitive impairments, determine the types of interventions that can ensure safety and increase their independence in IADL, and anticipate facilitators and obstacles to the use of new technologies, such as intelligent AT [27]. Experienced stakeholders, such as those involved in associations dedicated to older adults with NDs, are closely involved in the daily life and real environment of the person and are, therefore, able to specify the main difficulties encountered by this population, as well as predict effective interventions that work with older adults in their natural environment. The inclusion criterion was participants with at least 3 years of experience in involvement with older adults with NDs. There were no exclusion criteria for this study. Participants were divided into groups of 3 to 6 in accordance with the guidelines for this method [26].

### Ethics Approval

The Research Ethics Board of the Aging-Neuroimaging Research Ethics Committee of the *Centre (Intégré Universitaire de Santé et Services Sociaux–Centre-Sud-de-l'île-de-Montréal)* approved the project (CER VN 19-20-28). The participants provided written and informed consent to participate in the study.

### **Data Collection**

Each focus group met once for 1 hour, and all sessions were held over a 3-month period. A semistructured interview guide was used (Textbox 1). Participants were asked to discuss three topics related to (1) the difficulties of older adults with NDs in everyday activities, (2) the effective interventions used to support the independence and safety of this population during meal preparation, and (3) their perspectives on the relevance of using the mixed reality headset with this population. A video describing the different features of the mixed reality headset was presented between topics 2 and 3. A member of the team (AY) acted as a facilitator and was responsible for asking questions and guiding discussions. Another member (GS) acted as an observer, took notes, and validated the discussion content with the group at the end of the discussion on each topic. All group interviews were audiotaped with the consent of each participant to facilitate the data analysis.



Textbox 1. Questions used to guide focus group discussions.

- "In your experience, what are the main challenges faced by people in the early stages of neurodegenerative disorders in their daily activities at home?"
- "What are the main interventions you use with this clientele?"
- Presentation of a short video of the current version of our prototype and explanation of the parameters of use available to support the person during daily activities:
  - "How can our prototype be useful to support the daily living of this clientele?"
  - "Following the presentation of our prototype, do you think that such a tool can help elderly people with neurodegenerative disorders to improve their independence in daily living? What would you change to adapt this tool to the needs of your clients? Would you use such a tool with your clients, and if no, why?"

### **Data Analysis**

To ensure the validity of the data when using this type of method, words and facts were reported as accurately as possible following the focus group sessions, and we pursued data saturation. Data saturation is reached when there is sufficient information to replicate the study and when the ability to obtain additional new information has been attained so that further coding is no longer achievable. We attempted to remain close to our data, the words used, and the events described by recording the sessions and transcribing the entire verbatim [25]. We conducted inductive qualitative analysis in four stages using a thematic analysis approach [28]: (1) full transcription of the audio recordings, (2) first-order coding of transcribed data, (3) second-order coding from the first-order code list, and (4) data reduction and matrix development. To validate the data analysis, the lead author (AY) performed the coding. A list of codes was validated by an OT (PS) and a researcher from the team (NB) until a consensual integrated code list was obtained. The coding aimed to assign labels (codes) to relevant units of meaning, such as words, sentences, or paragraphs. After first-order coding,

second-order codes were used to condense the data into different categories, which were then condensed into different major themes (third-order codes). Once the 2-step coding was completed, conceptual grouping matrices based on the major themes were developed to reduce the set of codes to a format that was more manageable and easier to conceptualize. All themes and matrices were validated by PS and NB.

### Results

### Overview

To obtain data saturation, a total of 24 OTs from different clinical settings, including a psychogeriatric-intensive functional rehabilitation unit, long-term care, day hospital, home support, and day center (n=10, 42% of OTs had >10 years of experience; n=14, 58% had 3-10 years of experience in geriatrics) were recruited, as well as 6 experienced stakeholders from a recognized Alzheimer association. They participated in a total of 5 focus groups. Table 1 presents the participant characteristics for each focus group session.



Focus group and participant ID	Role	Gender	Clinical setting involvement
Group 1			
P1	Occupational therapist	Female	• Intensive functional rehabilitation unit
P2	Occupational therapist	Female	Day hospital
P3	Occupational therapist	Male	• Intensive functional rehabilitation unit
P4	Occupational therapist	Female	<ul><li>Day hospital</li><li>Geriatric evaluation clinic</li></ul>
Group 2			
P1	Occupational therapist	Female	<ul><li>Intensive functional rehabilitation unit</li><li>Geriatric evaluation clinic</li></ul>
P2	Occupational therapist	Male	• Day center
Р3	Occupational therapist	Female	<ul><li>Intensive functional rehabilitation unit</li><li>Home support</li></ul>
P4	Occupational therapist	Female	<ul><li>Long-term care</li><li>Day center</li></ul>
Group 3			
P1	Occupational therapist	Female	<ul><li>Long-term care</li><li>Day hospital</li></ul>
P2	Occupational therapist	Female	Day hospital
P3	Occupational therapist	Female	• Intensive functional rehabilitation unit
P4	Occupational therapist	Female	<ul><li>Home support</li><li>Geriatric evaluation clinic</li></ul>
Group 4			
P1	Experienced stakeholder	Female	Community-based association
P2	Experienced stakeholder	Female	Community-based association
P3	Experienced stakeholder	Female	Community-based association
Group 5			
P1	Experienced stakeholder	Female	• Community-based association
P2	Experienced stakeholder	Female	• Community-based association
Р3	Experienced stakeholder	Female	• Community-based association

Table 1. Table of characteristics of participants.

# **Objective 1: Main Difficulties of Older Adults With NDs in Everyday Activities**

Our first objective was to understand the main difficulties encountered by older adults with NDs in their daily lives to ensure that pure mixed reality meets their needs. The participants identified the main difficulties but also specified the factors influencing these difficulties (Table 2). Factors that influence the level of disability during activity performance were disease severity, social and professional support, and characteristics of the activity (newness, structure, and complexity).



Table 2. Participation of older adults with neurodegenerative disorders in everyday activities.

Disability types	Activities					
	Eating	Moving oneself	Washing oneself	Preparing meals	Managing medication	Managing finances
Difficulty in remembering to complete tasks	✓		1		·	
Difficulty in initiating the tasks			1	1	1	
Difficulty in remembering where they are in a task—what parts they already completed			1	✓	$\checkmark$	
Difficulty in planning a task		1		1	1	1

### Main Type of Difficulties Encountered by Older Adults With NDs

According to the participants, the main difficulties encountered by this population were *difficulty in remembering to complete tasks*, difficulty in *initiating the tasks*, difficulty in *rememberingwhere you are* in a task, and difficulty in *planning a task*. These difficulties could manifest in different activities, such as eating, getting around, bathing, preparing a meal, managing medication, and managing finances, as shown in Table 2.

For example, difficulty in *remembering to complete tasks* and *remembering where you are* in a task can occur during personal care, such as washing oneself or eating, as highlighted by 7% (2/29) of participants:

But they will start to have difficulty in washing, for example by forgetting and washing two or three times the same body part...hygiene, it is easy for them to wash a place, just a place and to forget or to think that they have already done everything. [P1, FG3, number 65]

Well, I would tend to say that everything that happens at the level of nutrition in the kitchen, they are not able...as we were saying earlier, they are no longer able to get adequate nutrition, they think they have already eaten. [P2, FG4, number 34]

According to the participants, difficulties in *initiating a task* comprise difficulty in getting into action, difficulty in thinking about doing a task, or difficulty in mobilizing without instructions or cues. Older adults with NDs can struggle to accomplish BADL, such as washing, getting dressed, or eating, as they have difficulties in thinking about what to do and putting these activities into action:

Well, lately, I've had a lot of very passive patients, because we weren't even so much doing the task, but rather "initiating" it, e.g., thinking about washing, getting dressed, eating...just thinking of doing those was a challenge... [P1, FG1, number 67]

I will also go uh it is very difficult for them at the level of putting into action to do things...without getting stimulated to do so. [P2, FG4, number 38]

According to participants, difficulties in *remembering where* you are in a task appear mostly in the repetition of some steps of a task, as the person forgets the steps already taken and gets lost in the one that they perform:

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34983
```

Sometimes there's repetition of tasks too. I once had a lady who was doing her hygiene at the sink, she put on the deodorant, she washed again, she put the deodorant back on and then she asked me did I put it on or not? So, it's repetition, and she forgets the steps she did previously. [P2, FG2, number 29]

And then in terms of repetition, especially, earlier I had a lady who was counting her money, an amount of money that I asked her to count for me. [P1, FG2, number 37]

In contrast, difficulties in *planning the task* comprise difficulty in preparing all the elements necessary for the proper completion of the task without assistance. For example, a participant said the following:

A lot of difficulty in terms of preparation. Sometimes you really have to prepare the material for them, otherwise, nothing gets done. [P4, FG2, number 25]

### Factors Influencing Level of Difficulties

According to the participants, several factors influence the participation of older adults living with NDs in everyday activities, including *disease severity, social and professional support,* and *activity characteristics.* The *disease severity* influences the level of symptoms and disabilities, which has an impact on the accomplishment of activities, especially complex activities such as medication management, as presented in the following extract:

It also depends on the disease severity [...] But there could be an impact on all activities of daily living, but especially activities that are complex. [P2, FG3, number 34]

Social and professional support are other factors that influence the level of disability in older adults living with NDs. Indeed, having the support of the family and adequate professional follow-up allows the person to have better needs management and a better quality of life. For example, having a proper medical follow-up with physicians and nurses influences the management of certain conditions that have a direct impact on the person's capacities. According to a participant, an infection can have negative consequences on a person's ability to participate in everyday activities, as shown in the following extract:

I think that medication, nutrition, hydration are really important points, but I would also add that medical follow-up is very, very important to me because sometimes we know that a urinary tract infection can

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

Yaddaden et al

lead to delirium, can increase the symptoms, hallucinations, which means that for the person, it's a hell of a thing, she loses all her bearings. Uh, that can really have a major impact on the participation in daily activities. [...] [P1, FG4, number 40]

Finally, *activity characteristics* such as newness, structure, and complexity directly influence the participation of older adults living with NDs. Indeed, new, unstructured, and complex activities such as meal preparation, financial management, appointment management, and medication management are more difficult to accomplish than routine, structured, and well-known activities. Newness is a factor that influences the level of difficulty in this population in many ways. It can involve difficulty in functioning in a completely new environment, difficulty interacting with new staff, difficulty in managing a new situation or task, and difficulty in having adequate judgment to react to an unexpected situation. In addition, this population has difficulty with activities without a specific structure, as explained in the following quote:

But they will start to have difficulty in washing without forgetting or going back to the same body part. Because the task has no structure imposed [...] e.g., hygiene, it's easy to make a place, just a place and forget or think that you have done everything. So, we'll see, so for the activities that are less structured, the difficulties will appear before. [P2, FG2, number 27]

### **Objective 2: Effective Interventions Used to Improve the Independence of Older Adults With NDs in Daily Activities**

According to the participants, several interventions have been used to improve the independence of older adults with NDs. These interventions targeted the person's abilities and task requirements or modified the environment to optimize the person's safety, independence, and quality of life. According to the participants, these interventions had different goals, such as *preventing*, *facilitating*, *adapting*, and *compensating*, as shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Interventions used to improve the independence of older adults with neurodegenerative disorders in everyday activities.

Objective and target	Prevention or orientation	Facilitation or simplification	Compensation	Adaptation
Environment	<ul> <li>Visiting the new environment before moving in</li> <li>Personalizing the new environment before moving in</li> <li>Involving the family</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Providing physical assistance to initiate the activity (employee)</li> <li>Having a model that acts as an example</li> <li>Eliminating distractors</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Caregiver doing the activity for them</li> <li>Using technologies to ensure safety during the task</li> <li>Using a pillbox or a dispill for medication management</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Providing familiar elements</li> <li>Highlighting essen- tial information</li> </ul>
Person	• Providing guidance	<ul> <li>Providing feedback to continue the task</li> <li>Providing recall</li> <li>Providing verbal aid when achieving the task</li> <li>Graduating assistance when achieving the task</li> </ul>	• Stimulating the person to start the activity	<ul> <li>Using a checklist</li> <li>Verbalizing the steps of the task when achieving the task</li> </ul>
Activity	• Providing directions and reference points	<ul> <li>Reducing trip distances</li> <li>Preferring preauthorized payments and consolidating bank accounts and automat- ed payments</li> <li>Using fewer ingredients and steps in recipes</li> </ul>	• Using preprepared meals	<ul> <li>Using a timer to achieve meal prepa- ration</li> <li>Establishing a rou- tine</li> </ul>

According to the study participants, *prevention interventions* mainly comprise upstream interventions to prevent undesirable situations. For example, in the case of institutionalization or delocalization, visiting the new environment and personalizing it before moving in is a relevant intervention for preventing disorientation, as well as involving the family and providing guidance, directions, and reference points. Regarding this, a participant pointed out the following:

Someone who doesn't have any family, really, you hope that the residence in which she goes has an approach adapted to the elderly people and that...because if not, really, if she doesn't have any family to...even if it's only to personalize her room, to have her bedspread, a picture of her cat or

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34983
```

anything. I think to guide her on a daily basis, to reassure her, to guide her...is really important. [P3, FG1, number 108]

*Facilitation and simplification interventions* decrease the burden of actions by reducing the global complexity of activities. This can be accomplished by targeting the person, task, or environment. The goal of these interventions is to make the activity as simple as possible to make task accomplishment easier. For example, providing physical assistance to initiate the task or providing a model that acts as an example allowing for imitation are interventions that simplify the activity as they allow the person to skip the initiation and/or planification step of the task. For example, a participant said the following:

[...] when [they see] the attendants going to help the other clients, it is an example that is given, it saves them from doing the whole thread of planning the steps of the task and thinking about it. [P2, FG1, number 46]

Providing feedback, verbal assistance, and visual cues are also *facilitation and simplification interventions* that facilitate task accomplishment as they allow the person to reduce their cognitive burden. According to the participants, using images instead of long sentences or having a list of preprogrammed steps are effective ways of providing facilitating assistance. Regarding this, 7% (2/29) of participants highlighted the importance of such interventions:

*We're going to try to simplify the task anyway.* [P3, FG3, number 67]

And we're always in the spirit of making it as simple as possible. One image, let's say, no more and not too many steps. Because we know that it won't be respected if there are too many. [P1, FG3, number 68]

Adaptation interventions comprise modifying an element of the activity or the environment to allow the accomplishment of the task. According to the participants, this type of intervention differs from task simplification in that it involves adding elements and steps to the task instead of reducing it. For example, adding familiar elements or highlighting essential information in the environment, using a checklist to help planification, verbalizing the steps of the task when achieving it, using a timer to achieve some activities, or establishing a routine are effective interventions to support independence and safety according to participants. For example, a participant said the following:

I think that establishing a routine, organizing them in time and space, routine is a priority, uh, keeping them in their environment, huh, it's really reassuring, secure for them, I could see that. [P4, FG4, number 165]

Finally, according to the participants, *compensation* interventions comprise subtracting the steps of a task when

elements are already performed by external help. For example, when the caregiver performs a task for them or when they stimulate the person to start the activity, they provide assistance that subtracts the initiation step of the task. Using technologies to ensure safety or using preprepared meals are also compensation interventions as they allow the person to skip steps within the tasks. For example, using a dispill and automatic recall allows a person to skip a few steps of the medication management activity, such as planning and organizing what pills to take. The participants said the following about the technologies and safety:

I think that when it comes to cognitive impairment, there is little potential for rehabilitation as such. I think that we go more into compensatory means. Really the services, for example the lifeline, the Safecook... [P2, FG2, number 143]

The Safecook is like a box, a timer, you connect the stove to it, and you have to start the Safecook first before starting the stove. So, when you start the timer, it's sure that after half an hour, it will be turned off even if the person hasn't closed it. [P1, FG2, number 15]

### **Objective 3: Opportunities for Use of a Mixed Reality Cognitive Orthosis**

### Overview

According to the participants, the use of pure mixed reality with older adults living with NDs to promote independence and safety at home was promising. Indeed, the participants identified three main clinical functions to which the mixed reality headset could respond: *assessment, assistance,* and *training. Assessment* comprises collecting information to evaluate a person. *Assistance* comprises providing explicit or implicit guidance to support task accomplishments. *Training* comprises providing information for developing new skills and abilities. These 3 functions could be responded to via 3 principal features of the mixed reality headset, including *detection, information storage and provision,* and *interactive* features (Table 4).



Table 4. Opportunities for use of a mixed reality cognitive orthosis to support older adults with neurodegenerative disorders to improve their independence and safety at home.

2			
Microsoft HoloLens functionalities	Clinical functionalities		
	Provide assessment	Provide assistance	Provide training
Detection	Location and activity detection or recognition: Microsoft HoloLens can scan surroundings to detect where the user is in the home, what the user is doing, and whether the user needs emergen- cy help	<ul> <li>Object detection or recognition: Microsoft HoloLens can scan surroundings to detect objects and provide feedback through audio and video assistance</li> <li>Audio assistance involves assistance in finding objects (eg, remote control) and providing information about object functions</li> <li>Visual assistance involves assistance in providing the name of the object to the user, the name of the person through facial recognition to help social interactions, and warning symbols when the user is near danger (eg, stairs and stove)</li> </ul>	N/A <sup>a</sup>
Information storage and provision	Task monitoring: Microsoft HoloLens can collect and store information on the user's daily movements and activities to be collected by care providers: infor- mation on risky behaviors, infor- mation on routine, and number of omissions and errors during daily activities	<ul> <li>Task support: Microsoft HoloLens can store information involved in specific daily routines and tasks to help the user perform them by providing information such as audio and video assistance</li> <li>Audio assistance involves assistance in providing daily reminders about upcoming appointment times and dates and in providing options (eg, dinner menu)</li> <li>Visual assistance involves assistance in providing pictograms of the steps of the task and a list of steps or choices</li> </ul>	N/A
Interactive functions	N/A	<ul> <li>Task support: Microsoft HoloLens can interact with the user using visual and auditory communication to help while the user is performing the task through audio and video assistance</li> <li>Audio assistance involves assistance in providing verbal feedback to the person and warning them in case of error and in mentioning the steps left to achieve the task</li> <li>Visual assistance involves assistance in providing symbols (eg, arrows, target, timer, and yes/no) to guide the person through medication, meal preparation, and leisure activities</li> </ul>	Therapeutic guidance: Microsoft HoloLens can interact with the user to practice skills through guidance while the user is practic- ing the task, visual guidance and stimulation (eg, hemineglect), and guidance when the user is learning to use an object

<sup>a</sup>N/A: not applicable.

### **Detection Features**

*Detection features* comprise the action or process of identifying the presence of objects in the environment or the user's position or location. This allows location and activity recognition. Related to this feature, participants identified that the mixed reality headset may assist people in finding and correctly using objects by providing audio feedback to guide them through the environment or by providing information about object functions:

let me give you a basic example...let's say someone who cleans his house and doesn't remember what the products are for or confuse them...someone who sometimes takes detergent to wash the floor...The Mixed Reality Headset can help him to avoid that. [P4, FG4, number 345]

Microsoft HoloLens detection features may also assist the person in finding and correctly using the objects by providing visual feedback such as an etiquette of the name of the object that appears in the virtual environment of the users. According to the participants, the mixed reality headset may also support

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34983
```

RenderX

social interaction through facial recognition by displaying the name of the people in front of the person. It can also ensure safety by providing visual assistance such as warning symbols when the user is near danger (stairs or stove). Related to these features, participants mentioned that using a stop sign symbol would send a clear signal to the user to avoid approaching a risky element:

I would see it more naturally with the concept of "forbidden," for example: "You don't do that"; "You don't use the stove"; "You don't go to the basement"; "You don't go outside"; "You don't use the stove"; "You don't go to the basement"; "You don't go outside"...You know, the things that are harder to compensate for in everyday life and that there isn't someone there 24 hours a day to ensure safety. [P2, FG3, number 324]

### Information Storage and Provision Features

*Information storage and provision features* comprise accumulating information to anticipate the actions to take. For

example, according to participants, the mixed reality headset may be useful for performing task monitoring to collect and store information on the user's daily movements and activities and provide information on risky behaviors, routines, and the number of omissions and errors during daily activities. This can help in anticipating task support. Indeed, according to the participants, the mixed reality headset may be useful for storing information involved in specific daily routines and tasks to help the user perform them by providing information through audio and visual assistance. Audio assistance can be provided by providing daily reminders about upcoming appointments or by providing options and alternatives during activities (eg, dinner menu). Visual assistance can be provided through pictograms of the steps of a task or a list of steps or choices. Regarding this, a participant said the following:

Well, earlier when we were talking about the sequence, The Mixed Reality Headset can provide a visual pictogram...for example the person doesn't know what step she is in the task...so what's the next one? The visual aid could follow the steps and display a pictogram of the next one. [P1, FG3, number 378]

### Interactive Features

Interactive features comprise communicating in real time with the user to respond to the three clinical functions: assessment, assistance, or training. For example, according to the participants, the mixed reality headset can support task accomplishment by interacting with the user in real time to help through audio and visual assistance while the user is performing the task. Related to this functionality, participants mentioned that providing verbal feedback to the user and warning them in case of an error or mentioning the steps left to achieve the task are interactive functions that may be provided by the mixed reality headset. For example, a participant said the following:

When the person uses the dispill, the device may send a vocal message like "put the dispill back on the dining table"...it will help the person find it the next day. [P1, FG1, number 234]

Providing symbols to guide the person (arrows, target, timer, and yes or no) through medication management, meal

preparation, and leisure activities is also an interactive feature of the mixed reality headset, which may be useful, according to participants. For example, participants said the following:

If they've already set the destination in advance and have a real-time GPS with arrows and things that appear and detect cars...things like that, that could be interesting. [P3, FG3, number 382]

Or for people walking around their house. So, someone who has a regular route is fine. But if sometimes when a construction gets lost, it is to wear a GPS headset so that he doesn't get lost to go back home. [...] [P2, FG3, number 382]

Indeed, integrating the GPS functions in the Mixed Reality Headset would be great. [P1, FG3, number 382]

Interactive features allow the training of a person through *therapeutic guidance* as the mixed reality headset can interact with the user to practice skills. For example, the mixed reality headset can provide guidance while the user is practicing a task or when the user is learning to use an object. According to the participants, the mixed reality headset can also provide therapeutic guidance and stimulation to train the user's visual scanning ability (eg, patients with hemineglect). Regarding this, participants underlined the following:

In the case the person doesn't think to turn his head, you can provide visual cues that stimulate...or if the person is just scanning to one side, having an arrow or a light signal may help... [P1, FG3, number 392]

# **Objective 4: Facilitators and Obstacles Influencing the Use of the Mixed Reality Cognitive Orthosis by Older Adults With NDs**

Overall, participants perceived the mixed reality headset as a technological tool with great potential for older adults with NDs. They identified several facilitators and barriers related to (1) *resources and technical aspects*, (2) *risks and ethical and social considerations*, and (3) *individual characteristics* that may influence the use of cognitive orthosis for this population, as described in Table 5.



**Table 5.** Facilitators and obstacles influencing the use of the mixed reality cognitive orthosis by older adults with neurodegenerative disorders to improve their independence and safety at home.

Category	Facilitators	Barriers
Resources	<ul><li>Human and professional resources</li><li>Family involvement</li></ul>	<ul><li>Financial resources (costs)</li><li>Maintenance and professional resources</li></ul>
Technical aspects	<ul><li>Possibility of connecting the device to the telephone</li><li>Simplicity of use</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Continuous wear of AR<sup>a</sup> glasses</li> <li>Storage in the same place</li> <li>Appearance of the device not as a conventional eyewear</li> </ul>
Ethical and social considera- tions	• N/A <sup>b</sup>	<ul><li>Respect of privacy</li><li>Social stigma</li></ul>
Individual characteristics	<ul> <li>Ability to use and understand the usefulness of the device</li> <li>Presence of a need to use it</li> <li>Familiarity with technologies</li> <li>Interest in use</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Lack of openness to using the device</li> <li>Disease severity</li> <li>Presence of sensory deficits (auditory and visual)</li> <li>Difficulty in finding the device</li> <li>Difficulty in remembering to put on the device</li> </ul>
Risks	• Technical resources (technical assistance)	<ul> <li>Loss of visual, perceptual, and cognitive contact with the real environment</li> <li>Risk of nausea</li> </ul>

<sup>a</sup>AR: augmented reality.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not available.

### **Resources and Technical Aspects**

In terms of resources, the involvement of the family and trained health professionals is a facilitator, as it allows for oversight of the use of the mixed reality headset. For example, 7% (2/29) of participants said the following:

And you need someone behind and all that too to facilitate the use, because there it's someone else who's going to put the cues, it's someone else who's going to know what to program, what are the activities that the person wants to do. So, there's that side too, the setting up of the necessary cues too. [P3, FG2, number 458]

And with a supervised part, a part that we come and do spot checks. [P4, FG2, number 458]

According to the participants, in terms of technical aspects, the possibility of connecting the device to the smartphone may be a facilitator as it allows more flexibility and options of use. In addition, the simplicity of use has been shown to be an important factor that may facilitate the use of the device within this population. Regarding this, a participant said the following:

No, even the use of those glasses there, it really has to be user-friendly, don't have to wonder too much about how it works. It must be very, very simple like keywords... [P3, FG2, number 54]

Nevertheless, according to the participants, the continuous wear of the AR glasses can be a burden on the person as it can add to the heaviness of daily life. Some participants proposed limiting the use of this device to a few specific IADL only; however, others suggested that in this case, the device should always be stored in the same place, as, with the omission and memory loss issues of this population, the person may forget to wear the headset or forget where it is when doing an activity

RenderX

where they may need it. Regarding this, a participant said the following:

But I'm not sure, me practical, I don't know how much technology is going to evolve, but how much you can ask a person to wear this 24 hours a day for all activities [...] I think wearing it maybe for an hour, the time of the activity, but you can't expect someone to wear this all day. [P4, FG1, number 383]

### **Risks and Ethical and Social Considerations**

The appearance of the device, which is not similar to conventional eyewear, may be an important obstacle to the use of the mixed reality headset by this population. Indeed, as social stigma is a barrier to the use of this tool, according to the participants, it would be difficult to encourage this population to wear it in its current version. In addition, participants noted ethical considerations related to the aspect of privacy as the data collected by the mixed reality headset concerns the daily life of the person being assisted, who may feel watched. Regarding this, a participant said the following:

Yeah, because there's an ethical issue behind that. There's a question of privacy, of dignity, of the person as well, so they would have to be in, able to accept that their caregiver sees them uh, you know, at all times in their daily life. With that, I think, it would be to study. [P1, FG4, number 344]

Some risks that could potentially be barriers to the optimal use of the mixed reality headset were reported by participants, including the risks of nausea, confusion, and loss of contact with the person's actual environment while wearing the mixed reality headset.

### Individual Characteristics

In relation to the individual characteristics of the person, several factors that can facilitate the use of the mixed reality headset were reported by the participants, such as being able to learn how to use the device, understanding its usefulness, and presenting the need to use it. Other factors such as familiarity with the technologies and interest in using them were shown to be important in facilitating the use of the mixed reality headset. In this regard, one of the participants said the following:

I think in several years, because we're so exposed to technology and that kind of gadgetry, that if you start now, after I don't know 10-15 years, I don't know what your hope for timeline is, but more and more in we're going to use it so it's going to become mainstream for us. [P1, FG1, number 438]

Participants identified several barriers related to the characteristics of the person, such as the severity of the disability, which can have a significant impact on the person's ability to use the tool. In addition, according to the participants, this population would be more likely to have sensory deficits, such as difficulties with sight or hearing, which could make it difficult to assist with daily activities using the mixed reality headset. This would also be the case for cognitive deficits; for example, if the person has difficulty finding the device or remembering its location, this can make it more difficult to use the mixed reality headset optimally. Regarding this, a participant said the following:

Just don't be like me and not able to find your glasses! [laughs]. Because it's a bad start if you need your glasses to find your glasses. [P1, FG1, number 409]

### Discussion

### **Principal Findings**

The purpose of this study was to describe clinicians' and experts' perspectives on the potential of pure mixed reality to support independence and ensure the safety of older adults with NDs in daily life. More specifically, we aimed to document (1) the main difficulties encountered by older adults with NDs in their daily life to ensure that the pure mixed reality meets their needs, (2) the most effective interventions with this population to determine the types of assistance that should be given by the pure mixed reality technology, (3) how the mixed reality headset should provide assistance to respond to clinical purposes of promoting safety and independence at home, and (4) the main facilitators of and barriers to the use of this technology among this population to develop a version ready for laboratory testing. The results suggested the following: (1) the main difficulties encountered by this population are in remembering to complete tasks, initiating the tasks, remembering where they are in a task, and in planning the task; (2) several interventions are used to improve the independence of this population, such as prevention, simplification or facilitation, adaptation, and compensation interventions; (3) the use of pure mixed reality with older adults with NDs to promote independence and safety at home is promising and may respond to 3 clinical functions identified by the participants, including assessment, assistance, and training; and (4) pure mixed reality has good potential for use

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34983
```

with this population, with certain facilitators and obstacles, such as resources and technical aspects, risks, ethical and social considerations, and individual characteristics.

### **Comparison With Prior Work**

Regarding the type of difficulties encountered (objective 1), our study showed that this population faced many challenges in the accomplishment of BADL and IADL, such as eating, moving oneself, washing oneself, preparing meals, managing medication, and managing finances. The main difficulties that this population may face in these activities are difficulties in remembering to complete tasks, initiating the tasks, remembering where they are in a task (what parts are already completed), and planning the task. Difficulties in initiating and planning are part of executive functions, which have been documented as one of the main cognitive functions affecting the dementia continuum [29-31]. Impairment in executive functions puts the person at risk of errors when faced with unexpected situations and when making an appropriate decision, which potentially affects independence and safety. In general, difficulties in remembering are part of the memory components documented to be affected in this population [32]. Memory impairments can affect learning abilities and a person's daily life from simple tasks (bathing and/or moving oneself) to more complex tasks (managing finances and/or preparing meals) [22] Memory and executive function impairments in this population are highly documented in the literature [33-37], and our results confirm the evidence. According to the participants, these difficulties would require specific assistance from the pure mixed reality technology to optimize independence and safety at home. Moreover, according to our results, many factors may influence the severity of difficulties in conducting these activities, such as disease severity, presence of social and professional support, and activity characteristics. Disease severity and activity complexity were shown to be determinant factors in the severity of difficulties that affect independence in IADL and BADL. Indeed, in the earlier stages of the ND continuum, such as MCI or early stages of AD, the difficulties are more inconspicuous, appearing only at the level of very complex activities that require the coordination of several steps. Furthermore, along the continuum, the difficulties are more visible and present in basic activities [38]. In short, pure mixed reality could be useful in the early stages of the disease to overcome memory- and executive function-associated difficulties encountered in the most complex activities of daily life, such as preparing meals and managing medication and finances.

The second objective of this study was to document the effective interventions that work with this population to determine the types of assistance that should be provided by pure mixed reality technology. Our study showed that according to the participants, clinical interventions can be effective when they target the person, activity, and/or environment, which is in accordance with models of occupational rehabilitation [39,40]. According to the participants, effective interventions aim to meet four main objectives: prevention, simplification or facilitation, adaptation, and compensation. Prevention interventions mainly comprise upstream interventions to specifically prevent undesirable situations, such as falling, getting lost, or causing a fire. In the

XSL•FO RenderX

literature, the prevention interventions described are generally aimed at delaying the onset of dementia and cognitive decline or reducing their incidences, such as promoting healthy lifestyle habits and providing education, intellectual stimulation, or early screening [41]. Nevertheless, our results focused on clinical practice in rehabilitation, as we mainly involved rehabilitation experts—OTs (24/29, 83%) and experienced stakeholders (6/29, 21%); thus, in our study, prevention interventions aimed to improve the person's independence and safety and maintain their residual capacities, such as providing guidance, directions, and reference points to help the person prevent undesirable situations such as getting lost in a new environment. Several studies have shown that the use of this type of intervention allows a person to be more independent in their environment. For example, Spector et al [42] used a reality orientation board that displayed both personal and orientation information to provide some form of continuity for older adults with AD, which has been shown to be effective in preventing the risk of getting lost in the environment and in time. Simplification or facilitation interventions decrease the burden of actions by reducing the global *complexity* of activities. For example, according to participants, providing a model that acts as an example is a facilitation intervention that can make it easier to accomplish some activities, especially complex activities such as meal preparation. Few interventions of this type have been documented in the literature to support independence in IADL. Rousseau and Métivier [43] proposed an intervention based on imitation for emotional management. Adaptation and compensation interventions, as described in our study, such as using a pillbox or a dispill for medication management, highlighting essential information, stimulating the person to start the activity, using a checklist, verbalizing the steps of the task when achieving the task, or establishing a routine, are interventions that are widely documented in the literature as effective in optimizing independence and safety of older adults with NDs in their BADL and IADL [44-46]. Finally, the interventions proposed by the participants allow a better understanding of what types of assistance would meet the needs identified for this population, which would help computer scientists to better design features of HMD intended to help older adults with NDs accomplish BADL and IADL.

Our third objective was to determine the functions of the mixed reality headset that would be useful in assisting with the difficulties experienced by this population. Our study suggests that according to the participants, the detection, information storage or provision, and interactive features of a mixed reality headset can serve three main clinical functions: assessment, assistance, and training. In assessment, the mixed reality headset can detect or recognize the location and activity of the user and monitor them to provide data to clinicians about performance in daily activities. The use of sensor technologies has been shown to be promising in documenting the daily lives of older adults with dementia [47,48]. It has even been suggested that these technologies could be used to screen for NDs such as MCI or early AD [47]. More specifically, according to the participants, the mixed reality headset would be useful to document information on risky behaviors, routines of the person, and the number of omissions and errors during daily activities without the need for increased user interaction, which is

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34983

particularly relevant to ZET principles [4,12,14]. Assistance was the clinical function that participants identified as the most useful for the mixed reality headset. Indeed, the mixed reality headset can scan surroundings to detect objects and provide assistance through visual and audio feedback to help the person accomplish their daily tasks. The mixed reality headset can also store information involved in specific daily routines and tasks to help the user perform them by providing audio and visual information such as daily reminders, options, instructions, pictograms, and a list of steps before the task or by interacting with the user during the task. These types of assistance have previously been documented in several other Assistive Technology Center design studies [49,50]; however, their use with older adults with NDs has limitations related to the nature of the proposed technology, as it often does not respect the ZET principles [12].

Finally, our last objective was to document the facilitators of and barriers to the use of the mixed reality headset among older adults living with cognitive impairments. Our study suggests that the mixed reality headset has good potential, with certain facilitators and barriers. Financial costs and maintenance resources were identified as the main barriers to the use of pure mixed reality. The affordability of technology is often identified by clinicians when discussing the use of technology with this population [21,51]. However, the use and early introduction of technology could delay the institutionalization of older adults with NDs for up to 8 months, when the technology is efficient and adapted to the person's needs [52,53]. Thus, from a long-term perspective, it can be argued that the use of pure mixed reality at a more mature stage could support functional independence and, therefore, aging in place, as well as optimizing health care costs [52,54].

In terms of individual characteristics, some barriers to the optimal use of the mixed reality headset were reported by participants, including the risks of nausea, confusion, and loss of contact with the person's actual environment while wearing the headset. However, it has been documented that there is little to no virtual reality sickness in mixed reality or AR as there is no loss of contact with the real world; thus, it would be important to better inform people about this type of technology for optimized future adoption [55]. Social stigma may also be a barrier to the use of the mixed reality headset according to the participants, as it could be difficult to encourage this population to wear it in its current version. Considering the increasing technological advances in the domain, it will be possible to consider more conventional eyeglasses in the future [56]. In contrast, in earlier studies, the simplicity of use has been suggested to be an important factor that may facilitate the use of the mixed reality headset within this population, which reinforces the need to conduct usability testing in the future to document how to adapt and make the use of the device simpler, as required by the ZET principles [4,12,14,57]. In addition, other factors documented in our study, such as familiarity with the technologies and interest in using them, are shown to be important in facilitating the use of the mixed reality headset [21]. These factors are indeed part of the Technology Acceptance Model, which is a key model for understanding predictors of human behavior toward potential acceptance or

XSL•FO RenderX rejection of the technology [58]. Considering the growing increase in technology use by older adults [51,59,60], it is possible to predict that the mixed reality headset will be democratized and implemented as an AT for home support services in the future.

However, we acknowledge that the current development of mixed reality headsets has several limitations that could prevent the democratization of such technology to people with cognitive disorders and, more widely, to the general public for several years [13]. Despite positive preliminary studies, the high weight of this device might affect the user's experience [13,61,62]. Moreover, immersion is not optimal because of the small field of view of the screens [13]. The high price of the device is also an obstacle to its mass adoption [13]. The design of 3D graphical user interfaces and interactions is also important and should be carefully considered [63]. The literature suggests paying attention to the specific needs of older people with cognitive disorders during the design process because of their cognitive, perceptual, or physical limitations [13,64-68], which is supported by the conclusions of this study. For example, it is suggested to limit cognitive overload by limiting possible options [66], and the size of icons should be large enough as small targets might be difficult to reach [68].

If these issues are addressed, mixed reality could have several benefits, as well as limitations, because of their nature compared with other AT. In contrast to smart environments, mixed reality headsets do not require any modifications to the user's environment. In contrast, the user is required to wear the device to receive assistance. This might be inappropriate in certain situations, for instance, in the case of night wandering [69]. In contrast to smart environments, which are stationary, mixed reality headsets can deliver assistance at any time and place. However, they cannot act directly on the user's environment, for example, to prevent the evolution of a dangerous situation. Embedded technologies, such as the Cognitive Orthosis for Cooking, can turn off power to the stove if unsafe use by a person with a cognitive disorder is detected [70,71]. The mixed reality headset will also not be able to monitor the user's health, in contrast to body sensors or some smart environments [66].

Smartphones are popular devices that offer an alternative to delivering AR or mixed reality apart from headsets [13]. This technology is inexpensive and socially accepted [13]. However, smartphones offer less mobility than a headset, as the user needs to hold them with one hand and point the device in the direction where the assistance will be located in the space [72]. A mixed reality headset provides assistance in front of the user, allowing the user to keep their hands free [72]. Headsets also offer a more immersive experience [72]. Finally, projectors can be used to free the user from wearing a device and to use both hands [13]. However, in most cases, projectors are stationary [13] and, consequently, cannot offer assistance at any time or place.

#### **Future Directions**

Several future research paths can be suggested to continue advancing knowledge about the potential of mixed reality with individuals with NDs. First, observational studies can be undertaken to refine the users' requirements based on the directions proposed by health care professionals. Second, ZET

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34983
```

mixed reality headset prototypes could be developed to be useful for the target population by following a user-centered design approach. In particular, optimal interactions and graphical user interfaces should be explored. Regular usability testing with users should also be undertaken to maximize the usefulness of the prototype. Third, specific mixed reality ZET principles could be developed for this population by completing the already existing guidelines [65]. Fourth, coupling mixed reality headsets with both sensors to monitor the user's health and smart environments to manage critical situations could be explored. Finally, evaluating whether those results can be transposed to other populations, such as people with traumatic brain injuries or children with neurocognitive development disorders, could help in generalizing the applicability of mixed reality to other populations in need of ATs.

### **Strengths and Limitations**

This study had some limitations. First, >75% of our participants were female, which may represent a gender issue. However, this reflects a reality in health care settings where women represent most health care professionals to which our participants belonged. Second, participants were recruited from clinical settings within a single city, which may limit the generalizability of the results. However, our focus groups were homogenous [73], as recommended by qualitative research guides, as all participants were OTs or experienced stakeholders from diverse settings in psychogeriatrics. This diversity allowed for in-depth documentation of our assumptions regarding the functional profiles of older adults with NDs across the continuum of care. Third, data saturation was noted as early as in the fourth focus group, reinforcing the credibility of the results obtained from the analysis. Finally, this study does not directly document the end user perspective but instead involves them indirectly, which is a limitation to the applicability of the results currently. However, we decided to initiate the first step of the user-centered design cycle (exploration) by involving clinical experts as our rationale was that older adults living with NDs could have had difficulty answering our research questions because of a lack of abstraction abilities required to discuss an intangible topic [74,75]. It has been previously documented that the low maturity of technology is a barrier to the initial intention for use and may result in the rejection of the prototype in the future. Therefore, we took the possible obstacle into consideration when choosing our first design step [76]. Our intention was to document the needs of older adults with NDs from the perspective of experts to design a version that can later be tested by them. Our next step will be to design a prototype that meets the recommendations identified in this study (ideation and generation) and then test its usability with older adults living with NDs and their caregivers (evaluation).

### Conclusions

This study aimed to describe experts' perspectives on the potential of pure mixed reality to support independence and ensure the safety of older adults living with NDs. The results suggest that a mixed reality cognitive orthosis may help older adults with NDs face difficulties in everyday activities, such as *remembering to complete tasks, initiating the tasks, remembering where they are in a task (what parts are already* 

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

*completed*), and *planning the task*. Thus, the use of mixed reality cognitive orthosis in older adults living with NDs to overcome these difficulties and promote independence and safety at home is promising and may respond to several clinical functions identified by the participants, including assessment, assistance,

and training. Finally, the mixed reality headset has good potential for use with older adults with NDs, with certain facilitators and limits. Future studies should address usability testing in this population to develop a usable and implementable prototype to support aging in place.

### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

### References

- 1. World health statistics 2016: monitoring health for the SDGs, sustainable development goals. World Health Organization. 2016. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/206498</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]
- Andrew MK, Mitnitski AB, Rockwood K. Social vulnerability, frailty and mortality in elderly people. PLoS One 2008 May 21;3(5):e2232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002232] [Medline: 18493324]
- 3. Adelman RD, Tmanova LL, Delgado D, Dion S, Lachs MS. Caregiver burden: a clinical review. JAMA 2014 Mar 12;311(10):1052-1060. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.304] [Medline: 24618967]
- Boger J, Mihailidis A. The future of intelligent assistive technologies for cognition: devices under development to support independent living and aging-with-choice. NeuroRehabilitation 2011;28(3):271-280. [doi: <u>10.3233/NRE-2011-0655</u>] [Medline: <u>21558632</u>]
- Bharucha AJ, Anand V, Forlizzi J, Dew MA, Reynolds 3rd CF, Stevens S, et al. Intelligent assistive technology applications to dementia care: current capabilities, limitations, and future challenges. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2009 Feb;17(2):88-104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e318187dde5] [Medline: 18849532]
- 6. Davies A, Brini S, Hirani S, Gathercole R, Forsyth K, Henderson C, et al. The impact of assistive technology on burden and psychological well-being in informal caregivers of people with dementia (ATTILA Study). Alzheimers Dement (N Y) 2020 Oct 7;6(1):e12064 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/trc2.12064] [Medline: 33043107]
- Evans J, Brown M, Coughlan T, Lawson G, Craven MP. A systematic review of dementia focused assistive technology. In: Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Interaction Technologies. 2015 Presented at: HCI '15; August 2–7, 2015; Los Angeles, CA, USA p. 406-417. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-20916-6\_38]
- Astell AJ, Bouranis N, Hoey J, Lindauer A, Mihailidis A, Nugent C, Technology and Dementia Professional Interest Area .... Technology and dementia: the future is now. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2019;47(3):131-139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000497800] [Medline: 31247624]
- Jessen F, Amariglio RE, van Boxtel M, Breteler M, Ceccaldi M, Chételat G, Subjective Cognitive Decline Initiative (SCD-I) Working Group. A conceptual framework for research on subjective cognitive decline in preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement 2014 Nov;10(6):844-852 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.01.001] [Medline: 24798886]
- Lassen-Greene CL, Steward K, Okonkwo O, Porter E, Crowe M, Vance DE, et al. Mild cognitive impairment and changes in everyday function over time: the importance of evaluating both speed and accuracy. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol 2017 Jul;30(4):220-227 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0891988717711807] [Medline: 28639877]
- De Vriendt P, Gorus E, Cornelis E, Velghe A, Petrovic M, Mets T. The process of decline in advanced activities of daily living: a qualitative explorative study in mild cognitive impairment. Int Psychogeriatr 2012 Jun;24(6):974-986. [doi: 10.1017/S1041610211002766] [Medline: 22301014]
- 12. Boger J, Young V, Hooey J, Jiancaro T, Mihailidis A. Zero-effort technologies: considerations, challenges, and use in health, wellness, and rehabilitation, second edition. In: Baecker R, Sixsmith A, Helal S, Hayes G, editors. Synthesis Lectures on Assistive, Rehabilitative, and Health-Preserving Technologies. San Rafael, CA, USA: Morgan and Claypool Publishers; Mar 20, 2018:i-118.
- Blattgerste J, Renner P, Pfeiffer T. Augmented reality action assistance and learning for cognitively impaired people: a systematic literature review. In: Proceedings of the 12th ACM International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments. 2019 Presented at: PETRA '19; June 5-7, 2019; Rhodes, Greece p. 270-279. [doi: 10.1145/3316782.3316789]
- Ienca M, Fabrice J, Elger B, Caon M, Scoccia Pappagallo A, Kressig RW, et al. Intelligent assistive technology for Alzheimer's disease and other dementias: a systematic review. J Alzheimers Dis 2017;56(4):1301-1340. [doi: <u>10.3233/JAD-161037</u>] [Medline: <u>28222516</u>]
- 15. O'Neill B, Gillespie A. Simulating naturalistic instruction: the case for a voice mediated interface for assistive technology for cognition. J Assist Technol 2008 Jun;2(2):22-31. [doi: 10.1108/17549450200800015]
- Flavián C, Ibáñez-Sánchez S, Orús C. The impact of virtual, augmented and mixed reality technologies on the customer experience. J Bus Res 2019 Jul;100:547-560. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.10.050</u>]
- 17. Microsoft HoloLens 2: for precise, efficient hands-free work. Microsoft Corporation. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.microsoft.com/</u> <u>en-us/hololens/</u> [accessed 2022-04-03]

- 18. The VR headset. HoloLens 2 vs Magic Leap One: what is the best AR headset in 2020? The VR headset. 2020. URL: <u>https://thevrheadset.com/hololens-2-vs-magic-leap-one/</u> [accessed 2022-04-03]
- Brun D, Gouin-Vallerand C, George S. Augmented human mind: case of reasoning. In: Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Joint Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing and Proceedings of the 2017 ACM International Symposium on Wearable Computers. 2017 Presented at: UbiComp '17; September 11-15, 2017; Maui, HI, USA p. 717-723. [doi: 10.1145/3123024.3129273]
- 20. Spalla G, Gouin-Vallerand C, Yaddaden A, Bier N. Towards an augmented reality cognitive orthosis to assist people with Alzheimer's disease: preliminary design. In: Proceedings of the 6th EAI International Conference on Smart Objects and Technologies for Social Good. 2020 Presented at: GoodTechs '20; September 14-16, 2020; Antwerp, Belgium p. 60-65. [doi: 10.1145/3411170.3411234]
- 21. Benoit-Dubé L, Jean EK, Aguilar MA, Zuniga AM, Bier N, Couture M, et al. What facilitates the acceptance of technology to promote social participation in later life? A systematic review. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol (forthcoming) 2020 Nov 06:1-11. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2020.1844320] [Medline: 33156714]
- 22. Padilla R. Effectiveness of occupational therapy services for people with Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. Am J Occup Ther 2011;65(5):487-489. [doi: 10.5014/ajot.2011.002568] [Medline: 22026315]
- 23. Norman DA. The Design of Everyday Things, Revised And Expanded Edition. Cambridge, MA, USA: MIT Press; 2013.
- 24. Lallemand C, Koenig V. Lab testing beyond usability: challenges and recommendations for assessing user experiences. J Usability Stud 2017;12(3):133-154.
- 25. Sandelowski M. What's in a name? Qualitative description revisited. Res Nurs Health 2010 Feb;33(1):77-84. [doi: 10.1002/nur.20362] [Medline: 20014004]
- 26. Fortin MF, Gagnon J. Fondements et Étapes du Processus De Recherche: Me´thodes Quantitatives Et Qualitatives. Montreal, Canada: Chenelie`re E´ducation; 2016.
- 27. Robert A, Gélinas I, Mazer B. Occupational therapists use of cognitive interventions for clients with Alzheimer's disease. Occup Ther Int 2010 Mar 17;17(1):10-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/oti.283] [Medline: 19688778]
- 28. Ridder HG. Reviewed work: qualitative data analysis. a methods sourcebook 3 rd edition by Matthew B. Miles, A. Michael Huberman, Johnny Saldaña. Zeitschrift Personalforschung 2014;28(4):485-487.
- 29. Nakata E, Kasai M, Kasuya M, Akanuma K, Meguro M, Ishii H, et al. Combined memory and executive function tests can screen mild cognitive impairment and converters to dementia in a community: the Osaki-Tajiri project. Neuroepidemiology 2009;33(2):103-110. [doi: 10.1159/000222092] [Medline: 19494551]
- Stopford CL, Thompson JC, Neary D, Richardson AM, Snowden JS. Working memory, attention, and executive function in Alzheimer's disease and frontotemporal dementia. Cortex 2012 Apr;48(4):429-446. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cortex.2010.12.002</u>] [Medline: <u>21237452</u>]
- Voss SE, Bullock RA. Executive function: the core feature of dementia? Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2004;18(2):207-216. [doi: <u>10.1159/000079202</u>] [Medline: <u>15211077</u>]
- Cloutier S, Chertkow H, Kergoat MJ, Gélinas I, Gauthier S, Belleville S. Trajectories of decline on instrumental activities of daily living prior to dementia in persons with mild cognitive impairment. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2021 Feb;36(2):314-323
   [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/gps.5426] [Medline: 32892375]
- Jekel K, Damian M, Wattmo C, Hausner L, Bullock R, Connelly PJ, et al. Mild cognitive impairment and deficits in instrumental activities of daily living: a systematic review. Alzheimers Res Ther 2015 Mar 18;7(1):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13195-015-0099-0] [Medline: 25815063]
- Pérès K, Chrysostome V, Fabrigoule C, Orgogozo JM, Dartigues JF, Barberger-Gateau P. Restriction in complex activities of daily living in MCI: impact on outcome. Neurology 2006 Aug 08;67(3):461-466. [doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000228228.70065.f1] [Medline: 16894108]
- Perneczky R, Pohl C, Sorg C, Hartmann J, Tosic N, Grimmer T, et al. Impairment of activities of daily living requiring memory or complex reasoning as part of the MCI syndrome. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2006 Feb;21(2):158-162. [doi: <u>10.1002/gps.1444</u>] [Medline: <u>16416470</u>]
- Wadley VG, Okonkwo O, Crowe M, Ross-Meadows LA. Mild cognitive impairment and everyday function: evidence of reduced speed in performing instrumental activities of daily living. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2008 May;16(5):416-424. [doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e31816b7303] [Medline: 18448852]
- 37. Weintraub S, Carrillo MC, Farias ST, Goldberg TE, Hendrix JA, Jaeger J, et al. Measuring cognition and function in the preclinical stage of Alzheimer's disease. Alzheimers Dement (N Y) 2018 Feb 13;4:64-75 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.trci.2018.01.003] [Medline: 29955653]
- 38. Fieo R, Zahodne L, Tang MX, Manly JJ, Cohen R, Stern Y. The historical progression from ADL scrutiny to IADL to advanced ADL: assessing functional status in the earliest stages of dementia. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2018 Nov 10;73(12):1695-1700 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/gerona/glx235] [Medline: 29244089]
- 39. Townsend EA, Polatajko HJ, Whiteford G. Enabling Occupation II : Advancing an Occupational Therapy Vision for Health, Well-Being, & Justice Through Occupation. Ottawa, Canada: Canadian Association of Occupational Therapists; 2007.

- 40. Wong C, Leland NE. Applying the person–environment–occupation model to improve dementia care. American Occupational Therapy Association. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.aota.org/~/media/Corporate/Files/Publications/CE-Articles/CE-Article-May-18.</u> pdf [accessed 2021-04-23]
- Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, Ames D, Ballard C, Banerjee S, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. Lancet 2020 Aug 08;396(10248):413-446 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6] [Medline: <u>32738937</u>]
- 42. Spector A, Thorgrimsen L, Woods B, Royan L, Davies S, Butterworth M, et al. Efficacy of an evidence-based cognitive stimulation therapy programme for people with dementia: randomised controlled trial. Br J Psychiatry 2003 Sep;183:248-254. [doi: 10.1192/bjp.183.3.248] [Medline: 12948999]
- 43. Rousseau T, Métivier K. L'imitation utilisée pour canaliser l'agitation dans la démence de type Alzheimer: Étude de cas using imitation to control agitation in Alzheimer type dementia: a case study. NPG Neurologie Psychiatrie Gériatrie 2007 Oct;7(41):31-40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s1627-4830(07)92029-2]
- 44. Bennett S, Laver K, Voigt-Radloff S, Letts L, Clemson L, Graff M, et al. Occupational therapy for people with dementia and their family carers provided at home: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open 2019 Nov 11;9(11):e026308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026308] [Medline: 31719067]
- Pozzi C, Lanzoni A, Lucchi E, Salimbeni I, DeVreese LP, Bellelli G, et al. Activity-based occupational therapy intervention for delirium superimposed on dementia in nursing home setting: a feasibility study. Aging Clin Exp Res 2020 May;32(5):827-833. [doi: 10.1007/s40520-019-01422-0] [Medline: <u>31768877</u>]
- 46. Laver K, Cumming R, Dyer S, Agar M, Anstey KJ, Beattie E, et al. Evidence-based occupational therapy for people with dementia and their families: what clinical practice guidelines tell us and implications for practice. Aust Occup Ther J 2017 Feb;64(1):3-10. [doi: 10.1111/1440-1630.12309] [Medline: 27699792]
- 47. Lussier M, Lavoie M, Giroux S, Consel C, Guay M, Macoir J, et al. Early detection of mild cognitive impairment with in-home monitoring sensor technologies using functional measures: a systematic review. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2019 Mar;23(2):838-847. [doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2018.2834317] [Medline: 29994013]
- 48. Lussier M, Aboujaoudé A, Couture M, Moreau M, Laliberté C, Giroux S, et al. Using ambient assisted living to monitor older adults with Alzheimer disease: single-case study to validate the monitoring report. JMIR Med Inform 2020 Nov 13;8(11):e20215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20215] [Medline: 33185555]
- Nishiura Y, Nihei M, Nakamura-Thomas H, Inoue T. Effectiveness of using assistive technology for time orientation and memory, in older adults with or without dementia. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2021 Jul;16(5):472-478. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2019.1650299] [Medline: <u>31424302</u>]
- Daly Lynn J, Rondón-Sulbarán J, Quinn E, Ryan A, McCormack B, Martin S. A systematic review of electronic assistive technology within supporting living environments for people with dementia. Dementia (London) 2019;18(7-8):2371-2435. [doi: 10.1177/1471301217733649] [Medline: 28990408]
- 51. Gitlow L. Technology use by older adults and barriers to using technology. Phys Occup Ther Geriatr 2014 Aug 12;32(3):271-280. [doi: 10.3109/02703181.2014.946640]
- 52. Kim KI, Gollamudi SS, Steinhubl S. Digital technology to enable aging in place. Exp Gerontol 2017 Feb;88:25-31. [doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2016.11.013] [Medline: 28025126]
- 53. Riikonen MT, Mäkelä K, Perälä S. Safety and monitoring technologies for the homes of people with dementia. Gerontechnology 2010 Jan;9(1):32-45. [doi: 10.4017/gt.2010.09.01.003.00]
- Peek ST, Wouters EJ, van Hoof J, Luijkx KG, Boeije HR, Vrijhoef HJ. Factors influencing acceptance of technology for aging in place: a systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2014 Apr;83(4):235-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.004] [Medline: 24529817]
- 55. Lawson BD, Stanney KM. Editorial: cybersickness in virtual reality and augmented reality. Front Virtual Real 2021 Oct 13;2:131. [doi: 10.3389/frvir.2021.759682]
- 56. Brun D, Gouin-Vallerand C, George S. Toward discreet interactions and publicly explicit activities. In: Proceedings of the 1st Workshop on Challenges Using Head-Mounted Displays in Shared and Social Spaces. 2019 Presented at: CHI '19 Extended Abstracts; May 4-9, 2019; Glasgow, UK URL: <u>https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-02264939/document</u>
- 57. Smith KM. A mixed methods study on evaluations of Virginia's STEM-focused governor's schools. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 2017 Feb 27. URL: <u>https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/76735/</u> <u>Stith\_KM\_D\_2017.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-04-23]
- 58. Chen K, Chan AH. A review of technology acceptance by older adults. Gerontechnology 2011;10(1):1-12. [doi: 10.4017/gt.2011.10.01.006.00]
- 59. Gell NM, Rosenberg DE, Demiris G, LaCroix AZ, Patel KV. Patterns of technology use among older adults with and without disabilities. Gerontologist 2015 Jun;55(3):412-421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnt166] [Medline: 24379019]
- Hung LY, Lyons JG, Wu CH. Health information technology use among older adults in the United States, 2009-2018. Curr Med Res Opin 2020 May;36(5):789-797. [doi: <u>10.1080/03007995.2020.1734782</u>] [Medline: <u>32096650</u>]

- 61. Wolf D, Besserer D, Sejunaite K, Schuler A, Riepe M, Rukzio E. cARe: an augmented reality support system for geriatric inpatients with mild cognitive impairment. In: Proceedings of the 18th International Conference on Mobile and Ubiquitous Multimedia. 2019 Presented at: MUM '19; November 26-29, 2019; Pisa, Italy p. 1-11. [doi: 10.1145/3365610.3365612]
- 62. Kress BC, Cummings WJ. Towards the ultimate mixed reality experience: HoloLens display architecture choices. Dig Tech Pap 2017 May;48(1):127-131. [doi: 10.1002/sdtp.11586]
- 63. Bowman D, Kruijff E, LaViola Jr JJ, Poupyrev IP. 3D User Interfaces: Theory and Practice. 2nd edition. Boston, MA, USA: Addison-Wesley; 2004.
- 64. de Belen RA, Bednarz T. Mixed reality and Internet of Things (MRIoT) interface design guidelines for elderly people. In: Proceedings of the 23rd International Conference in Information Visualization – Part II. 2019 Presented at: IV '19; July 16-19, 2019; Adelaide, Australia p. 82-85. [doi: 10.1109/IV-2.2019.00025]
- 65. Desai S, Fels D, Astell A. Designing for experiences in blended reality environments for people with dementia. In: Proceedings of the 22nd HCI International Conference. 2020 Presented at: HCII '20; July 19-24, 2020; Copenhagen, Denmark p. 495-509. [doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-60149-2\_38]
- Rashidi P, Mihailidis A. A survey on ambient-assisted living tools for older adults. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2013 May;17(3):579-590. [doi: <u>10.1109/jbhi.2012.2234129</u>] [Medline: <u>24592460</u>]
- 67. Laughery Sr KR, Wogalter MS. Warnings and risk perception. In: Salvendy G, editor. Handbook of Human Factors and Ergonomics. 2nd edition. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons; 1997:1174-1197.
- 68. Hendrick HW. Hum Factors Man 1999;9(3):321-322. [doi: 10.1002/(sici)1520-6564(199922)9:3<321::aid-hfm9>3.0.co;2-n]
- 69. Radziszewski R, Ngankam HK, Grégoire V, Lorrain D, Pigot H, Giroux S. Designing calm and non-intrusive ambient assisted living system for monitoring nighttime wanderings. Int J Pervasive Comput Commun 2017 Jun 05;13(2):114-129. [doi: 10.1108/ijpcc-02-2017-0015]
- Pinard S, Bottari C, Laliberté C, Pigot H, Olivares M, Couture M, et al. Design and usability evaluation of COOK, an assistive technology for meal preparation for persons with severe TBI. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2021 Oct;16(7):687-701. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2019.1696898] [Medline: 31846395]
- 71. Yaddaden A, Couture M, Gagnon-Roy M, Belchior P, Lussier M, Bottari C, et al. Using a cognitive orthosis to support older adults during meal preparation: clinicians' perspective on COOK technology. J Rehabil Assist Technol Eng 2020 May 13;7:2055668320909074 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055668320909074] [Medline: 32435504]
- 72. Billinghurst M, Clark A, Lee G. A Survey of Augmented Reality. Delft, The Netherlands: Now Foundations and Trends; 2015.
- 73. Krueger RA. In: Casey MA, editor. Focus Groups: A Practical Guide for Applied Research. 5th edition. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; 2015.
- 74. Ganguli M, Blacker D, Blazer DG, Grant I, Jeste DV, Paulsen JS, et al. Classification of neurocognitive disorders in DSM-5: a work in progress. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2011 Mar;19(3):205-210 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/jgp.0b013e3182051ab4] [Medline: 21425518]
- 75. Sachdev PS, Blacker D, Blazer DG, Ganguli M, Jeste DV, Paulsen JS, et al. Classifying neurocognitive disorders: the DSM-5 approach. Nat Rev Neurol 2014 Nov;10(11):634-642. [doi: <u>10.1038/nrneurol.2014.181</u>] [Medline: <u>25266297</u>]
- 76. Jaschinski C, Ben Allouch S, Peters O, Cachucho R, van Dijk JA. Acceptance of technologies for aging in place: a conceptual model. J Med Internet Res 2021 Mar 31;23(3):e22613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22613] [Medline: 33787505]

### Abbreviations

AD: Alzheimer disease
AR: augmented reality
AT: assistive technology
BADL: basic activities of daily living
HMD: head-mounted display
IADL: instrumental activities of daily living
MCI: mild cognitive impairment
ND: neurodegenerative disorder
OT: occupational therapist
ZET: zero-effort technology


Edited by T Leung; submitted 15.11.21; peer-reviewed by R Proffitt, B Davis, V Stara; comments to author 21.03.22; revised version received 14.04.22; accepted 20.05.22; published 20.07.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Yaddaden A, Spalla G, Gouin-Vallerand C, Briskie-Semeniuk P, Bier N A Mixed Reality Cognitive Orthosis to Support Older Adults in Achieving Their Daily Living Activities: Focus Group Study With Clinical Experts JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e34983 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34983 doi:10.2196/34983 PMID:35857354

©Amel Yaddaden, Guillaume Spalla, Charles Gouin-Vallerand, Patricia Briskie-Semeniuk, Nathalie Bier. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 20.07.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Detection of Low Back Physiotherapy Exercises With Inertial Sensors and Machine Learning: Algorithm Development and Validation

Abdalrahman Alfakir<sup>1,2\*</sup>, MSc; Colin Arrowsmith<sup>1,3\*</sup>, BSc; David Burns<sup>1,3,4</sup>, MD, PhD; Helen Razmjou<sup>1</sup>, PT, PhD; Michael Hardisty<sup>1,4</sup>, PhD; Cari Whyne<sup>1,2,4</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Holland Bone and Joint Program, Sunnybrook Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Institute of Biomedical Engineering, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Halterix Corporation, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Division of Orthopaedic Surgery, Department of Surgery, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

<sup>\*</sup>these authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Cari Whyne, PhD Holland Bone and Joint Program Sunnybrook Research Institute S6 21 2075 Bayview Avenue Toronto, ON, M4N 3M5 Canada Phone: 1 416 480 6100 ext 5056 Email: cari.whyne@sunnybrook.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** Physiotherapy is a critical element in the successful conservative management of low back pain (LBP). A gold standard for quantitatively measuring physiotherapy participation is crucial to understanding physiotherapy adherence in managing recovery from LBP.

**Objective:** This study aimed to develop and evaluate a system with wearable inertial sensors to objectively detect the performance of unsupervised exercises for LBP comprising movement in multiple planes and sitting postures.

**Methods:** A quantitative classification design was used within a machine learning framework to detect exercise performance and posture in a cohort of healthy participants. A set of 8 inertial sensors were placed on the participants, and data were acquired as they performed 7 McKenzie low back exercises and 3 sitting posture positions. Engineered time series features were extracted from the data and used to train 9 models by using a 6-fold cross-validation approach, from which the best 2 models were selected for further study. In addition, a convolutional neural network was trained directly on the time series data. A feature importance analysis was performed to identify sensor locations and channels that contributed the most to the models. Finally, a subset of sensor locations and channels was included in a hyperparameter grid search to identify the optimal sensor configuration and best performing algorithms for exercise and posture classification. The final models were evaluated using the  $F_1$  score in a 10-fold cross-validation approach.

**Results:** In total, 19 healthy adults with no history of LBP each completed at least one full session of exercises and postures. Random forest and XGBoost (extreme gradient boosting) models performed the best out of the initial set of 9 engineered feature models. The optimal hardware configuration was identified as a 3-sensor setup—lower back, left thigh, and right ankle sensors with acceleration, gyroscope, and magnetometer channels. The XGBoost model achieved the highest exercise ( $F_1$  score: mean 0.94, SD 0.03) and posture ( $F_1$  score: mean 0.90, SD 0.11) classification scores. The convolutional neural network achieved similar results with the same sensor locations, using only the accelerometer and gyroscope channels for exercise classification ( $F_1$  score: mean 0.94, SD 0.02) and the accelerometer channel alone for posture classification ( $F_1$  score: mean 0.88, SD 0.07).

**Conclusions:** This study demonstrates the potential of a 3-sensor lower body wearable solution (eg, smart pants) that can identify exercises in multiple planes and proper sitting postures, which is suitable for the treatment of LBP. This technology has the

RenderX

potential to improve the effectiveness of LBP rehabilitation by facilitating quantitative feedback, early problem diagnosis, and possible remote monitoring.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e38689) doi:10.2196/38689

#### **KEYWORDS**

low back pain; rehabilitation; wearables; inertial measurement units; machine learning; activity recognition

# Introduction

Low back pain (LBP) is a prevalent condition that affects both physical and mental health [1,2]. Postural re-education and physiotherapy aiming to reduce disc derangement and strengthening exercises are often used to treat LBP [3-5]. Specifically, the McKenzie approach is based on a patient's pain response to directional movements of the spine. The McKenzie approach has been proven to be effective and is commonly used by physiotherapists and other rehabilitation clinicians involved in the care of patients with LBP [2,3,6]. Research suggests that there is a positive correlation between adherence to rehabilitation programs (quantity and quality) and their ultimate success [4,7]. However, the quality of data (ie, derived from self-reported patient diaries) with respect to at-home rehabilitation program adherence can experience low rates of patient completion and biases [8]. A lack of a gold standard for measuring rehabilitation adherence has led to variability in the quality of measuring standards [8,9].

Image-based and wearable sensor systems have been used for assessing exercises and postures, applying methods developed within the broader field of human activity recognition (HAR) [10,11]. Image-based systems have many challenges (related to setup, line of sight, and computational requirements) that may limit their suitability for home-based rehabilitation assessment and posture monitoring [12]. Wearable sensors with inertial measurement units (IMUs) have been extensively used for HAR in diverse scenarios [13]. IMUs are easily embedded, compatible with multiple environments, and present fewer privacy concerns, suggesting a promising option for rehabilitation adherence and posture monitoring. Sensor placement, in the context of inertial sensors, has varied among HAR studies. Wang et al [14], O'Reilly et al [15], and Johnston et al [16] conducted reviews of wearable sensors used for the assessment of upper limb rehabilitation, lower limb rehabilitation, and posture, respectively. Recently, our group developed and validated a system to monitor home-based adherence to shoulder physiotherapy exercises (Smart Physiotherapy Adherence Recognition System [SPARS]) by using a single IMU (smartwatch) and state-of-the-art machine learning (ML) techniques [17-19]. However, LBP rehabilitation incorporates more complex movements than those found in the shoulder, which may not be adequately captured with a single IMU. As such, in developing a system to monitor LBP rehabilitation, it is important to determine the number of IMUs, their anatomical placement, and the data channels that best enable the classification of LBP rehabilitation exercises and posture.

The objective of this project was to develop and optimize a system to detect sitting posture and performance of LBP

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38689
```

exercises comprising movement in multiple planes (flexion, extension, side glide, and rotation). It was hypothesized that inertial sensor time series data collected from a multi-IMU–based wearable device arrangement analyzed with ML will be able to successfully identify the performance of rehabilitation exercises and good sitting posture focused on reducing LBP.

# Methods

#### **Study Design and Participants**

This study used a quantitative classification design to optimize a system that can detect sitting posture and performance of LBP exercises in a cohort of healthy participants. IMU data collected from multiple sensors were used to test and validate a range of ML models.

Healthy participants (from a limited cohort because of COVID-19 pandemic restrictions at that time) were recruited to participate in the study. Inclusion criteria were adult individuals with no prior history of LBP and a healthy BMI. Following informed consent, basic demographic data were collected (ie, age and sex) and study-specific ID numbers were assigned to each participant.

#### **Ethics Approval**

Participants provided informed consent to participate in this study, and institutional research ethics board approval (research ethics board number: 3505; Sunnybrook Research Institute, Toronto, Ontario, Canada) was obtained.

#### LBP Exercise and Posture Protocol

The McKenzie exercises represent a clearly defined, effective exercise set widely used by physiotherapists and other clinicians to treat LBP [2,6]. For this study, we selected a set of exercises that are used for the treatment of disc derangement. In total, 7 specific activities based on the McKenzie framework were identified for inclusion in the study protocol (1 static lying position and 6 dynamic lumbar spine exercises), as well as 3 postural positions. In addition, patients were recorded while performing various activities of daily living (ADL) such as walking, relaxed sitting, and standing. These ADL were collected so that models could be trained to not only differentiate between individual physiotherapy exercises but also to classify physiotherapy activities distinctly from typical daily activities. As such, these heterogeneous activities were all given the same ADL label to test the models' ability to differentiate physiotherapy from other common activities as a general group. The exercise protocol incorporated flexion, extension, rotation, and side glide motions, as well as poor, good, and forced good sitting postures. The full list of exercises and postures is described in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Participants were trained to perform the exercises and postures under the direct supervision of a single researcher, following a protocol designed in collaboration with a McKenzie exercise–trained physiotherapist. Dynamic exercises were performed for 6 repetitions, and static exercises and sitting postures were performed for 30 to 60 seconds while wearing the multi-IMU sensor system. ADL activity data were collected for 3 to 5 minutes for each participant.

#### **Multisensor System**

A wireless multi-IMU system was developed and used to collect inertial data during LBP rehabilitation for input to a classification model. The system comprised eight IMU devices (Metamotion C; Mbientlab) [20] placed in the following anatomical locations: (1) wrist, (2) left shoulder, (3) right shoulder, (4) upper back, (5) lower back, (6) left thigh, (7) right ankle, and (8) right ear. IMU locations are described in more detail in Figure S1 and the *IMU Locations* section in Multimedia Appendix 1.

The following five sensor data types, referred to here as *sensor channels*, were recorded from the IMU architecture (14 signal channels for each device, resulting in 112 channels):

- 1. Raw proper acceleration from the accelerometer (x, y, z), sampled at 25 Hz
- 2. Raw angular velocity data from the gyroscope (x, y, z), sampled at 25 Hz
- 3. Raw magnetic field strength from the magnetometer (x, y, z), sampled at 25 Hz
- 4. Quaternions from the on-board sensor fusion algorithm (w, x, y, z), sampled at 50 Hz

5. Pressure data from the barometer, sampled at 13 Hz

#### **Data Acquisition and Software**

The SPARS software platform developed by our laboratory was extended to enable data acquisition from multiple IMUs [14-16]. To prevent sensor drift and accumulated magnetic interference, accelerometer, gyroscope, and magnetometer sensor channels were calibrated on a weekly basis according to the manufacturer's instructions. IMUs were secured to each participant by using Velcro straps and adherent tabs, with 1 IMU integrated into a 3D printed earbud. Participants also donned a cap, a USB hub, and Bluetooth dongles. Data files were manually labeled by the supervising researcher, with the participant number and exercise class immediately after each exercise recorded. These labels served as the ground truth for subsequent classification tasks.

#### **Data Analysis**

The flow of the data analysis is outlined in Figure 1. The data collected using the SPARS-LBP system was used to determine the optimal placement of inertial sensors required to detect and classify LBP exercises and postures. This was accomplished by training a set of ML models to classify exercise data based on the full set of IMU sensor locations. A feature importance analysis was then performed to determine which IMUs and sensor channels contributed the most to model performance. Finally, a grid search was performed across a set of IMUs and channels, which contributed the most to the model performance. This was used to determine the optimal IMU locations, sensor channels, and model for a scalable SPARS-LBP system.

**Figure 1.** ML analysis flow. (1) Class split: to determine whether posture and exercise classification tasks require distinct classifiers and whether posture-forced good/posture good can be combined into a single class. (2) Filter models: identification of the 2 ML models with the highest performance from the classifier set. (3) Hyperparameter tuning: optimization of preprocessing parameters and model-specific hyperparameters. (4) Optimization of sensor channels and inertial measurement unit combinations: performing grid search over sensor channels and inertial measurement unit combinations, in addition to practical considerations for deployment. ML: machine learning.



#### **Data Preprocessing**

Raw accelerometer, gyroscope, magnetometer, and pressure data were taken directly from Mbientlab sensors for use in the training pipeline. These channels were also Kalman filtered and used to calculate the 4-axis quaternions channel with a proprietary Mbientlab algorithm. Filtering was applied to the quaternions channel by using the Bosch sensor fusion algorithm. This processing occurred during data acquisition. The accelerometer, gyroscope, magnetometer, pressure, and quaternion channels were resampled to 25 Hz and segmented using a sliding window of a width of 5 seconds (125 samples), with 0 segment overlap. This segment length was chosen to be slightly longer than an average exercise repetition. The total number of segments after preprocessing was 7838 (5815/7838, 74.19% for exercise data, and 2024/7838, 25.82% for posture data).

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38689
```

#### **Feature Extraction and Scaling**

Following segmentation, 23 statistical and time domain features (see the *Seglearn Engineered Features* section in Multimedia Appendix 1) were calculated for each channel of each time series segment, resulting in 2599 features. Segmentation and feature extraction were performed using the open-source Seglearn Python package [21]. Each feature was normalized to have 0 mean and unit variance before model training.

#### **Initial Models and Classification Task**

In order to determine the optimal classification algorithm for use in subsequent experiments, 10 classifiers were initially considered: (1) decision tree, (2) random forest (RF), (3) XGBoost (XGB), (4) k-nearest neighbors, (5) support vector machine (SVM) trained with stochastic gradient descent, (6) linear discriminant analysis, (7) Gaussian naive Bayes, (8) SVM, (9) multilayer perceptron neural network, and (10) convolutional neural network (CNN).

Models 1 to 9 were trained on engineered features by using default settings from scikit-learn [22]. The CNN was trained directly on time series segments. The CNN comprised 3 convolutional layers with 128, 256, and 128 channels, respectively, followed by global average pooling, L2 normalization, and a fully connected layer. The CNN was trained for 100 epochs using the Adam optimizer, categorical cross-entropy loss, and a learning rate of 0.001. Initially, each model was trained with a 6-fold cross-validation approach on the entire data set, grouping folds based on participant. This ensured that recordings from the same participant were not present in both the train and test folds. A 6-fold cross-validation approach was chosen rather than a leave one participant out cross-validation approach because of the limited computational resources and time available to train 10 models. The class-weighted  $F_1$  score was used as the evaluation metric for all classification tasks.

Models were trained to perform three classification tasks: (1) classifying all exercises and postures (11-class output), (2) classifying only exercises (8-class output), and (3) classifying only posture (3-class output). The performance of the engineered features models (models 1-9) was evaluated. The 2 classifiers with the highest accuracies, lowest variance, and other supporting considerations (such as processing speed) were selected for further evaluation. In addition, the CNN model was considered for further optimization because of its previous success in classifying shoulder exercises [23].

# **Feature Importance Evaluation**

To determine the optimal combination of IMU locations and sensor channels for activity classification, the importance of engineered features was computed for the 2 selected pretrained engineered feature models. This was used to inform the selection of a subset of sensors and features for hyperparameter tuning. The following two methods of feature importance computation were explored: Gini importance (a measure of the number of branches learned from each feature in tree-based models [24]) and permutation feature importance (an approach where input features are randomly permuted and the change in model performance is measured [25]). The permutation approach is

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38689
```

resilient to numerical feature inflation and training set dependence, which are found in Gini importance [24]. Features were then grouped by IMU location and sensor channel to determine the relative importance of each IMU and sensor channel.

## Hyperparameter Tuning and Sensor Selection

A grid search of model-specific and preprocessing hyperparameters was conducted, again using 6-fold cross-validation, grouping folds based on participant. The following preprocessing hyperparameters were included in the grid search because of their pronounced impact on time series features:

- Window width: Each exercise took approximately 5 seconds to complete, providing a maximum logical limit for the window. The lower limit was chosen as 0.5 seconds as smaller windows would not possess sufficient context.
- Window overlap: Overlap boundaries (overlap percentage between 2 consecutive window segments) were chosen to be 0%, representing no overlap at all and a maximum overlap of 60%. This parameter can also be considered a data augmentation parameter, where a higher overlap value results in more copies of similar segments.

The following model-specific hyperparameters were also considered. A full list of the model-specific hyperparameter space searched is available in Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

- RF: maximum features, minimum samples leaf, minimum samples split, and n estimators
- XGBoost: maximum depth, colsample bytree, gamma, learning rate, maximum depth, minimum child weight, and n estimators
- CNN: learning rate

IMU sensor channel combinations informed by the feature importance analysis were also included in the grid search. Owing to computational constraints, a smaller set of sensor channel combinations was chosen based on results from the engineered feature-based model grid search and used in a grid search for the CNN. This approach is similar to an embedded feature selection method. Finally, optimal configurations of the IMU locations and sensor channels were selected, considering supporting factors such as practicality and scalability as a future wearable system. The RF, XGBoost, and CNN models with optimized hyperparameters and input channels and IMU locations were retrained using a more rigorous 10-fold cross-validation approach, once again grouping folds based on the participant to prevent data leakage.

# Results

# **Study Design and Participants**

In total, 19 participants were recruited into the study, of whom 12 (63%) were male and 7 (37%) were female. Although specific height data for each patient were not recorded, all participants were within the healthy BMI range. Demographic data for the participants recruited for the study are displayed in Table 1.

and i. Demographic data concerce for the participants recruited for the study (14–19).				
Characteristic	Participants			
Age (years), mean (SD)	32 (12)			
Body weight (kg), mean (SD)	76 (16)			
Sex, n (%)				
Male	12 (63)			
Female	7 (37)			

Table 1. Demographic data collected for the participants recruited for the study (N=19).<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>All participants had a healthy BMI and had no history of low back pain.

#### **Initial Models and Classification Task**

Engineered feature models trained on a single classification task, combining exercise and posture activities using a 6-fold cross-validation strategy, did not perform as well as models separated into exercise classification (7 classes and ADL) and posture classification (3 classes). For 3-class posture classification, models were found to have a poor ability to distinguish between posture-forced good and good posture, suggesting little difference between the 2 postures. As a result, the good posture and posture-forced good groups were combined. The independent exercise (8 classes) and binary posture classifications were used for subsequent experiments. The 10 models described in the methods were trained with default hyperparameters using a 6-fold cross-validation approach separately for exercise and posture data sets. The top 3 engineered feature models (shown in Table 2) with respect to average  $F_1$  score for exercise and posture classification were found to be RF, XGBoost, and SVM (0.85, 0.85, and 0.81 for exercise and 0.89, 0.89, and 0.88 for posture, respectively). However, the SVM was found to have a greater SD in the exercise set (0.12). As such, RF and XGBoost were identified as the models with the best performance for both exercise (0.85, SD 0.04) and posture (0.89, SD 0.07) classification problems.

**Table 2.** Initial averages and SDs of class-weighted F1 scores across 6-fold cross-validation for all 9 engineered feature-based models with default settings.<sup>a</sup>

Classifier	Exercise classification $F_1$ score (weighted average), mean (SD)	Posture classification $F_1$ score (weighted average), mean (SD)
Decision tree	0.76 (0.04)	0.81 (0.08)
Random forest	0.85 (0.04) <sup>b</sup>	0.89 (0.08) <sup>b</sup>
XGBoost	0.85 (0.04) <sup>b</sup>	0.89 (0.07) <sup>b</sup>
K-nearest neighbors	0.79 (0.04)	0.81 (0.11)
Stochastic gradient descent	0.83 (0.07)	0.76 (0.17)
Linear discriminant analysis	0.77 (0.11)	0.59 (0.09)
Gaussian naive Bayes	0.65 (0.09)	0.72 (0.14)
Support vector machine	0.81 (0.12)	0.88 (0.09)
Multilayer perceptron neural network	0.81 (0.14)	0.76 (0.18)

<sup>a</sup>Both exercise and posture classification tasks are shown, with all models using all sensor channels and inertial measurement unit locations as input. <sup>b</sup>Top classifiers.

#### **Feature Importance Evaluation**

The XGBoost and RF models trained via 6-fold cross-validation to classify exercise and posture were used to compute the importance of input features. Inherent model importance (Gini importance and gain importance) and permutation importance for each of the input features were calculated (summarized in Figure 2 for the RF model). The importance of input features was then grouped based on IMU and sensor channel. Inherent model importance identified 5 (lower back), 6 (left thigh), and 7 (right ankle) as the most important devices; accelerometer and quaternions as the most important sensors; and mean, absolute energy, and absolute sum as the most important features. The permutation importance revealed that devices 7, 6, and 5 (reverse order compared with the Gini/Gain technique) had the highest importance; accelerometer and gyroscope had the highest importance among sensors; and minimum, absolute energy, and maximum had the top features contributing to classification performance. These findings were similar for the RF and XGBoost models.

RenderX

**Figure 2.** Average feature importance across 6-fold cross-validation for inertial measurement unit locations (y-axis) and sensor channels (x-axis). Larger values (darker blue) represent features of relatively high importance to the model. The permutation (left column) and Gini (right column) feature importances from the exercise random forest model are displayed in the top row, whereas the permutation and Gini importances for the posture random forest model are displayed in the bottom row. Importance values shown in the figure were computed by taking the sum across subchannels (eg, x, y, and z channels of acceleration) and engineered features for each subchannel. The resulting values represent the total feature importance for a given inertial measurement unit and channel combination (eg, "acceleration" and "upper back"), which were arranged in the grid shown here.



0.02 Left wrist (1) Left shoudler (2) 0.01 Right shoulder (3) 0.00 Upper back (4) -0.01 Lower back (5) Left thigh (6) -0.02Right ankle (7) -0.03 Right ear (8) Je Pressue Pressue Quaternion GYIOSCOPE



# Hyperparameter Tuning and Sensor Selection

A grid search was conducted to identify the optimal model-specific hyperparameters and the optimal IMU sensor configuration. The results from the feature importance analysis were used to inform the selection of a subset of IMU sensor configurations for input to the hyperparameter grid search.

The grid search results of the window width and window overlap parameters for both the exercise and posture classifications sets are displayed in Figure 3. Larger window width resulted in higher exercise classification performance in both engineered feature models and the CNN. Width had little impact on the

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38689
```

RenderX

performance of posture classification. Window overlap did not affect model performance for either classification task in the engineered feature models. A larger window overlap led to a small improvement in CNN exercise classification performance. Larger window widths were explored in the CNN grid search; however, the maximum window width was constrained by the length of recordings and, thus, was limited to 300 (12 seconds). On the basis of these findings, an optimal window width of 5 seconds and an overlap value of 0 were used for subsequent analyses with RF and XGBoost models, whereas a width of 300 and overlap of 50 samples (6% of the window) were used for the CNN. Figure 3. Hyperparameter grid search considering window width and overlap for the exercise (top row) and posture (bottom row) classification tasks for the RF (left) and XGBoost (right) models. Window width is shown to have a positive impact on performance for the exercise models, whereas no improvement is seen with overlap. Clear effectiveness is not demonstrated for the posture models with respect to window width or overlap. CV: cross-validation; RF: random forest; XGB: XGBoost.





Following the grid search conducted across model-specific hyperparameters, the performance of the engineered models did not show any significant improvements.  $F_1$  scores varied within +0.02 and -0.02 of the default hyperparameter results. As such, default RF- and XGBoost-specific hyperparameters were used for further analysis. The CNN performance was found to improve with a larger learning rate (0.66, SD 0.04 for learning rate=0.0001; 0.77, SD 0.050 for learning rate=0.01), with other hyperparameters held constant.

Finally, a set of IMU and sensor channel combinations, informed by the feature importance results, were included in the grid search for the RF and XGBoost models. The sensor channels evaluated using a 6-fold cross-validation approach, along with their corresponding performance scores, are displayed in Figure 4. The combination of accelerometer, gyroscope, and magnetometer sensors produced the best  $F_1$  scores of 0.95 (SD 0.03) and 0.91 (SD 0.11) for the exercise (RF model) and posture (RF model) data sets, respectively. The IMU combinations that were included in the grid search for the RF and XGBoost models are displayed in Figure 5. Using all available IMUs produced the highest performance. Limiting the number of sensors to 3 IMUs, the lower back (5), left thigh (6), and right ankle (7) locations yielded the best performance for both exercise ( $F_1$  score 0.94, SD 0.04) and e posture ( $F_1$ score 0.90, SD 0.11) using the XGBoost model. Confusion

matrices for the final optimized IMU (5, 6, and 7) and sensor (accelerometer, gyroscope, and magnetometer) setup for RF and XGBoost models, trained with 10-fold cross-validation grouped based on participants, are provided in Figure S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Following the results showing that the low back, thigh, and ankle sensors performed optimally for exercise and posture classification with engineered feature models, a smaller subset of IMU combinations was tested with the CNN (Figure 6). A grid search was performed over the set of single IMUs in addition to the set of 2-IMU combinations, which could form a lower extremity garment (eg, pants or shorts). Furthermore, 3- and 4-IMU combinations that could form a lower extremity garment with a watch were examined. In the CNN grid search, the full set of IMUs provided the best performance (exercise  $F_1$  score 0.96, SD 0.01; posture  $F_1$  score 0.91, SD 0.03). The 3 best IMU systems for exercise were again 5, 6, and 7 ( $F_1$  score 0.94, SD 0.03 for exercise;  $F_1$  score 0.88, SD 0.07 for posture). The accelerometer and gyroscope proved to be the optimal sensor channel combination for the CNN for exercise classification, whereas only the accelerometer provided optimal performance for posture. Confusion matrices for the final optimized configurations for the CNN model, trained with 10-fold cross-validation, are also provided in Figure S2 in Multimedia Appendix 1.



**Figure 4.** Results of the grid search across a set of sensor channel combinations for the RF and XGBoost models for exercise and posture classification. All IMUs were used for this test. Results are reported as the mean (SD) of the F1 score across 6-fold cross-validation for each sensor channel combination. The highlighted row represents the optimized sensor channels for both exercise and posture classification. RF: random forest; XG: XGBoost.



**Figure 5.** Results of the grid search across a set of IMU location combinations for RF and XGBoost models, classifying exercise and posture. All models were trained with the accelerometer, gyroscope, and magnetometer sensor channels. Results are reported as the mean (SD) of the F1 scores across 6-fold cross-validation for each IMU combination. The highlighted row represents the optimized sensor locations using 3 IMUs for both exercise and posture classification. Note that the bottom row containing all 8 IMUs is equivalent to the highlighted row in Figure 4. IMU: inertial measurement unit; RF: random forest; XG: XGBoost.



XSL•FO RenderX

**Figure 6.** Results of the grid search across a subset of IMU locations and channel combinations for the CNN classifier. All models were trained with a segment width of 300, sampling rate of 25 Hz (total segment width of 12 seconds), overlap of 50, and learning rate of 0.001. These CNN grid search results used acceleration and gyroscope sensor channels for exercise classification and only the acceleration channel for posture classification. The reported F1 scores are the average (SD) across 6-fold cross-validation, stratified based on participant. CNN: convolutional neural network; IMU: inertial measurement unit.



# Discussion

# **Principal Findings**

This study demonstrated the ability of SPARS-LBP to successfully identify the performance of rehabilitation exercises and good posture based on sensor time series data collected from a multi-IMU–based wearable device arrangement. A large set of ML models were initially trained to classify exercise and posture activities by using the full set of sensors. RF and XGBoost were found to outperform 7 other engineered feature models during initial testing.

Mechanical pain of discogenic origin is perhaps the most common and treatable type of LBP. The application of McKenzie-based exercises requires extensive training by the clinicians to understand the pattern of disc derangement and directional preferences. Once the leg or buttock pain is centralized to the lumbar spine, the therapist can proceed with core strengthening exercises. We specifically chose McKenzie-based exercises as they do not address specific muscles and rather focus on the symptoms that originate from stimulation or deformation of the pain-sensitive structures by using mechanical means such as static positions or repeated end range movements.

In considering the practical deployment of the SPARS-LBP system, a reduction in the number of IMU and sensor signals was required. To this end, the relative importance of input features was computed and grouped by device and sensor for the RF model. This was performed using both the inherent Gini importance of each feature and the permutation importance. The Gini importance of a feature is determined by the number of splits in the tree originating from that feature. Therefore, it is a measure of a particular feature's importance in the training data and can be misleading when the model overfits. For this reason, the permutation importance was also considered, as this can be computed on a held-out validation set using cross-validation [25]. The permutation importance is also limited by its tendency to assign low importance to highly correlated

features. Owing to the drawbacks of each importance technique, the results of both methods were considered. This revealed that the thigh, ankle, wrist, lower back, and shoulder sensors along with the acceleration, gyroscope, and quaternion channels contributed the most to the performance of the model.

Ultimately, the ideal sensor and device combination was determined based on the grid search results and practical considerations for combining these sensors into a wearable system. An XGBoost model with 3 IMU devices placed at the lower back, thigh, and ankle, each recording accelerometer, gyroscope, and magnetometer data, was found to provide an optimal platform for exercise and posture classification. These 3 standard IMUs placed on the lower back, thigh, and ankle could ultimately be embedded into a single wearable garment (eg, pants).

The finding that the low back, thigh, and ankle sensors offered the optimal performance does not come as a surprise, as the low back exercises used in this study involve a variety of movements in the lower body. In particular, all the exercises and postures cause a displacement in the low back, which was found to have high importance in both the feature importance analysis and grid search. Interestingly, the sensors on the upper body (ear, shoulder, and wrist) offered relatively little improvement in performance. However, this result supports the future development of a single lower extremity garment.

We also found that the CNN had a comparable performance with the XGBoost model for exercise classification with these 3 device locations using accelerometer and gyroscope channels. The CNN was limited by the fact that longer segment widths of between 250 and 300 (10-12 seconds) were required for optimal exercise classification performance. This could present challenges in clinical settings where patients cannot perform exercises for more than a few seconds because of pain or other factors. However, for posture classification, the CNN's best performance was achieved using just the acceleration sensor of all devices ( $F_1$  score 0.91, SD 0.03), and segment width did not seem to relate to performance. This is likely because of the

stationary nature of the posture data, as the recording was performed once participants had already moved into position.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

Although varied IMU setups have been studied for exercise classification (as in the study by Rodriguez et al [26]), none of them have explored simultaneous posture and exercise detection [27-31]. Some studies focused on lower limb rehabilitation exercises [15], whereas others focused only on postural classification [16]. Studies that focused on lower extremity rehabilitation found that the thigh, shin, and foot were useful sensor locations [15,32,33]. For posture experiments, sensor locations such as the lower back, upper back/sternum, feet, and thigh were used successfully [16]. These device locations described for exercise and posture studies coincide with our current findings, except for the upper back/sternum. Most studies that included the upper back/sternum as an IMU location used dynamic angle measurements to model their system in which they were used in relation to another device (usually a lower back IMU) or to an absolute starting position. These dynamic experiments also acquired data as participants repositioned themselves from a bad posture to a good posture, yielding time-varying fluctuations in the data. Using this approach, their algorithms would just need to learn the oscillations that occur in the upper back/sternum IMU when the posture changes to classify the data. By contrast, the postural data set collected in this study was static, where 1 good posture instance had the patient staying stationary for the whole period of the recording, with no time variation, limiting the importance of the upper back sensor (IMU 4) in the current algorithm.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

The performance of ML algorithms is generally dependent on the size of the available training data sets. Owing to COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, the recruitment of study participants and the resultant data set were limited. Participants were limited in the number of exercises and repetitions to avoid fatigue and prolonged session time. As such, the exercises used in this study represent a subset of all McKenzie exercise variations. Additional exercises may be explored to incorporate a larger exercise set, which will widen the scope and applicability of SPARS-LBP. This small data set resulted in greater interfold variability in cross-validation, particularly when larger segment widths were used, resulting in fewer training and validation samples. A second limitation is that feature selection was not used in the initial pipeline to select classifiers. This has the potential to penalize some classifiers (eg, k-nearest neighbors) and lead to overfitting. Third, this study demonstrated that the use of this technology is feasible, and the results are accurate; however, only healthy participants (without LBP and with healthy BMI) were included, and only correct execution of the LBP exercises was performed. Future work is needed to determine whether the optimized SPARS-LBP system can similarly classify exercises performed by those whose motion may be compromised and also consider the impact of age, sex, and BMI in relation to ML classification. A fourth limitation of the study was the restriction of monitoring devices to IMUs only. Testing a wider range of sensor technologies, such as

electromyography or video data, could add to the robustness and accuracy of the classifications. However, there are challenges to the acquisition, synchronization, and analysis of multiple data streams, and the consideration of additional data sources is outside the scope of this study.

#### **Future Directions**

As the use of wearable devices and artificial intelligence technology is expanding to facilitate web-based care, it is critical to explore the utility and accuracy of these devices in the musculoskeletal field. Validating the performance of the SPARS-LBP system with individuals prescribed McKenzie exercises for acute and chronic LBP is essential to see whether they generalize appropriately for these specific target populations. Essential to a clinical study is a simple IMU data acquisition system, such as a garment, incorporating the low back, thigh, and ankle IMU sensors. Similar to our ongoing work in the shoulder, this would allow elucidation of the relationship between participation and outcome (including functional assessment and patient-reported outcome measures). This would ultimately help guide future research into the effectiveness of physiotherapy programs and is key to understanding the relationships among exercise, posture, and clinical outcomes in individuals with LBP. App development may enable remote monitoring of participation/adherence by both patients and providers. This could allow for early identification of barriers to recovery while ensuring safe and effective management.

This work is also an important first step toward building effective tools to assess the quantity and quality of physiotherapy exercises. In particular, CNNs trained to classify physiotherapy exercises may be used to generate quantitative performance metrics based on generating embeddings for exercises performed in the clinic and at home by the same patient. Passing both recordings through the convolutional layers of the CNN, the distances between pairs of embeddings could then be used as a metric for the similarity between 2 exercises. Computing the similarity of a supervised exercise to an unsupervised exercise of the same class (performed at home) could give the patient and their clinician valuable feedback on the quality of unsupervised exercise performance.

# Conclusions

This study evaluated a large set of IMU devices (8) and sensors (5) during the performance of LBP exercises and sitting postures. The best performance was found using an optimized configuration of 3 IMUs (lower back, thigh, and ankle), with sensors limited to the accelerometer, gyroscope, and magnetometer. This device arrangement can be easily integrated into a wearable garment (pants) with a more efficient, simple, and clinically viable data acquisition system. No significant differences in performance of the 3 IMU systems were observed using the XGBoost, RF, and CNN models. This proof-of-concept study motivates further development of SPARS-LBP as a monitoring system that can help track participation and assist with the early identification of problems encountered in the performance of LBP exercise and correct posture, ultimately enhancing the effectiveness of at-home rehabilitation delivery.

#### Acknowledgments

The project was funded by an AGE-WELL scholarship and a Collaborative Health Research Project grant (jointly supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada). The authors acknowledge the efforts of David-Michael Phillips, who helped organize and orchestrate the collection of some data used for this work. The authors would also like to thank the members of the Orthopaedic Biomechanics Lab who participated in the data collection for this study.

## **Data Availability**

Data preprocessing and engineered feature extraction were performed with the Seglearn package [33]. The Python code used to create the convolutional neural network is also available [35]. The raw inertial measurement unit data can be found in the repository cited [36].

# **Conflicts of Interest**

DB is a cofounder and holds equity in Halterix Corporation, a digital physiotherapy company. CA works part-time for Halterix. MH and CW hold equity in Halterix.

#### Multimedia Appendix 1

Supplementary material containing detailed descriptions of the exercises, specific anatomic locations of the inertial measurement units (IMUs), the full list of model-specific hyperparameters included in the grid searches, and the confusion matrices of the optimized models.

[DOCX File, 9010 KB - rehab\_v9i3e38689\_app1.docx]

#### References

- 1. Fatoye F, Gebrye T, Odeyemi I. Real-world incidence and prevalence of low back pain using routinely collected data. Rheumatol Int 2019 Apr;39(4):619-626. [doi: 10.1007/s00296-019-04273-0] [Medline: 30848349]
- Namnaqani FI, Mashabi AS, Yaseen KM, Alshehri MA. The effectiveness of McKenzie method compared to manual therapy for treating chronic low back pain: a systematic review. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2019 Dec 01;19(4):492-499 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>31789300</u>]
- 3. McKenzie R, May S. The Lumbar Spine: Mechanical Diagnosis and Therapy. 2nd edition. Waikanae, New Zealand: Spinal Publications; 2003.
- Mannion AF, Helbling D, Pulkovski N, Sprott H. Spinal segmental stabilisation exercises for chronic low back pain: programme adherence and its influence on clinical outcome. Eur Spine J 2009 Dec;18(12):1881-1891 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00586-009-1093-7] [Medline: 19609785]
- Bazazan A, Dianat I, Feizollahi N, Mombeini Z, Shirazi AM, Castellucci HI. Effect of a posture correction-based intervention on musculoskeletal symptoms and fatigue among control room operators. Appl Ergon 2019 Apr;76:12-19. [doi: 10.1016/j.apergo.2018.11.008] [Medline: <u>30642516</u>]
- Yamin F, Atiq-ur-Rehman, Aziz S, Zeya N, Choughley A. To compare the effectiveness of McKenzie exercises v/s general conditioning exercises in low back pain. Indian J Physiother Occup Ther 2016 Jan;10(1):82. [doi: 10.5958/0973-5674.2016.00018.6]
- 7. McLean SM, Burton M, Bradley L, Littlewood C. Interventions for enhancing adherence with physiotherapy: a systematic review. Man Ther 2010 Dec;15(6):514-521. [doi: 10.1016/j.math.2010.05.012] [Medline: 20630793]
- 8. Argent R, Daly A, Caulfield B. Patient involvement with home-based exercise programs: can connected health interventions influence adherence? JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Mar 01;6(3):e47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8518] [Medline: 29496655]
- Cuenca-Martínez F, Cortés-Amador S, Espí-López GV. Effectiveness of classic physical therapy proposals for chronic non-specific low back pain: a literature review. Phys Ther Res 2018 Mar 20;21(1):16-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1298/ptr.E9937] [Medline: 30050749]
- Zhu ZA, Lu YC, You CH, Chiang CK. Deep learning for sensor-based rehabilitation exercise recognition and evaluation. Sensors (Basel) 2019 Feb 20;19(4):887 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3390/s19040887</u>] [Medline: <u>30791648</u>]
- Huang X, Wang F, Zhang J, Hu Z, Jin J. A posture recognition method based on indoor positioning technology. Sensors (Basel) 2019 Mar 26;19(6):1464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s19061464] [Medline: 30917494]
- 12. Ramanathan M, Yau WY, Teoh EK. Human action recognition with video data: research and evaluation challenges. IEEE Trans Human Mach Syst 2014 Oct;44(5):650-663. [doi: 10.1109/thms.2014.2325871]
- 13. Papi E, Koh WS, McGregor AH. Wearable technology for spine movement assessment: a systematic review. J Biomech 2017 Nov 07;64:186-197 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbiomech.2017.09.037] [Medline: 29102267]

RenderX

- 14. Wang Q, Markopoulos P, Yu B, Chen W, Timmermans A. Interactive wearable systems for upper body rehabilitation: a systematic review. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2017 Mar 11;14(1):20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12984-017-0229-y] [Medline: 28284228]
- 15. O'Reilly M, Caulfield B, Ward T, Johnston W, Doherty C. Wearable inertial sensor systems for lower limb exercise detection and evaluation: a systematic review. Sports Med 2018 May;48(5):1221-1246. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40279-018-0878-4</u>] [Medline: <u>29476427</u>]
- Johnston W, O'Reilly M, Argent R, Caulfield B. Reliability, validity and utility of inertial sensor systems for postural control assessment in sport science and medicine applications: a systematic review. Sports Med 2019 May;49(5):783-818. [doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01095-9] [Medline: <u>30903440</u>]
- Burns DM, Leung N, Hardisty M, Whyne CM, Henry P, McLachlin S. Shoulder physiotherapy exercise recognition: machine learning the inertial signals from a smartwatch. Physiol Meas 2018 Jul 23;39(7):075007. [doi: <u>10.1088/1361-6579/aacfd9</u>] [Medline: <u>29952759</u>]
- Burns D, Boyer P, Razmjou H, Richards R, Whyne C. Adherence patterns and dose response of physiotherapy for rotator cuff pathology: longitudinal cohort study. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2021 Mar 11;8(1):e21374 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21374] [Medline: <u>33704076</u>]
- Boyer P, Burns D, Whyne C. Out-of-distribution detection of human activity recognition with smartwatch inertial sensors. Sensors (Basel) 2021 Mar 01;21(5):1669 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s21051669] [Medline: 33804317]
- 20. MMC MetaMotionC. MBIENTLAB. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/de7xxjsy</u> [accessed 2021-09-13]
- 21. Burns DM, Whyne CM. Seglearn: a python package for learning sequences and time series. J Mach Learn Res 2018;19(83):1-7.
- 22. Pedregosa F, Varoquaux G, Gramfort A, Michel V, Thirion B, Grisel O, et al. Scikit-learn: Machine Learning in Python. Journal of Machine Learning Research 2011;12:2825-2830 [FREE Full text]
- 23. Burns D, Boyer P, Arrowsmith C, Whyne C. Personalized Activity Recognition with Deep Triplet Embeddings. Sensors (Basel) 2022 Jul 13;22(14) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s22145222] [Medline: 35890902]
- 24. Permutation Importance vs Random Forest Feature Importance (MDI). Scikit-learn 0.24.2 documentation. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/msv23wnm</u> [accessed 2021-09-13]
- 25. 4.2. Permutation feature importance. Scikit-learn 0.24.2 documentation. URL: <u>https://scikit-learn.org/stable/modules/</u> permutation\_importance.html [accessed 2021-09-13]
- 26. Rodriguez A, Rabunal JR, Pazos A, Rodriguez Sotillo A, Ezquerra N. Wearable postural control system for low back pain therapy. IEEE Trans Instrum Meas 2021 Feb 10;70:4003510. [doi: 10.1109/tim.2021.3057935]
- Conger SA, Guo J, Fulkerson SM, Pedigo L, Chen H, Bassett DR. Objective assessment of strength training exercises using a wrist-worn accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2016 Sep;48(9):1847-1855. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.0000000000949</u>] [Medline: <u>27054678</u>]
- 28. Ahmadi A, Mitchell E, Destelle F, Gowing M, O'Connor NE, Richter C, et al. Automatic activity classification and movement assessment during a sports training session using wearable inertial sensors. In: Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Wearable and Implantable Body Sensor Networks. 2014 Presented at: BSN '14; June 16-19, 2014; Zurich, Switzerland p. 98-103. [doi: 10.1109/bsn.2014.29]
- 29. Chen KH, Chen PC, Liu KC, Chan CT. Wearable sensor-based rehabilitation exercise assessment for knee osteoarthritis. Sensors (Basel) 2015 Feb 12;15(2):4193-4211 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s150204193] [Medline: 25686308]
- Tunçel O, Altun K, Barshan B. Classifying human leg motions with uniaxial piezoelectric gyroscopes. Sensors (Basel) 2009;9(11):8508-8546 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s91108508] [Medline: 22291521]
- 31. Morris D, Saponas TS, Guillory A, Kelner I. RecoFit: using a wearable sensor to find, recognize, and count repetitive exercises. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2014 Presented at: CHI '14; April 26-May 1, 2014; Toronto, Canada p. 3225-3234. [doi: 10.1145/2556288.2557116]
- 32. Giggins O, Sweeney KT, Caulfield B. The use of inertial sensors for the classification of rehabilitation exercises. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2014;2014:2965-2968. [doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2014.6944245] [Medline: 25570613]
- 33. Giggins OM, Sweeney KT, Caulfield B. Rehabilitation exercise assessment using inertial sensors: a cross-sectional analytical study. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2014 Nov 27;11:158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-11-158] [Medline: 25431092]
- 34. seglearn. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/dmbee/seglearn</u> [accessed 2022-07-27]
- 35. fcn-core. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/dmbee/fcn-core/blob/master/lbp\_cnn.py</u> [accessed 2022-07-27]
- Shoulder Physiotherapy Activity Recognition Data Set. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/dmbee/SPAR-dataset</u> [accessed 2022-07-27]

# Abbreviations

RenderX

**ADL:** activities of daily living **CNN:** convolutional neural network **HAR:** human activity recognition **IMU:** inertial measurement unit

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38689

Alfakir et al

LBP: low back pain ML: machine learning RF: random forest SPARS: Smart Physiotherapy Adherence Recognition System SVM: support vector machine XGB: XGBoost

Edited by T Leung; submitted 25.04.22; peer-reviewed by R Argent, M Kraus; comments to author 30.05.22; revised version received 17.06.22; accepted 25.06.22; published 23.08.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Alfakir A, Arrowsmith C, Burns D, Razmjou H, Hardisty M, Whyne C Detection of Low Back Physiotherapy Exercises With Inertial Sensors and Machine Learning: Algorithm Development and Validation JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e38689 URL: <u>https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38689</u> doi:<u>10.2196/38689</u> PMID:<u>35998014</u>

©Abdalrahman Alfakir, Colin Arrowsmith, David Burns, Helen Razmjou, Michael Hardisty, Cari Whyne. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 23.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Automated Assessment of Balance Rehabilitation Exercises With a Data-Driven Scoring Model: Algorithm Development and Validation Study

Vassilios Tsakanikas<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc, MSc; Dimitris Gatsios<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc, PhD; Athanasios Pardalis<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc, MSc; Kostas M Tsiouris<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc, PhD; Eleni Georga<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc, PhD; Doris-Eva Bamiou<sup>2,3\*</sup>, BSc, MSc, PhD; Marousa Pavlou<sup>4\*</sup>, BSc, MSc, PhD; Christos Nikitas<sup>5\*</sup>, BSc, PhD; Dimitrios Kikidis<sup>5\*</sup>, PhD; Isabelle Walz<sup>6\*</sup>, BSc, MSc; Christoph Maurer<sup>6\*</sup>, PhD; Dimitrios Fotiadis<sup>1,7\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Unit of Medical Technology and Intelligent Information Systems, Department of Materials Science and Engineering, University of Ioannina, Ioannina, Greece

<sup>2</sup>Ear Institute, University College London, London, United Kingdom

<sup>3</sup>Biomedical Research Centre Hearing and Deafness, University College London Hospitals, London, United Kingdom

<sup>4</sup>Centre for Human and Applied Physiological Sciences, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

<sup>5</sup>First Department of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery, Hippokrateio General Hospital, National Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens, Greece

<sup>6</sup>Department of Neurology and Neuroscience, Medical Center - University of Freiburg, Faculty of Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany <sup>7</sup>Biomedical Research Institute, Ioannina, Greece

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Vassilios Tsakanikas, BSc, MSc Unit of Medical Technology and Intelligent Information Systems Department of Materials Science and Engineering University of Ioannina University of Ioannina Campus Ioannina, 45110 Greece Phone: 30 6972745067 Email: <u>vasilistsakanikas@gmail.com</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Balance rehabilitation programs represent the most common treatments for balance disorders. Nonetheless, lack of resources and lack of highly expert physiotherapists are barriers for patients to undergo individualized rehabilitation sessions. Therefore, balance rehabilitation programs are often transferred to the home environment, with a considerable risk of the patient misperforming the exercises or failing to follow the program at all. Holobalance is a persuasive coaching system with the capacity to offer full-scale rehabilitation services at home. Holobalance involves several modules, from rehabilitation program management to augmented reality coach presentation.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to design, implement, test, and evaluate a scoring model for the accurate assessment of balance rehabilitation exercises, based on data-driven techniques.

**Methods:** The data-driven scoring module is based on an extensive data set (approximately 1300 rehabilitation exercise sessions) collected during the Holobalance pilot study. It can be used as a training and testing data set for training machine learning (ML) models, which can infer the scoring components of all physical rehabilitation exercises. In that direction, for creating the data set, 2 independent experts monitored (in the clinic) 19 patients performing 1313 balance rehabilitation exercises and scored their performance based on a predefined scoring rubric. On the collected data, preprocessing, data cleansing, and normalization techniques were applied before deploying feature selection techniques. Finally, a wide set of ML algorithms, like random forests and neural networks, were used to identify the most suitable model for each scoring component.

**Results:** The results of the trained model improved the performance of the scoring module in terms of more accurate assessment of a performed exercise, when compared with a rule-based scoring model deployed at an early phase of the system (k-statistic

RenderX

value of 15.9% for sitting exercises, 20.8% for standing exercises, and 26.8% for walking exercises). Finally, the resulting performance of the model resembled the threshold of the interobserver variability, enabling trustworthy usage of the scoring module in the closed-loop chain of the Holobalance coaching system.

**Conclusions:** The proposed set of ML models can effectively score the balance rehabilitation exercises of the Holobalance system. The models had similar accuracy in terms of Cohen kappa analysis, with interobserver variability, enabling the scoring module to infer the score of an exercise based on the collected signals from sensing devices. More specifically, for sitting exercises, the scoring model had high classification accuracy, ranging from 0.86 to 0.90. Similarly, for standing exercises, the classification accuracy ranged from 0.85 to 0.92, while for walking exercises, it ranged from 0.81 to 0.90.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04053829; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04053829

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e37229) doi:10.2196/37229

#### **KEYWORDS**

balance rehabilitation exercises; scoring model; exercise evaluation; persuasive coaching system

# Introduction

Balance rehabilitation is essential evidence-based treatment for patients with balance disorders, especially when they are at risk of falls [1]. However, it is not feasible or economically affordable to provide patients with in-hospital sessions involving a dedicated clinician for all rehabilitation sessions required [2]. Physiotherapy health services are provided in hospitals or outpatient clinics, with assessment sessions conducted in-person by clinicians, followed by unsupervised rehabilitation sessions in the patients' homes (eg, Otago Exercise Program [3]). Research groups and published reports have shown that more than 90% of all treatments are home based [4]. According to these procedures, patients are asked to report their daily activities related to the instructed exercises and actions at home. Actual progress evaluation is performed during visits to the physician [5]. Low patient motivation and adherence to the appropriate rehabilitation exercise programs have been reported, and these consequently prolong treatment times and impose higher health care costs [6]. While various factors have been identified that contribute to low compliance, lack of continuous feedback is an important factor, and accurate monitoring of patient exercises by medical professionals in a home environment is considered essential [7,8].

A typical home-based rehabilitation exercise program (with no digital tools integrated) is based on a handbook of instructions and directions about the frequency, intensity, and correct performance of physiotherapy exercises [8]. Yet, such programs do not always ensure the full recovery of patients, as compliance rates are low [9]. In turn, activity recognition and evaluation have received increasing attention in the fields of machine learning (ML) and computer vision. Especially during the COVID-19 outbreak, the need for enhancing typical home-based rehabilitation programs with sensing devices and virtual reality interaction has substantially increased [10].

Activity recognition approaches use sensing devices to collect appropriate signals and infer the performed activity. Sensing devices vary in complexity and cost, and include video sensors, inertial measurement units, and pressure sensors. Motion analysis based on video signals explores various representations, like skeleton extraction and space-time volume. While many visual techniques have been used in recent decades, large

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e37229
```

differences in anatomy, human occlusion, and changes in perspectives often limit the capacity of the proposed models to correctly assess the performance of an exercise. Sensing technology (apart from video) has made significant progress during the last decade, especially with low-power devices, wireless communication, high computational capacity, and data processing [11]. Wearable sensors can be integrated in clothes, strips, mobile devices, and smartwatches [12]. It is important to mention that the assessment of balance rehabilitation exercises requires accurate identification of specific movements and kinematics during the execution of the exercise (eg, head movement speed and direction, and chest flexion).

In contrast to the pure recognition of an activity, in rehabilitation programs especially, the evaluation of exercise execution is of paramount importance. This is especially significant for recovery, as it demonstrates whether the patient can perform the prescribed process [13]. During the last few years, several approaches for exercise evaluation have been proposed. In a previous study [14], a smart sensor-based rehabilitation exercise recognition and evaluation system using a deep learning framework was proposed. The main limitation was data synchronization from several sensors related to activity recognition. In similar approaches, the collected data include noise and vary when different people perform the same activity [15]. Furthermore, a state probability transition is proposed to show the transition likelihoods among states to capture the hidden states of sensory data. To test rehabilitation activities, a special matrix has been introduced, and the learned classifier has been used to identify the best features of every class at various levels. The scoring functions are given for the (0-1) range of the output values tested. To train the proposed deep neural networks in rehabilitation, the resulting movement quality scores have been used [16].

A previous study [17] proposed the hidden semi-Markov model for the assessment of rehabilitation exercises. The method extracts clinically related motion features from an RGB-D camera's skeleton and proposes an abstract representation of the subject. The effectiveness of the proposed solution has been assessed by analyzing the correlation between both a clinical evaluation and dynamic time-warping algorithms. Additionally, a previous study [18] proposed the multi-path convolutional neural network (CNN) for the recognition of rehabilitation exercises. The results of the classification accuracy in the

relative experiments showed that a multi-path CNN is highly efficient for sensor data acquisition. In another study [19], a deep learning-based framework for rehabilitation exercise assessment was introduced. The main modules of the system were the calculation of metrics for the quantity of motion output, the scoring of performance assessment functions for numerical motion quality ratings, and deep neural network models for quality regression of input motion through supervised learning. A previous survey [20] suggested sensor-based activity recognition by deep learning. More specifically, the survey [20] presented the recent progress in sensor-based recognition in a deep learning model, where the authors summarized the current literature (deep models and sensory techniques). Finally, a previous paper [21] assessed physical activity recognition and monitoring using Internet of Things and presented a systematic review of existing studies.

The recent development of deep learning allows high-level automated feature extraction to achieve promising performance in numerous areas [22]. Deep learning approaches for sensor-based activity recognition have been widely adopted. Further, deep learning can greatly reduce the strain on features and can acquire much higher and meaningful features by training a neural end-to-end network. Furthermore, the deep network structure facilitates uncontrolled and incremental learning. However, compared with supervised learning approaches, deep learning models require a substantially large amount of data, which are, in general, not available in the physiotherapy domain. Thus, bearing in mind the individualities of the physiotherapy exercises, feature engineering is mandatory for each specific exercise.

In our previous work [23], we have proposed a framework for managing a balance physiotherapy program at home. This framework (Figure 1), which has been designed and developed within the Holobalance project, comprises a holographic virtual coach, presented to the patient through an augmented reality system, a motion sensing platform, and a smart engine, which assesses in real time the exercise performance. Details on the overall architecture of the system can be found elsewhere [24,25]. The technology supporting the virtual coach augmented reality module is described in several studies (eg, [26]), where information regarding augmented reality systems in rehabilitation systems can be found.

Figure 1. Virtual coaching closed-loop interaction. The proposed model is integrated into the "intelligent" module of the virtual coaching system.



The aim of this study was to design, implement, test, and evaluate a scoring model for the accurate assessment of balance rehabilitation exercises, based on data-driven techniques. More specifically, this work presents an improved model for the offline scoring function, which is not based on the knowledge-based model that was used previously [23], but is based on a data-driven model with the capacity to predict with higher accuracy the score of a performed exercise. As it is of paramount importance for a closed-loop persuasive system to correctly evaluate the performance of an exercise, the proposed scoring model is expected to provide more robust and reliable feedback to the overall system's reasoning engine.

# Methods

#### **Ethics Approval**

This study has received institutional ethics approvals in Germany/Freiburg (reference: 265/2019) and Greece/Athens (reference: 9769/24-6-2019).

## **Study Design**

A pilot study with 20 participants was conducted with the aim to collect the appropriate data set to develop the scoring model. After 1 dropout, 19 patients followed an 8-week balance rehabilitation program, according to the protocol described previously [27] at 2 pilot sites. Participants were elderly individuals who had experienced at least one fall during the last year. They were all informed about the context of the study and volunteered to participate, after providing their written consent regarding the willingness to use the Holobalance system in the

Table 1. Study participant details.

Variable Pilot site Total value Athens Freiburg 14 5 19 Participants, n Age (years), median (IQR) 64.5 (15.5) 72.0 (4.0) 68.0 (11.0) Height (cm), median (IQR) 157.5 (11.8) 170.0 (2.0) 160.0 (16.5) Weight (kg), median (IQR) 67.0 (21.5) 69.0 (8.0) 69.0 (21.0) Male gender, % 7.14 40.00 15.79 21.5 (6.0) 21.0 (1.0) 21.0 (5.5) Mini-Balance Evaluation Systems Test score (range<sup>a</sup> 0-28), median (IQR) 21.0 (5.0) 22.0 (3.0) 21.0 (5.5) Functional Gait Assessment score (range<sup>a</sup> 0-30), median (IQR) 27.5 (9.25) 19.0 (8.0) 27.0 (8.5) Falls Efficacy Scale International score (range<sup>a</sup> 16-64), median (IQR) 25.5 (3.75) 27.0 (4.0) 26.0 (4.0) Montreal Cognitive Assessment score (range<sup>a</sup> 0-30), median (IQR) 17.0 (21.0) 17.0 (22.0) 23.0 (24.5) World Health Organization Disability Assessment Schedule score (range<sup>a</sup> 100-0), median (IOR) 76.9 (20.3) 87.5 (15.0) 82.5 (19.9) Activities-Specific Balance Confidence Scale score (range<sup>a</sup> 0-100), median (IQR)

purposes.

<sup>a</sup>For the score range a-b, "a" represents no disability and "b" represents the highest disability.

# Data Set

The participants, following the balance rehabilitation program prescribed by their physicians, performed a set of exercises during 16 sessions (2 sessions per week). During each session, a set of exercises was performed according to the program. The number of exercises per session varied from 3 to 8. Participants were instructed to execute the exercises at a self-paced rate (frequency and velocity of the movements) that would make them feel comfortable, avoiding any symptoms. As the sessions progressed, the aim of the program was to increase these metrics.

The performed exercises (with the relative progression levels for each exercise), which are described in a previous paper [27], were grouped into 9 classes, according to the kinematic characteristics of each exercise. The rehabilitation protocol

included 3 types of exercises (sitting exercises, standing exercises, and walking exercises). More specifically, there were 3 sitting exercises with 3 progression levels (in terms of intensity and complexity), 4 standing exercises with 4 progression levels, and 3 walking exercises with 3 progression levels (Table 2). The exercises were designed under the rationale of progressiveness of difficulty, including both simple and complex tasks, aiming for head-eye-hand coordination through multisensory rehabilitation exercises. As reported previously [29], the system is acceptable by end users and is feasible for use in hospital and home environments.

The data set was collected from April 2020 to June 2021. In total, 1313 exercises were recorded. Table 3 summarizes the collected annotated exercises.



RenderX

While the Holobalance system is designed for home use, it was installed in a clinic setup to test safety and to collect the necessary data. After recruitment of the patients, functional and cognitive assessments were performed based on the Mini-Balance Evaluation Systems Test (MINIBEST), Functional Gait Assessment (FGA), Falls Efficacy Scale International (FES-I), Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA), World Health Organization Disability Assessment Schedule (WHODAS), and Activities-Specific Balance Confidence Scale (ABC), as per the clinical study protocol [27]. It is important to mention that while both the FES-I and ABC attempt to infer similar information about the patient, their outputs are not fully correlated [28]. Demographic data as well as the distribution of the tests are presented in Table 1. According to FGA results, the population of this study had mild cognitive impairment [1].

clinic and to have their data recorded and used for research

Table 2.	Description of the	available re	ehabilitation	exercises	offered	within the	Holobalance	intervention	protocol	(adapted fr	om Liston	et al [27],
which is p	oublished under Cre	eative Comr	nons Attribut	tion 4.0 In	ternation	nal License	e [ <mark>30</mark> ]).					

Exercise type	Exercise description
Sitting 1: Yaw	Perform head rotations of 30 degrees in the yaw plane (ie, left-right) while sitting, aiming at enhancing gaze stability.
Sitting 2: Pitch	Perform head rotations of 30 degrees in the pitch plane (ie, up-down) while sitting, aiming at enhancing gaze stability and improving common vestibular symptoms such as dizziness, swimminess, and light-headedness.
Sitting 3: Bend over	Bend as if to pick up an object off the floor from the sitting position and return to the upright position, aiming at improving functional activities of daily living (ADL) tasks and mitigating vestibular symptoms if provoked through practice.
Standing 1: Maintain balance	Maintain balance while standing up and remain in the proper position, aiming at improving postural alignment and standing ability with a smaller base of support.
Standing 2: Maintain balance on foam	Maintain balance as in standing exercise 1 while standing on a cushion and remain in the proper position, aiming at promoting sensory reweighting.
Standing 3: Bend over and reach up	Bend over bringing the chin to the chest, return the head to the normal upright position on coming up, and reach up while slightly tilting the head back, aiming at improving functional ADL tasks and dizziness.
Standing 4: Turn	On site, turn to face the opposite direction (ie, 180° turn), aiming at improving functional ADL tasks and dizziness.
Walking 1: Walk to horizon	Walk across the room (back and forth) in a straight path while looking at the horizon, aiming at promoting a normal gait pattern. Minimum space of 2 meters.
Walking 2: Walk & yaw	Walk across the room (back and forth) in a straight path while turning the head left and right, aiming at improving gaze stability while walking and functional ADL walking tasks. Minimum space of 2 meters. Yaw movement as in sitting exercise 1.
Walking 3: Walk & pitch/V-shape	Walk across the room (back and forth) in a straight path while turning the head up and down, and with V-shaped movement, aiming at improving gaze stability while walking and functional ADL walking tasks. Minimum space of 2 meters. Yaw and pitch movements as in sitting exercises 1 and 2.

Table 3. Exercises according to the type and progression level (N=1313).

Exercise type	Value, n	Exercise progression
Sitting exercise	514	
Sitting exercises 1 and 2	347	All progression levels
Sitting exercise 3	167	All progression levels
Standing exercise	530	
Standing exercises 1 and 2	312	All progression levels
Standing exercise 3	97	Progression levels 0 and 1 included 46; progression level 2 included 19; progres- sion level 3 included 32
Standing exercise 4	121	All progression levels
Walking exercise	269	
Walking exercise 1	87	All progression levels
Walking exercises 2 and 3	182	All progression levels

During the execution of the exercises, a physiotherapist monitored the patient and scored patient performance using a scoring rubric that included 4 components (frequency, amplitude, velocity, and symmetry) for the sitting and standing exercises and an additional component (gait quality) for the walking exercises. For exercises with complex kinematic characteristics, additional components were considered in the scoring. For example, if an exercise included movement of the head and walking, rubric components for head movement and for gait quality were included in the scoring process.

More specifically, for sitting exercises, frequency referred to the number of head rotations (eg, in the yaw plane for sitting exercise 1) per second, while amplitude referred to the degree

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e37229
```

RenderX

of head turn from the upfront position to the extreme points of the movement. Additionally, velocity referred to the number of seconds a patient needed to perform a movement. This metric differs from frequency, as patients usually paused for some seconds between exercise movements, especially for complex ones like sitting exercise 3.

For each component, a score from 0 to 3 was given, with a score of 0 representing the noncompletion of the exercise. On top of the rubric components, a total score for each exercise was calculated a posteriori as the average of all components (N) of an exercise.



The proposed scoring model infers the score for all the involved components of an exercise, as well as the total score, which is mainly required to provide input to adjacent modules of the persuasive coaching system.

All patients undertook training sessions to get familiarized with the system. In addition, the session physiotherapists provided specific instructions for the correct execution of the exercises to the patients, in terms of timing and kinesiology. As described previously [23], these instructions were used to create the knowledge-based scoring model of the system.

A subset of the data set described in Table 3 was annotated by 2 physiotherapists, who monitored the patients during the execution of the exercises. More specifically, 38 sessions from 4 patients, which included 90 sitting exercises, 78 standing exercises, and 59 walking exercises, were scored by 2 independent evaluators to assess the interobserver variability of the annotation process. This resulted in 665 annotated scores for the different components of the scoring rubric.

#### **Metrics and Analytics**

As presented previously [23], based on a set of sensing devices (Figure 2), the system collected temporal signals and processed

them by extracting specific kinematic metrics, which were translated to exercise analytics. These analytics, along with the knowledge-based scoring model presented previously [23], were used as features in the ML models used to constitute the scoring model. Table 4 summarizes the extracted features, which were used as inputs for the ML models. The build prototype of the home-based system, including all the sensing devices, the head-mounted display, and the processing unit, costs approximately €4800 (US \$4850) (Figure 2).

The knowledge-based exercise score model (kb\_score), mentioned in Table 4, refers to a rule-based model that attempts to assess the performance of an exercise based on the values of the captured motion analytics. More specifically, a group of experts established the acceptable range for each of the motion analytics (eg, 30 degrees for the head movement in sitting exercise 1). Based on these ranges, the knowledge-based model calculates the proportion of time a patient performs within these ranges, as well as how close the patient comes to the optimal range, and outputs the final kb\_score. For assessing balance, sway, and stability, posture and trunk\_sway metrics (Table 4) have been used.

Figure 2. The Holobalance system. (A) Sensor positioning in the Holobalance system. (B) Devices of the Holobalance system. IMU: inertial measurement unit.





**(B)** 



Table 4.	Input	features t	for	training	the	machine	learning	models.
----------	-------	------------	-----	----------	-----	---------	----------	---------

Feature	Description
kb_score	Knowledge-based exercise score as proposed previously [27]
head_movement_speed	Number of head rotations per second (mean and standard deviation) in the yaw and pitch planes
head_movement_range	Range of head rotations (mean and standard deviation) in the yaw and pitch planes
posture	Angle of the torso (sitting and standing)
trunk_sway	Mean and standard deviation of trunk sway
gait_parameters	Center of pressure on both feet (mean distance covered by the center of pressure and standard deviation per gait cycle); double support time (mean value and standard deviation per gait cycle); single support time (mean value and standard deviation per gait cycle); step duration (mean value and standard deviation per gait cycle); stride duration (mean value and standard deviation per gait cycle); cadence (mean value and standard deviation per gait cycle); cadence (mean value and standard deviation per gait cycle); stride duration (mean value and standard deviation per gait cycle); cadence (mean value

#### **Scoring Model**

The proposed data-driven exercise scoring model uses as inputs the analytics described in Table 4 and outputs a scoring vector for each exercise, as presented in Figure 3. More specifically,  $f_i$  refers to the features that describe the motion and movement of a patient during the performance of an exercise, while  $r_i$  refers

gait cycle)

to each one of the evaluation components (frequency, amplitude, velocity, and symmetry), as expressed in each different exercise. Finally, *total score* refers to an overall assessment of the exercise. As the importance of the input features varies for the different exercise categories (Table 3), a separate model for each one of these groups of exercises and progressions has been developed and incorporated in the final scoring model.

Figure 3. The scoring model.



Aiming to identify the most relevant ML model for each rubric component (and for the total score), a set of ML models was assessed for each one of the components. The considered models were k-nearest neighbors (kNN) [31], support vector machines (SVMs) [32] (with both lineal and radial basis function), Gaussian process [33], random forests [34], neural networks [22], naïve Bayes [35], and AdaBoost [36]. These specific models were selected as they have been used in a wide set of similar data-driven problems [37].

For standing exercise 3, it was required to consider different models for different progressions owing to different kinematic characteristics in its progressions. This resulted in relatively small data sets for these cases. For this, the SMOTE (synthetic minority oversampling technique) algorithm [38] was used to oversample the collected instances in order to obtain the necessary data to train the ML models.

The approach followed during the training of the ML models is summarized in Figure 4. More specifically, the first step was to identify data inconsistencies, like missing values, and remove them from the data set. Afterwards, min-max feature normalization was applied, aiming to improve the training process of the ML models. The next step involved an iterative process of training different ML models and evaluating them. For each model, an intermediate step for fine-tuning each parameter was applied, mainly using the grid search approach. Finally, the winning classifier for each model was selected, based on F1-score and receiver operating characteristic analysis results.



#### Tsakanikas et al

Figure 4. Machine learning (ML) model training approach. kNN: k-nearest neighbors; ROC: receiver operating characteristic; SVM: support vector machine.



follows:

#### **Deployment Details: Integration**

The winning classifiers were implemented under Python 3.8, using the scikit-learn 0.24 library. As soon as the system identifies the performed exercise, the appropriate classifier is invoked and the score of the exercise is inferred. This is now part of the Holobalance system, which is currently under evaluation.

# Results

# Overview

Within this section, the results of the training and evaluation of the ML models for each component of the scoring rubric are presented. All models were evaluated by applying a 10-fold cross-validation process and assessing the macro-average accuracy of the models. The training and testing data sets for each fold were created under an 80/20 ratio.

#### **Interobserver Variability**

As already mentioned earlier, almost 17.3% of the recorded exercises were scored by 2 observers to assess the interobserver

using the observed data to calculate the probability of each observer randomly seeing each category. If the raters are in complete agreement, then k=1. If there is no agreement between the raters other than what would be expected by chance (as

given by Pr(e)), then k=0.

From a previous study [40], it can be concluded that the agreement of the observers was "good," allowing the use of the collected data set to train reliable ML models. Figure 5 presents the confusion matrix of the annotation process (please see Multimedia Appendix 1 for more details).

variability of the annotation process. The results of this

procedure are presented in Table 5. The selected evaluation

metric is Cohen kappa coefficient [39], which is calculated as

×

where Pr(a) is the relative observed agreement among raters

and Pr(e) is the hypothetical probability of chance agreement,

Table 5.	Results	of interobserv	er variability p	er exercise type.
----------	---------	----------------	------------------	-------------------

51 51						
Exercise type	k statistic					
All exercises	0.75					
Sitting exercises	0.68					
Standing exercises	0.79					
Walking exercises	0.75					







#### **Classification Results of Each Model**

As mentioned earlier, an ML model for each component of the scoring rubric was trained and evaluated. The results are presented in Table 6, where the macro-average accuracy has been provided, along with the winning classifier for each model. The results below present a set of 40 trained classifiers, which finally constitute the system's scoring model. More detailed results for the classification models are presented in Multimedia Appendix 1.

For the sitting and standing exercises, it can be observed that the Gaussian process is the most relevant classifier, most probably because the number of features was lower compared with that for the walking exercises. Additionally, the low number of input features was correlated with higher accuracy results, which was expected. Thus, the accuracy for sitting exercises 1 and 2 was almost 90%, while that for walking exercises 2 and 3 dropped to slightly higher than 80% (Table 6). Finally, for the total score, the random forest classifier outperformed the rest of the models for 2 exercise subgroups, while kNN and linear SVM outperformed for 1 subgroup.



Exercise type	Macro accuracy/winning classifier								
	Total score	Component 1	Component 2	Component 3	Component 4	Component 5	Component 6		
Sitting 1 and sitting 2	0.90/Gaussian process	0.88/Gaussian process	0.90/kNN <sup>a</sup>	0.89/Gaussian process	N/A <sup>b</sup>	N/A	N/A		
Sitting 3	0.87/Gaussian process	0.86/Neural net- work	0.91/Gaussian process	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Standing 1 and stand- ing 2	0.85/Gaussian process	0.83/Gaussian process	0.86/Gaussian process	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Standing 3 (progres- sions 0-1)	0.91/kNN	0.91/Gaussian process	0.92/Gaussian process	0.89/kNN	0.90/Random forest	N/A	N/A		
Standing 3 (progression 2)	0.87/SVM <sup>c</sup> (lin- ear)	0.89/Gaussian process	0.90/Naïve Bayes	0.88/Random forest	0.91/kNN	N/A	N/A		
Standing 3 (progres- sion 3)	0.91/Random for- est	0.90/AdaBoost	0.88/Neural net- work	0.86/kNN	0.89/kNN	N/A	N/A		
Standing 4	0.92/Gaussian process	0.86/Gaussian process	0.88/Gaussian process	0.80/kNN	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Walking 1	0.90/Random for- est	0.81/Gaussian process	0.85/Random forest	0.92/Random forest	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Walking 2 and walk- ing 3	0.81/kNN	0.74/kNN	0.75/SVM (lin- ear)	0.78/SVM (RBF <sup>d</sup> )	0.71/kNN	0.75/SVM (RBF)	0.75/kNN		

<sup>a</sup>kNN: k-nearest neighbors.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>c</sup>SVM: support vector machine.

<sup>d</sup>RBF: radial basis function.

# **Overall Results: k-Statistic Analysis**

Table 7 presents the overall results of the classification models for each individual exercise and the progression levels. In the same table, comparisons of interobserver variability, and the variability among observer 1 and the trained ML models are provided, which were performed on the testing data sets of each model. In addition, the previously used knowledge-based model [23] was compared with the annotations of the first observer.

Based on the results, the proposed framework's performance was similar to interobserver variability, thus constituting a reliable model for automated scoring of balance physiotherapy exercises. More specifically, the variability for the sitting exercises was almost identical, while there was a drop of 0.02 for the standing exercises. Finally, for the walking exercises, the decrease in the k-statistic was 0.04, which was justified due to the increased complexity of the relative exercises and the increased input features for the classification problems in these specific exercises.

When compared with the knowledge-based scoring model, the improvement in the agreement was substantial (15.9% for sitting exercises, 20.8% for standing exercises, and 26.8% for walking exercises for the k-statistic). This improvement enables the system to effectively deduce the performance of the patient, and thus, the system can not only correctly inform the clinician about the patient's status, but also enable them to design/choose correctly future rehabilitation programs.



Table 7.	Overall	classification	accuracy	and	k-statistic	analysis.
----------	---------	----------------	----------	-----	-------------	-----------

Exe	ercise type	Total score (model)	k statistic (interob- server variability)	k statistic (observer 1 – ML <sup>a</sup> model)	k statistic (observer 1 – knowledge- based model)
Sitting			0.68	0.69	0.58
	Sitting exercises 1 and 2	0.90 (Gaussian process)			
	Sitting exercise 3	0.86 (Gaussian process)			
Standing			0.79	0.77	0.61
	Standing exercises 1 and 2	0.853 (Gaussian process)			
	Standing exercise 3 (progression level 0-1)	0.912 (kNN <sup>b</sup> )			
	Standing exercise 3 (progression level 2)	0.8736 (SVM <sup>c</sup> linear)			
	Standing exercise 3 (progression level 3)	0.905 (random forest)			
	Standing exercise 4	0.918 (Gaussian process)			
Walking			0.75	0.71	0.52
	Walking exercise 1	0.899 (random forest)			
	Walking exercises 2 and 3	0.813 (kNN)			

<sup>a</sup>ML: machine learning.

<sup>b</sup>kNN: k-nearest neighbors.

<sup>c</sup>SVM: support vector machine.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

The proposed set of ML models can effectively score the balance rehabilitation exercises of the Holobalance system. The models had similar accuracy in terms of Cohen kappa analysis, with interobserver variability, enabling the scoring module to infer the score of an exercise based on the collected signals from sensing devices. More specifically, for the sitting exercises, the scoring model had high classification accuracy, ranging from 0.86 to 0.90. Similarly, for the standing exercises, the classification accuracy ranged from 0.85 to 0.92, while for the walking exercises, it ranged from 0.81 to 0.90. From the obtained results, we observed that the lowest classification accuracies were related to the most complex exercises, in terms of required movements. While this result was anticipated, it is interesting that the same exercises also presented the highest interobserver variability, revealing that objectively scoring a complicated exercise is not a trivial task, even for expert physiotherapists. This is clearly reflected by the k-statistic analysis for almost all different exercise types. It is also important to mention that most of the misclassifications involved classes 2 and 3, meaning that poor performance (classes 0 and 1) and adequate performance (classes 2 and 3) can be assessed more accurately, by both the experts and the scoring model.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

The first version of the scoring module was built upon medical knowledge extracted by a group of experts [27]. The main drawback of this model was that it could not capture all possible states of a patient during the execution of a balance rehabilitation exercise. Thus, it failed in various situations to correctly grade the patient. The proposed data-driven model significantly

RenderX

improves the accuracy for the performed exercises, increasing the k-statistic by 0.11 for sitting exercises, 0.16 for standing exercises, and 0.19 for walking exercises. It was noticeable that a more complex exercise was associated with higher improvement.

#### Strengths

The novelty of this work can be summarized in 2 main remarks. First, an annotated data set of sensor signals during the performance of about 1300 exercise sessions from 19 patients, along with the scoring of the exercises from an expert, was created. To the best of our knowledge, no such data set has been reported in the literature. Second, a scoring module, which includes several ML-supervised learning models, was developed and tested. The results clearly indicate that the proposed model appears to have similar predicting capacity considering the interobserver variability of experts who annotated the ground-truth data set.

Within the context of the Holobalance system, the capacity of the scoring module obviously enables correct exercise assessment in a rehabilitation program, as a physician can monitor the performance and progress of a patient and adopt the program accordingly. This assessment has a 2-fold advantage. First, the physiotherapist managing the patient is properly informed about the performance of the patient; thus, the next rehabilitation phases are designed based on objective information, which avoids the bias of self-reported results. Second, the virtual coach interaction with the patient is based on accurate scores, which facilitates realistic interaction with the system. More specifically, the exercise progression module is based on the scores produced by the scoring module to correctly assess whether a patient should progress to the next level of an exercise. As discussed earlier, each exercise is administered at different levels in terms of difficulty, speed,

and repetitions. Hence, the high accuracy of the scoring module enables the proper function of the exercise progression module. Additionally, the scoring module can be used for "red flagging" patients with very low performance and adherence early, thus allowing the physiotherapist to alter the rehabilitation approach. These aspects have a direct impact on the safe and effective execution of rehabilitation programs in home environments.

It is also important to stress that compared with other scoring models (eg, [41] and [42]), the output of the proposed model assesses not the recognition of the performed exercise but the quality of the performance of the exercise, a crucial aspect in the assessment of a rehabilitation program. By providing a high-accuracy exercise assessment model, as the one presented, virtual coaching systems can be equipped with the capacity to interact with patients using personalized context, thus enriching user experience.

Besides the value of a reliable scoring module within a persuasive coaching system like Holobalance, this module can be used independently as a separate module in clinical practice. One of the most important uses is objective baseline assessment of a patient, as it can support clinicians in objectively evaluating the baseline of a patient when performing an exercise during the first clinic visit. Additionally, the analysis for building the scoring module, especially the feature statistics analysis, can contribute to the design of new balance rehabilitation exercises targeting mainly the metrics that appear to have an important contribution to the score of an exercise, while eliminating aspects and kinematics related to metrics of low importance to the model. Furthermore, the scoring module can support patients who require long-term monitoring, especially those with degenerative neurological conditions, such as ataxia or dementia, which require long-term rehabilitation and monitoring for maintenance purposes. Moreover, a reliable scoring and assessment module can facilitate the education of novice physiotherapists and physicians, enabling them to better understand the needs of different clinical populations. Finally, within the research context, the sensor-based information from this model could be used as a biomarker to monitor populations of interest over the long term (such as older adults or patients with cognitive impairments) for the early prediction of the risk of falls and early prediction of cognitive decline.

# Limitations

Regarding the limitations of the proposed model, a major drawback is that the model requires knowledge of the type of exercise to assess the score for the exercise. In other words, the proposed scoring model does not have the capacity to recognize the exercise, limiting its usage to only rehabilitation programs with predefined exercise sets. Additionally, the size of the collected data set did not allow us to test deep learning models, which might show higher classification accuracies.

# **Future Directions**

Regarding the future directions related to the scoring model, we anticipate to incorporate motion recognition algorithms, enabling the module to infer which exercise is performed. This will allow the module to support free-program exercise sessions. Finally, deploying the module to more sites will allow us to extend the exercise data set, which will provide wider validation to the proposed solution and help in the use of deep learning models, if the volume of data is adequate.

# Acknowledgments

This work has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (grant agreement no. 769574).

# **Data Availability**

The data sets generated during or analyzed during this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Additional study results. [DOCX File , 873 KB - rehab\_v9i3e37229\_app1.docx ]

#### References

- Bevilacqua A, Brennan L, Argent R, Caulfield B, Kechadi T. Rehabilitation Exercise Segmentation for Autonomous Biofeedback Systems with ConvFSM. 2019 Presented at: 41st Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC); July 23-27, 2019; Berlin, Germany p. 574-579. [doi: 10.1109/embc.2019.8856428]
- 2. Escalona F, Martinez-Martin E, Cruz E, Cazorla M, Gomez-Donoso F. EVA: EVAluating at-home rehabilitation exercises using augmented reality and low-cost sensors. Virtual Reality 2019 Dec 17;24(4):567-581. [doi: 10.1007/s10055-019-00419-4]
- Shubert TE, Smith M, Goto L, Jiang L, Ory M. Otago exercise program in the United States: Comparison of 2 implementation models. Phys Ther 2017 Feb 01;97(2):187-197. [doi: 10.2522/ptj.20160236] [Medline: 28204770]
- 4. Kertész C. Physiotherapy Exercises Recognition Based on RGB-D Human Skeleton Models. 2013 Presented at: 2013 European Modelling Symposium; November 20-22, 2013; Manchester, UK p. 21-29. [doi: <u>10.1109/ems.2013.4</u>]

- Bonnechère B, Sholukha V, Omelina L, Van Sint Jan S, Jansen B. 3D analysis of upper limbs motion during rehabilitation exercises using the Kinect sensor: Development, laboratory validation and clinical application. Sensors (Basel) 2018 Jul 10;18(7):2216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s18072216] [Medline: 29996533]
- 6. Gu F, Khoshelham K, Valaee S, Shang J, Zhang R. Locomotion activity recognition using stacked denoising autoencoders. IEEE Internet Things J 2018 Jun;5(3):2085-2093. [doi: 10.1109/jiot.2018.2823084]
- Taewoong Um T, Babakeshizadeh V, Kulić D. Exercise motion classification from large-scale wearable sensor data using convolutional neural networks. 2017 Presented at: 2017 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS); September 24-28, 2017; Vancouver, BC, Canada p. 2385-2390. [doi: 10.1109/iros.2017.8206051]
- Khan MH, Helsper J, Boukhers Z, Grzegorzek M. Automatic recognition of movement patterns in the vojta-therapy using RGB-D data. 2016 Presented at: 2016 IEEE International Conference on Image Processing (ICIP); September 25-28, 2016; Phoenix, AZ, USA p. 1235-1239. [doi: 10.1109/icip.2016.7532555]
- Pomeroy V, Aglioti SM, Mark VW, McFarland D, Stinear C, Wolf SL, et al. Neurological principles and rehabilitation of action disorders: rehabilitation interventions. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2011 Jun 25;25(5 Suppl):33S-43S [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1545968311410942] [Medline: 21613536]
- Seron P, Oliveros M, Gutierrez-Arias R, Fuentes-Aspe R, Torres-Castro RC, Merino-Osorio C, et al. Effectiveness of telerehabilitation in physical therapy: A rapid overview. Phys Ther 2021 Jun 01;101(6):pzab053 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzab053] [Medline: <u>33561280</u>]
- Vakanski A, Ferguson JM, Lee S. Metrics for performance evaluation of patient exercises during physical therapy. Int J Phys Med Rehabil 2017 Jun;5(3):403 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4172/2329-9096.1000403] [Medline: 28752104]
- 12. Nweke HF, Teh YW, Al-garadi MA, Alo UR. Deep learning algorithms for human activity recognition using mobile and wearable sensor networks: State of the art and research challenges. Expert Systems with Applications 2018 Sep;105:233-261 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2018.03.056]
- O'Reilly M, Caulfield B, Ward T, Johnston W, Doherty C. Wearable inertial sensor systems for lower limb exercise detection and evaluation: A systematic review. Sports Med 2018 May 24;48(5):1221-1246. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40279-018-0878-4</u>] [Medline: <u>29476427</u>]
- 14. Zhang W, Su C, He C. Rehabilitation exercise recognition and evaluation based on smart sensors with deep learning framework. IEEE Access 2020;8:77561-77571. [doi: 10.1109/access.2020.2989128]
- 15. Fuentes D, Gonzalez-Abril L, Angulo C, Ortega J. Online motion recognition using an accelerometer in a mobile device. Expert Systems with Applications 2012 Feb;39(3):2461-2465. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.eswa.2011.08.098</u>]
- Bavan L, Surmacz K, Beard D, Mellon S, Rees J. Adherence monitoring of rehabilitation exercise with inertial sensors: A clinical validation study. Gait Posture 2019 May;70:211-217. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.gaitpost.2019.03.008</u>] [Medline: <u>30903993</u>]
- Capecci M, Ceravolo MG, Ferracuti F, Iarlori S, Kyrki V, Monteriù A, et al. A Hidden Semi-Markov Model based approach for rehabilitation exercise assessment. J Biomed Inform 2018 Feb;78:1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2017.12.012] [Medline: 29277330]
- Zhu Z, Lu Y, You C, Chiang C. Deep learning for sensor-based rehabilitation exercise recognition and evaluation. Sensors (Basel) 2019 Feb 20;19(4):887 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s19040887] [Medline: 30791648]
- 19. Liao Y, Vakanski A, Xian M. A deep learning framework for assessing physical rehabilitation exercises. IEEE Trans. Neural Syst. Rehabil. Eng 2020 Feb;28(2):468-477. [doi: <u>10.1109/tnsre.2020.2966249</u>]
- 20. Wang J, Chen Y, Hao S, Peng X, Hu L. Deep learning for sensor-based activity recognition: A survey. Pattern Recognition Letters 2019 Mar;119:3-11. [doi: 10.1016/j.patrec.2018.02.010]
- Qi J, Yang P, Waraich A, Deng Z, Zhao Y, Yang Y. Examining sensor-based physical activity recognition and monitoring for healthcare using Internet of Things: A systematic review. J Biomed Inform 2018 Nov;87:138-153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2018.09.002] [Medline: 30267895]
- 22. Abiodun OI, Jantan A, Omolara AE, Dada KV, Mohamed NA, Arshad H. State-of-the-art in artificial neural network applications: A survey. Heliyon 2018 Nov;4(11):e00938 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2018.e00938] [Medline: 30519653]
- 23. Tsakanikas VD, Gatsios D, Dimopoulos D, Pardalis A, Pavlou M, Liston MB, et al. Evaluating the performance of balance physiotherapy exercises using a sensory platform: The basis for a persuasive balance rehabilitation virtual coaching system. Front Digit Health 2020 Nov 27;2:545885 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2020.545885] [Medline: 34713032]
- Kouris I, Sarafidis M, Androutsou T, Koutsouris D. HOLOBALANCE: An Augmented Reality virtual trainer solution forbalance training and fall prevention. 2018 Presented at: 40th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC); July 18-21, 2018; Honolulu, HI, USA p. 4233-4236. [doi: 10.1109/embc.2018.8513357]
- 25. Tsiouris KM, Gatsios D, Tsakanikas V, Pardalis AA, Kouris I, Androutsou T, et al. Designing interoperable telehealth platforms: bridging IoT devices with cloud infrastructures. Enterprise Information Systems 2020 Apr 30;14(8):1194-1218. [doi: 10.1080/17517575.2020.1759146]
- 26. Mostajeran F, Steinicke F, Ariza NO, Gatsios D, Fotiadis D. Augmented Reality for Older Adults: Exploring Acceptability of Virtual Coaches for Home-based Balance Training in an Aging Population. In: CHI '20: Proceedings of the 2020 CHI

RenderX

Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2020 Presented at: 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April 25-30, 2020; Honolulu, HI, USA p. 1-12. [doi: <u>10.1145/3313831.3376565</u>]

- Liston M, Genna G, Maurer C, Kikidis D, Gatsios D, Fotiadis D, et al. Investigating the feasibility and acceptability of the HOLOBalance system compared with standard care in older adults at risk for falls: study protocol for an assessor blinded pilot randomised controlled study. BMJ Open 2021 Feb 12;11(2):e039254 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039254] [Medline: 33579762]
- Morgan MT, Friscia LA, Whitney SL, Furman JM, Sparto PJ. Reliability and validity of the Falls Efficacy Scale-International (FES-I) in individuals with dizziness and imbalance. Otol Neurotol 2013 Aug;34(6):1104-1108 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MAO.0b013e318281df5d] [Medline: 23542134]
- 29. Pardalis AA, Gatsios D, Tsakanikas V, Walz I, Maurer C, Kikidis D, et al. Exploring the Acceptability and Feasibility of Providing a Balance Tele-Rehabilitation Programme to Older Adults at Risk for Falls: An Initial Assessment. 2021 Presented at: 43rd Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine & Biology Society (EMBC); November 01-05, 2021; Mexico p. 6915-6919. [doi: 10.1109/embc46164.2021.9629478]
- 30. Attribution 4.0 International (CC BY 4.0). Creative Commons. URL: <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/</u> [accessed 2022-08-29]
- 31. Guo G, Wang H, Bell D, Bi Y, Greer K. KNN Model-Based Approach in Classification. In: Meersman R, Tari Z, Schmidt DC, editors. On The Move to Meaningful Internet Systems 2003: CoopIS, DOA, and ODBASE. OTM 2003. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 2888. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2003:986-996.
- 32. Pal M, Foody GM. Feature selection for classification of hyperspectral data by SVM. IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sensing 2010 May;48(5):2297-2307. [doi: 10.1109/tgrs.2009.2039484]
- 33. Dudley RM. Sample Functions of the Gaussian Process. In: Giné E, Koltchinskii V, Norvaisa R, editors. Selected Works of R.M. Dudley. Selected Works in Probability and Statistics. New York, NY: Springer; 2010:187-224.
- 34. Qi Y. Random Forest for Bioinformatics. In: Zhang C, Ma Y, editors. Ensemble Machine Learning. Boston, MA: Springer; 2012:307-323.
- 35. Webb GI. Naïve Bayes. In: Sammut C, Webb GI, editors. Encyclopedia of Machine Learning. Boston, MA: Springer; 2011:713-714.
- 36. Schapire RE. Explaining AdaBoost. In: Schölkopf B, Luo Z, Vovk V, editors. Empirical Inference. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2013:37-52.
- 37. Devika R, Avilala SV, Subramaniyaswamy V. Comparative study of classifier for chronic kidney disease prediction using naive bayes, KNN and random forest. 2019 Presented at: 3rd International Conference on Computing Methodologies and Communication (ICCMC); March 27-29, 2019; Erode, India p. 679-684. [doi: 10.1109/iccmc.2019.8819654]
- Fernandez A, Garcia S, Herrera F, Chawla NV. SMOTE for learning from imbalanced data: Progress and challenges, marking the 15-year anniversary. Journal of Artificial Intelligence Research 2018 Apr 20;61:863-905. [doi: <u>10.1613/jair.1.11192</u>]
- 39. Warrens MJ. Five ways to look at Cohen's kappa. J Psychol Psychother 2015;05(04):1. [doi: <u>10.4172/2161-0487.1000197</u>]
- 40. McHugh ML. Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic. Biochem Med (Zagreb) 2012;22(3):276-282 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23092060]
- Burns DM, Leung N, Hardisty M, Whyne CM, Henry P, McLachlin S. Shoulder physiotherapy exercise recognition: machine learning the inertial signals from a smartwatch. Physiol Meas 2018 Jul 23;39(7):075007. [doi: 10.1088/1361-6579/aacfd9] [Medline: 29952759]
- 42. Haghighi Osgouei R, Soulsby D, Bello F. Rehabilitation exergames: Use of motion sensing and machine learning to quantify exercise performance in healthy volunteers. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2020 Aug 18;7(2):e17289 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17289] [Medline: 32808932]

# Abbreviations

ABC: Activities-Specific Balance Confidence Scale
CNN: convolutional neural network
FES-I: Falls Efficacy Scale International
FGA: Functional Gait Assessment
kNN: k-nearest neighbors
ML: machine learning
SVM: support vector machine



Edited by T Leung; submitted 11.02.22; peer-reviewed by A Videira-Silva, T Szturm; comments to author 03.05.22; revised version received 23.05.22; accepted 25.06.22; published 31.08.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Tsakanikas V, Gatsios D, Pardalis A, Tsiouris KM, Georga E, Bamiou DE, Pavlou M, Nikitas C, Kikidis D, Walz I, Maurer C, Fotiadis D Automated Assessment of Balance Rehabilitation Exercises With a Data-Driven Scoring Model: Algorithm Development and Validation Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e37229 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e37229 doi:10.2196/37229

PMID:<u>36044258</u>

©Vassilios Tsakanikas, Dimitris Gatsios, Athanasios Pardalis, Kostas M Tsiouris, Eleni Georga, Doris-Eva Bamiou, Marousa Pavlou, Christos Nikitas, Dimitrios Kikidis, Isabelle Walz, Christoph Maurer, Dimitrios Fotiadis. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 31.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# mHealth Apps for Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation: Systematic Search in App Stores and Content Analysis

Shíofra Ryan<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Noirín Ní Chasaide<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Shane O' Hanrahan<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Darragh Corcoran<sup>1</sup>, BSc; Brian Caulfield<sup>1,2</sup>, BSc, MSc, PhD; Rob Argent<sup>1,2,3</sup>, BSc, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Public Health, Physiotherapy and Sports Science, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

<sup>2</sup>Insight Centre for Data Analytics, University College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland

<sup>3</sup>School of Pharmacy and Biomolecular Sciences, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, University of Medicine and Health Sciences, Dublin, Ireland

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Shíofra Ryan, BSc School of Public Health, Physiotherapy and Sports Science University College Dublin Belfield Dublin Ireland Phone: 353 017162313 Email: shiofra.ryan@insight-centre.org

# Abstract

**Background:** The number of mobile health (mHealth) apps released for musculoskeletal (MSK) injury treatment and self-management with home exercise programs (HEPs) has risen rapidly in recent years as digital health interventions are explored and researched in more detail. As this number grows, it is becoming increasingly difficult for users to navigate the market and select the most appropriate app for their use case. It is also unclear what features the developers of these apps are harnessing to support patient self-management and how they fit into clinical care pathways.

**Objective:** The objective of this study was to scope the current market of mHealth apps for MSK rehabilitation and to report on their features, claims, evidence base, and functionalities.

**Methods:** A cross-sectional study of apps for MSK rehabilitation was performed across the iTunes App Store and Google Play Store. Four search terms were used, namely, physiotherapy rehabilitation, physical therapy rehabilitation, rehabilitation exercise, and therapeutic exercise to identify apps, which were then cross-referenced against set selection criteria by 4 reviewers. Each reviewer, where possible, downloaded the app and accessed supplementary literature available on the product to assist in data extraction.

**Results:** A total of 1322 apps were identified. After applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria and removing duplicates, 144 apps were included in the study. Over half (n=81, 56.3%) of the included apps had been released within the past 3 years. Three quarters (n=107, 74.3%) of the apps made no reference to evidence supporting the design or efficacy of the app, with only 11.1% (n=16) providing direct citations to research. Most of the apps did utilize exercise pictures (n=138, 95.8%) or videos (n=97, 67.4%); however, comparatively few harnessed additional features to encourage engagement and support self-management, such as an adherence log (n=66, 45.8%), communication portal (n=32, 22.2%), patient-reported outcome capture (n=36, 25%), or direct feedback (n=57, 39.6%). Of note and concern, many of these apps prescribed generic exercises (n=93, 64.6%) in the absence of individualized input to the user, with few providing specific patient education (n=43, 34%) and safety advice or disclaimers (n=38, 26.4%).

**Conclusions:** The cohort of apps included in this study contained a large heterogeneity of features, so it is difficult for users to identify the most appropriate or effective app. Many apps are missing the opportunity to offer key features that could promote exercise adherence and encourage self-management in MSK rehabilitation. Furthermore, very few developers currently offering products on the market are providing evidence to support the design and efficacy of their technologies.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e34355) doi:10.2196/34355

# KEYWORDS

RenderX

mHealth; musculoskeletal rehabilitation; app; home exercise program; home exercise; telehealth; mobile health; connected health

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34355

# Introduction

An injury to the musculoskeletal (MSK) system involves damage to 1 or more components of the locomotor system and its associated tissues. These injuries account for the greatest proportion of noncancer persistent pain conditions [1]. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that between 20% and 33% of people across the world live with a painful MSK condition, and it is the highest contributor to global disability, with low back pain the single leading cause of disability worldwide [1,2] The burden of MSK conditions on societal and personal well-being is escalating, resulting in a reduction of quality of life, mental well-being, and function [3]. Additionally, MSK conditions account for 25% of overall costs of illness globally, placing a significant burden on health care resources [4]. Exercise as treatment for MSK conditions is widely accepted [5], with clinical guidelines advocating the promotion of physical activity and the use of exercise programs [6,7].

The prescription of home exercise programs (HEPs) encourages patients to take responsibility and self-manage their condition to mitigate limitations in physical function, a hallmark consequence of MSK conditions [8]. Adherence is considered an important prerequisite for the success of HEPs and has a direct link to improved patient outcomes [9]. However, in a study by Bassett et al [10], nonadherence to HEPs was estimated to be as high as 50%. Therefore, solutions to improve adherence and support self-management are required to optimize the efficacy of MSK treatment [11,12]. It has been suggested that mobile apps and connected health technologies can incorporate design features to maximize adherence, encourage self-management, and bridge the gap between the clinic and home [11,13].

Mobile health (mHealth) is defined by the WHO Global Observatory for eHealth as a "medical and public health practice supported by mobile devices, such as mobile phones, patient monitoring devices, personal digital assistants, and other wireless devices" [14]. The current capabilities and ubiquity of mobile devices make them a valuable tool for improving the delivery of health care services and providing scalable, low-cost interventions [15]. Today, 3.8 billion people worldwide own a smartphone [16], posing an opportunity for health care providers to make health care accessible to a large proportion of the population [17,18]. With this rise in accessibility of mHealth comes a surge in the choices of apps, with at least 318,000 health apps available worldwide [19]. Other areas of health, including diabetes and hypertension management, have reported promising results in favor of the use of apps for improving several clinical, behavioral, knowledge, and psychosocial outcomes [20,21]. With the mHealth app market growing exponentially, the employment of such apps in various clinical contexts correlates with this growth. Clinicians in both cardiac and neurorehabilitation/palliative care adopting mHealth apps into their practices have reported similar, clinically relevant successful outcomes [22,23].

One clear use case that mHealth affords health care professionals is the opportunity to provide interactive and engaging access to self-management programs for MSK rehabilitation,

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34355
```

XSL•FC

incorporating features such as goal setting, coaching, remote monitoring, and exercise tracking [11,24]. Therefore, these systems have the potential to increase self-efficacy, optimize quality of life, and reduce the burden of MSK conditions [25,26]. However, caution must be taken with this opportunity, as there is a need for better standardization and regulation of mHealth apps to ensure proper integration and identification of beneficial and safe apps [27,28]. With over 200 health apps being added to the iOS and Google Play app stores each day [17], the integrity, in terms of quality and safety, of mHealth apps is questionable. Despite the iTunes App Store and Google Play Store categorizing apps (health, well-being), searches on the stores yield millions of results of indeterminate quality [29,30], making the search and selection of health care apps challenging for clinicians and patients alike [31]. There is a large body of qualitative research looking at the potential of mHealth to improve adherence and the role that digital technology can play in exercise rehabilitation [32,33]. However, research examining the current state of mHealth apps for exercise rehabilitation is limited. A recent systematic review found that approximately one-third of the 102 studies included evaluated the clinical efficacy of an intervention, with the remainder assessing the functionality of the app or patient engagement with the app [34]. To our knowledge, there has been no research to date exploring the overall scope of the market.

Given the exponential rise in mHealth apps and the limited research into their effectiveness and acceptance, the aim of this study was to investigate the current state of the mHealth app market targeted at assisting patients with MSK exercise rehabilitation. Recent innovations in health care provision can help improve the delivery and efficacy of physiotherapy to this cohort of patients [35]. The aim of this paper is to scope the current market of mHealth apps for MSK rehabilitation and describe which features exercise rehabilitation apps currently offer, document the accessibility of the app, and explore the evidence supporting each individual app.

# Methods

#### **Study Design**

A cross-sectional study of MSK rehabilitation apps was performed to identify apps from 2 major smartphone app stores: iTunes App Store and Google Play Store, which together represent 98.9% of the smartphone app market share [36]. Building on the approach by Giunti et al [27], a systematic search strategy was developed that attempted to identify all relevant apps, followed by a synthesis of the characteristics of the apps.

#### Setting

On October 28, 2020, 4 reviewers searched both stores from the Republic of Ireland using 4 different search terms: "physiotherapy rehabilitation," "physical therapy rehabilitation," "rehabilitation exercise," and "therapeutic exercise." The iTunes App Store is a digital distribution platform developed and maintained by Apple Inc for mobile apps on iOS with 1.96 million apps available [16]. Google Play store (originally the Android Market) serves as the official app store for the Android operating system and contains over 2.86 million apps [16].

#### **Selection Criteria**

Apps were included if they were available in English, focused on exercise interventions for MSK injuries or general MSK physiotherapy rehabilitation, and were available for use on smartphone devices. Apps that were determined to be general well-being/fitness apps without reference to physiotherapy or rehabilitation were excluded. A full list of inclusion and exclusion criteria can be found in Textbox 1.

Textbox 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria.

#### Inclusion criteria

- Title or description makes reference to musculoskeletal (MSK) physiotherapy/physical therapy rehabilitation
- Title or description makes reference to exercise interventions for specific or general MSK conditions
- Patient-centered app
- Includes exercise prescription

#### **Exclusion criteria**

- Title or description does not make reference to MSK physiotherapy/physical therapy rehabilitation
- Title or description does not make reference to exercise interventions for specific or general MSK conditions
- Description is not written in English
- Duplicates from the same store
- Clinician-focused app
- Women's health apps such as pelvic floor center apps
- General fitness apps with no mention of physiotherapy/physical therapy or MSK conditions

After the search was completed, the resultant apps were screened by 1 of 4 reviewers (authors SR, NNC, SOH, and DC) for eligibility against the inclusion and exclusion criteria. A small random sample (5%) was independently reviewed by 2 reviewers who evaluated the eligibility of the apps against the selection criteria. To assess the clarity of the selection criteria, interrater reliability was assessed using Cohen kappa coefficient. If any conflicts or disagreements arose, the app in question was discussed between the 4 reviewers until they came to an agreement. In line with common practice, different versions of the same app (basic/premium, iOS/Android) were included separately due to version capabilities or store submission processes [37]. A cohort of identical apps from the same developer was classed as "white labeled" by the authors, with the underlying app being identical but branded for different health care providers. During selection, this cohort was represented by 1 randomly selected app per developer from each store.

# **Data Extraction**

All apps included for data extraction were split evenly between the 4 reviewers. The data were extracted from the app description on the stores, screenshots on the stores, and the app website (link provided on app stores). Data extracted on the apps included year of release, developer, charging models, targeted body part, features, and evidence. If information on the app features was unavailable or unclear in the description, screenshots, and website, the app was downloaded to decipher the remaining features. If a reviewer was unsure of any data, a discussion was held between the 4 reviewers until a resolution was reached. A list of parameters that were used for data extraction and a description of each is included in Multimedia Appendix 1.

# Results

#### **App Selection**

A total of 1322 apps (326 iTunes App Store and 996 Google Play Store) were identified using the described search strategy. After screening, a total of 641 apps (246 from iTunes App Store and 395 from Google Play Store) met the inclusion/exclusion criteria. Duplicates were then removed, bringing the total to 343 apps. During data extraction from the apps and their associated websites, a further 36 apps were excluded because further investigation revealed that they did not meet the selection criteria. White-label app duplicates were then removed, resulting in a total of 144 apps for data analysis (40 from iTunes App Store and 104 from Google Play Store). Interrater reliability on data screening was tested by calculating the kappa coefficient, resulting in a value of 0.876. Figure 1 presents the flowchart of the app selection process.



#### Figure 1. Study Flow.



# **App Analysis Results**

#### General Characteristics of Included Apps

The content analysis of the included apps is shown in Table 1. Despite the existence of both app stores since 2008, the past 5 years account for 84% of all app releases, with a notable increase between 2017 and 2019.

The predominant revenue model was a fully cost-free business-to-consumer approach (n=53, 36.8%), with revenue

presumably derived from advertising and marketing. A further 23.6%

(n=34) of apps were free to download but offered in-app purchases. This included paying for additional exercises, exercise progression, or other features such as exercise logging. Many other developers (n=43, 29.9%) have pursued a business-to-business model whereby clinics pay for the platform and then provide it in their service to patients.



XSL•FO RenderX

Table 1. Results of review of apps for musculoskeletal rehabilitation (N=144).

Characteristics	Value, n (%)			
Year of app release				
2006	3 (2.1)			
2008	3 (2.1)			
2012	2 (1.4)			
2013	2 (1.4)			
2014	13 (9.0)			
2015	8 (5.6)			
2016	16 (11.1)			
2017	16 (11.1)			
2018	23 (16.0)			
2019	32 (22.2)			
2020	26 (18.1)			
Charging model type				
Free to download and no in-app purchase	52 (36.8)			
Clinic charged	42 (29.9)			
Free to download with in-app purchase	33 (23.6)			
Download charge for patient	10 (6.9)			
Multiple	3 (2.1)			
Unable to determine	4 (2.7)			
Evidence base				
No research highlighted	107 (74.3)			
References provided to relevant research	16 (11.1)			
Evidence based claims but no reference	21 (14.6)			
Method of exercise prescription				
Generic	93 (64.6)			
Tailored to user requirements	44 (30.6)			
Both	7 (4.7)			
Targeted body part				
Shoulder	6 (4.2)			
Neck and shoulder	2 (1.4)			
Neck	5 (3.5)			
Knee and hip	2 (1.4)			
Knee and back	1 (0.1)			
Knee	21 (14.6)			
Hand and wrist	1 (0.1)			
Hand	3 (2.1)			
Back and neck	2 (1.4)			
Back and knee	1 (0.1)			
Back and hip	1 (0.1)			
Back and core	1 (0.1)			
Back	18 (12.5)			
Ankle	2 (1.4)			

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34355



Ryan	et	al
------	----	----

Characteristics	Value, n (%)			
Tailored	73 (50.7)			
Presence of design enhancing features				
Pictures	138 (95.8)			
Videos	97 (67.4)			
Self-reported log	66 (45.8)			
Adherence reminders	49 (34.0)			
Patient-reported outcomes				
Standardized instruments	21 (14.6)			
Response to targeted questions	2 (1.4)			
Present—unable to determine method	1 (0.1)			
Free text	1 (0.1)			
Multiple	11 (7.6)			
None	108 (75.0)			
Communication features				
Video conferencing	6 (4.2)			
Two-way messaging	8 (5.6)			
Robotic messaging	1 (0.1)			
Messaging—unable to differentiate	2 (1.4)			
Instant messaging	4 (2. 8)			
Multiple sources	11 (7.6)			
None	112 (77.8)			
Feedback to patients				
Automated	5 (3.5)			
Progress tracking	25 (17.4)			
Gamification	5 (3.5)			
Direct feedback from physiotherapist	5 (3.5)			
Multiple	17 (11.8)			
None	87 (60.4)			
Clinical specificity				
Clinic-specific	18 (19.4)			
Public access	116 (80.6)			

Almost three quarters (n=107, 74.3%) of apps made no reference to research or an evidence base for their interventions, nor did they make scientific claims about their apps. Meanwhile, 11.1% (n=16) of the apps did provide research evidence to support the clinical relevance of their platform, marketing claims, or features of the app. The remaining 14.6% (n = 21) of apps made evidence-based claims but failed to reference or supply links to the relevant research.

The majority (n=116, 80.6%) of apps were available to the general population, with the remainder being restricted to a specific clinic and requiring patients to log in to access the features available. Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 shows the general characteristics of the apps.

# Prevalence of Exercise Prescription and Assistance Features

Most (n=93, 64.6%) of the apps used automated exercise prescription to generate a generic HEP, while only 30.6% (n=44) of the apps prescribed exercises selected by a health care professional to the patient post assessment (Table 1). The remaining 4.7% (n=7) utilized both methods of exercise prescription. Just under half (71/144, 49.3%) of the apps only targeted the rehabilitation of a specific body part. The knee (n=21, 14.6%) was the most commonly featured body part, followed by the back (n=18, 12.5%) and shoulder (n=6, 4.2%). The remainder (n=73, 50.7%) of the apps did not target a specific body part or tailor the HEP to the specific needs of the individual patient.

RenderX

Over two-thirds (n=97, 67.4%) of the apps included videos to illustrate the exercise and assist with technique, while the vast majority (n=138, 95.8%) incorporated static pictures in their HEPs. Less than half (n=66, 45.8%) of the apps utilized a self-reported exercise log, although adherence reminders were more frequently used, featuring in 66.7% (n=96) of the apps (Table 1). Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2 shows the exercise prescriptions and assistance features of the apps.

#### **Prevalence of Communication and Feedback Features**

Only 25% (n=36) of the apps offered patient-reported outcome (PRO) features supporting self or remote monitoring. Even fewer (n=32, 22.2%) had any direct personalized communication feature. Less than half (39.6%, n=57) included a feature for feedback from the app to the patient. Only 34% (n=49) contained patient education on their app, with fewer (n=38, 26.4%) featuring any safety advice or warnings.

In the apps containing PROs, standardized instruments like a visual analogue scale or a Likert scale (n=21, 14.6%) were the most common. Only 1.4% (n=2) included specific questions for the patient to respond to, and 0.7% (n=1) included free-text boxes for the patients. Meanwhile, 7.6% (n=11) used more than 1 of these features. It was not possible to determine whether PRO features were used in 0.7% (n=1) of the included apps.

The most common (5.6%, n=8) communication feature was 2-way text messaging between health care professionals and patients (Table 1), followed by video conferencing (n=6, 4.2%), instant messaging (n=4, 2.8%), and robotic automated messages (n=1 0.7%). More than 1 type of communication feature was seen in 7.6% (n=11) of the apps. In 1.4% (n=2) of the apps, it was not possible to identify which communication features were present or if there were any at all.

Of the apps that did include a feature to enable feedback to the patient, progress tracking was the most prevalent (n=25, 17.4%). This is where the patient could track the exercises or workouts they had completed on a calendar. Gamification was utilized in 3.5% (n=5) of the apps, where awards or badges were given. The same percentage of apps supplied direct feedback on progress from the health care provider and included automated feedback, meaning they would receive feedback on their progress through automated messages or emails. Overall, 11.8% (n=17) of the apps included 1 or more of the above feedback-supporting features. Table S2 in Multimedia Appendix 2 shows the additional features of the apps.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

The sheer volume of mHealth apps available for exercise rehabilitation proves the popularity and prospects of technology in physical medicine. Yet, the acceptance of mHealth apps into routine clinical practice lags behind [38], as clinicians struggle to identify and select appropriate evidence-based apps. This study is the first to complete an in-depth analysis of exercise rehabilitation apps to help elucidate the state of the mHealth app market and investigate the relevance, design, and accessibility of the apps currently available in the iTunes and Google app stores. Despite the prevalence of these apps, many

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34355
```

fail to offer individualized HEPs or harness design features available in mHealth systems to encourage self-management and adherence [11,39]. Going forward, app developers should focus on the inclusion of features that can be specific and customized to the end user for the capabilities of mHealth to be capitalized upon in rehabilitative medicine.

This study reveals a lack of evidence supporting the use of these apps, with only 11.1% (n=16) providing supporting research in their marketing material. Perhaps most concerning is the 14.6% (n=21) of apps that make claims relating to being evidence based but fail to cite any research; the absence of accessible evidence in any of the marketing material makes it difficult to appraise each offering. This might explain why most physiotherapists report only using apps for administrative purposes and not routinely recommending them to support patients' HEPs in MSK rehabilitation [40]. Health care professionals must feel confident in the evidence base supporting the app to enhance their clinical judgement in their app selection and encourage adoption [41]. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), in collaboration with the National Health Service (NHS) in the United Kingdom, recently published an Evidence Standards Framework for digital and care technologies [42]. This framework contains a comprehensive list of evidence criteria required for such technologies to be adopted into the UK health system, including both minimum and best practice standards. Such frameworks create an awareness among developers, clinicians, and end users of the various types of evidence required for the effective development and implementation of technology in health care.

Communication is a cornerstone of the patient-physiotherapist relationship; a discrepancy in this alliance is a decisive indicator of nonadherence to HEPs, with poor physician communication increasing the risk of nonadherence by up to 19% [43]. Digital health technologies have a variety of communication methods to employ, from telehealth consultations (offered by only 6 of the included apps) to real-time messaging platforms, such as SMS text messaging, emails, or instant messaging (15 apps). The incorporation of such features may encourage the uptake of mHealth apps by clinicians and deviate patients from the more generic "back pain" or "shoulder pain" apps that provide automated programs in the absence of clinician input. The findings from this study are consistent with other research, as physiotherapists expressed concerns about app quality, patient safety, and knowledge base of mHealth apps [38]. A good HEP considers the individual it aims to help, which is fundamental to positively impacting adherence [44]. The literature makes a clear stance in favor of frequent and clear 2-way communication between the therapist and the patient [45], yet less than a quarter of the apps included in this study facilitated communication between the therapist and the patient.

Facilitating 2-way feedback (patient to clinician and clinician to patient), although challenging, is key to ensure that the clinician is readily equipped with data that can improve clinical decision making [11]. Consumer adoption of digital technology presents an opportunity to continuously capture feedback from patients through clinically approved PROs [46]. A variety of PROs, including standardized instruments, have been developed and validated to use as part of patient management [47], and

XSL•FO RenderX
such features improve communication and enhance clinical decision making [48]. Standardized PROs were featured in less than 15% (n=21) of the apps in this study, something that potentially contradicts the purpose of these "patient-centered" apps. Equally, the delivery of feedback to patients provides an opportunity for the therapist to reassure and educate the patient. The information a patient receives and the beliefs they hold about their condition influence their decision making and thus their adherence [49]. App developers may potentially be adopting the rationale that the inclusion of communication and feedback features may raise concerns regarding patient data security and privacy, with unencrypted communication and third-party data hosting common in general apps in the Google Play Store [50]. Numerous studies have identified the increasing amount of sensitive data handled by mHealth apps as new developments in the industry emerge [51], and this poses challenges to developers and regulators alike.

The idea of using an app in exercise rehabilitation is not to replace the therapist but rather to be seen as a facilitator [52]. mHealth apps have the capacity to send adherence reminders and notifications directly to the device, but the results of this study indicate that this is an area that developers are slow to take advantage of, with just over one-third of the apps featuring adherence reminders. Technology has the potential to affect the outcomes of HEPs by improving the accuracy, adherence, and quality of exercises performed by the patient through multimedia versions of a program (pictures and videos). The inclusion of pictures in a HEP is common in clinical practice [53], although providing patients with videos is slightly more difficult without the use of an app. Remarkably, one-third of the apps failed to incorporate videos into their HEPs [54]. The significant absence of these features, which have shown to increase levels of patient adherence [55], is an area we identified as an underutilization of the resources offered by mHealth apps.

Health care apps have become an industry in themselves for developers, investors, and health care professionals alike [56]. The findings in this study suggest that for these apps to be used in routine MSK practice, greater efforts need to be made by app developers to engage with academic research and stakeholders. Both health care providers and organizations have quality and validity concerns when it comes to choosing an app to recommend [57]. The absence of features proven to enhance adherence to HEPs, along with no real-time clinician input, leads to the information provided on these apps remaining static [27]. The findings in this study are consistent with those of apps to improve a patient's adherence to medications, with the majority lacking desirable features and considered to be of low quality [58]. There is a wide selection of tools to assess the quality of health-related websites; however, the same cannot be said when it comes to assessing and evaluating mHealth apps [57]. The Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS) is a tool for classifying and assessing the quality of mobile health apps. Further work should look at developing similar tools with a specific relevance to certain areas of health care such as rehabilitation [59]. It would be beneficial for future work to offer stakeholders an informative repository evaluating mHealth apps.

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34355

XSL•FC

It was beyond the scope of this study to obtain access to the cohort of apps requiring payment to download or private subscriptions. In such cases, data extraction was completed via the app store through analysis of the available screenshots and developer websites. Where evidence of a feature could not be found using this method, it was stated that the feature was absent for this app. As highlighted by Giunti et al [27], while it is possible that an app's features may only be disclosed to registered app users, this seems unlikely to be a common occurrence as the app store's description and screenshots serve as major selling points to potential users.

Only apps available in the Republic of Ireland were included in this study. Hence, it is possible that there exists a cohort of eligible apps that have not been included due to geographical limitations. We also decided to exclude white labeled apps. Apps were considered to be white labeled if they were identified as identically structured apps provided by a single developer to multiple different companies. Given that the only discrepancy identified was in accessibility (customers must be linked to the specific private practice or company selling the app to gain access), we felt that the inclusion of such apps would provide a less relevant data set with heavily skewed results. These limitations aside, the data set reported upon reflects the most accurate depiction of the currently available apps for MSK rehabilitation across the 2 major app stores.

It is not surprising that as the capabilities of technology in health care grow, the number of apps coming onto the mHealth app market correlates. Just under 85% (n=122) of the apps that met the inclusion criteria were released into the respective app stores from 2015. The change in outpatient service delivery from traditional face-to-face patient contact to remote management has accelerated rapidly in response to the COVID-19 pandemic [60]. This shift toward technology was reflected in our findings, with 18% (26 apps) of the apps coming to the market in 2020. The pandemic has provided an opportunity for clinicians to embrace innovation and redesign their services to enhance their efficacy beyond the immediate crisis [61-63]. With the rapid proliferation of apps being brought to the market, the findings of this review highlight an opportunity is not being embraced to its full extent. Further research is required to investigate which digital health care features have a meaningful effect on adherence to HEPs. A framework to guide clinician and patient selection of mHealth apps in MSK rehabilitation could help navigate through the overwhelming number of apps available in the respective stores.

#### Conclusions

This study analyzed a large number of MSK rehabilitation apps available to consumers. Most of the apps were designed to provide HEPs and empower patients with the aim of improving adherence to HEPs and bridging the gap between the clinic and home. With the emerging capabilities and developments of mHealth, the use of apps in clinical practice is becoming more widely accepted. However, this study identified several missed opportunities by app developers to offer key features that promote adherence and self-management. There was a significant absence of properly cited sourced material or references in the apps included in this study. With the

capabilities of mHealth underutilized in physical medicine, this review raises questions about the efficacy and quality of MSK rehabilitation apps, indicating that the current ecosystem of mHealth apps available do not lend well to evidence-based clinical practice. The paucity of evidence in this field reiterates the need for high-quality research and presents an opportunity to all stakeholders involved to develop and enhance these patient-facing apps to further bridge the gap between the clinic and the home.

## Acknowledgments

This project was partly funded by Science Foundation Ireland (12/RC/2289\_P2).

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Featured descriptors. [DOCX File, 17 KB - rehab\_v9i3e34355\_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Additional features. [DOCX File, 16 KB - rehab\_v9i3e34355\_app2.docx ]

## References

- 1. Briggs AM, Woolf AD, Dreinhöfer K, Homb N, Hoy DG, Kopansky-Giles D, et al. Reducing the global burden of musculoskeletal conditions. Bull World Health Organ 2018 Apr 12;96(5):366-368. [doi: 10.2471/blt.17.204891]
- James S, Abate D, Abate K, Abay S, Abbafati C, Abbasi N, et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet 2018;392:1789-1858. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32279-7] [Medline: 30496104]
- 3. The burden of musculoskeletal disorders on Americans opportunities for action. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.boneandjointburden.org/docs/BMUSExecutiveSummary2016.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-23]
- Walsh NE, Brooks P, Hazes JM, Walsh RM, Dreinhöfer K, Woolf AD, BoneJoint Decade Task Force for Standards of Care for AcuteChronic Musculoskeletal Pain. Standards of care for acute and chronic musculoskeletal pain: the Bone and Joint Decade (2000-2010). Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2008 Sep;89(9):1830-1845. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apmr.2008.04.009</u>] [Medline: <u>18760171</u>]
- Lewis R, Gómez Álvarez CB, Rayman M, Lanham-New S, Woolf A, Mobasheri A. Strategies for optimising musculoskeletal health in the 21 century. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2019 Apr 11;20(1):164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12891-019-2510-7] [Medline: 30971232]
- Sallis R, Franklin B, Joy L, Ross R, Sabgir D, Stone J. Strategies for promoting physical activity in clinical practice. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2015 Jan;57(4):375-386. [doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2014.10.003] [Medline: 25459975]
- Fernandes L, Hagen KB, Bijlsma JW, Andreassen O, Christensen P, Conaghan PG, European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR). EULAR recommendations for the non-pharmacological core management of hip and knee osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 2013 Jul 19;72(7):1125-1135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202745] [Medline: 23595142]
- Hagen KB, Dagfinrud H, Moe RH, Østerås N, Kjeken I, Grotle M, et al. Exercise therapy for bone and muscle health: an overview of systematic reviews. BMC Med 2012 Dec 19;10(1):167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-10-167] [Medline: 23253613]
- Beinart NA, Goodchild CE, Weinman JA, Ayis S, Godfrey EL. Individual and intervention-related factors associated with adherence to home exercise in chronic low back pain: a systematic review. Spine J 2013 Dec;13(12):1940-1950. [doi: 10.1016/j.spinee.2013.08.027] [Medline: 24169445]
- 10. Bassett S. Measuring patient adherence to physiotherapy. J Nov Physiother 2012;02(07). [doi: 10.4172/2165-7025.1000e124]
- Argent R, Daly A, Caulfield B. Patient involvement with home-based exercise programs: can connected health interventions influence adherence? JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Mar 01;6(3):e47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8518] [Medline: 29496655]
- 12. Lambert TE, Harvey LA, Avdalis C, Chen LW, Jeyalingam S, Pratt CA, et al. An app with remote support achieves better adherence to home exercise programs than paper handouts in people with musculoskeletal conditions: a randomised trial. J Physiother 2017 Jul;63(3):161-167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2017.05.015] [Medline: 28662834]
- 13. Aitken D, Buchbinder R, Jones G, Winzenberg T. Interventions to improve adherence to exercise for chronic musculoskeletal pain in adults. Aust Fam Physician 2015;44(1-2):39-42 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25688958]

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34355
```

- 14. 58th World Health Assembly. Resolution WHA58.: World Health Organization URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_files/WHA58-REC1/english/A58\_2005\_REC1-en.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-14]
- Free C, Phillips G, Watson L, Galli L, Felix L, Edwards P, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technologies to improve health care service delivery processes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med 2013 Jan;10(1):e1001363 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001363] [Medline: 23458994]
- 16. Internet usage worldwide. Statista. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/topics/1145/internet-usage-worldwide/</u> [accessed 2020-11-03]
- 17. Deloitte's 2019 global mobile consumer survey. Deloitte. 2019. URL: <u>https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/industry/</u> telecommunications/global-mobile-consumer-survey-2019.html [accessed 2020-11-05]
- Wallace S, Clark M, White J. 'It's on my iPhone': attitudes to the use of mobile computing devices in medical education, a mixed-methods study. BMJ Open 2012 Aug 24;2(4):e001099 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001099] [Medline: 22923627]
- 19. The growing value of digital health in the United Kingdom. IQVIA. URL: <u>https://www.iqvia.com/insights/the-iqvia-institute/</u> reports/the-growing-value-of-digital-health [accessed 2020-11-08]
- 20. Cotter AP, Durant N, Agne AA, Cherrington AL. Internet interventions to support lifestyle modification for diabetes management: a systematic review of the evidence. J Diabetes Complicat 2014 Mar;28(2):243-251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2013.07.003] [Medline: 24332469]
- 21. Liu K, Xie Z, Or CK. Effectiveness of mobile app-assisted self-care interventions for improving patient outcomes in type 2 diabetes and/or hypertension: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Aug 4;8(8):e15779. [doi: 10.2196/15779]
- 22. Worringham C, Rojek A, Stewart I. Development and feasibility of a smartphone, ECG and GPS based system for remotely monitoring exercise in cardiac rehabilitation. PLoS One 2011 Feb 09;6(2):e14669 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0014669] [Medline: 21347403]
- 23. Bienfait F, Petit M, Pardenaud R, Guineberteau C, Pignon A. Applying m-health to palliative care: a systematic review on the use of m-health in monitoring patients with chronic diseases and its transposition in palliative care. Am J Hosp Palliat Care 2020 Jul 27;37(7):549-564. [doi: 10.1177/1049909119885655] [Medline: 31773969]
- 24. Wykes T, Schueller S. Why reviewing apps is not enough: transparency for trust (T4T) principles of responsible health app marketplaces. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 02;21(5):e12390. [doi: <u>10.2196/12390</u>] [Medline: <u>31045497</u>]
- 25. Keogh E, Rosser B, Eccleston C. e-Health and chronic pain management: current status and developments. Pain 2010 Oct;151(1):18-21. [doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2010.07.014] [Medline: 20674174]
- 26. Brosseau L, Wells G, Brooks-Lineker S, Bennell K, Sherrington C, Briggs A, et al. Internet-based implementation of non-pharmacological interventions of the "people getting a grip on arthritis" educational program: an international online knowledge translation randomized controlled trial design protocol. JMIR Res Protoc 2015 Feb 03;4(1):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.3572] [Medline: 25648515]
- Giunti G, Giunta D, Guisado-Fernandez E, Bender J, Fernandez-Luque L. A biopsy of breast cancer mobile applications: state of the practice review. Int J Med Inform 2018 Feb;110:1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.10.022] [Medline: 29331247]
- 28. Ventola CL. Mobile devices and apps for health care professionals: uses and benefits. P T 2014 May;39(5):356-364 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 24883008]
- 29. Paglialonga A, Lugo A, Santoro E. An overview on the emerging area of identification, characterization, and assessment of health apps. J Biomed Inform 2018 Jul;83:97-102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2018.05.017] [Medline: 29852318]
- Gan SK, Koshy C, Nguyen P, Haw Y. An overview of clinically and healthcare related apps in Google and Apple app stores: connecting patients, drugs, and clinicians. Sci Phone Appl Mob Devices 2016 Jul 19;2(1). [doi: 10.1186/s41070-016-0012-7]
- Baxter C, Carroll J, Keogh B, Vandelanotte C. Assessment of mobile health apps using built-in smartphone sensors for diagnosis and treatment: systematic survey of apps listed in international curated health app libraries. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Feb 03;8(2):e16741 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16741] [Medline: 32012102]
- 32. Brennan L, Kessie T, Caulfield B. Patient experiences of rehabilitation and the potential for an mhealth system with biofeedback after breast cancer surgery: qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jul 29;8(7):e19721 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19721] [Medline: 32687476]
- Xu L, Li F, Zhou C, Li J, Hong C, Tong Q. The effect of mobile applications for improving adherence in cardiac rehabilitation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2019 Jul 12;19(1):166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12872-019-1149-5] [Medline: 31299903]
- 34. Nussbaum R, Kelly C, Quinby E, Mac A, Parmanto B, Dicianno BE. Systematic review of mobile health applications in rehabilitation. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2019 Jan;100(1):115-127. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.apmr.2018.07.439</u>] [Medline: <u>30171827</u>]
- 35. Hurley M, Bearne LM. Physiotherapy for musculoskeletal conditions: more difficult than rocket science. Future Rheumatology 2007 Apr;2(2):185-192. [doi: 10.2217/17460816.2.2.185]

- 36. 36 TSP. Global mobile OS market share in sales to end users from 1st quarter 2009 to 1st quarter 2018. Statista. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/266219/global-smartphone-sales-since-1st-quarter-2009-by-operating-system/</u> [accessed 2020-11-09]
- 37. Bender JL, Yue RYK, To MJ, Deacken L, Jadad AR. A lot of action, but not in the right direction: systematic review and content analysis of smartphone applications for the prevention, detection, and management of cancer. J Med Internet Res 2013 Dec;15(12):e287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2661] [Medline: 24366061]
- Gordon WJ, Landman A, Zhang H, Bates DW. Beyond validation: getting health apps into clinical practice. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0212-z] [Medline: 32047860]
- 39. Beatty AL, Fukuoka Y, Whooley MA. Using mobile technology for cardiac rehabilitation: a review and framework for development and evaluation. JAHA 2013 Nov 18;2(6):e000568-e000568. [doi: 10.1161/jaha.113.000568]
- 40. Rowe M, Sauls B. The use of smartphone apps in clinical practice: A survey of South African physiotherapists. S Afr J Physiother 2020 Apr 20;76(1):1327 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4102/sajp.v76i1.1327] [Medline: 32391442]
- 41. Berkowitz CM, Zullig LL, Koontz BF, Smith SK. Prescribing an app? Oncology providers' views on mobile health apps for cancer care. JCO Clin Cancer Inform 2017 Nov(1):1-7. [doi: <u>10.1200/CCI.17.00107</u>] [Medline: <u>29113731</u>]
- Unsworth H, Dillon B, Collinson L, Powell H, Salmon M, Oladapo T, et al. The NICE Evidence Standards Framework for digital health and care technologies - Developing and maintaining an innovative evidence framework with global impact. Digit Health 2021 Jun 24;7:20552076211018617 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/20552076211018617] [Medline: 34249371]
- 43. Zolnierek KBH, Dimatteo MR. Physician communication and patient adherence to treatment: a meta-analysis. Med Care 2009 Aug;47(8):826-834 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e31819a5acc] [Medline: 19584762]
- 44. Brewer BW, Cornelius AE, Van Raalte JL, Tennen H, Armeli S. Predictors of adherence to home rehabilitation exercises following anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Rehabil Psychol 2013 Feb;58(1):64-72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0031297] [Medline: 23438001]
- 45. Hall AM, Ferreira P, Maher C, Latimer J, Ferreira ML. The influence of the therapist-patient relationship on treatment outcome in physical rehabilitation: a systematic review. Phys Ther 2010 Aug;90(8):1099-1110. [doi: 10.2522/ptj.20090245] [Medline: 20576715]
- 46. Martin SS, Feldman DI, Blumenthal RS, Jones SR, Post WS, McKibben RA, et al. mActive: a randomized clinical trial of an automated mhealth intervention for physical activity promotion. J Am Heart Assoc 2015 Nov 09;4(11) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002239] [Medline: 26553211]
- 47. Dobrozsi S, Panepinto J. Patient-reported outcomes in clinical practice. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program 2015;2015:501-506. [doi: <u>10.1182/asheducation-2015.1.501</u>] [Medline: <u>26637765</u>]
- 48. Velikova G, Booth L, Smith AB, Brown PM, Lynch P, Brown JM, et al. Measuring quality of life in routine oncology practice improves communication and patient well-being: a randomized controlled trial. JCO 2004 Feb 15;22(4):714-724. [doi: 10.1200/jco.2004.06.078]
- 49. Taylor AH, May S. Threat and coping appraisal as determinants of compliance with sports injury rehabilitation: an application of Protection Motivation Theory. J Sports Sci 1996 Dec;14(6):471-482. [doi: 10.1080/02640419608727734] [Medline: 8981286]
- 50. He D, Naveed M, Gunter C, Nahrstedt K. Security concerns in Android mHealth apps. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2014;2014:645-654 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25954370]
- Mosa ASM, Yoo I, Sheets L. A systematic review of healthcare applications for smartphones. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2012;12:67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-12-67] [Medline: 22781312]
- Park S, Han KS, Kang C. Effects of exercise programs on depressive symptoms, quality of life, and self-esteem in older people: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Appl Nurs Res 2014 Nov;27(4):219-226. [doi: 10.1016/j.apnr.2014.01.004] [Medline: 24602398]
- 53. Room J, Hannink E, Dawes H, Barker K. What interventions are used to improve exercise adherence in older people and what behavioural techniques are they based on? A systematic review. BMJ Open 2017 Dec 14;7(12):e019221 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019221] [Medline: 29247111]
- 54. Peek K, Sanson-Fisher R, Mackenzie L, Carey M. Interventions to aid patient adherence to physiotherapist prescribed self-management strategies: a systematic review. Physiotherapy 2016 Jun;102(2):127-135. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.physio.2015.10.003</u>] [Medline: <u>26821954</u>]
- 55. Park LG, Elnaggar A, Lee SJ, Merek S, Hoffmann TJ, Von Oppenfeld J, et al. Mobile health intervention promoting physical activity in adults post cardiac rehabilitation: pilot randomized controlled trial. JMIR Form Res 2021 Apr 16;5(4):e20468 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20468] [Medline: 33861204]
- 56. mHealth app economics 2017. Research 2 Guidance. URL: <u>https://research2guidance.com/product/</u> <u>connectivity-in-digital-health/</u> [accessed 2020-10-15]
- 57. Nouri R, R Niakan Kalhori S, Ghazisaeedi M, Marchand G, Yasini M. Criteria for assessing the quality of mHealth apps: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2018 Aug 01;25(8):1089-1098 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocy050] [Medline: 29788283]

- Santo K, Richtering SS, Chalmers J, Thiagalingam A, Chow CK, Redfern J. Mobile phone apps to improve medication adherence: a systematic stepwise process to identify high-quality apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Dec 02;4(4):e132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6742] [Medline: 27913373]
- Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Mar;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- 60. Peek N, Sujan M, Scott P. Digital health and care in pandemic times: impact of COVID-19. BMJ Health Care Inform 2020 Jun 21;27(1):e100166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjhci-2020-100166] [Medline: 32565418]
- Lonergan PE, Washington Iii SL, Branagan L, Gleason N, Pruthi RS, Carroll PR, et al. Rapid utilization of telehealth in a comprehensive cancer center as a response to COVID-19. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19322] [Medline: 32568721]
- 62. Petracca F, Ciani O, Cucciniello M, Tarricone R. Harnessing digital health technologies during and after the COVID-19 pandemic: context matters. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 30;22(12):e21815 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21815] [Medline: 33351777]
- 63. Eccleston C, Blyth FM, Dear BF, Fisher EA, Keefe FJ, Lynch ME, et al. Managing patients with chronic pain during the COVID-19 outbreak. Pain 2020;161(5):889-893. [doi: <u>10.1097/j.pain.00000000001885</u>]

## Abbreviations

HEP: home exercise program
MARS: Mobile App Rating Scale
mHealth: mobile health
MSK: musculoskeletal
NHS: National Health Service
NICE: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
PRO: patient-reported outcome
WHO: World Health Organization

Edited by T Leung; submitted 19.10.21; peer-reviewed by V Strotbaum, A Mirkhani; comments to author 11.12.21; revised version received 30.03.22; accepted 26.04.22; published 01.08.22.

Please cite as:

Ryan S, Ní Chasaide N, O' Hanrahan S, Corcoran D, Caulfield B, Argent R mHealth Apps for Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation: Systematic Search in App Stores and Content Analysis JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e34355 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e34355 doi:10.2196/34355 PMID:35916688

©Shíofra Ryan, Noirín Ní Chasaide, Shane O' Hanrahan, Darragh Corcoran, Brian Caulfield, Rob Argent. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 01.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Review**

# Real-Time Telerehabilitation in Older Adults With Musculoskeletal Conditions: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis

Nathaphon Jirasakulsuk<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc; Pattaridaporn Saengpromma<sup>1\*</sup>, BSc; Santhanee Khruakhorn<sup>1</sup>, PhD

Department of Physical Therapy, Faculty of Allied Health Sciences, Thammasat University, Pathum Thani, Thailand <sup>\*</sup>these authors contributed equally

**Corresponding Author:** Santhanee Khruakhorn, PhD Department of Physical Therapy Faculty of Allied Health Sciences Thammasat University 99 Moo.18 Phahonyothin Road Khlong Nueng, Khlong Luang Pathum Thani, 12120 Thailand Phone: 66 0 2986 9213 9 ext 7231 Fax: 66 0 2516 5379 Email: santhanee.k@allied.tu.ac.th

# Abstract

**Background:** Real-time telerehabilitation (TR) is a new strategy for delivering rehabilitation interventions to older adults with musculoskeletal conditions, to provide continuity to conventional services and mitigate travel-related barriers.

**Objective:** We aimed to examine the effectiveness of treatment delivered via real-time TR services compared to conventional services among older adults with musculoskeletal conditions, in terms of physical performance, treatment adherence, and cost-effectiveness.

**Methods:** A literature search of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) published from January 2000 to April 2022 was conducted in six online databases: Cochrane Library, PubMed (ie, MEDLINE), PEDro, ClinicalKey, EBSCO, and ProQuest. The main eligibility criterion for articles was the use of real-time TR among older adults with musculoskeletal conditions to improve physical performance. Two reviewers screened 2108 abstracts and found 10 studies (n=851) that met the eligibility criteria. Quality assessment was based on version 2 of Cochrane's risk-of-bias tool for RCTs, in order to assess the methodological quality of the selected articles. Results were pooled for meta-analyses, based on the primary outcome measures, and were reported as standardized mean differences (SMDs) with 95% CIs. A fixed model was used, and subgroup analysis was performed to check for possible factors influencing TR's effectiveness based on different treatments, controls, and outcome measures.

**Results:** The search and screening process identified 10 papers that collectively reported on three musculoskeletal conditions in older adults and three types of TR programs. Aggregate results suggested that real-time TR, compared to conventional treatment, was more effective at improving physical performance regarding balance (SMD 0.63, 95% CI 0.36-0.9;  $I^2$ =58.5%). TR was slightly better than usual care at improving range of motion (SMD 0.28, 95% CI 0.1-0.46;  $I^2$ =0%) and muscle strength (SMD 0.76, 95% CI 0.32-1.2;  $I^2$ =59.60%), with moderate to large effects. Subgroup analyses suggested that real-time TR had medium to large effects favoring the use of smartphones or tablets (SMD 0.92, 95% CI 0.56-1.29;  $I^2$ =45.8%), whereas the use of personal computers (SMD 0.25, 95% CI -0.16 to 0.66;  $I^2$ =0%) had no effect on improving balance and was comparable to conventional treatment.

**Conclusions:** We found that real-time TR improved physical performance in older adults with musculoskeletal conditions, with an effectiveness level equal to that of conventional face-to-face treatment. Therefore, real-time TR services may constitute an alternative strategy for the delivery of rehabilitation services to older adults with musculoskeletal conditions to improve their physical performance. We also observed that the ideal device for delivering TR is the smartphone. Results suggested that the use of smartphones for TR is driven by ease of use among older adults. We encourage future studies in areas related to rehabilitation in older adults, in addition to examination of physical performance outcomes, to gain additional knowledge about comprehensive care.

Trial Registration: PROSPERO CRD42021287289; https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=287289

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e36028) doi:10.2196/36028

#### **KEYWORDS**

telerehabilitation; internet-based intervention; older adults; physical performance; physical therapy

## Introduction

Telerehabilitation (TR) was introduced to modify rehabilitation services that can be delivered to patients through interventions. It is currently used to increase the effectiveness of long-term treatment. There are various ways of receiving these interventions; technology helps in facilitating two-way communication via phone, video conferencing, and chat and health care apps. TR interventions have resulted in clinical outcomes being similar to or better than face-to-face (FTF) treatments; they are also in high compliance with home programs [1-4]. Previous systematic reviews evaluated TR for people with different health conditions in terms of feasibility, efficacy, and costs. The reviews supported the effectiveness of TR as an alternative to FTF interventions [5-8].

Musculoskeletal conditions affect 25% of the world's population and are the leading cause of pain and disability [9]. This study defines musculoskeletal conditions as any diagnosed primary musculoskeletal condition, including those requiring operations. These disorders are more common among older adults [6], and their prevalence ranges from 5% to 74%, depending on the particular musculoskeletal disease. Older adults have been defined as people 60 years of age or above [10]. From a health care perspective, there is an increasing demand for health care among the older adult population; as such, health care providers recognize this burden on the health care system and have increased their awareness of the health and disability of this population. Consequently, there is a need for better rehabilitation services to address the current magnitude and impact of musculoskeletal conditions, as the number of patients grows.

It has been found that older adults who closely follow physiotherapy recommendations experience better treatment outcomes [11]. However, many older adult patients with geographical isolation or who lack local service availability continue to experience restrictions in appropriate and timely care as a result of increases in cost and wait times for orthopedic health services, as well as poor access to these services [12-14]. Older adults typically also have low adherence to home exercise programs [15]. This leads to a need for real-time interventions through, for example, the use of phone calls or video conferencing to deliver exercise information without a need to meet physiotherapists at the clinic. An increased awareness and understanding of different learning styles [16,17] and the emergence of new technologies have created opportunities for real-time TR instructions to be provided through a wider variety of formats; this could promote better adherence and, ultimately, better functional outcomes.

Recently, there have been many studies on the effectiveness of TR in the management of health conditions, such as stroke [18,19], chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) [20,21], and heart disease [22,23]. However, those studies rarely explored the management of musculoskeletal conditions among older adults through TR. This became a hindrance to the implementation of TR as another way to deliver health care services. Previous systematic reviews about musculoskeletal conditions in older adults [6,24,25] examined studies with different conclusions. The aim of this systematic review was to (1) determine whether older adults with musculoskeletal conditions can improve physical performance via real-time TR and whether the results are effective compared with conventional services and (2) compare adherence to and cost-effectiveness of real-time TR with that of conventional treatments.

## Methods

We systematically conducted and reported results of our review in accordance with the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) guidelines [26]. This review was registered at PROSPERO (International prospective register of systematic reviews; CRD42021287289).

#### Search Strategy

An electronic literature search was conducted on April 10, 2022, in six online databases: Cochrane Library, PubMed (ie, MEDLINE), PEDro, ClinicalKey, EBSCO, and ProQuest. The literature search was limited to articles written in English and Thai languages that were published from January 1, 2000, to the date of the search. Studies in other languages were not compiled. We used a search strategy that combines Medical Subject Headings with free keywords and connected them with Boolean conjunctions (ie, OR and AND). Keywords included "real-time telerehabilitation," "real-time internet-based," and "remote exercise." The search strategy and keywords were developed through discussion and peer review between two authors (NJ and PS); keywords included specific search terms related to research objectives. Details of the search strategy and keywords are given in Multimedia Appendix 1.

### **Eligibility Criteria**

In this systematic review, we included only randomized controlled trials (RCTs) that studied the effects of real-time TR interventions on the physical performance of older adults with musculoskeletal conditions. The specific eligibility criteria used for selecting studies were established; these were based on the PICO (population, intervention, comparison, and outcome) framework (Table 1 [27]).



#### Table 1. Eligibility criteria for inclusion of articles in the study.

Criterion type	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Study design	Randomized controlled trials	<ul><li>Systematic reviews</li><li>Case studies</li><li>Cross-sectional studies</li></ul>
Population	Community-dwelling older adults with musculoskeletal conditions, aged 60 years and over, receiving exercise interventions for health conditions	<ul> <li>People not actively seeking or accessing health care</li> <li>Services targeting recipients of health promotion measures, screening, and so on</li> </ul>
Intervention	Physical therapy exercise instructions provided using real-time TR <sup>a</sup> ; definition of real-time TR was quoted from a previous study [27] describing the interventions as follows: provided by means of any kind of technological device allowing for health care professional–patient interaction online, provided by health care professionals or caregivers through remote supervision, and including at least one specific intervention targeted to rehabilitation (eg, teletraining, TR, telehealth, and internet based)	<ul> <li>General information not tailored or selected specifically for individual patients</li> <li>Telemedicine using multimedia ap- proaches, with an intention for pa- tient action or behavior change</li> </ul>
Comparison	Comparators included either usual physical therapy rehabilitation interventions, which were provided in person in a hospital or institution setting; educational interventions; or no specific interventions	N/A <sup>b</sup>
Outcome	Any kind of physical function or motor performance outcome (eg, mobility, balance, strength, and walking), adherence outcome (eg, complete rate), or cost-effectiveness outcome	<ul> <li>Clinician outcomes</li> <li>Service-level outcomes</li> <li>Questionnaire results</li> <li>Self-report results</li> </ul>

<sup>a</sup>TR: telerehabilitation.

<sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable; the comparison criterion type did not have any exclusion criteria.

#### **Study Selection**

In a standardized blinded manner, two authors (NJ and PS) independently identified potentially relevant papers and performed eligibility assessments. This process was divided into two phases. First, titles and abstracts were screened independently by two reviewers (NJ and PS). They assessed the relevance of each article and rated each one as definitely relevant, possibly relevant, or not relevant. Second, they screened the full text of the articles that had been judged in the first phase as definitely relevant or possibly relevant, and they made a final judgement on the articles as relevant or not relevant. In both phases, disagreement between the two reviewers was resolved through discussion until consensus was reached or through consultation with a third reviewer (SK). To assess the degree of agreement between authors, we calculated  $\kappa$  statistics for both phases. As part of our calculations, categories of definitely relevant and possibly relevant in the first phase were merged into the category definitely or possibly relevant. P<.05 was considered statistically significant.

## **Data Extraction**

Extracted information for each article in this study included authors, publication year, study setting (ie, country or region), sample characteristics (eg, age, gender, and medical conditions), duration of study, description of interventions for both control and experimental groups (eg, information and communications technology [ICT] devices and platforms, intervention formula, presence or absence of in-person intervention during TR, compared intervention, and effects), outcome data from both processes (eg, intervention completion rate, reasons for

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36028
```

withdrawal from the intervention, and adverse events during the intervention), and patient outcomes (eg, impairment, activities, and participation). Data extraction was completed by one reviewer (NJ) and checked for accuracy by the second reviewer (PS).

#### **Quality Assessment**

Risk of bias was assessed using version 2 of Cochrane's risk-of-bias tool (RoB 2) for randomized trials [28]. Two reviewers (NJ and PS) assessed all five domains independently. The domains are as follows: (1) bias arising from the randomization process, (2) bias due to deviations from intended interventions, (3) bias due to missing outcome data, (4) bias in measurement of the outcome, and (5) bias in selection of the reported result. Each domain contains several signaling questions for assigning one of three risk-of-bias levels to each domain: low risk of bias, some concerns, or high risk of bias. These assessments allow the assessor to judge the overall risk of bias in each trial. Lower-quality articles were not excluded from the meta-analysis.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Continuous data are presented as the mean difference or standardized mean difference (SMD) with 95% CI, whereas dichotomous data are presented as the risk ratio with 95% CI. If the studies did not adjust for clustering, we attempted to adjust their standard errors using the methods described in the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions [29].

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

The  $I^2$  test was used to identify heterogeneity: homogeneity was set at  $I^2 < 50\%$ . The data were pooled by a fixed-effects model if eligible studies were included. In addition, Forest plots for the meta-analysis were conducted if more than 2 eligible RCTs were included. We conducted a sensitivity meta-analysis that was restricted to recently published (ie, in 2000 or later) RCTs with an overall low risk of bias (ie, low risk of bias in all 10 criteria). Otherwise,  $I^2 > 50\%$  was regarded as having substantial heterogeneity. Under such situations, a fixed model was used, and subgroup analysis was conducted to check for any possible reasons that could have caused substantial heterogeneity based on the different treatments, controls, and outcome measurements. After subgroup analysis, if the heterogeneity was still significant, a narrative summary was presented instead of pooled data and a meta-analysis.

Additionally, sensitivity analyses were also performed to check the robustness of the pooled results, depending on the different methodological qualities, and the statistical models.

Figure 1. Flow of studies through the review.

Furthermore, funnel plots were created, and the Begger test was carried out to identify any reporting biases if a sufficient number of eligible studies were included in the study.

## Results

## **Study Selection**

The study selection process is shown in Figure 1. This was carried out through a literature search and identification of 2395 articles without duplication. The screening categorized 225 of the articles as being definitely relevant or potentially relevant, whereas the remainder were not considered relevant in the first phase. After screening the full text of 225 articles in the second phase, the reviewers found that 10 studies were eligible for inclusion in this systematic review.  $\kappa$  statistics for judgement in the first and second phases were 0.619 (<sup>P</sup><.001) and 0.667 (<sup>P</sup><.001), respectively. All conflicts regarding the judgments were reconciled through negotiations between the authors.



#### **Characteristics of the Studies**

The 10 eligible RCTs are summarized in Table 2 [30-39]. All studies were conducted in South Korea, Canada, Portugal, the United States, and Australia. The participants' health conditions, sample sizes, and sex ratios varied widely across the studies. Health conditions included patients with pre- and postoperative total knee arthroplasty (TKA) or total hip arthroplasty as well as community-dwelling older adults with sarcopenia. The total sample size was 851 participants, of which 351 (41.2%) were males. The ICT devices used in real-time TR were smartphones and personal computers. Out of 10 studies, 7 (70%) had developed a specific platform to administer their real-time TR; 2 (20%) used Skype, a free telecommunications app; and 1 (10%) used video conferencing.

The main components of the real-time TR interventions from the 10 studies included exercise regimens that varied across the studies: resistance exercise, combination resistance and range of motion (ROM) exercise, ROM exercise, and balance program exercise. Out of 10 studies, 2 (20%) included an educational intervention about self-management during real-time TR.

The interventions that were compared in the studies included in-clinic physical therapy, home visit rehabilitation, home exercise programs, education for general health, and nutrition. Because of the heterogeneity in the study characteristics, it was not appropriate to carry out a meta-analysis. Thus, a narrative analysis of the 7 eligible studies was conducted.

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36028
```

Author, year Population Intervention Outcome report Size, n Mean age Device Platform Type of intervention (years) Video conferenc-Quadriceps strength An et al, 2021 [30] 36 70.51 Smartphone Preoperative rehabilitaing tion of TKA<sup>a</sup> ROM<sup>b</sup> of knee flexion Timed Up and Go test Doiron-Cadrin et al, 34 65.97 Smartphone or Skype Preoperative rehabilita-Timed Up and Go test 2020 [31] tablet Stair test tion of TKA or THA<sup>c</sup> Specially devel-Fernando et al, 2018 59 Postoperative rehabilita-ROM of knee flexion 68.65 Smartphone or • tablet oped platform tion of TKA Timed Up and Go test [32] Hong et al, 2017 23 81.85 Personal computer Skype Resistance and balance Timed Up and Go test exercises Chair stand test [33] Prvu Bettger et al, 287 65.25 Personal computer Specially devel-Postoperative rehabilita-• Total cost 2020 [34] oped platform tion of TKA ROM of knee flexion Russell et al, 2003 21 67 Personal computer Specially devel-Postoperative rehabilita-ROM of knee flexion tion of TKA Timed Up and Go test [35] oped platform Knee extensor strength Russell et al, 2011 65 67.9 Personal computer Specially devel-Postoperative rehabilita-ROM of knee flexion [36] oped platform tion of TKA Timed Up and Go test Knee extensor strength Sparrow et al, 2011 100 71 Specially devel-Personal computer Knee extensor strength Resistance exercise pro-[37] oped platform gram Single-leg stance Tousignant et al, 41 66 Personal computer Specially devel-Postoperative rehabilita-• ROM of knee flexion Berg Balance Scale 2011 [38] oped platform tion of TKA 30-second chair stand test Tousignant et al, 197 Specially devel-Total cost 66 Personal computer Postoperative rehabilita-2015 [39] oped platform tion of TKA Cost per time

Table 2. Characteristics of the 10 eligible randomized controlled trials.

<sup>a</sup>TKA: total knee arthroplasty.

<sup>b</sup>ROM: range of motion.

<sup>c</sup>THA: total hip arthroplasty.

#### **Risk-of-Bias Assessment**

The results of the risk-of-bias assessment, based on the RoB 2, are summarized in Figure 2. The risk of bias in 1 study was high, 5 studies had some concerns, and 4 studies were categorized as having a low risk of bias. Regarding the risk of bias caused by the randomization process (domain 1), 4 studies used a nonconcealment approach, and the baseline characteristics were different between groups because they may

have had some selection bias. Thus, regarding domain 1, most studies were assessed as having a risk of bias of some concern. The risk of bias due to deviations from intended interventions (domain 2) was judged to be low in 7 studies, which were assessed as having a risk of bias of some concern. Regarding the risk of bias due to missing outcome data (domain 3), outcome measurement (domain 4), and selection of the reported results (domain 5), all studies were judged as having a low risk of bias.



Figure 2. Summary of the the risk-of-bias assessment. A red circle with a minus sign indicates a high risk of bias, a yellow circle with a question mark indicates there are some concerns, and a green circle with a plus sign indicates a low risk of bias.

Author, year	Overall	Randomization process	Deviations from the intended interventions	Missing outcome data	Measurement of the outcome	Selection of the reported results
An et al, 2021 [30]	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð
Doiron-Cadrin et al, 2020 [31]	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð
Fernando et al, 2018 [32]	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð	÷	Ð
Hong et al, 2017 [33]	0	?	?	Ð	÷	÷
Prvu Bettger et al, 2020 [34]	?	Ð	?	Ð	Ð	Ð
Russell et al, 2003 [35]	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð	÷	÷
Russell et al, 2011 [36]	?	?	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð
Sparrow et al, 2011 [37]	?	?	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð
Tousignant et al, 2011 [38]	?	Ð	?	Ð	Ð	Ð
Tousignant et al, 2015 [39]	?	?	Ð	Ð	Ð	Ð

## **Effects of Real-Time Telerehabilitation**

## **Range of Motion**

The ROM of knee flexion was assessed in only 5 trials, as their primary outcomes were able to be pooled [30,32,34,36,38].

Data from only 498 participants were able to be pooled due to insufficient data in the ROM of knee flexion. Aggregate results showed a small effect in favor of real-time TR as compared to conventional service (SMD 0.28, 95% CI 0.1-0.46;  $I^2$ =0%; Figure 3).

Figure 3. Meta-analysis comparing the effect of real-time telerehabilitation on range of motion of knee flexion following interventions for all conditions. SMD: standardized mean difference; TR: telerehabilitation.

	1	Experiment			Control			SMD,	SMD,
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	Fixed, 95% CI	Fixed, 95% CI
An et al, 2021 Fernando Dias et al, 2018	114.41 101.5	6.26 9.6	18 38	107.18 97	10.23 11.3	18 31	6.7% 13.6%	0.83 (0.15 to 1.52 0.43 (-0.05 to 0.91	
Prvu Bettger et al, 2020	114.5	15.3	143	111.4	16	144	58.3%	0.20 (-0.03 to 0.43	) +=-
Russell et al, 2011	86.1	11.3	31	82.4	15.1	34	13.1%	0.27 (-0.22 to 0.76	)
Tousignant et al, 2011	86.1	13.7	21	83.9	11.7	20	8.3%	0.17 (-0.44 to 0.78	)
<b>Total (95% CI)</b> Heterogeneity: χ <sup>2</sup> =3.49, df= Test for overall effect: Z=3.4	=4 (P=.48);1 <sup>2</sup> =0 09 (P=.002)	%	251			247	100%	0.28 (0.10 to 0.46	
									Favor Control Favor TR

Subgroup analyses were conducted for specific musculoskeletal conditions and type of TR medium (ie, personal computer, smartphone, tablet, and platform). For rehabilitation of postoperative TKA, the pooled results of 4 trials [32,34,36,38] suggested that TR interventions were less favorable (SMD 0.24, 95% CI 0.06-0.42;  $l^2=0\%$ ); while 3 RCTs had a risk of bias of some concern [34,36,38], they did not favor real-time TR for the improvement of ROM of knee flexion following postoperative TKA (SMD 0.21, 95% CI 0.01-0.4;  $l^2=0\%$ ).

Regarding the intervention medium of real-time TR, 2 trials [30,32] that used smartphones or tablets showed a moderate effect favoring TR (SMD 0.56, 95% CI 0.18-0.95;  $I^2$ =0%), whereas 3 studies that used personal computers with specific software [34,36,38] yielded a small effect in favor of TR (SMD 0.21, 95% CI 0.01-0.4;  $I^2$ =0%).

#### https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36028

RenderX

### Muscle Strength

Data from 3 trials assessing muscle strength as a primary outcome were able to be pooled. One trial used knee extensor strength [30], whereas 2 trials presented physical function data in the form of lower-limb strength from the sit-to-stand test [33] or the stair test [31]. Aggregate results of substantial statistical heterogeneity suggested that real-time TR had more moderate to large effects favoring the TR intervention as compared to usual care (SMD 0.76, 95% CI 0.32-1.2;  $I^2$ =59.60%).

#### Balance

In total, 5 trials assessed balance using the Timed Up and Go (TUG) test as a primary outcome. Data from only 216 participants were able to be pooled due to insufficient data. Aggregate results showed a moderate effect that favored real-time TR for the improvement of TUG test results (SMD

0.63, 95% CI 0.36-0.9;  $l^2$ =58.5%; Figure 4) [30-33,36]. Meanwhile, 3 RCTs with a low risk of bias [30-32] had large effects that favored real-time TR (SMD 0.92, 95% CI 0.56-1.29;  $l^2$ =45.8%).

Subgroup analyses further suggested that real-time TR interventions with medium to large effects favoring smartphones or tablets (SMD 0.92, 95% CI 0.56-1.29;  $I^2$ =45.8%) [30-32] or

personal computers (SMD 0.25, 95% CI –0.16 to 0.66;  $l^2=0\%$ ) [33,36] have an equal effect on improvement of balance.

Finally, results from 4 trials that examined rehabilitation following preoperative TKA [30,31] or postoperative TKA (SMD 0.43, 95% CI 0.09-0.77;  $I^2$ =45.4%) [32,36] specifically showed that TR was more favorable than usual rehabilitation care.

Figure 4. Meta-analysis comparing the effect of real-time telerehabilitation on balance following interventions for all conditions. SMD: standardized mean difference; TR: telerehabilitation.

	E	xperiment			Control				SMD,	SMD,
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total		Weight	Fixed, 95% CI	Fixed, 95% CI
An et al, 2021	10.61	1.26	18	13.34	2.13		18	13.6%	–1.53 (–2.28 to –0.77)	
Doiron-Cadrin et al, 2022	8.5	1.4	12	10.6	2.9		11	10.3%	-0.90 (-1.77 to -0.04)	
Fernando Dias et al, 2018	7.8	2.7	38	10.1	4.1		31	32.4%	-0.67 (-1.16 to -0.18)	
Hong et al, 2017	8.1	2.2	11	9.7	5		12	11.3%	-0.39 (-1.12 to 0.43)	
Russell et al, 2011	12.5	10.94	31	14.61	10.12		34	32.4%	-0.20 (-0.69 to 0.29)	
Total (95% CI)			110			:	106	100%	–0.63 (–0.90 to –0.35)	◆
Heterogeneity: $\chi^2$ =9.17, df=	4 (P=.06); I <sup>2</sup> =56	6%								
Test for overall effect: Z=4.4	2 ( <i>P</i> <.001)								-	-2 -1 0 1 2
										Favor TR Favor Control

# Feasibility and Acceptance of Real-Time Telerehabilitation

Completion rates, reasons for withdrawal, and adverse events are shown in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2. Completion rates were reported in all studies: mean 91.09% (SD 5.77%; range 85%-100%) in the experimental group and 94.89% (SD 5.18%; range 83.3%-100%) in the control group. Most studies described the reasons for withdrawal, including dropout, lack of follow-up, and hospitalization as a result of other diseases. However, these reasons were not described clearly in all studies. In total, 3 studies [31,32,37] reported that adverse events occurred during real-time TR, whereas the other 7 studies did not specifically describe adverse events.

Only 2 studies reported cost-effectiveness analysis, which evaluated the total costs of rehabilitation in older adults with osteoarthritis of the knee in the postoperative phase. Total costs of real-time TR (mean US \$1502.98, SD \$278.98) and usual care (mean US \$3006.89, SD \$1519.89) had moderate effects favoring real-time TR (SMD 0.69, 95% CI 0.51-0.88;  $l^2$ =0%).

## **Potential Contributing Factors to Feasibility**

We summarized the data from factors potentially contributing to safety and feasibility based on treatments via video conference, as seen in Table S1 in Multimedia Appendix 2. For safety measures in 2 studies [33,37] in which community-dwelling older adults were recruited, data regarding the rate of perceived exertion were collected from a tolerance exercise program; the 2 studies also used the patients' own records of pain, falls, and readmission to hospitals. Patients were accompanied by a caregiver when giving reports during the postoperative TKA treatment period. Finally, we found that 6 studies set minimum internet speeds ranging from 18 kbps to 10 Mbps, whereas 4 studies did not report this information.

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

The main finding of this study was that, following noninferiority analysis, one particular treatment is not inferior to the current standard treatment for a particular health condition [40]. Post hoc noninferiority analysis was undertaken to compare results between cohorts from the examined interventions when sufficient data were found for subgroup analyses. Results of the noninferiority analysis supports a conclusion that physiotherapy exercises for the TKA population via real-time TR is equivalent and not inferior to FTF care.

This study is the first systematic review that focuses on real-time TR services using phone calls or video conferencing for home-based exercising to improve physical performance and adherence to treatment in older adults with musculoskeletal conditions. These results showed that TR had similar or better effects, as compared to usual care, on older adults' physical performance, including balancing ability, strength, and ROM. Furthermore, when compared to conventional care, small to moderate, but significant (P<.001), effects could be seen in favor of real-time TR, suggesting that real-time TR is superior to conventional services with respect to physical performance. Subgroup meta-analyses in this review showed small statistical heterogeneity across the studies due to trials that used smartphones or tablets ( $I^2=0\%$ ). However, in those studies that only provided real-time TR treatment via personal computer or videoconferencing software, real-time TR still produced favorable outcomes, albeit to a small extent, as compared to FTF care following the intervention ( $I^2=0\%$ ). Regardless of the musculoskeletal condition or by which medium the real-time TR was delivered, improvements in balance were also seen to be comparable between cohorts.

The primary findings in this review were similar to those of previous systematic reviews that reported positive benefits in



patients following TKA [8], cardiac disease [3,41], and COPD [42] among community-dwelling older adults [43]. Articles from a systematic review and meta-analysis [8] on TR for TKA reported strong positive effects from a TR program (mean difference 1.14, 95% CI –0.61 to 2.89;  $I^2=0\%$ ) and improvement in active knee flexion status that were similar to those among patients with improving health conditions in the conventional therapy group. TR seems to be a practical alternative to conventional FTF rehabilitation therapy in patients who underwent TKA. Similarly, a previous systematic review [6] aimed to examine TR for musculoskeletal conditions and evaluated the effectiveness of TR as compared to usual care in improving physical function and disability; a moderate effect was observed in favor of TR (SMD 0.45, 95% CI 0.20-0.70;  $I^2$ =56%). In this review, only the selected primary outcome measures were pooled to estimate the effects of treatment interventions, in which the TUG test served as a validated assessment tool that was simple, quick, and able to be applied in a short time to measure physical performance in a TKA population. Therefore, improvement in physical function has been added to the growing body of evidence for the efficacy of real-time TR in older adults with musculoskeletal conditions.

In our review of adherence data across the selected studies, the intervention completion rate was available in all of them, with adherence reported to be 91% (range 85%-100%) in the experimental group. This figure is comparable with previously reported completion rates of real-time TR among older adults with COPD in Australia (95%) [44], those with hemiplegia in China (96%) [45], those with heart failure in Australia (95%) [46], and those suffering from peripheral artery disease in the United States (85%) [47]. However, a direct comparison of findings between studies is difficult due to discrepancies across the countries, participants' conditions, and intervention regimens. Our findings imply that real-time TR interventions might constitute an acceptable rehabilitation strategy for older adults.

In contrast, there was less emphasis on other reporting regarding adherence, such as specific reasons for withdrawal from interventions and adverse events during interventions. In-depth interviews in a previous study [48] described specific reasons for withdrawal from their TR service among older adults, such as "one person withdrew because of the need to train at the local center" and "one person withdrew [from] the program after finding the technology too difficult to use the computer and IT platform." These descriptions allow readers the opportunity to vary programs in order to simulate adherence or to design a program and judge the appropriateness of the intervention in order to make it more feasible for their clinical practice or research project. Future studies documenting this relevant information can improve real-time TR services.

#### **Comparison to Prior Work**

Although the effectiveness of real-time TR among older adults with musculoskeletal conditions is apparent, findings from this review still need to be supported by additional studies. Thus, the interpretation of our findings require careful consideration. The poor methodological quality and heterogeneity in telehealth-related studies were also reported in previous

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36028
```

systematic reviews [1,27,41,49]. A previous systematic review [43] insisted that there is a critical need for high-quality studies investigating the impact of TR interventions in older adults. Consequently, it is crucial that these issues be taken into consideration when further studies are conducted.

### **Potential Future Directions**

This study showed that the technologies used during real-time TR interventions varied across the included studies. In the examined studies, we observed variations in the health conditions of older adults, various kinds of technologies being used, and specific trends.

First, we observed that an app's ease of use was important during real-time TR services among older adults with a health condition. Previous studies [50,51] found that interactive app use during individual interviews helped identify content for creating a prototype before designing a mobile health (mHealth) app. Thus, mHealth apps that are used for TR focus on user characteristics.

Second, health care providers are able to motivate and increase the self-confidence of older adults during real-time TR services. Previous studies that conducted in-depth interviews with patients found that motivational techniques, including giving feedback to patients regarding exercise during the intervention, were important for helping patients improve [52,53]. If a physiotherapist cannot give older adult patients clear and sufficient advice regarding their health conditions in order to improve their physical performance, the patients could lose their self-confidence and treatments could become ineffective. On the other hand, effective communication can enhance participants' confidence and ensure positive outcomes from the treatment programs.

Finally, based on our findings, there was a moderate effect with a significant difference (SMD 0.69, 95% CI 0.51-0.88;  $l^2=0\%$ ) on cost-effectiveness as a result of real-time TR as compared to usual care. It is reasonable to believe that the costs of real-time TR interventions can be lower than those incurred from conventional treatments with FTF communication between physiotherapists and patients [34,39]. The cost-effectiveness measure is an important factor for the treatment of patients, and it can vary depending on patients' conditions during real-time TR interventions.

#### Limitations

There were four limitations in our study. First, we had limited access to research databases and articles in different languages, preventing us from reviewing some research studies. Other research databases, such as Embase and ScienceDirect, were not used due to accessibility issues. Moreover, our review did not cover articles written in other languages. This selection bias may seriously have impacted our results and must be acknowledged when interpreting them.

Second, the focus of our review was limited to the outcome measures of physical performance and intervention adherence. Furthermore, other subjective outcome measures, such as pain scales, activities of daily living, quality of life, and feasibility indexes, should also be evaluated in future studies.

XSL•FO RenderX

Third, caution was taken when we made conclusions about the overall effects of the management of musculoskeletal conditions. Because almost all of the trials examined interventions that followed common orthopedic surgery procedures in areas where access to conventional FTF interventions are limited, TR is an alternative treatment that could provide patients with sufficient availability of health care services.

Finally, as mentioned earlier, the number of selected studies with a low risk of bias was small, so real-time TR interventions must have high-quality methodologies to ensure that their effectiveness and results can be generalized to various treatments at clinics.

## Conclusions

This study showed that there is strong evidence to conclude that TR-based physiotherapy interventions are effective in improving physical performance among older adults with musculoskeletal conditions; in addition, treatment outcomes from TR can be as successful as those from conventional FTF treatment. This is the first systematic review that evaluated the effects of real-time TR in older adults with musculoskeletal conditions; our results indicated that real-time TR services can potentially constitute an alternative strategy for the delivery of rehabilitation services in patients with musculoskeletal conditions. Future rigorous clinical trials are warranted in order to formally establish the efficacy of TR in the management of specific musculoskeletal conditions.

## Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Master of Science Program in Physical Therapy of Thammasat University.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Search strategy. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 94 KB - rehab\_v9i3e36028\_app1.pdf ]

## Multimedia Appendix 2

Summary of completion rates, reasons for withdrawal, and adverse events in the included studies. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 115 KB - rehab\_v9i3e36028\_app2.pdf]

## References

- Emmerson KB, Harding KE, Taylor NF. Providing exercise instructions using multimedia may improve adherence but not patient outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Rehabil 2019 Apr;33(4):607-618. [doi: 10.1177/0269215518819706] [Medline: 30582358]
- Kairy D, Lehoux P, Vincent C, Visintin M. A systematic review of clinical outcomes, clinical process, healthcare utilization and costs associated with telerehabilitation. Disabil Rehabil 2009;31(6):427-447. [doi: <u>10.1080/09638280802062553</u>] [Medline: <u>18720118</u>]
- Bae J, Woo S, Lee J, Park S, Kwon SW, Choi SH, et al. mHealth interventions for lifestyle and risk factor modification in coronary heart disease: Randomized controlled trial. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Sep 24;9(9):e29928 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/29928] [Medline: 34559058]
- 4. Bentley CL, Powell L, Potter S, Parker J, Mountain GA, Bartlett YK, et al. The use of a smartphone app and an activity tracker to promote physical activity in the management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Randomized controlled feasibility study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jun 03;8(6):e16203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16203] [Medline: 32490838]
- Block VAJ, Pitsch E, Tahir P, Cree BAC, Allen DD, Gelfand JM. Remote physical activity monitoring in neurological disease: A systematic review. PLoS One 2016;11(4):e0154335 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154335] [Medline: 27124611]
- Cottrell MA, Galea OA, O'Leary SP, Hill AJ, Russell TG. Real-time telerehabilitation for the treatment of musculoskeletal conditions is effective and comparable to standard practice: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Rehabil 2017 May;31(5):625-638. [doi: 10.1177/0269215516645148] [Medline: 27141087]
- 7. Frederix I, Vanhees L, Dendale P, Goetschalckx K. A review of telerehabilitation for cardiac patients. J Telemed Telecare 2014 Dec 04;21(1):45-53. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x14562732]
- Shukla H, Nair SR, Thakker D. Role of telerehabilitation in patients following total knee arthroplasty: Evidence from a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. J Telemed Telecare 2017 Feb;23(2):339-346. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16628996] [Medline: 26843466]
- 9. GBD 2016 Disease and Injury Incidence and Prevalence Collaborators. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990-2016: A systematic analysis for the

Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet 2017 Sep 16;390(10100):1211-1259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32154-2] [Medline: 28919117]

- 10. Fejer R, Ruhe A. What is the prevalence of musculoskeletal problems in the elderly population in developed countries? A systematic critical literature review. Chiropr Man Therap 2012 Sep 24;20:31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2045-709x-20-31]
- 11. Chen CY, Neufeld PS, Feely CA, Skinner CS. Factors influencing compliance with home exercise programs among patients with upper-extremity impairment. Am J Occup Ther 1999;53(2):171-180. [doi: 10.5014/ajot.53.2.171] [Medline: 10200840]
- Comans T, Raymer M, O'Leary S, Smith D, Scuffham P. Cost-effectiveness of a physiotherapist-led service for orthopaedic outpatients. J Health Serv Res Policy 2014 Oct;19(4):216-223. [doi: <u>10.1177/1355819614533675</u>] [Medline: <u>24819380</u>]
- Daker-White G, Carr AJ, Harvey I, Woolhead G, Bannister G, Nelson I, et al. A randomised controlled trial. Shifting boundaries of doctors and physiotherapists in orthopaedic outpatient departments. J Epidemiol Community Health 1999 Oct;53(10):643-650. [doi: 10.1136/jech.53.10.643] [Medline: 10616677]
- Oldmeadow LB, Bedi HS, Burch HT, Smith JS, Leahy ES, Goldwasser M. Experienced physiotherapists as gatekeepers to hospital orthopaedic outpatient care. Med J Aust 2007 Jun 18;186(12):625-628. [doi: <u>10.5694/j.1326-5377.2007.tb01079.x</u>] [Medline: <u>17576177</u>]
- Pickering RM, Fitton C, Ballinger C, Fazakarley L, Ashburn A. Self reported adherence to a home-based exercise programme among people with Parkinson's disease. Parkinsonism Relat Disord 2013 Jan;19(1):66-71. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.parkreldis.2012.07.006</u>] [Medline: <u>22878222</u>]
- 16. Cuevas J. Is learning styles-based instruction effective? A comprehensive analysis of recent research on learning styles. Theory Res Educ 2015 Oct 06;13(3):308-333. [doi: 10.1177/1477878515606621]
- 17. Rohrer D, Pashler H. Learning styles: Where's the evidence? Med Educ 2012 Jul;46(7):634-635. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2923.2012.04273.x] [Medline: 22691144]
- Johansson T, Wild C. Telerehabilitation in stroke care--A systematic review. J Telemed Telecare 2011;17(1):1-6. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2010.100105] [Medline: 21097560]
- Laver KE, Adey-Wakeling Z, Crotty M, Lannin NA, George S, Sherrington C. Telerehabilitation services for stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2020 Jan 31;1:CD010255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010255.pub3] [Medline: 32002991]
- Lundell S, Holmner Å, Rehn B, Nyberg A, Wadell K. Telehealthcare in COPD: A systematic review and meta-analysis on physical outcomes and dyspnea. Respir Med 2015 Jan;109(1):11-26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2014.10.008] [Medline: 25464906]
- 21. McLean S, Nurmatov U, Liu J, Pagliari C, Car J, Sheikh A. Telehealthcare for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011 Jul 06(7):CD007718. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD007718.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>21735417</u>]
- 22. Clarke M, Shah A, Sharma U. Systematic review of studies on telemonitoring of patients with congestive heart failure: A meta-analysis. J Telemed Telecare 2011;17(1):7-14. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2010.100113] [Medline: 21097564]
- 23. Dalleck LC, Schmidt LK, Lueker R. Cardiac rehabilitation outcomes in a conventional versus telemedicine-based programme. J Telemed Telecare 2011;17(5):217-221. [doi: 10.1258/jtt.2010.100407] [Medline: 21508077]
- 24. Agostini M, Moja L, Banzi R, Pistotti V, Tonin P, Venneri A, et al. Telerehabilitation and recovery of motor function: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Telemed Telecare 2015 Feb 22;21(4):202-213. [doi: 10.1177/1357633x15572201]
- 25. Pietrzak E, Cotea C, Pullman S, Nasveld P. Self-management and rehabilitation in osteoarthritis: Is there a place for internet-based interventions? Telemed J E Health 2013 Oct;19(10):800-805. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2012.0288</u>] [Medline: <u>24003979</u>]
- 26. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: Explanation and elaboration. J Clin Epidemiol 2009 Oct;62(10):e1-e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006] [Medline: 19631507]
- D'Haeseleer M, Eelen P, Sadeghi N, D'Hooghe MB, Van Schependom J, Nagels G. Feasibility of real time internet-based teleconsultation in patients with multiple sclerosis: Interventional pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 13;22(8):e18178
   [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18178] [Medline: 32447274]
- Sterne JAC, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB 2: A revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2019 Aug 28;366:14898. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.14898</u>] [Medline: <u>31462531</u>]
- 29. Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al, editors. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Second Edition. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 2019.
- 30. An J, Ryu H, Lyu S, Yi H, Lee B. Effects of preoperative telerehabilitation on muscle strength, range of motion, and functional outcomes in candidates for total knee arthroplasty: A single-blind randomized controlled trial. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Jun 04;18(11):6071 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18116071] [Medline: 34199913]
- Doiron-Cadrin P, Kairy D, Vendittoli P, Lowry V, Poitras S, Desmeules F. Feasibility and preliminary effects of a tele-prehabilitation program and an in-person prehabilitation program compared to usual care for total hip or knee arthroplasty candidates: A pilot randomized controlled trial. Disabil Rehabil 2020 Apr;42(7):989-998. [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1515992] [Medline: 30638076]

- Correia FD, Nogueira A, Magalhães I, Guimarães J, Moreira M, Barradas I, et al. Home-based rehabilitation with a novel digital biofeedback system versus conventional in-person rehabilitation after total knee replacement: A feasibility study. Sci Rep 2018 Jul 26;8(1):11299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-29668-0] [Medline: 30050087]
- 33. Hong J, Kim J, Kim SW, Kong H. Effects of home-based tele-exercise on sarcopenia among community-dwelling elderly adults: Body composition and functional fitness. Exp Gerontol 2017 Jan;87(Pt A):33-39. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.exger.2016.11.002</u>] [Medline: <u>27838369</u>]
- 34. Prvu Bettger J, Green CL, Holmes DN, Chokshi A, Mather RC, Hoch BT, et al. Effects of virtual exercise rehabilitation in-home therapy compared with traditional care after total knee arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg 2019 Nov 18;102(2):101-109. [doi: <u>10.2106/jbjs.19.00695</u>]
- Russell TG, Buttrum P, Wootton R, Jull GA. Low-bandwidth telerehabilitation for patients who have undergone total knee replacement: Preliminary results. J Telemed Telecare 2003;9 Suppl 2:S44-S47. [doi: <u>10.1258/135763303322596246</u>] [Medline: <u>14728759</u>]
- 36. Russell TG, Buttrum P, Wootton R, Jull GA. Internet-based outpatient telerehabilitation for patients following total knee arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg 2011;93(2):113-120. [doi: <u>10.2106/jbjs.i.01375</u>]
- Sparrow D, Gottlieb DJ, Demolles D, Fielding RA. Increases in muscle strength and balance using a resistance training program administered via a telecommunications system in older adults. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2011 Nov;66(11):1251-1257 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/gerona/glr138] [Medline: 21852283]
- Tousignant M, Moffet H, Boissy P, Corriveau H, Cabana F, Marquis F. A randomized controlled trial of home telerehabilitation for post-knee arthroplasty. J Telemed Telecare 2011;17(4):195-198. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2010.100602</u>] [Medline: <u>21398389</u>]
- 39. Tousignant M, Moffet H, Nadeau S, Mérette C, Boissy P, Corriveau H, et al. Cost analysis of in-home telerehabilitation for post-knee arthroplasty. J Med Internet Res 2015 Mar 31;17(3):e83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3844] [Medline: 25840501]
- 40. Hahn S. Understanding noninferiority trials. Korean J Pediatr 2012 Nov;55(11):403-407 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3345/kjp.2012.55.11.403] [Medline: 23227058]
- 41. Batalik L, Dosbaba F, Hartman M, Batalikova K, Spinar J. Benefits and effectiveness of using a wrist heart rate monitor as a telerehabilitation device in cardiac patients: A randomized controlled trial. Medicine (Baltimore) 2020 Mar;99(11):e19556 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000019556] [Medline: 32176113]
- 42. Vorrink SN, Kort HS, Troosters T, Lammers JJ. A mobile phone app to stimulate daily physical activity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Development, feasibility, and pilot studies. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jan 26;4(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4741] [Medline: 26813682]
- 43. Saito T, Izawa KP. Effectiveness and feasibility of home-based telerehabilitation for community-dwelling elderly people in Southeast Asian countries and regions: A systematic review. Aging Clin Exp Res 2021 Oct;33(10):2657-2669 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40520-021-01820-3] [Medline: 33765258]
- 44. Tsai LLY, McNamara RJ, Moddel C, Alison JA, McKenzie DK, McKeough ZJ. Home-based telerehabilitation via real-time videoconferencing improves endurance exercise capacity in patients with COPD: The randomized controlled TeleR Study. Respirology 2017 May;22(4):699-707 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/resp.12966] [Medline: 27992099]
- 45. Chen J, Jin W, Dong WS, Jin Y, Qiao FL, Zhou YF, et al. Effects of home-based telesupervising rehabilitation on physical function for stroke survivors with hemiplegia: A randomized controlled trial. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2017 Mar;96(3):152-160. [doi: 10.1097/PHM.00000000000559] [Medline: 27386808]
- 46. Hwang R, Morris NR, Mandrusiak A, Bruning J, Peters R, Korczyk D, et al. Cost-utility analysis of home-based telerehabilitation compared with centre-based rehabilitation in patients with heart failure. Heart Lung Circ 2019 Dec;28(12):1795-1803. [doi: 10.1016/j.hlc.2018.11.010] [Medline: 30528811]
- 47. McDermott MM, Spring B, Berger JS, Treat-Jacobson D, Conte MS, Creager MA, et al. Effect of a home-based exercise intervention of wearable technology and telephone coaching on walking performance in peripheral artery disease: The honor randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2018 Apr 24;319(16):1665-1676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.3275] [Medline: 29710165]
- 48. Jørgensen BB, Gregersen M, Pallesen SH, Damsgaard EM. A group-based real-time videoconferencing telerehabilitation programme in recently discharged geriatric patients: A feasibility study. Eur Geriatr Med 2021 Aug;12(4):801-808 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s41999-020-00444-6] [Medline: 33544388]
- 49. Velayati F, Ayatollahi H, Hemmat M. A systematic review of the effectiveness of telerehabilitation interventions for therapeutic purposes in the elderly. Methods Inf Med 2020 May;59(2-03):104-109. [doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1713398] [Medline: 32629502]
- 50. Kantorová L, Kantor J, Hořejší B, Gilboa A, Svobodová Z, Lipský M, et al. Adaptation of music therapists' practice to the outset of the COVID-19 pandemic—Going virtual: A scoping review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 May 12;18(10):5138 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18105138] [Medline: 34066197]
- 51. Stütz T, Emsenhuber G, Huber D, Domhardt M, Tiefengrabner M, Oostingh GJ, et al. Mobile phone-supported physiotherapy for frozen shoulder: Feasibility assessment based on a usability study. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2017 Jul 20;4(2):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/rehab.7085] [Medline: 28729234]

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36028
```

- Pfaeffli Dale L, Whittaker R, Dixon R, Stewart R, Jiang Y, Carter K, et al. Acceptability of a mobile health exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation intervention: A randomized trial. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev 2015;35(5):312-319. [doi: 10.1097/HCR.0000000000125] [Medline: 26181037]
- Zanaboni P, Dinesen B, Hjalmarsen A, Hoaas H, Holland AE, Oliveira CC, et al. Long-term integrated telerehabilitation of COPD patients: A multicentre randomised controlled trial (iTrain). BMC Pulm Med 2016 Aug 22;16(1):126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12890-016-0288-z] [Medline: 27549782]

## Abbreviations

COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease FTF: face-to-face ICT: information and communications technology mHealth: mobile health PICO: population, intervention, comparison, and outcome PROSPERO: International prospective register of systematic reviews RCT: randomized controlled trial RoB 2: version 2 of Cochrane's risk-of-bias tool ROM: range of motion SMD: standardized mean difference TKA: total knee arthroplasty TR: telerehabilitation TUG: Timed Up and Go

Edited by T Leung; submitted 06.01.22; peer-reviewed by H Ayatollahi, N Chekin, BF Kocyigit; comments to author 09.03.22; revised version received 14.06.22; accepted 02.08.22; published 01.09.22.

Please cite as:

Jirasakulsuk N, Saengpromma P, Khruakhorn S Real-Time Telerehabilitation in Older Adults With Musculoskeletal Conditions: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e36028 URL: <u>https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36028</u> doi:<u>10.2196/36028</u> PMID:<u>36048520</u>

©Nathaphon Jirasakulsuk, Pattaridaporn Saengpromma, Santhanee Khruakhorn. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 01.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Original Paper**

# Lessons Learned From Clinicians and Stroke Survivors About Using Telerehabilitation Combined With Exergames: Multiple Case Study

Dorra Rakia Allegue<sup>1,2\*</sup>, PhD; Shane Norman Sweet<sup>1,3\*</sup>, PhD; Johanne Higgins<sup>1,2\*</sup>, PhD; Philippe S Archambault<sup>1,4\*</sup>, PhD; Francois Michaud<sup>5\*</sup>, PhD; William C Miller<sup>6\*</sup>, PhD; Michel Tousignant<sup>7,8\*</sup>, PhD; Dahlia Kairy<sup>1,2\*</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>The Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal, Institut universitaire sur la réadaptation en déficience physique de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

<sup>2</sup>School of Rehabilitation, Université de Montréal, Montreal, QC, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Department of Kinesiology and Physical Education, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

<sup>4</sup>School of Physical and Occupational Therapy, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

<sup>6</sup>Department of Occupational Science & Occupational Therapy, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

<sup>7</sup>School of Rehabilitation, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

<sup>8</sup>Research Centre on Aging (CdRV), Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

## **Corresponding Author:**

Dorra Rakia Allegue, PhD The Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal Institut universitaire sur la réadaptation en déficience physique de Montréal 6363 Chemin Hudson Montreal, QC, H3S1M9 Canada Phone: 1 438 990 1309 Email: <u>dorra.rakia.allegue@umontreal.ca</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** In Canada, stroke survivors have difficulty accessing community-based rehabilitation services because of a lack of resources. VirTele, a personalized remote rehabilitation program combining virtual reality exergames and telerehabilitation, was developed to provide stroke survivors an opportunity to pursue rehabilitation of their chronic upper extremity (UE) deficits at home while receiving ongoing follow-up from a clinician.

**Objective:** We aimed to identify the behavioral and motivational techniques used by clinicians during the VirTele intervention, explore the indicators of empowerment among stroke survivors, and investigate the determinants of VirTele use among stroke survivors and clinicians.

**Methods:** This multiple case study involved 3 stroke survivors with chronic UE deficits and their respective clinicians (physiotherapists) who participated in the VirTele intervention, a 2-month remote rehabilitation intervention that uses nonimmersive virtual reality exergames and telerehabilitation aimed at improving UE deficits in stroke survivors. Study participants had autonomous access to Jintronix exergames and were asked to use them for 30 minutes, 5 times a week. The VirTele intervention included 1-hour videoconference sessions with a clinician 1 to 3 times a week, during which the clinician engaged in motivational interviewing, supervised the stroke survivors' use of the exergames, and monitored their use of the affected UE through activities of daily living. Semidirected interviews were conducted with the clinicians and stroke survivors 4 to 5 weeks after the end of the VirTele intervention. All interviews were audiorecorded and transcribed verbatim. An abductive thematic analysis was conducted to generate new ideas through a dynamic interaction between data and theory.

**Results:** Three stroke survivors (n=2, 67%, women and n=1, 33%, man), with a mean age of 58.8 (SD 19.4) years, and 2 physiotherapists participated in the study. Five major determinants of VirTele use emerged from the qualitative analyses, namely technology performance (usefulness and perception of exergames), effort (ease of use), family support (encouragement), facilitators (considerations of the stroke survivors' safety as well as trust and understanding of instructions), and challenges (miscommunication and exergame limits). During the VirTele intervention, both clinicians used motivational and behavioral techniques to support

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Department of Electrical Engineering and Computer Engineering, Université de Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

autonomy, competence, and connectivity. All these attributes were reflected as empowerment indicators in the stroke survivors. Lessons learned from using telerehabilitation combined with exergames are provided, which will be relevant to other researchers and contexts.

**Conclusions:** This multiple case study provides a first glimpse into the impact that motivational interviewing can have on adherence to exergames and changes in behavior in the use of the affected UE in stroke survivors. Lessons learned regarding the supportive role caregivers play and the new responsibilities clinicians have when using the VirTele intervention may inform the use of exergames via telerehabilitation. These lessons will also serve as a model to guide the implementation of similar interventions.

#### International Registered Report Identifier (IRRID): RR2-10.2196/14629

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e31305) doi:10.2196/31305

### **KEYWORDS**

stroke; rehabilitation; virtual reality; video games; telerehabilitation; upper extremity; motivation

## Introduction

## Background

In Canada, stroke survivors have difficulty accessing community-based rehabilitation services because of a lack of resources [1]. Evidence indicates that there is potential for recovery, even several years after stroke [1,2]. However, rehabilitation services are generally provided in the acute and postacute stages [1]. A common long-term consequence of stroke is hemiparesis, or weakness on one side of the body, leading to loss of upper extremity (UE) motor function with a significant long-term impact on everyday activities [3]. Given the chronic nature of stroke, it is essential to develop interventions that provide community-dwelling stroke survivors opportunities for further personalized training.

Telerehabilitation and virtual reality technologies could play an important role in providing novel rehabilitation approaches to optimize stroke recovery in the chronic phases, as suggested by Canadian stroke guidelines [1]. More specifically, telerehabilitation can be used to increase accessibility to rehabilitation programs and follow-up for persons no longer receiving rehabilitation (or discharged from intensive rehabilitation), whereas virtual reality technologies, which involve engaging activities for practice, can provide the intensity needed for optimal recovery. Moreover, behavioral and motivational techniques [4] could be used with these technologies to empower stroke survivors to continue exercising and using their affected UE in everyday activities (eg, brushing their hair, getting dressed, and eating). A few studies have examined the combined use of telerehabilitation and virtual reality technologies in stroke survivors [5-7]. These studies reported an improvement in UE motor function and high adherence to the treatment plan, which suggests that adding a motivational component to the technology may foster gains and changes in behavior in the long term.

# VirTele: Virtual Reality Combined With Telerehabilitation

VirTele, a personalized remote rehabilitation program combining virtual reality exergames and telerehabilitation, was developed to provide stroke survivors an opportunity to pursue rehabilitation of their chronic UE deficits at home while receiving ongoing follow-up from a clinician [8]. More

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e31305
```

specifically, VirTele used Jintronix exergames [9] and the Reacts platform (Koninklijke Philips NV) [10] to provide personalized training for the UE and enable videoconference sessions with a clinician, respectively. At the time of the intervention, the Jintronix exergames included 5 types of UE games (Space Race, Fish Frenzy, Pop Clap, Apple Picking, and Kitchen Cleanup) performed in a sitting position. The performance of the affected UE (score, percentage of compensation, and number of repetitions) and the duration and number of sessions played can be accessed on the web through a clinician portal within the Jintronix system. Reacts is an internet-based audiovisual platform that can be used through a computer or mobile phone to conduct secure videoconferences and share content (images, videos, messages, etc). It enables screen sharing (viewing the participant's computer screen) to supervise in real time the stroke survivors' performance, provide direct feedback, and adjust difficulty level in collaboration with the stroke survivors, taking into account their preferences and capacities (as observed during real-time Reacts sessions and through the data available on the Jintronix web portal).

An initial study was conducted with a stroke survivor to test the VirTele technology and study protocol during the development phase of the intervention [11]. The results showed that it was feasible to use the VirTele program for remote UE rehabilitation [11]. Meaningful determinants of technology use were identified, including performance (perceived improvement in UE use during daily activities and unlimited time of exercises), effort (feeling comfortable using VirTele and experiencing only minor technical issues, which the stroke survivor could easily resolve), and social influence (positive feedback from family and friends) [11]. Preliminary efficacy results showed improvement in UE motor function, UE quality and quantity of use in activities of daily living, and quality of life [11]. Hence, there is interest in studying this technology further to explore varied experiences among more participants, including clinicians and stroke survivors.

# Sustaining Gains Through Behavior Modification and Shared Decision-making

Behavior-modification strategies (eg, patient-centered counseling, action planning, and self-monitoring) have been implemented in exercise promotion interventions to enhance motivation, exercise participation, and maintenance [12-14].

XSL•FO RenderX

As gains achieved during rehabilitation are not always maintained in the long term [15], chronic-stroke survivors may benefit from such behavior-modification strategies when they are integrated into postrehabilitation programs. These strategies could be used to empower stroke survivors to continue exercising and using their UE in everyday activities (eg, brushing their hair, getting dressed, and eating). Furthermore, there is increased recognition that programs aimed at changing behaviors should have a strong theoretical basis [16]. Self-determination theory (SDT) [17] states that human beings have a natural tendency to autonomously pursue goals or achieve healthy changes when 3 of their psychological needs are satisfied, namely autonomy (a person's ability to act according to their own values and aspirations), competence (a person's belief in their ability to achieve changes), and connectivity (a feeling of belonging) [17]. Therefore, social environments where the clinician engages in a partner relationship with the stroke survivor while supporting their autonomy (shared decision-making, choice of exergames, etc), competence (the stroke survivor's belief in their capacity to achieve their goals, etc), and connectivity (a nonjudgmental interaction) may result in greater autonomous motivation [18]. Previous studies [19,20] demonstrated that support of the 3 psychological needs predicted greater autonomous motivation, which resulted in better adherence to exercises. A recent meta-analysis of SDT-informed interventions [21] found small-to-medium effects of physical health outcomes (physical fitness and function, weight-related outcomes, blood pressure, etc) at the end of the interventions and during the follow-up period (ranging from 1 week to 30 months after the interventions). As autonomous motivation is a key element for developing maintained change, a supportive psychological needs environment should be integrated into the VirTele intervention. Thus, motivational interviewing [22], consistent with SDT, was incorporated into the VirTele program to ensure that shared decision-making and empowerment were consistently integrated into the intervention. The behavioral and motivational techniques incorporated into motivational interviewing may enhance autonomous motivation to adhere to the treatment plan and change behavior regarding UE use in activities of daily living. In addition, combining real-time videoconferencing (telerehabilitation) with virtual reality technology could allow for adequately monitored and engaging theory-based UE rehabilitation programs, which may enhance stroke survivors' empowerment and sustain gains in the long term.

Eventually, the SDT-informed VirTele intervention may not only help patients and clinicians decide together on the best treatment options but also allow clinicians to identify potential problems once the patient has reintegrated into the community. Thus, this study will also document the experiences of the stroke survivor as well as the clinician when using the VirTele program, which are key aspects for the successful eventual implementation of such interventions.

The objectives of this study were as follows:

- 1. Identify behavioral and motivational techniques used by clinicians during the VirTele intervention.
- 2. Explore indicators of empowerment among stroke survivors.

XSL•FC RenderX 3. Investigate the determinants of VirTele use among stroke survivors and clinicians.

# Methods

## **Study Design**

This study used a multiple case design, which allows extensive data collection with varied methods across different cases [23]. This design enables the exploration of the studied phenomenon across a more varied range of characteristics compared with a single-case model [23]. The unit of analysis in this multiple case study is each stroke survivor and their respective clinician (physiotherapist) participating in the VirTele intervention. A range of experiences in terms of age, sex, familiarity with technology, and living arrangements were sought.

## Context

This multiple case study is embedded into a 2-armed randomized clinical trial comparing an experimental group (receiving the VirTele intervention) with a control group (receiving standard care) in Montreal, Quebec, Canada, and registered with ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT03759106) [8].

The qualitative data were collected between June 2019 and August 2020 by the first author (DRA; who was not involved in the VirTele intervention), a PhD student under the supervision of DK and JH who had previous experience in qualitative research and stroke rehabilitation research. This multiple case study was reported according to the Standards for Reporting Qualitative Research [24].

#### Sampling Strategy and Participants

This study targeted the stroke survivors who were assigned to the experimental group receiving the VirTele intervention in the context of the 2-armed randomized clinical trial and who had completed the 2-month program. This group of stroke survivors was screened for eligibility before enrollment, and participants were selected based on the inclusion and exclusion criteria described in the published protocol (refer to the Participant Selection and Recruitment Strategy section) [8]. The clinicians included in the main study were physiotherapists who had experience with stroke rehabilitation. All participants had to speak French or English.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

This study received ethics approval from the research ethics board of the Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal (review number CRIR-1319-0218; June 28, 2018) [8]. All participants provided informed written consent before starting the VirTele intervention.

#### VirTele Protocol

The VirTele intervention protocol is illustrated in Figure 1. The stroke survivors were invited to use Jintronix exergames for 30 minutes at least 5 times a week and conduct 1-hour videoconference sessions with a clinician, using Reacts, for a period of 2-months. The videoconference sessions took place 3 times a week for the first 2 weeks, twice a week for the next 2 weeks, and then once a week for the remaining 4 weeks [8].

The clinicians only received training to familiarize themselves with the VirTele technology (Jintronix exergames and Reacts platform) because they were already trained in motivational interviewing (including SDT concepts), an approach they had been using in their practice for >2 years before the study began. Although SDT and motivational interviewing were developed independently, a resemblance exists between them [25]. In fact, motivational interviewing techniques [4] are consistent with the 3 psychological needs of SDT [25]; for example, motivational interviewing promotes shared decision-making (selection of treatment goals, exercises, etc), behavior change techniques (such as express advantages and disadvantages of change, goal setting, and review of goals) [26], and reflective listening (shows empathy), which emphasize autonomy, competence, and connectivity, respectively [4]. Thus, motivational interviewing, including motivational and behavioral techniques, was achieved through videoconferencing sessions conducted using the Reacts platform (Figure 1).

Figure 1. Representation of the theoretical and technological components of the VirTele intervention.



## Determinants of VirTele Acceptability Among End Users

The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) [27] was used to explore the factors that may influence VirTele adoption intention and use behavior among stroke survivors and clinicians, to fulfill the third objective of this study. The UTAUT states that the intention to adopt a new technology is determined by 3 main factors: expected performance (the degree to which the technology is perceived as helpful and useful), expected effort (ease of use and complexity associated with using the technology), and social influence (positive or negative feedback that family and friends may have regarding the technology) [27]. In addition to the intention to adopt a new technology, contextual conditions (such as the ability and knowledge to use a new technology and interoperability) may facilitate the use behavior regarding the technology [27].

The UTAUT also incorporates 4 moderators—age, sex, experience, and willingness to use—that can influence technology adoption intention and use behavior [27]. In the context of this study, it is interesting to capture the expectations of users as well as their actual experiences to see whether the technology meets the needs of end users. Operational definitions of the UTAUT and concrete examples are provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.

## **Data Collection**

Triangulation was used for this multiple case study. This involved the use of various methods to collect qualitative data [28]. First, semistructured interviews (lasting from 30 minutes to 1 hour) were conducted 4 to 5 weeks after the end of the VirTele intervention with the stroke survivors and clinicians. Two interview guides were developed and tailored to the clinicians (eg, What was your role or responsibility during VirTele? Did you have any concerns when you first started using the technology?) and the stroke survivors (eg, Did you perceive any change in your arm function? Can you describe this change?) to facilitate the interview administration while allowing new ideas to emerge. Questions were structured to target the key concepts of each theory. Key UTAUT concepts were used to identify major factors that influenced the VirTele experience in the stroke survivors as well as the clinicians. For the stroke survivors, SDT concepts were used to explore the indicators of empowerment in terms of autonomy, competence, and connectivity. For the clinicians, SDT was used to identify which motivational interviewing technique was used and which need was supported (autonomy, competence, or connectivity) when interacting with the stroke survivors. The interview took place either face to face at the research center or remotely through the Reacts platform.

Second, logbooks were used by the clinicians to collect data related to technical difficulties, number of videoconference meetings, complementary activities suggested in addition to the

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

exergames, and motivational strategies used. Third, reflexive notes were used by the researchers to collect VirTele intervention–context-related data (technical difficulties, adverse events, etc). Demographic information about the stroke survivors was also collected. A sample size of 10 stroke survivors and 4 clinicians was targeted to diversify the experiences and enrich the data. However, only data saturation can predict the final sample size [29].

#### **Data Analysis and Processing**

Abductive thematic analysis was conducted. This type of analysis seeks to go beyond inductive and deductive reasoning [30]. By adopting this approach, researchers can generate new ideas through a dynamic interaction between data and theory [30]. First, a predetermined coding scheme was developed based on UTAUT and SDT constructs. Next, the transcript text was examined to identify which meaning unit reflected one of the predetermined codes. Codes and assemblies were frequently revised, and relevant new codes were assigned to meaning units that could not be coded or categorized within the initial scheme codes. Finally, the new codes were examined and either represented as subcategories (reflecting border concepts related to the UTAUT or SDT) or new categories of codes (enriching the corpus of existing theories).

QDA Miner (Provalis Research) [31] was used to enter the list of predetermined scheme codes and retrieve the highlighted text into meaning units, which were condensed and then coded and categorized using the scheme codes.

In each case, the stroke survivors' and clinicians' experiences with the VirTele intervention and indicators of SDT variables

Table 1. Stroke survivor sociodemographic da
--

were developed and examined independently and across the duos (stroke survivors and clinicians) for a within-case comparison. Next, experiences were examined among cases, using a cross-case analysis, to explore differences and similarities regarding the determinants of VirTele use and indicators of SDT variables. Underlying similarities and constant associations were then developed to form more general explanations. The analysis was conducted by 3 members of the research team (DRA, DK, and JH). The verbatim transcripts were translated from French into English for publication and verified by bilingual team members (DRA and DK).

#### Rigor

The principles of Lincoln and Guba [32], including confirmability, credibility, reliability, and transferability, were applied to ensure study rigor. Audit trails and verification were conducted to ensure confirmability. An external verification by members was carried out for credibility. Reliability was confirmed through verification of a portion of the data by 3 coders (DRA, DK, and JH). For transferability, reflexive notes and a detailed description of the context of the intervention were compiled. The variation in the cases may increase the robustness of the qualitative data [29].

## Results

#### Sociodemographic Data of Stroke Survivors

Five stroke survivors were assigned to the intervention group and completed the VirTele intervention (Table 1).

Variable	Stroke survivor ID						
	1	2	5	10	11		
Age (years)	41	67	89	47	50		
Sex	Female	Male	Female	Male	Male		
Dominance	Right-handed	Right-handed	Right-handed	Right-handed	Ambidextrous		
Year of stroke	2014	2011	2014	2010	2017		
Stroke side	Right	Left	Right	Right	Right		
Chedoke-McMaster stroke assessment score	Stage 3	Stage 3	Stage 5	Stage 4	Stage 4		
Living arrangement	Living with family	Living with spouse	Living with daughter	Living alone	Living with spouse		
Computer familiarity	Very comfortable, ac- cessible at home, and use less than once a month	Comfortable, accessible at home, and use one or more times a week	Not comfortable, ac- cessible at home, and never use	A little comfortable, accessible at home, and use once a week	Very comfortable, acces- sible at home, and use one or more times a week		

However, recruitment was halted in mid-March 2020 at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada, and all research activities were suspended from March 2020 to October 2020. Of the 5 stroke survivors allocated to the VirTele group, 1 (20%) could not be reached to conduct the interview, and 1 (20%) was excluded because he did not speak French or English fluently. Of the 3 remaining stroke survivors, 2 (67%) were women (participant ID1 and participant ID5), and 1 (33%) was a man

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e31305
```

that it was impossible to retrieve the technology material during JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022 | vol. 9 | iss. 3 |e31305 | p.130 (page number not for citation purposes)

(participant ID11); their mean age was 58.8 (SD 19.4) years,

and they varied in terms of computer familiarity,

Chedoke-McMaster stroke assessment score, time since stroke,

and dominance of UE. Two physiotherapists participated in administering the VirTele intervention. Participant ID11

received a 3-month VirTele intervention instead of 2 months,

as was the case for participant ID1 and participant ID5, given

the COVID-19 pandemic period. We decided to give this participant the opportunity to benefit from the services offered by this technology for an additional month. For readability, each participant was given a pseudonym: participant ID1 identified as Carolina, participant ID5 identified as Helene, and participant ID11 identified as Jack.

### **Case Description and Comparison**

A detailed case description of the 3 duos (stroke survivor and respective clinician), collected from the interviews, logbooks, and exergame portal, is provided in Multimedia Appendix 2. A

summary of the techniques used by the clinicians during motivational interviewing and their impact on stroke survivor empowerment, collected from logbooks and interviews, is provided in Table 2. The differences among the 3 cases are illustrated in Multimedia Appendix 3. The determinants of VirTele use, as expressed by the stroke survivors and clinicians during the interviews, are presented in Table 3. Although we did not reach our target sample size because of the COVID-19 pandemic, the data collected from the 5 participants allowed us to achieve a certain level of data saturation because many of the reported experiences were repeated across cases.



Allegue et al

Table 2. Indicators of support of psychological needs and empowerment<sup>a</sup>.

Category	Support of psychological nee	eds by the clinician	Stroke survivor empowerment
	Technique used to change behavior <sup>b</sup>	Strategies specific to VirTele <sup>c</sup>	
Autonomy			
	9.2: Allows participant to express advantages and dis- advantages	Gives the participant an opportunity to talk about $UE^d$ use in daily activities and the difficulties encountered	Speaks about UE use in daily activities
	N/A <sup>e</sup>	Changes the difficulty parameters of the exergames according to participant preferences	Chooses the parameters of difficulty in exergames ("Make it faster, make it slower")
	N/A	Shared decision-making	Makes decisions related to choice of exergames and level of difficulty
Competence			
	15.1: Verbal persuasion about capability	Answers participants' questions and helps solve problem discussed	"If I had a problem or a question, I'd text him"
	1.1: Goal setting	Shows the participant how to perform stretches and exercises with affected arm	Feeling supported to perform exercises and arm stretches through demonstration and encouragement
	1.5: Review of goals	Demonstrates exercises in exergames	Feels supported to play exergames and use UE in activities of daily living because of advice given on performance
	1.1: Goal setting	Gives advices on performance during exergames	Feels supported to use exergames because of advice, demonstrations, and feedback
	1.4: Action planning	Celebrates small successes	N/A
	1.2: Problem-solving	Encourages participant to maintain some postures, even for a few seconds	N/A
	2.7: Feedback on behavior results (positive feedback)	N/A	N/A
	2.2: Feedback on behavior	N/A	N/A
	7.1: Prompts and cues	N/A	N/A
Connectivity			
	N/A	Has a calm way of speaking	Feels comfortable and finds it easy to be around, and work with, the clinician
	N/A	Establishes a trust relationship	Feels comfortable interacting with the clinician
	N/A	Uses reflective listening (expresses empathy)	Finds the clinician to be kind
	N/A	Listens and acknowledges the participant's opinion	N/A
	N/A	Is patient and enthusiastic	N/A

<sup>a</sup>The indicators of support of psychological needs and empowerment for each participant are provided in more detail in Multimedia Appendix 3 to reflect the differences and similarities among the 3 cases.

<sup>b</sup>The behavior change techniques reported in the table are based on the taxonomy of Michie et al [26], who proposed 93 clustered behavior change techniques. To make it easier for the reader to find the techniques used in our study in the taxonomy of Michie et al [26], the number assigned to each technique is reported in the table.

<sup>c</sup>A program that combines nonimmersive virtual reality exergames and telerehabilitation.

<sup>d</sup>UE: upper extremity.

<sup>e</sup>N/A: not applicable.



Table 3. Determinants of VirTele<sup>a</sup> use.

Category	Subcategory of codes	
	Stroke survivors	Clinicians
Performance	e	·
	Relative advantage	Relative advantage
	Perceived limits of exergames	Stroke survivor empowerment
	Stroke survivors' perception of exergames	Perceived limits of exergames
	Perceived change in the affected arm use	Stroke survivors' perception of exergames
	Awareness of usefulness of the technology	Perceived change in the affected arm use
	Stroke survivors' adherence to exergames	Clinician's instructions and demonstrations of exercises through technology
	Stroke survivors' experience with exergames	Clinicians are apprehensive about demonstrating exercise through technology
	N/A <sup>b</sup>	Clinicians' role in VirTele context
Effort		
	Managing technical issues	Managing technical issues
	Perceived ease of use of the technology	Perceived ease of use of the technology
Social influe	nce	
	Feedback from family and friends, agreement, and assistance with the technology	N/A
	Clinician support and encouragement	N/A
Contextual f	acilitating conditions	
	N/A	Stroke survivor safety
	N/A	Stroke survivor capacity to understand the clinician's instructions
	N/A	Trust between clinicians and stroke survivors
	N/A	Clinicians' apprehension related to stroke survivors' trust
<b>Contextual</b> of	challenges	
	Comfort in using the technology	Miscommunication between the stroke survivor and clinician
	Internet access	N/A
	Miscommunication between the stroke survivor and clinician	N/A

<sup>a</sup>A program that combines nonimmersive virtual reality exergames and telerehabilitation. <sup>b</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### **Determinants of VirTele Use**

Differences and similarities have emerged regarding the determinants of VirTele use between the duos (stroke survivor and clinician).

### Performance

#### **Relative Advantages**

In terms of relative advantages, the clinicians believed that VirTele facilitated access to rehabilitation services and that exergames and follow-up enhanced stroke survivor motivation and compliance to the rehabilitation program. A clinician felt that the feedback (scores of games and clinician feedback) and the follow-up increased stroke survivor empowerment. Neither the clinicians nor the stroke survivors expressed expectations regarding the benefits of the VirTele program, and only apprehensions were reported.

#### **Stroke Survivors' Perceptions of Exergames**

The stroke survivors had different perceptions of the exergames (perceived either as an instrument of play or a therapeutic intervention). Helene compared the exergames with "bridge card games" and stated that she liked to win, which motivated her to continue playing during the 2-month intervention. Jack initially showed some apprehension, which diminished with practice, regarding the therapeutic value of the exergames.

#### Perceived Change in Use of Affected Arm

All stroke survivors demonstrated high adherence to the exergames; however, only Carolina and Helene expressed an intention to use the affected UE in daily activities, which was maintained after the end of the VirTele intervention. Jack had

expressed no intention to use the affected UE in daily activities, which was corroborated by the clinicians. Helene experienced no improvement in motor function. She reported no change in her arm function but said that she had begun to use her arm in daily activities.

### **Clinicians' Role in VirTele Context**

From the clinicians' perspective, their main role when using VirTele can be summarized in terms of the following tasks: adjust the difficulty level of the exergames, monitor the stroke survivors' adherence to the exergames and their compliance to carrying out activities of daily living, observe the movements during the exergames, correct postures and movements, and act as coaches to motivate the stroke survivors and encourage and maintain adherence.

# Instructions and Demonstration of Exercises Through Technology

With regard to demonstrating the exercises through the videoconference technology, without physical contact (hands-on demonstrations), the clinicians reported considerable apprehension, which subsided later because the stroke survivors were able to correctly comprehend the instructions. In addition, the clinicians were able to demonstrate the exercise through clear, concise, and simple instructions, which was challenging at times because of the participants' loss of attention (not listening to the instructions or sound getting cut off).

# Perceived Limits of Exergames and Stroke Survivors' Experience

The clinicians pointed out some limits of the exergames that may influence technology performance, such as limited choice of exergames, which could become repetitive (significant focus on shoulder movements); limited parameters of difficulty; and insufficient rest time between sets of repetitions (users need to click the pause button manually). This feedback was provided by Jack. According to one of the clinicians, the lack of diversification in the difficulty parameters may induce a ceiling effect in terms of difficulty, which can be demotivating for the stroke survivor.

Helene and Carolina reported a problem with the avatar in some of the games (the avatar did not always follow the real movements). The clinicians believe that the avatar issues were related to not following recalibration instructions before starting the game, an important phase that allows the Kinect camera (Microsoft Corporation) to capture both arms and recalibrate the degrees of movement in each limb, enabling better control over the avatar.

## Effort

With regard to effort, the clinicians as well as the stroke survivors encountered technological issues (eg, the screen froze or slowed down, and the sound or the internet connection were cut off), which caused some frustration among the stroke survivors. The issues were managed either by the research team or the clinician (telephone support) or by the stroke survivors themselves or with the help of a family member (restarting the computer, reconnecting to the internet, etc).

All of the clinicians and stroke survivors, except Helene, found the technology intuitive and user friendly. Helene needed the help of a family member to turn on and use the VirTele intervention.

## Social Influence (Only for Stroke Survivors)

Positive feedback from friends and family, after seeing or hearing about the system, encouraged the stroke survivors to start or continue using the VirTele intervention. The clinicians also played an important role in supporting (demonstration, instructions, advice, etc) and encouraging the stroke survivors to adhere to the exergames and use the affected UE in daily activities. This may have contributed to their empowerment. Further details regarding stroke survivor empowerment are provided in Table 2.

## **Contextual Facilitators and Challenges**

According to the clinicians, 3 main factors facilitated their use of the VirTele intervention: the stroke survivors' safety (the exergames were performed in a sitting position, and no adverse events occurred), the capacity of the participants to comprehend their instructions through the technology, and the trust relationship established with the stroke survivors (through shared decision-making), regarding which the clinicians were apprehensive before the intervention.

The main challenge encountered by a clinician with Jack was that the stroke survivor had been diagnosed with aphasia. This led to miscommunication between the clinician and Jack, as well as frustration for the latter. Thus, the clinician encountered difficulty in carrying out the motivational interviews and customizing the intervention according to Jack's needs because these were not well understood. Furthermore, challenges related to lack of comfort in using the technology (unfamiliarity with computers) and limited access to the internet were problems that both Helene and Jack had to deal with.

## **Clinicians' Recommendations Regarding the Use of the VirTele Intervention**

In the clinicians' interviews, some meaning units, reflecting different recommendations related to the use of the VirTele program, were assembled. They are presented as a bulleted list in Multimedia Appendix 4. Lessons can be learned from these recommendations (Textbox 1) regarding the use of telerehabilitation combined with exergames. In fact, these lessons provide relevant instructions for the use of exergames via telerehabilitation and suggest useful strategies to optimize the potential of this technology for the rehabilitation of the affected UE.



Textbox 1. Lessons learned about using telerehabilitation combined with exergames.

#### Lessons learned from clinicians' recommendations

- Both stroke survivors and clinicians are receptive to using the technology, despite technological limitations.
- The caregiver has a supportive role in using the technology, particularly among stroke survivors who are not familiar with IT.
- The clinicians' transition into the new roles and responsibilities may be facilitated by considerations of the stroke survivors' safety, capacity to understand the instructions, and trust.
- Aphasia may lead to frustration among stroke survivors when interacting with clinicians, but it does not affect technology use.
- The use of telerehabilitation combined with exergames may empower stroke survivors, through autonomy, competence, and connectivity, and increase frequency of use of the affected upper extremity in activities of daily living during and after the end of the VirTele intervention.

## Discussion

The objectives of this multiple case study were to (1) identify behavioral and motivational techniques used by clinicians during the VirTele intervention, (2) explore indicators of empowerment among stroke survivors, and (3) investigate the determinants of VirTele use among stroke survivors and clinicians.

## **Principal Findings**

## Indicators of Empowerment and Support of Psychological Needs

The clinicians used numerous motivational interviewing strategies that helped to create supportive psychological needs environments. The stroke survivors demonstrated empowerment at different levels in term of autonomy, competence, and connectivity. This is likely to result in better management of self-care, more independence from clinicians, and increased motivation to pursue a rehabilitation program [33]. In fact, all participants used the exergames and achieved a great amount of autonomous use of the platform (the number of autonomous exergame sessions ranged from 37 to 68). More importantly, Carolina and Helene continued using their affected UE in daily activities and self-directed exercises after the end of the VirTele intervention.

Jack did not express any intention to use his UE in daily activities after the end of the VirTele program, although he used his UE in self-directed exercises during the VirTele program as per the clinician's recommendations and instructions. Jack may have been externally motivated, which means that he wanted to change only for external reasons, not because he wanted to; for example, he performed an exercise because the clinician asked him to, or he used the exergames because he knew that he was being monitored. In addition, Jack's indicators of empowerment were less developed at the connectivity and competence levels, which can be explained by the miscommunication challenge that he faced (because of his aphasia diagnosis). In fact, Jack's clinician pointed out that Jack's needs were not well understood. This made it difficult to customize the program and provide adequate support for competence and left little space for a sense of connectivity and belonginess. Therefore, the lack of participant empowerment in terms of autonomy, competence, and connectivity may reflect externally regulated motivation, rather than internal motivation, which often involves short-term changes (eg, stopping use of the UE after the end of the VirTele program).

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e31305
```

Helene also demonstrated external motivation because she stated that she continued to use the exergames to win, not to exercise her UE, because she did not perceive any significant change with her UE. However, external motivation can be internalized and accepted to lead to effective changes [17]. At the end of the VirTele intervention, Helene reported that she had started self-directed exercises to avoid deterioration of her health condition and even started using her affected UE more frequently, which may reflect a self-regulated or self-identified motivation [17]. It is also important to note that other factors may increase autonomous motivation in stroke survivors, such as enjoyment during exergames or when improvements are perceived. This should be further examined in future studies.

Furthermore, recommendations reported by the clinicians reflecting what they learned from using VirTele were also provided, although these data were supplementary to, and not the original focus of, the study (Multimedia Appendix 4). These recommendations can be relevant to other researchers and transferable to other populations and contexts when incorporating virtual reality and telerehabilitation technologies.

## Determinants of VirTele Use

Among the main determinants that were identified from the UTAUT, performance stood out as being meaningful in the 3 cases. In fact, the clinicians as well as the stroke survivors perceived relative advantages of the VirTele intervention compared with standard therapy (facilitating access to therapy and enhancing motivation) and felt comfortable interacting with each other.

The main role of the clinician during the VirTele intervention was to monitor the use of the affected UE by the stroke survivor through self-directed exergames and activities of daily living, which aims to enhance the stroke survivor's autonomy to continue using their affected UE after the end of the intervention. This is particularly relevant in the chronic stage of stroke because not all stroke survivors have access to rehabilitation services after discharge [1]. The VirTele program could be offered at the end of inpatient rehabilitation to learn how to self-manage the UE rehabilitation at home, while being closely monitored by a clinician.

The limits of the exergames, as pointed out by the clinicians and stroke survivors, may have reduced the technology performance with regard to attaining the individual stroke survivors' goals. However, it did not seem to affect the behavioral intention and use behavior regarding the technology

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

among the clinicians and stroke survivors. Furthermore, family members ended up playing a supportive role (managing technical difficulties, supporting technology use, and motivating the participant and encouraging VirTele use) during the VirTele program, particularly with Helene who was not familiar with computers.

Communication difficulties, such as those resulting from Jack's aphasia diagnosis, were considered the main challenge to motivational interviewing administration, which led to frustration for Jack, but did not affect technology use among the stroke survivors. Furthermore, 3 factors were identified by the clinicians as facilitators of technology use including trust, considerations for the participants' safety, and their capacity to comprehend the clinician's instructions. In addition to these factors, the previous experiences of the clinicians in motivational interviewing and their ease of use of the VirTele intervention may have facilitated the transition to their new roles and responsibilities in the VirTele context. This also suggests that the VirTele intervention may be easily transferred into actual clinical practice to offer stroke survivors opportunities for practice and to change their unhealthy behaviors.

#### **Comparison With Prior Work**

This study's results corroborate the findings in the study by Caughlin et al [34], which confirmed the supportive role of caregivers during telerehabilitation interventions (facilitating the use of the technology). The high level of adherence to the exergames and the increased use of UE in stroke survivors echo the findings of a previous systematic review [21], which found that interventions involving tailored counseling strategies such as goal setting and monitoring, motivational interviewing, and follow-up seem to be effective at promoting long-term physical activity participation after stroke. Furthermore, the use of the affected UE in self-directed exercises may result in improved motor function. At this stage of the study only the evaluations of the first few participants of the randomized clinical trial [35] were performed, and firm conclusions cannot be drawn regarding the results obtained on the sensorimotor measures. However, a trend in improvement was observed regarding motor function measured using the Fugl-Meyer Assessment [35] in Carolina and Jack as well as UE activity measured using the Motor Activity Log [35] (quality and quantity of use) in all participants. These gains were maintained 2 months after completion of the VirTele intervention [35]. The high adherence to the exercise program demonstrated by the participants could optimize the motor gains. In addition, the change in behavior with respect to the use of the UE in daily activities, as observed in Carolina and Helene, could justify the maintenance of the gains in the long term. Furthermore, it is important to note that Jack, who did not intend to use the affected UE after the end of the VirTele program, still managed to maintain long-term gains (improvements noted in the Fugl-Meyer Assessment and Motor Activity Log scores [35]), highlighting the importance of adhering to the VirTele program and its potential to maximize gains.

In a previous study, Sit et al [36] found that stroke survivors (n=105) receiving motivational techniques similar to those in our study (encouragement, verbal persuasion, goal setting, partner relationship between the clinician and the patient, action plan, and self-management steps) significantly improved functional indices (Barthel and Lawton indices, which are scales used to assess activities of daily life performance on independent living) and self-management outcomes (medication adherence, self-monitoring of blood pressure, communication with physician, etc) compared with a control group receiving standard care. Hence, further research is needed to explore the correlation between motivational interviewing and UE motor function outcomes among stroke survivors.

Moreover, the determinants of VirTele use, identified through this study, are in part consistent with the determinants reported by other studies deploying telerehabilitation [37] and virtual reality exergames [38]. Despite the technical issues, the 3 participants were receptive to the VirTele program and continued using the system, which echoes the findings of previous studies among stroke patients and clinicians using telerehabilitation [34].

### Limitations

Participants' expectations regarding the VirTele intervention before the start of the study were not documented. Therefore, it was not clear whether the intervention met the participants' expectations, which could affect technology acceptability and their compliance to the rehabilitation program. Future studies could investigate expectations before the start of the intervention to better capture end user expectations of similar interventions. Furthermore, given the small sample size, the results of this study should be interpreted with caution.

## Conclusions

In conclusion, the factors predicting intention to use the VirTele intervention and use behavior among stroke survivors and clinicians include technology performance, effort, social influence, contextual facilitators, and challenges. The empowerment attained by stroke survivors is promising for the future deployment of such an intervention to encourage the use of the affected UE in activities of daily living and achieve impactful long-term improvement. The lessons learned from this study regarding the resilience of stroke survivors and adaptability of clinicians with respect to technology limitations, role of the caregiver, new responsibilities of clinicians during the VirTele intervention, impact of aphasia diagnosis, and empowerment of stroke survivors may help to guide the implementation of similar interventions. However, further studies in different contexts are needed to better understand the factors affecting intention to use such technologies and use behavior.



## Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (385297; 2017) and a scholarship from the Mission Universitaire de Tunisie. The funding sources had no involvement in the conduct of the research or the preparation of the article. Special thanks to all the study participants who made this study possible.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Operational definitions. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 115 KB - rehab\_v9i3e31305\_app1.pdf ]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Case description. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 197 KB - rehab\_v9i3e31305\_app2.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Indicators of empowerment and support of psychological needs among the 3 cases. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 117 KB - rehab v9i3e31305 app3.pdf]

## Multimedia Appendix 4

Clinicians' recommendations regarding using telerehabilitation combined with exergames. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 95 KB - rehab v9i3e31305 app4.pdf]

## References

- Hebert D, Lindsay MP, McIntyre A, Kirton A, Rumney PG, Bagg S, et al. Canadian stroke best practice recommendations: stroke rehabilitation practice guidelines, update 2015. Int J Stroke 2016 Jun;11(4):459-484. [doi: 10.1177/1747493016643553] [Medline: 27079654]
- Duncan PW, Goldstein LB, Matchar D, Divine GW, Feussner J. Measurement of motor recovery after stroke. Outcome assessment and sample size requirements. Stroke 1992 Aug;23(8):1084-1089. [doi: 10.1161/01.str.23.8.1084] [Medline: 1636182]
- 3. Tracking heart disease and stroke in Canada. Public Health Agency of Canada. 2009. URL: <u>https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/migration/phac-aspc/publicat/2009/cvd-avc/pdf/cvd-avs-2009-eng.pdfISBN:978-1-100-12541-1</u> [accessed 2021-07-01]
- 4. Hardcastle SJ, Fortier M, Blake N, Hagger MS. Identifying content-based and relational techniques to change behaviour in motivational interviewing. Health Psychol Rev 2017 Mar;11(1):1-16. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2016.1190659] [Medline: 27189713]
- Dodakian L, McKenzie AL, Le V, See J, Pearson-Fuhrhop K, Burke Quinlan E, et al. A home-based telerehabilitation program for patients with stroke. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 2017;31(10-11):923-933 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1545968317733818] [Medline: 29072556]
- Piron L, Turolla A, Tonin P, Piccione F, Lain L, Dam M. Satisfaction with care in post-stroke patients undergoing a telerehabilitation programme at home. J Telemed Telecare 2008;14(5):257-260. [doi: <u>10.1258/jtt.2008.080304</u>] [Medline: <u>18633001</u>]
- Piron L, Turolla A, Agostini M, Zucconi C, Cortese F, Zampolini M, et al. Exercises for paretic upper limb after stroke: a combined virtual-reality and telemedicine approach. J Rehabil Med 2009 Nov;41(12):1016-1102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2340/16501977-0459] [Medline: 19841835]
- 8. Allegue DR, Kairy D, Higgins J, Archambault P, Michaud F, Miller W, et al. Optimization of upper extremity rehabilitation by combining telerehabilitation with an exergame in people with chronic stroke: protocol for a mixed methods study. JMIR Res Protoc 2020 May 21;9(5):e14629 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14629] [Medline: 32097119]
- 9. Sense Your Progress. Jintronix. URL: <u>http://www.jintronix.com/</u> [accessed 2018-12-03]
- 10. Interactive audio-video platform Hyperpresence. Reacts. URL: <u>https://www.iitreacts.com/</u> [accessed 2018-09-18]
- 11. Allegue DR, Kairy D, Higgins J, Archambault PS, Michaud F, Miller WC, et al. A personalized home-based rehabilitation program using exergames combined with a telerehabilitation app in a chronic stroke survivor: mixed methods case study. JMIR Serious Games 2021 Aug 31;9(3):e26153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/26153] [Medline: 34132649]
- 12. Michie S, Abraham C, Whittington C, McAteer J, Gupta S. Effective techniques in healthy eating and physical activity interventions: a meta-regression. Health Psychol 2009 Nov;28(6):690-701. [doi: 10.1037/a0016136] [Medline: 19916637]

- 13. Miller WR, Rollnick S. Motivational Interviewing: Helping People Change. 3rd edition. New York, NY, USA: The Guilford Press; 2013.
- 14. Carraro N, Gaudreau P. Spontaneous and experimentally induced action planning and coping planning for physical activity: a meta-analysis. Psychol Sport Exerc 2013 Mar;14(2):228-248. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2012.10.004]
- Lindsay MP, Gubitz G, Bayley M, Hill MD, Davies-Schinkel C, Singh S, et al. Canadian Best Practice Recommendations for Stroke Care (Update 2010). Canadian Stroke Strategy Best Practices and Standards Writing Group. Ottawa, ON, Canada: Canadian Stroke Network; 2010. URL: <u>https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/35375120/</u> canadian-best-practice-recommendations-for-stroke-care-2010 [accessed 2022-08-23]
- Gourlan M, Bernard P, Bortolon C, Romain AJ, Lareyre O, Carayol M, et al. Efficacy of theory-based interventions to promote physical activity. A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Health Psychol Rev 2016;10(1):50-66. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2014.981777] [Medline: 25402606]
- 17. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Self-Determination Theory: Basic Psychological Needs in Motivation, Development, and Wellness. New York, NY, USA: The Guilford Press; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.guilford.com/books/Self-Determination-Theory/Ryan-Deci/9781462538966</u>
- 18. Ryan RM, Deci EL. Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. Am Psychol 2000 Jan;55(1):68-78. [doi: 10.1037//0003-066x.55.1.68] [Medline: 11392867]
- 19. McEwan D, Sweet SN. Needs satisfaction, self-determined motivation and health-enhancing physical activity. Health Fit J Can Sep 2012 Sep 30;5(3):3-17. [doi: 10.14288/hfjc.v5i3.120]
- 20. Barbeau A, Sweet SN, Fortier M. A path-analytic model of self-determination theory in a physical activity context. J Appl Biobehav Res 2009 Jun;14(3):103-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9861.2009.00043.x]
- Ntoumanis N, Ng JY, Prestwich A, Quested E, Hancox JE, Thøgersen-Ntoumani C, et al. A meta-analysis of self-determination theory-informed intervention studies in the health domain: effects on motivation, health behavior, physical, and psychological health. Health Psychol Rev 2021 Jun;15(2):214-244. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2020.1718529] [Medline: 31983293]
- 22. Miller WR. Motivational interviewing with problem drinkers. Behav Psychother 1983;11(2):147-172. [doi: 10.1017/s0141347300006583]
- 23. Mills AJ, Durepos G, Wiebe E. Encyclopedia of Case Study Research. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; 2010.
- O'Brien BC, Harris IB, Beckman TJ, Reed DA, Cook DA. Standards for reporting qualitative research: a synthesis of recommendations. Acad Med 2014 Sep;89(9):1245-1251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000000388] [Medline: 24979285]
- 25. Miller WR, Rollnick S. Meeting in the middle: motivational interviewing and self-determination theory. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2012 Mar 02;9:25 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-9-25] [Medline: 22385872]
- 26. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W, et al. The behavior change technique taxonomy (v1) of 93 hierarchically clustered techniques: building an international consensus for the reporting of behavior change interventions. Ann Behav Med 2013 Aug;46(1):81-95. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-013-9486-6] [Medline: 23512568]
- 27. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User acceptance of information technology: toward a unified view. MIS Q 2003 Sep;27(3):425-478. [doi: 10.2307/30036540]
- 28. Carter N, Bryant-Lukosius D, DiCenso A, Blythe J, Neville AJ. The use of triangulation in qualitative research. Oncol Nurs Forum 2014 Sep;41(5):545-547. [doi: 10.1188/14.ONF.545-547] [Medline: 25158659]
- 29. Fortin MF, Gagnon J. Fondements et e´tapes du processus de recherche : me´thodes quantitatives et qualitatives. 2nd edition. Montreal, Canada: Chenelie` re E´ducation; 2010.
- 30. Coffey AJ, Atkinson PA. Making Sense of Qualitative Data: Complementary Research Strategies. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; 1996.
- 31. Logiciel d'analyse qualitative pour méthodes mixtes. Provalis Research. URL: <u>https://provalisresearch.com/fr/produits/</u> logiciel-d-analyse-qualitative/ [accessed 2021-06-14]
- 32. Lincoln YS, Guba EG. Naturalistic Inquiry. Thousand Oaks, CA, USA: Sage Publications; 1985.
- Bravo P, Edwards A, Barr PJ, Scholl I, Elwyn G, McAllister M, Cochrane Healthcare Quality Research Group, Cardiff University. Conceptualising patient empowerment: a mixed methods study. BMC Health Serv Res 2015 Jul 01;15:252 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-015-0907-z] [Medline: 26126998]
- Caughlin S, Mehta S, Corriveau H, Eng JJ, Eskes G, Kairy D, et al. Implementing telerehabilitation after stroke: lessons learned from Canadian trials. Telemed J E Health 2020 Jun;26(6):710-719. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2019.0097</u>] [Medline: <u>31633454</u>]
- 35. Allegue DR, Higgins J, Sweet SN, Archambault PS, Michaud F, Miller W, et al. Rehabilitation of upper extremity by telerehabilitation combined with exergames in survivors of chronic stroke: preliminary findings from a feasibility clinical trial. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022 Jun 22;9(2):e33745 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/33745] [Medline: 35731560]
- 36. Sit JW, Chair SY, Choi KC, Chan CW, Lee DT, Chan AW, et al. Do empowered stroke patients perform better at self-management and functional recovery after a stroke? A randomized controlled trial. Clin Interv Aging 2016 Oct 13;11:1441-1450 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/CIA.S109560] [Medline: 27789938]

- Chen Y, Chen Y, Zheng K, Dodakian L, See J, Zhou R, et al. A qualitative study on user acceptance of a home-based stroke telerehabilitation system. Top Stroke Rehabil 2020 Mar;27(2):81-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10749357.2019.1683792] [Medline: 31682789]
- Desrochers P, Fortin C, Kairy D. Impact des jeux vidéo sur la motivation dans la réadaptation pour membre supérieur suite à un AVC : perspectives des patients. Université de Montréal. 2016 Jun 1. URL: <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1866/16288</u> [accessed 2022-04-14]

## Abbreviations

**SDT:** self-determination theory **UE:** upper extremity **UTAUT:** Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology

Edited by T Leung; submitted 10.07.21; peer-reviewed by K Froehlich-Grobe, A Van de Winckel, M Demers, R Rahman; comments to author 01.10.21; revised version received 05.01.22; accepted 14.07.22; published 15.09.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Allegue DR, Sweet SN, Higgins J, Archambault PS, Michaud F, Miller WC, Tousignant M, Kairy D Lessons Learned From Clinicians and Stroke Survivors About Using Telerehabilitation Combined With Exergames: Multiple Case Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e31305 URL: <u>https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e31305</u> doi:10.2196/31305 PMID:36107484

©Dorra Rakia Allegue, Shane Norman Sweet, Johanne Higgins, Philippe S Archambault, Francois Michaud, William C Miller, Michel Tousignant, Dahlia Kairy. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 15.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



## **Original Paper**

# Feasibility of Virtual Reality Exercises at Home for Post–COVID-19 Condition: Cohort Study

Tjitske Groenveld<sup>1\*</sup>, MD; Retze Achttien<sup>2\*</sup>, PT, PhD; Merlijn Smits<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Marjan de Vries<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Ron van Heerde<sup>3</sup>, PT; Bart Staal<sup>2,3</sup>, PT, PhD; Harry van Goor<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD; COVID Rehab Group<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Surgery, Radboud Institute for Health Sciences, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands

<sup>2</sup>Research Group Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation, Hogeschool Arnhem en Nijmegen University of Applied Science, Nijmegen, Netherlands
 <sup>3</sup>Scientific Center for Quality of Healthcare, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands

<sup>4</sup>See Acknowledgments

\*these authors contributed equally

## **Corresponding Author:**

Tjitske Groenveld, MD Department of Surgery Radboud Institute for Health Sciences Radboud University Medical Center Geert Grooteplein Zuid 10 Nijmegen, 6525GA Netherlands Phone: 31 243667331 Email: tjitske.groenveld@radboudumc.nl

# Abstract

**Background:** Between 30% to 76% of COVID-19 patients have persistent physical and mental symptoms, sometimes up to 9 months after acute COVID-19. Current rehabilitation is mostly focused on the physical symptoms, whereas experts have agreed on the need for a biopsychosocial approach. A novel approach such as virtual reality (VR) rehabilitation at home might benefit patients and therapists, especially considering the expected rush of patients with post–COVID-19 condition needing rehabilitation.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to investigate the feasibility of self-administered VR exercises at home for post–COVID-19 condition.

**Methods:** This was a single-arm feasibility study in an outpatient care setting. Patients who needed physiotherapy because of post–COVID-19 condition were included as determined by the treating physiotherapist. Participants performed VR physical exercises at home for a period of 6 weeks and were allowed to perform VR mental exercise through applications available on the VR platform to reduce stress and anxiety and promote cognitive functioning. The main outcomes were related to feasibility (ie, duration and frequency of VR use), safety (ie, adverse events), patient satisfaction, and reasons to withdraw. Physical performance, daily activities, cognitive functioning, anxiety and depression, and the quality of life were measured before and after.

**Results:** In total, 48 patients were included; 1 (2%) patient did not start VR, and 7 (15%) patients withdrew, mostly due to dizziness. Almost 70% (33/47) of participants reported experiencing any adverse event during VR exercising. However, only 25% (9/36) recalled these events at the end of the intervention period. The majority (27/36, 75%) of the patients described VR as having a positive influence on their recovery, and the global satisfaction score was 67%. The average VR use was 30 minutes per session, 3-4 times a week for 3-6 weeks. The overall use of VR applications was almost equally distributed over the 3 sets of VR exercises (physical, relaxing, and cognitive). However, the use frequency of physical exercises seemed to decrease over time, whereas the use of cognitive and relaxation exercises remained stable. Physical performance and quality of life outcomes were significantly improved after 6 weeks.

**Conclusions:** VR physical exercises at home is feasible and safe with good acceptance in a significant percentage of patient with post–COVID-19 condition.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04505761; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04505761

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e36836) doi:10.2196/36836



## **KEYWORDS**

virtual reality; rehabilitation; COVID-19; long COVID; feasibility; physical function; quality of life; pandemic; multimodal virtual reality; outpatient care; physiotherapy; digital health; patient care

## Introduction

The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic is leading to serious morbidity and mortality worldwide [1,2]. Studies show that 30% to 76% of COVID-19 patients have persistent symptoms, sometimes up to 9 months after acute COVID-19 [3-5]. These patients have a variety of symptoms in the physical and mental domains [6,7]. A substantial amount of post-COVID-19 patients experience limitations in daily activities and social participation in the long term [8,9]. This condition was described as "long COVID," "Post-(acute-)COVID syndrome," or "postacute sequelae of SARS-CoV-2 infection" and is now termed condition" "post-COVID-19 [10-12]. Patient-tailored post-COVID-19 rehabilitation is needed to recover these physical and mental functions and ultimately improve the patients' quality of life [13,14].

Several reviews, consensus statements, and position papers concerning post–COVID-19 rehabilitation have already been put forth by professional rehabilitation organizations [13,15-18]. These experts agree on the need for an individualized program with a multimodal approach, not only aiming at restoring physical functioning, but also at reducing anxiety and depression and offering cognitive rehabilitation when needed. Virtual reality (VR) applications may be important tools in such rehabilitation, since they have the potential to address all aspects of this multimodal approach in a single solution [19]. Furthermore, they can provide health care practitioners with an easy-to-administer, tailor-made home rehabilitation solution against an impending surge of demand for post–COVID-19 rehabilitation.

VR has the ability to immerse someone into another world, which can be used to distract patients from experiencing pain, fatigue, and anxiety and may increase therapy adherence. VR is increasingly used in rehabilitation such as poststroke rehabilitation, limb rehabilitation, and the treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder [20-22]. The use of VR for the improvement of general physical condition and health is relatively new and often involves 2D "exergaming" [23,24]. Recently, VR relaxation games were used for inpatient post-COVID-19 rehabilitation, showing high patient satisfaction and benefits regarding stress reduction and cognitive functioning [25]. VR exercises for patients with post-COVID-19 condition outside of the hospital may have similar benefits. These exercises would enlarge access to rehabilitation resources in general and, more specifically, for the large group of patients with acute COVID-19 at home.

This study aimed to assess feasibility—usability, acceptability, tolerability, and safety—of 6 weeks of VR exercises at home indicated by community-based physiotherapists. Secondarily, we analyzed the changes in physical and mental functions and the quality of life.

## Methods

## Design

This was a single-arm study to primarily assess the feasibility regarding acceptability, usability, and tolerability and, additionally, the changes in physical and mental functions and the quality of life of 6 weeks of VR exercises at home. As part of this study, a digital health design evaluation was performed, which was separately reported [26].

## **Ethics Approval**

Ethical approval was obtained by the Research Ethics Committee of the Radboud University Medical Centre (2020-6770). The study was conducted according to the principles of the Helsinki Declaration and in accordance with Dutch guidelines, regulations, and acts (Medical Research involving Human Subjects Act) and registered at ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT04505761).

## **Participants and Study Setting**

study population comprised The of patients with post-COVID-19 condition referred for physiotherapy to a physiotherapist in a community-based practice or outpatient rehabilitation clinic in the southeast of the Netherlands between July 2020 and February 2021. The selection criteria are listed in Textbox 1. Proven COVID-19 by laboratory test was not an inclusion criterion, because a considerable number of patients with the acute disease at home were not tested in the study period. We considered an estimated duration of 3 weeks of physiotherapy as the minimum to properly investigate feasibility outcome parameters and avoid including patients with minimal or single symptoms. No sample size calculation was performed. Patients who withdrew from the study within 3 weeks were replaced to achieve a total number of 40 evaluable patients for the physical and mental functions and quality of life outcomes. Written informed consent was obtained from each participating patient. Participating physiotherapists were experienced in treating similar conditions such as Q fever and post-intensive care syndrome, and half (7/15, 47%) had completed a master's degree in psychosomatic physiotherapy.



Textbox 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria of patients with post-COVID-19 condition.

#### **Inclusion criteria**

- Symptoms attributable to post-COVID-19 condition
- Indication for physiotherapy for rehabilitation after COVID-19
- Considered suitable for virtual reality home exercises by the treating physiotherapist
- Estimated duration of physiotherapy of at least 3 weeks
- Aged ≥16 years on inclusion date
- Willing and able to comply with the study protocol
- Read and speak Dutch

#### **Exclusion criteria**

- Patient participates in another study that interferes with this study
- One or more "red flags" for exercise in patients with COVID-19 (see Multimedia Appendix 1 [27])
- Severe anxiety or depression complaints
- High risk of contamination with therapy resistant microorganism, such as methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
- Patient has difficulties handling virtual reality in the following ways:
  - Experiencing delirium or acute confusional state
  - (A history of) dementia, seizure, or epilepsy
  - Severe hearing or visual impairment that is not corrected
  - The skin of the head or face is not intact (eg, head wounds, psoriasis, and eczema)

#### Intervention

The intervention consisted of 6 weeks of VR physical exercises at home with the choice by the participants to additionally perform VR mental exercises. To this end, a VR suite was composed of off-the-shelf and custom-made applications for physical (SyncVR Fit; SyncVR Medical), cognitive (Koji's Quest; NeuroReality), and relaxation exercises (SyncVR Relax & Distract; SyncVR Medical) in collaboration with SyncVR Medical and NeuroReality. SyncVR Fit comprises several game applications, such as goalkeeping or beach squats, each with a duration of approximately 10 minutes and 3 levels in difficulty. Koji's Quest immerses players in a virtual environment designed to engage players through increasingly more challenging brain training activities combined with a reward system that encourages daily play. SyncVR Relax & Distract offers relaxation through games, videos, and meditation. Patients received written instructions on all applications (Multimedia Appendix 2). For the VR at home exercises, all patients were loaned an Oculus Quest head-mounted display (Facebook Technologies), which can bring the user into an immersive, realistic, and multisensory environment by computer-generated visuals. Participating physiotherapists were instructed on prescribing VR use by the research team. Prescription followed the guidelines of the Royal Dutch Society for Physiotherapy for post-COVID-19 physiotherapy with the type, time, and frequency of the exercises translated into VR exercises [27]. Prescription was individualized to the needs and impairments of the patient and as determined by baseline performance tests. However, patients were instructed not to exceed 30 minutes per session to avoid "VR sickness" [28]. Per the protocol, the

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36836

RenderX

prescription was meant to be adapted at follow-up contacts according to the patient's feedback and digital VR tracking data. Due to organizational challenges and the practicality of conducting the study during the pandemic, this protocol was changed to instructing patients to choose the frequency and duration of VR use according to their preferences and needs. For safety reasons, the first few VR sessions were supervised by the physiotherapist in the office. When deemed safe, patients continued the VR exercises at home. Telerehabilitation, including remote monitoring and video consulting, was not part of the study procedure due to the workload of the physiotherapists and limited resources.

#### **Procedure and Measurements**

After informed consent, patient and disease characteristics were documented. Physical performance metrics were administered by the physiotherapists as part of usual care and collected at the start and end of the intervention period of 6 weeks. Questionnaires were completed by the patients at the same time. Postintervention questionnaires were not administered to patients who withdrew from the study within 3 weeks. During the intervention period, patients were asked to keep a diary on the frequency and duration of their VR use, which applications they used, and if they experienced any adverse events. Weekly, short, and semistructured telephone interviews were carried out to monitor adherence and solve any (technical) problems. Furthermore, a 24/7 support line was available for questions or (technical) problems, and patients were encouraged to contact it when needed.

### **Patient Characteristics**

Patient characteristics included age, gender, the duration of symptoms, and prior hospital and intensive care unit admission for COVID-19. The duration of symptoms was defined as the number of months between the first day of COVID-19 symptoms and the first day of the VR exercises. Previous experience with digital technology was assessed, including smartphone, laptop, exergaming, smart home devices, and VR or augmented reality games. The Mentality test (Motivaction) was used to gain insight into the individuals' opinions, motivation, and behavior toward (support in) health care and susceptibility for technology [29]. The Mentality test is a questionnaire consisting of 59 items. Based on the answers, patients are categorized as "less self-sufficient," "pragmatic," or "socially critical."

## **Outcome Measures**

Primary outcome was feasibility, as reflected by end points regarding the acceptability, usability, tolerability, and safety of VR exercises. Secondary outcomes were physical and mental functions and the quality of life.

## Acceptability

The discontinuation of the VR exercises was noted as an acceptability outcome, together with the reasons for withdrawal. Patient satisfaction was measured at the end of the intervention period by the Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire for Medication [30], modified by replacing "medication" with "intervention." Subscores were calculated for effectiveness, side effects, convenience, and global satisfaction, where 0 is extremely dissatisfied and 100 is extremely satisfied [30]. Furthermore, 2 questions were added: "If you would end up in the same situation in the future, would you want to use Virtual Reality again?" and "Would you recommend Virtual Reality to a friend or family member?"

## Usability

The frequency and duration of VR use were assessed using the digital tracking feature that is incorporated in the VR intervention and a patient diary. Patients also noted technical difficulties affecting usability in the diary. The third source of usability data was the weekly semistructured telephone call and patient calls to study staff.

## Tolerability and Safety

Tolerability was determined by registering adverse events in the diary through open-ended questions and the subscore "side effects" of the treatment satisfaction questionnaire. Additionally, for participants who withdrew from the study, any possible adverse events were registered. Safety was assessed by registering serious adverse events such as falls or near falls as reported by participants in the diaries or weekly telephone calls.

## **Physical Function**

The 6-Minute Walk Test (6-MWT) was used to measure the overall physical condition of the participants [31]. When participants were not able to perform the 6-MWT, the Timed Up and Go Test (TUG) was performed [32]. Grip strength was used as an indicator of general strength [33]. The strength of the lower extremity was determined with the 30-Second Chair

to Stand Test (30-CST) [34]. When the participant was not able to perform the 30-CST, the 5-times stand test (measured in seconds) was performed. Fatigue was assessed using an 11-point Borg scale (0=no fatigue and 10=maximal fatigue) [35]. The Patient-Specific Complaints (PSC) questionnaire was used to score the patients' ability to perform 3 self-chosen daily activities [36]. The Nottingham Extended Activities of Daily Living (NEADL) score was used to measure to what degree a patient can independently perform the activities of daily living [37].

## Mental Function and Quality of Life

The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Score (HADS) was used as a global measure of psychological distress. The cutoff for possible anxiety or depression disorder is 8 points [38]. The Short Form-12 (SF-12) was used to measure the health-related quality of life. Norm-based scores were calculated using the method described by Ware et al [39]. The Positive Health questionnaire was used to measure patients' feelings about their different dimensions of health: overall health, bodily functions, mental well-being, meaningfulness, quality of life, participation, and daily functioning [40]. The higher the score, the better a patient feels about his or her health. The Cognitive Failure Questionnaire (CFQ) was used to measure subjective cognitive function [41].

## Data Analysis

All patients who started VR were included in the feasibility analyses. The VR applications used, as noted in the patient diaries, were categorized as physical, cognitive, or relaxing. To analyze the frequency and duration of VR use per week, patients were included when they reported having used VR at least once in the corresponding week. For analysis of (serious) adverse events, the free-text reports of participants were matched to the terminology of the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events (version 5.0) and the definition of the US Food and Drug Administration for serious adverse events [42].

Only patients who used the VR exercises for 3 weeks or more and with baseline and final measurements were included in the analyses of physical and mental functions and quality of life metrics and questionnaires.

#### Statistical Analysis

SPSS statistical software (version 25; IBM Corp) was used for statistical analyses. Descriptive statistics were used to analyze the outcomes of usability, acceptability, tolerability, safety, physical and mental functions, and quality of life. Dependent on the distribution of the data, paired samples 2-tailed *t* test or Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used to determine changes in the functions and quality of life of post–COVID-19 VR exercises. To evaluate which patients benefitted the most from VR, we explored correlations matrices and calculated Pearson correlation coefficient for the different combinations of patient and disease characteristics, duration of VR use, and physical and mental functions and quality of life outcomes. Post hoc subgroup analyses were performed regarding the use of cognitive and relaxation exercise applications (yes/no) and their respective outcomes on the CFQ and HADS.

```
XSL•FO
```

# Results

## **Patient Characteristics**

Between July 2020 and February 2021, 48 patients were included from 13 community-based physiotherapy practices and 1 rehabilitation clinic. In 66% (31/47) of the patients,

COVID-19 was confirmed by a positive polymerase chain reaction test, and the remaining 34% (16/47) had signs and symptoms corresponding with COVID-19. The median age was 54 years, and 68% (32/47) was female (Table 1). There was 1 patient who experienced an acute onset of back pain before receiving VR treatment; the remaining 47 patients were eligible for the feasibility analyses (Figure 1).

 Table 1. Patient and disease characteristics of 47 patients who were evaluated for feasibility.

Characteristic	Patient (N=47)
Age (years), median (IQR; range)	54 (39-59; 21-70)
Gender, female, n (%)	32 (68)
Duration of COVID-19 symptoms (months), median (IQR; range)	7.2 (4.3-8.2; 1.2-10.1)
Hospital admission	
Patient admitted to hospital, n (%)	9 (19)
Duration of hospital admission (days), mean (range)	21 (3-114)
Missing, n (%)	4 (9)
Intensive care unit admission	
Patient admitted to hospital, n (%)	5 (11)
Duration of intensive care unit admission (days), mean (range)	10 (9-84)
Missing, n (%)	4 (9)
Mentality test, n (%)	
Less self-sufficient	11 (23)
Pragmatic	22 (47)
Socially critical	7 (15)
Missing	7 (15)
Daily experience with $\geq 3$ digital technologies <sup>a</sup> , n (%)	41 (86)
Previous experience with virtual reality, n (%)	12 (26)

<sup>a</sup>For example, smartphone, tablet, laptop, internet, and television.


Figure 1. Study flowchart. 30-CST: 30-Second Chair to Stand Test; 6-MWT: 6-Minute Walk Test; CFQ: Cognitive Failure Questionnaire; HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Score; NEADL: Nottingham Extended Activities of Daily Living score; PSC: Patient-Specific Complaints questionnaire; SF-12: Short Form-12; VR: virtual reality.



#### Outcomes

#### Acceptability

In total, 7 patients withdrew from the study within the first 3 weeks, 5 due to adverse events (dizziness, migraine, and blurred vision) and 2 because of lost interest. These patients were replaced according to the study protocol. Between weeks 3 and 5 in the study period, another 5 patients discontinued the VR exercises due to neck pain, dizziness, emotional processing of the post–COVID-19 condition, lost interest, and study logistics. Patients who lost interest mentioned that they found the games boring or had doubts about the value of the VR exercises.

In the weekly telephone calls, patients used mostly positive words to describe VR, such as "fun," "motivational," "stimulating," "relaxing," "valuable," and "energizing." Some patients described it as "intense," "tiring," "confronting," "boring," and "energy demanding" (Figure 2). The terms "energizing" and "energy demanding" revealed a contrast between 10 patients who felt VR was too energy demanding while resuming work after sick leave and 3 patients who found the relaxation exercises energizing, especially after work. There were 3 patients who felt that VR would have benefitted them more when used early after COVID-19.

The median (range) scores of the treatment satisfaction questionnaire were 58% (33%-100%) for effectiveness, 100% (41%-100%) for side effects, 72% (33%-100%) for convenience, and 67% (33%-100%) for global satisfaction. In total, 78% (28/36) of patients would like to reuse VR in case they would need rehabilitation in the future, and 92% (33/36) of patients would recommend the VR intervention to others.



Figure 2. Word cloud of patients' remarks regarding virtual reality exercising.



#### Usability

The median VR use frequency was 3 to 4.5 times a week for 95-115 minutes per week (Table 2). The duration of individual VR sessions varied between 5-165 minutes with a median duration of 30 minutes. There were large variations between individuals in the use of the applications in the different domains. Of the 643 sessions, cognitive exercises (n=257, 40%) were used somewhat less than physical exercises (n=344, 53.5%). However, the use frequency of cognitive exercises was more stable over time, whereas the use of physical exercises seemed to decrease over time (Table 3). Relaxation exercises were performed in 52.6% (n=338) of all sessions, and use remained relatively stable over time.

The 24/7 support line was primarily used by patients to report technical problems. In total, 40 technical problems were reported by 14 patients. Most problems related to the battery, which could be resolved by charging the head-mounted display or changing the batteries of the controllers. Some patients experienced difficulties with operating the applications. These problems could be remotely solved by the study staff. There were 3 head-mounted displays that needed to be replaced due to missing applications or a defective controller. Additionally, a software update during the intervention period caused considerable inaccuracy of digital tracking, and 7 patients were unable to use the VR intervention for 4-7 days.

Table 2. Frequency and duration of virtual reality use by patients who completed at least 3 weeks of virtual reality exercises.

Characteristic	Week 1 (n=34)	Week 2 (n=33)	Week 3 (n=32)	Week 4 (n=32)	Week 5 (n=31)	Week 6 (n=27)
Frequency <sup>a</sup> , median (IQR)	4.5 (3.0-6.0)	4.0 (2.0-6.0)	3.0 (2.0-5.0)	3.0 (2.0-5.8)	3.0 (2.0-6.0)	3.0 (2.0-5.0)
Duration <sup>b</sup> (min), median (IQR)	115.0 (66.3- 161.3)	90.0 (45.0-170.0)	107.5 (52.5- 123.8)	95.0 (60.0-165.0)	97.5 (50.0-163.8)	95.0 (63.8-150.0)

<sup>a</sup>Number of sessions.

<sup>b</sup>Total per week.



#### Groenveld et al

Table 3. Frequency of virtual reality use by patients who completed at least 3 weeks of virtual reality exercises divided by physical, cognitive, and relaxation exercises.

Exercise		Week 1	Week 2	Week 3	Week 4	Week 5	Week 6	Overall
Physical								
Patients <sup>a</sup> , n/N	N (%)	28/34 (82.4)	25/33 (75.8)	24/32 (75)	21/32 (65.6)	18/31 (58.1)	18/27 (66.7)	31/34 (91.2)
Sessions, n/N	N (%)	78/643 (12.1)	65/643 (10.1)	51/643 (7.9)	58/643 (9)	51/643 (7.9)	41/643 (6.4)	344/643 (53.5)
Cognitive								
Patients <sup>a</sup> , n/N	N (%)	15/34 (44.1)	19/33 (57.6)	24/32 (75)	17/32 (53.1)	16/31 (51.6)	12/27 (44.4)	28/34 (82.4)
Sessions, n/N	N (%)	44/643 (6.8)	45/643 (7)	51/643 (7.9)	45/643 (7)	39/643 (6.1)	33/643 (5.1)	257/643 (40)
Relaxation								
Patients <sup>a</sup> , n/N	N (%)	20/34 (58.8)	24/33 (72.7)	23/32 (71.9)	24/32 (75)	24/31 (77.4)	23/27 (85.2)	33/34 (82.4)
Sessions, n/N	N (%)	56/643 (8.7)	58/643 (9)	55/643 (8.6)	54/643 (8.4)	56/643 (8.7)	59/643 (9.2)	338/643 (52.6)

<sup>a</sup>Number of patients that used exercises at least once in the corresponding week.

#### Tolerability and Safety

Of the 47 patients, 33 (70%) reported VR-related adverse events at least once in the diary or telephone interview. Most frequent adverse event was dizziness (n=21, 45%), followed by headache (n=10, 21%; Table 4). Notably, 25% (9/36) of the participants

reported adverse events in the treatment satisfaction questionnaire, taken after the VR treatment. No falls or near falls due to VR use were reported. Additionally, 2 patients reported self-measured falls in oxygen saturation when performing physical exercises for a longer period of time (over 30 minutes); these were considered serious adverse events.

Table 4. Adverse events reported at least once in diary and telephone interviews.

Adverse event	Patient (N=47), n (%)
Dizziness	21 (45)
Headache	10 (21)
Fatigue	6 (13)
Nausea	7 (15)
Noncardiac chest pain	3 (6)
Neck pain	3 (6)
Blurred vision	2 (4)
Anxiety	1 (2)
Hot flashes	1 (2)
Dry eyes	1 (2)
Dyspnea	1 (2)
Restlessness	1 (2)

#### **Physical Function**

Significant improvements were found in the 6-MWT, grip strength, 30-CST, Borg scale on fatigue, and PSC on all 3 activities (PSC 1, 2, and 3; Table 5). There were 3 patients who performed the TUG instead of the 6-MWT, with scores between 5.0 to 17.0 seconds before and 4.2 and 9.0 seconds after the intervention. Additionally, 2 patients performed the 5-times

stand test instead of the 30-CST, with before and after scores of 17.7 and 7.4 seconds and 23.9 and 13.6 seconds, respectively. Lower extremity strength was measured with a microFET dynamometer (Hoggan Scientific) in 4 participants, with before and after percentages of from 57% to 79% and from 67 to 84%, respectively. No significant changes were seen in the scores on the different domains of the NEADL.



**Table 5.** Physical function, mental function, and quality of life outcome measures before and 6 weeks after virtual reality exercises in patients who performed virtual reality exercises for at least 3 weeks. Patients with missing baseline or final measurements were excluded from analysis.

Me	asurement (range)	Before	After	Mean difference (95% CI)	P value
Pos	itive Health (n=36)				
	Total score (0-420), mean (SD)	297.5 (41.0)	307.9 (43.8)	10.4 (0.7-19.9)	.04 <sup>a</sup>
	Bodily functions (0-70), mean (SD)	38.7 (8.4)	44.2 (10.3)	5.5 (2.9-8.0)	<.001 <sup>a</sup>
	Mental well-being (0-70), mean (SD)	45.8 (9.1)	49.4 (9.2)	3.6 (0.9-6.2)	.01 <sup>a</sup>
	Meaningfulness (0-70), mean (SD)	50.8 (7.8)	52.0 (8.3)	1.2 (-0.6 to 3.0)	.19 <sup>a</sup>
	Quality of life (0-70), mean (SD)	52.3 (8.0)	53.3 (7.7)	1.0 (-0.7 to 2.6)	.25 <sup>a</sup>
	Participation (0-70), mean (SD)	57.5 (6.9)	57.0 (6.6)	-0.5 (-2.6 to 1.6)	.63 <sup>a</sup>
	Daily functioning (0-70), median	53.5	53.0	b	.78 <sup>c</sup>
Sho	ort Form-12 (n=36)				
	Physical (0-100), mean (SD)	34.9 (8.3)	36.4 (9.5)	1.5 (0.01-3.08)	.049 <sup>a</sup>
	Mental (0-100), mean (SD)	44.0 (8.8)	47.5 (9.1)	3.5 (0.76-6.07)	.01 <sup>a</sup>
CF	Q <sup>d</sup> (0-100; n=36), median	37.5	31.5	_	.11 <sup>c</sup>
HA	DS <sup>e</sup> (n=36)				
	Total score (0-42), mean (SD)	11.6 (5.1)	10.2 (5.6)	-1.4 (-2.8 to 0.2)	.08 <sup>a</sup>
	No generalized anxiety disorder (0-7), n (%)	28 (78)	29 (81)	_	_
	Possible generalized anxiety disorder (8-10), n (%)	5 (14)	6 (17)	_	_
	Likely generalized anxiety disorder (11-21), n (%)	3 (8)	1 (3)	_	_
	No major depressive episodes (0-7), n (%)	26 (72)	26 (72)	_	_
	Possible major depressive episodes (7-10), n (%)	8 (22)	7 (19)	_	_
	Likely major depressive episodes (11-21), n (%)	1 (3)	2 (6)	_	_
NE	$ADL^{f}$ (n=36)				
	Mobility (0-18), mean (SD)	14.0 (2.8)	14.5 (2.3)	0.5 (-0.3 to 1.4)	.22 <sup>a</sup>
	Kitchen (0-15), median	15.0	15.0	_	.25 <sup>c</sup>
	Domestic (0-15), median	13.0	12.0	_	.86 <sup>c</sup>
	Leisure (0-18), mean (SD)	11.8 (4.2)	12.1 (4.3)	0.3 (-1.1 to 1.6)	.71 <sup>a</sup>
PSG	C <sup>g</sup> 1 (0-100; n=35), mean (SD)	71.3 (20.1)	43.9 (25.4)	-27.4 (-36.5 to -18.3)	<.001 <sup>a,h</sup>
PSO	C 2 (0-100; n=30), mean (SD)	64.1 (18.9)	36.8 (24.2)	-27.3 (-35.7 to -19.1)	<.001 <sup>a,h</sup>
PSC	C 3 (0-100; n=24), median	80.0	50.0	_	<.001 <sup>c</sup>
6-N	MWT <sup>i</sup> (m; n=33), median	462.5	522.5	_	<.001 <sup>c,h</sup>
Gri	p strength (kg; n=30), median	29.0	29.8	_	.01 <sup>c,h</sup>
30-	CST <sup>j</sup> (repetitions; n=31), median	13.0	15.0	_	.02 <sup>c,h</sup>
Bo	rg fatigue scale (0-10; n=36), median	5.0	4.0	_	.03 <sup>c,h</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Paired samples 2-tailed *t* test.

<sup>b</sup>Not available.

XSL•FO RenderX

<sup>c</sup>Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

<sup>d</sup>CFQ: Cognitive Failure Questionnaire.

<sup>e</sup>HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

<sup>f</sup>NEADL: Nottingham Extended Activities of Daily Living questionnaire.

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36836

<sup>g</sup>PSC: Patient-Specific Complaints questionnaire.
<sup>h</sup>Clinically relevant improvement (>10%).
<sup>i</sup>6-MWT: 6-Minute Walk Test.
<sup>j</sup>30-CST: 30-Second Chair Stand Test.

#### **Mental Function**

The scores of the Positive Health questionnaire and SF-12 were significantly increased after 6 weeks. The 1.4 point decrease of total HADS score was not significant (P=.08) for the total group but reached significance (P=.01) for the subgroup of patients who used the mental VR applications.

Cognitive failure, as measured by the CFQ, did not significantly decrease, both in the whole group and the subgroup of patients who used the cognitive exercise application Koji's Quest.

#### Correlations Between Patient and Disease Characteristics and Functions and Quality of Life Outcomes

A positive correlation was found between the duration of VR use and age (r=0.57; P<.001). Other patient and disease characteristics did not show any significant correlation. The duration of VR use did not correlate with physical and mental functions or quality of life outcomes.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study demonstrates that the use of VR for physical and self-administered mental exercising at home is feasible and appreciated in about three-quarters of patients with post-COVID-19 condition. Patients spent on average over 90 minutes per week exercising in VR. The overall use of VR applications was almost equally distributed over the 3 sets of VR exercises (physical, relaxing, and cognitive), although only physical exercises were prescribed, and considerable individual variations existed. Several physical function outcomes, perceived positive health, and quality of life improved in time, whereas cognitive function seemed unaltered. The design of the study did not allow for establishing improvement as a sole benefit of VR exercises. The results show patients' need for mental rehabilitation in addition to physical rehabilitation and the potential of self-administered VR in the recovery from post-COVID-19 condition.

The main study aim was the feasibility of self-administered VR physical exercises at home. The design was chosen accordingly, which does not allow conclusions to be drawn on effectiveness in comparison with standard rehabilitation alone. This precaution mainly regards physical function, because one might doubt similar mental effects with standard home exercise instructions by physiotherapists. An effect of the natural course of recovery cannot be ruled out, although it is less likely considering the long duration of symptoms at study entry in most patients. This study was largely conducted before the availability of vaccination and in a time of social distancing and reluctance of physical encounters. This may have affected the appreciation of home VR exercising programs by patients and

physiotherapists and the acceptability and usability results in both positive and negative directions.

This practice-based study was performed in the primary care setting and included a representative group of patients with a variety of symptoms of post-COVID-19 condition and rehabilitation needs [43,44]. Physiotherapists and patients were engaged early in the study design for defining relevant VR content, inclusion criteria, and outcome measures according to the most recent rehabilitation standards. This design benefits the generalizability of the study results. However, one could question the generalizability when taking into account the selection of therapists with a holistic approach to physiotherapy and the inclusion of patients who were capable of exercising at home with VR. This selection bias may have affected the appreciation, feasibility, and other outcomes of VR exercises, particularly in the mental domain. Conceivably, physiotherapists have emphasized the importance of stress and anxiety reduction and cognitive function along with physical recovery for restoring the health-related quality of life and participation.

One-quarter of the patients discontinued VR use before study end, in which half were due to adverse events, particularly dizziness. Dizziness is a common adverse effect of VR in general. The almost 50% of patients complaining of dizziness at some point in the 6-week treatment period seems high compared to VR in other areas, such as pain management or stress therapy [45]. This finding may be explained by concomitant complaints in the context of post-COVID-19 condition, such as fatigue, balance disturbances, and "brain fog." Notably, only 25% of the patients recalled having experienced any adverse events at the end of the intervention period. This may imply that the symptoms were relatively mild. The dropout rate of 15% due to adverse events in this study was comparable to the mean dropout rate of 16% reported in a recent systematic review on factors associated with VR adverse events [28]. A potential factor affecting dizziness and nausea, both symptoms of "VR sickness," is a prolonged playing time per session and possible latency in the software of physical exercising applications [28]. Although patients were instructed not to exceed 30 minutes, a considerable number did, because they lost track of time when immersed in the virtual world, particularly when performing physical exercises. Time compression is a known phenomenon in VR, which contributes to the benefit of VR in acute pain management [46]. Some participating physiotherapists initially observed serious falls in oxygen saturation levels after a few minutes of supervised VR physical exercises, which remained unnoticed by patients. This was an important reason to continue supervised sessions in the office for a few times and urge these patients not to exceed the exercise time. The 2 occasions of oxygen saturation falls reported by patients should be considered a serious adverse event of unsupervised VR physical exercising, in particular when followed by a postexertional symptom exacerbation [47]. Prolonged exercising due to time compression prompted us to instruct all patients to set an alarm when exercising alone at home.

We found a positive correlation between the duration of VR use and age. There may be several explanations for this result. Older patients may have been slower in using the applications than younger patients, because they are not used to navigating through the application menu or with the controllers. Older patients may be more immersed in the virtual environment and are more curious about this "new" experience, prolonging the time of VR use. Conversely, younger patients might become bored earlier, as they are used to gaming in VR [48]. Finally, attitude toward a prescribed therapy might differ between age groups, with older patients being more adherent than younger patients. Age differences in acceptation, usability, tolerability, and the effects of VR have been described in numerous papers, however, with equivocal results. Our feasibility study, with a limited group of patients, did not allow for the analysis of other individual characteristics related to VR use. From the results of the digital health design evaluation study, we demonstrated a complex interplay between patients' beliefs and values about VR use, such as autonomy, social comfort, self-identity, privacy, and its effects on recovering from post-COVID-19 condition [26].

Between 0% to 10% of the data were missing regarding the primary outcome measures of acceptability and tolerability. However, the diaries' data were increasingly missed over time in 15% to 32% of the patients, most likely because they forgot to answer the same questions daily, which would mean that the actual use was higher than the reported use of VR. Automated collection of data from the headset would have benefitted the accurate assessment of the type, level, frequency, and duration of VR use. However, this functionality was not made available in the software (eg, application type and level) or was hampered by technical problems (eg, Wi-Fi connection and interim updates). Function outcomes were missing in 10% to 25% of patients, possibly due to delayed evaluations and administration faults by the physiotherapists. Accordingly, we cannot rule out an overestimation of these outcomes in this study.

#### **Comparison to Prior Work**

The frequent use of mental exercise applications at the patients' own initiative in this study underlines the needs of patients with post-COVID-19 condition for a multimodal rehabilitation approach. However, most patients were only referred for physiotherapy as a single treatment. This finding reflects the emphasis on the physical domain of rehabilitation in most studies, although guidelines include multidisciplinary rehabilitation after COVID-19 for both hospitalized and nonhospitalized patients [43,49]. Daynes et al [50] evaluated a multimodal, home-administered, post-COVID-19 rehabilitation program for feasibility; however, they did not evaluate VR. The study duration was 6 weeks with 2 supervised sessions per week. The sessions comprised of physical exercises and educationally oriented conversations regarding mental complaints. The authors reported improvements in physical and cognitive functions but not regarding anxiety and depression. A recent study exploring the feasibility of VR relaxation games found similar results to our study with high patient satisfaction and benefits regarding

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36836

mental function; however, this study concerned inpatient post–COVID-19 rehabilitation [25]. Multimodal VR has been used in poststroke rehabilitation, resulting in improved physical and cognitive functions [21,51]. The differences in domains regarding effect might be due to the design of the VR intervention. Purpose-designed VR interventions seem to be more effective [52]. When we selected the applications, little was known about post–COVID-19 condition, and therefore, we chose a broad range of existing applications.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

The strength of this study is the comprehensive collection of feasibility and function data using a novel approach of rehabilitation for post–COVID-19 condition with VR exercises. The study was designed to allow patients a lot of autonomy in choosing exercises in both the physical and mental domains, reflecting the real needs and wishes of the patients with this condition.

This study also has limitations. First, the approach was mono-professional for a postinfectious condition with symptoms that commonly require a multiprofessional approach. Accordingly, VR exercises to improve cognitive function and reduce stress and anxiety were not prescribed in contrast to physical exercises. However, by selecting physiotherapists with a psychosomatic approach and experience in treating similar postinfectious conditions, attention given to mental recovery might have been higher compared to the average physiotherapists' approach. A further limitation in this context is the absence of information regarding concurrent treatment by an occupational therapist and a psychologist, which may have affected mental function outcomes and the quality of life. The mono-professional approach likely made no difference for the feasibility outcomes of VR exercises. Second, the study was conducted in the first year of the pandemic with limited knowledge of the cause of symptoms and scarce evidence on post-COVID-19 rehabilitation. Despite the reference to follow the actual guidelines in the protocol, this setting may have resulted in a multiformity of physiotherapy approaches, such as different uses of physical metrics and performance measurements, different indications for self-administered VR exercises at home, and different follow-up schemes. Notably, the guidelines considered standard and not VR physical exercises. Third, the first use of the multimodal VR suite for this condition and for use at home came with several organizational, technical, and monitoring challenges. We attempted to mitigate these challenges by supporting physiotherapists and patients through distributing, disinfecting, and administrating the hardware, providing around-the-clock (technical) support and performing weekly telephone calls. Against the background of limited physiotherapy resources and social distancing, this support may have positively affected feasibility outcomes despite the strict contact protocols with the patients and physiotherapists by the research team. This support by a research team does not reflect the normal practice of physiotherapy, which reduces the relevance of the results.

#### **Future Directions**

The results of this study show that a self-administered multimodal VR intervention at home is feasible and safe. Many



rehabilitation programs for other conditions are based on the same needs, implying that VR might benefit rehabilitation in general. The deployment of VR in rehabilitation could be administered to patients with the means to recover at home; thus, patients would not have to travel to a physiotherapist or clinic multiple times a week. Physiotherapists would be able to monitor patients' progress at a distance to relieve workload. Telerehabilitation, including wearables for (vital sign) monitoring, analytic platforms with patient and provider dashboards, and video consulting equipment, is increasingly available for use to administer virtual physiotherapy [53,54]. It can be expected that over time VR technology will become more affordable and more easily accessible [55]. This trend might eventually result in a reduction of health care costs.

Regarding the ongoing pandemic, an increase of patients with post-COVID-19 condition is expected to increase demand for rehabilitation. Self-administered VR rehabilitation at home for physical and mental impairments can be a novel means to restore the functional status and well-being of patients with post-COVID-19 condition that is inclusive, adopted by caregivers, and sustainable and moves care from hospital and practices to at home. A wide range of VR applications in different domains motivates patients to exercise, improving therapy adherence and self-efficacy. Remotely monitoring adherence and progress in recovery and accordingly adapting the treatment plan can be a safe alternative to routine, unsupervised home exercising and regular patient visits to the physiotherapists' office. Before broad implementation, it is recommended to perform controlled trials on the cost-effectiveness of VR for the rehabilitation of post-COVID-19 condition. The results of this study have provided several substantive and organizational leads to future research delineating the health, societal, and economic impact of VR use in the rehabilitation of post-COVID-19 condition.

#### Conclusion

We found that 6 weeks of VR physical and mental exercises at home is feasible, well accepted, and safe in patients with post–COVID-19 condition, with improvements in physical and mental functions and the health-related quality of life.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the European Regional Development Fund (PROJ-00840, 2018). The European Regional Development Fund was not involved in the design, conduct, analysis, and report of this research.

The COVID Rehab Group consists of the following physiotherapists: Bente Steemers, Fysiotherapie Arnhem-Zuid, Arnhem, The Netherlands; Leonie Brink, Bottendaal, Nijmegen, The Netherlands; Tees van den Rijk, Bottendaal, Nijmegen, The Netherlands; Bente van Boxmeer, Bottendaal, Nijmegen, The Netherlands; Susanne van Weerden, Fysiotherapie Cadans, Nijmegen, The Netherlands; Josée Veneklaas, Fysiofit de Liemers, Duiven, The Netherlands; Han Janssen, Fysiotherapie Gendt, Gendt, The Netherlands; Charlotte Reijnen, Fysiotherapie Gendt, Gendt, The Netherlands; Marlies van Pelt, Fysiotherapie Hatert, Nijmegen, The Netherlands; Monique Derksen, Fysiocentrum Heesch, Heesch, The Netherlands; Nicole Voet, Rehabilitation center Klimmendaal Arnhem, Arnhem, The Netherlands; Mariska Janssen, Rehabilitation center Klimmendaal Arnhem, Arnhem, The Netherlands; Linda Kuyvenhoven, Rehabilitation center Klimmendaal Arnhem, Arnhem, The Netherlands; Maerly Berndsen, Fysio Rijnwaarden, Lobith, The Netherlands; Many Stevens, Fysio Rijnwaarden, Lobith, The Netherlands; Roos Vlaskamp, Fysiotherapie Schaijk-Herpen, Schaijk, The Netherlands; Leo Vlaskamp, Fysiotherapie Schaijk-Herpen, Schaijk, The Netherlands; Data Scheepers, Fysiotherapie Schaijk-Herpen, Schaijk, The Netherlands; Paula Post, Fysiotherapie en Manuele Therapie Velperweg, Arnhem, The Netherlands; Inge van de Meer, Fysiotherapie en Manuele Therapie Velperweg, Arnhem, The Netherlands.

#### **Data Availability**

The data sets generated during and/or analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

MS, MdV, BS, and HvG conceived the study and were responsible for study design and methodology. TG, MS, RA, and RvH executed the study and collected the data. TG and RA managed the data and performed the data and statistical analyses. All authors contributed to data interpretation and writing, reviewing, and editing the manuscript. BS and HvG supervised the whole study process, including the writing of this manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Red flags. [DOCX File , 15 KB - rehab\_v9i3e36836\_app1.docx ]

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36836



#### Multimedia Appendix 2 Oculus Quest instructions for patients. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 10639 KB - rehab\_v9i3e36836\_app2.pdf ]

#### References

- Immovilli P, Morelli N, Antonucci E, Radaelli G, Barbera M, Guidetti D. COVID-19 mortality and ICU admission: the Italian experience. Crit Care 2020 May 15;24(1):228 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13054-020-02957-9] [Medline: 32414403]
- Zhang JJY, Lee KS, Ang LW, Leo YS, Young BE. Risk factors for severe disease and efficacy of treatment in patients infected with COVID-19: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression analysis. Clin Infect Dis 2020 Nov 19;71(16):2199-2206 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa576] [Medline: 32407459]
- Huang C, Huang L, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Gu X, et al. 6-month consequences of COVID-19 in patients discharged from hospital: a cohort study. Lancet 2021 Jan 16;397(10270):220-232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32656-8] [Medline: 33428867]
- Logue JK, Franko NM, McCulloch DJ, McDonald D, Magedson A, Wolf CR, et al. Sequelae in adults at 6 months after COVID-19 infection. JAMA Netw Open 2021 Feb 01;4(2):e210830 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.0830] [Medline: 33606031]
- Vaes AW, Machado FVC, Meys R, Delbressine JM, Goertz YMJ, Van Herck M, et al. Care dependency in non-hospitalized patients with COVID-19. J Clin Med 2020 Sep 12;9(9):2946 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm9092946] [Medline: 32932582]
- 6. Simpson R, Robinson L. Rehabilitation after critical illness in people with COVID-19 Infection. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 2020 Jun;99(6):470-474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PHM.000000000001443] [Medline: 32282359]
- Divanoglou A, Samuelsson K, Sjödahl R, Andersson C, Levi R. Rehabilitation needs and mortality associated with the COVID-19 pandemic: a population-based study of all hospitalised and home-healthcare individuals in a Swedish healthcare region. EClinicalMedicine 2021 Jun;36:100920 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100920] [Medline: 34095795]
- Thornton J. COVID-19: the challenge of patient rehabilitation after intensive care. BMJ 2020 May 06;369:m1787. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1787] [Medline: 32376670]
- 9. Curci C, Pisano F, Bonacci E, Camozzi DM, Ceravolo C, Bergonzi R, et al. Early rehabilitation in post-acute COVID-19 patients: data from an Italian COVID-19 Rehabilitation Unit and proposal of a treatment protocol. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2020 Oct;56(5):633-641 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.23736/S1973-9087.20.06339-X] [Medline: 32667150]
- Halpin S, O'Connor R, Sivan M. Long COVID and chronic COVID syndromes. J Med Virol 2021 Mar;93(3):1242-1243 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jmv.26587] [Medline: 33034893]
- Rando HM, Bennett TD, Byrd JB, Bramante C, Callahan TJ, Chute CG, et al. Challenges in defining long COVID: striking differences across literature, electronic health records, and patient-reported information. medRxiv Preprint posted online on March 26, 2021 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/2021.03.20.21253896] [Medline: 33791733]
- 12. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): post COVID-19 condition. World Health Organization. 2021 Dec 16. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/questions-and-answers/item/coronavirus-disease-(covid-19)-post-covid-19-condition</u> [accessed 2022-05-09]
- Demeco A, Marotta N, Barletta M, Pino I, Marinaro C, Petraroli A, et al. Rehabilitation of patients post-COVID-19 infection: a literature review. J Int Med Res 2020 Aug;48(8):300060520948382 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0300060520948382] [Medline: 32840156]
- Halpin SJ, McIvor C, Whyatt G, Adams A, Harvey O, McLean L, et al. Postdischarge symptoms and rehabilitation needs in survivors of COVID-19 infection: a cross-sectional evaluation. J Med Virol 2021 Feb;93(2):1013-1022. [doi: <u>10.1002/jmv.26368</u>] [Medline: <u>32729939</u>]
- Barker-Davies RM, O'Sullivan O, Senaratne KPP, Baker P, Cranley M, Dharm-Datta S, et al. The Stanford Hall consensus statement for post-COVID-19 rehabilitation. Br J Sports Med 2020 Aug;54(16):949-959 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1136/bjsports-2020-102596</u>] [Medline: <u>32475821</u>]
- Kiekens C, Boldrini P, Andreoli A, Avesani R, Gamna F, Grandi M, et al. Rehabilitation and respiratory management in the acute and early post-acute phase. "instant paper from the field" on rehabilitation answers to the COVID-19 emergency. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2020 Jun;56(3):323-326 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.23736/S1973-9087.20.06305-4] [Medline: 32293817]
- Thomas P, Baldwin C, Bissett B, Boden I, Gosselink R, Granger CL, et al. Physiotherapy management for COVID-19 in the acute hospital setting: clinical practice recommendations. J Physiother 2020 Apr;66(2):73-82 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2020.03.011] [Medline: 32312646]
- Andrenelli E, Negrini F, de Sire A, Patrini M, Lazzarini SG, Ceravolo MG, International Multiprofessional Steering Committee of Cochrane Rehabilitation REH-COVER action. Rehabilitation and COVID-19: update of the rapid living systematic review by Cochrane Rehabilitation Field as of February 28, 2021. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2021 Jun;57(3):481-484 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.23736/S1973-9087.21.06995-1] [Medline: 33861041]

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36836

- 19. Smits M, Staal JB, van Goor H. Could virtual reality play a role in the rehabilitation after COVID-19 infection? BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med 2020;6(1):e000943 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2020-000943] [Medline: 33178449]
- 20. Rutkowski S, Kiper P, Cacciante L, Cieślik B, Mazurek J, Turolla A, et al. Use of virtual reality-based training in different fields of rehabilitation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Rehabil Med 2020 Nov 19;52(11):jrm00121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2340/16501977-2755] [Medline: 33073855]
- Laver KE, Lange B, George S, Deutsch JE, Saposnik G, Crotty M. Virtual reality for stroke rehabilitation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2017 Nov 20;11:CD008349 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD008349.pub4</u>] [Medline: <u>29156493</u>]
- 22. Gonçalves R, Pedrozo AL, Coutinho ESF, Figueira I, Ventura P. Efficacy of virtual reality exposure therapy in the treatment of PTSD: a systematic review. PLoS One 2012;7(12):e48469 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048469] [Medline: 23300515]
- García-Bravo S, Cuesta-Gómez A, Campuzano-Ruiz R, López-Navas MJ, Domínguez-Paniagua J, Araújo-Narváez A, et al. Virtual reality and video games in cardiac rehabilitation programs. a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil 2021 Feb;43(4):448-457. [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2019.1631892] [Medline: <u>31258015</u>]
- 24. Condon C, Lam WT, Mosley C, Gough S. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effectiveness of virtual reality as an exercise intervention for individuals with a respiratory condition. Adv Simul (Lond) 2020 Nov 19;5(1):33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s41077-020-00151-z] [Medline: 33292807]
- 25. Kolbe L, Jaywant A, Gupta A, Vanderlind WM, Jabbour G. Use of virtual reality in the inpatient rehabilitation of COVID-19 patients. Gen Hosp Psychiatry 2021;71:76-81 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2021.04.008] [Medline: 33964789]
- 26. Smits M, Ludden G, Verbeek P, van Goor H. Responsible design and assessment of a SARS-CoV virtual reality rehabilitation programme: guidance ethics in context. J Responsible Innov 2022 May 24:1-27. [doi: 10.1080/23299460.2022.2076986]
- 27. Driehuis F, de Bie RA, van der Schaaf M, Veenhof C, Lenssen TAF, van der Wees PJ, et al. KNGF position statement: recommendations for physiotherapy in patients with COVID-19. Royal Dutch Society for Physical Therapy (KNGF). 2020 Jul 27. URL: <u>https://www.kngf2.nl/binaries/content/assets/kennisplatform/onbeveiligd/guidelines/recommendations-for</u> <u>-physiotherapy-in-patients-with-covid-19---kngf.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-07-28]
- Saredakis D, Szpak A, Birckhead B, Keage HAD, Rizzo A, Loetscher T. Factors associated with virtual reality sickness in head-mounted displays: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Hum Neurosci 2020;14:96 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.00096] [Medline: 32300295]
- 29. Hengstz K. The Mentality model. Motivaction. URL: <u>https://www.motivaction.nl/en/mentality/mentality</u> [accessed 2021-12-04]
- Atkinson MJ, Sinha A, Hass SL, Colman SS, Kumar RN, Brod M, et al. Validation of a general measure of treatment satisfaction, the Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire for Medication (TSQM), using a national panel study of chronic disease. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2004 Feb 26;2:12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-2-12] [Medline: 14987333]
- 31. Bellet RN, Adams L, Morris NR. The 6-minute walk test in outpatient cardiac rehabilitation: validity, reliability and responsiveness--a systematic review. Physiotherapy 2012 Dec;98(4):277-286. [doi: 10.1016/j.physio.2011.11.003] [Medline: 23122432]
- 32. Bellet RN, Francis RL, Jacob JS, Healy KM, Bartlett HJ, Adams L, et al. Timed Up and Go Tests in cardiac rehabilitation: reliability and comparison with the 6-Minute Walk Test. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev 2013;33(2):99-105. [doi: 10.1097/HCR.0b013e3182773fae] [Medline: 23221811]
- Dodds RM, Syddall HE, Cooper R, Benzeval M, Deary IJ, Dennison EM, et al. Grip strength across the life course: normative data from twelve British studies. PLoS One 2014;9(12):e113637 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113637] [Medline: 25474696]
- 34. Jones CJ, Rikli RE, Beam WC. A 30-s chair-stand test as a measure of lower body strength in community-residing older adults. Res Q Exerc Sport 1999 Jun;70(2):113-119. [doi: 10.1080/02701367.1999.10608028] [Medline: 10380242]
- 35. Borg G, Borg E. The Borg CR-Scales® folder: methods for measuring intensity of experience. Borg Perception. 2010. URL: <u>https://borgperception.se/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/The-Borg-CR-Scales-Folder.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-07-28]
- Stevens A, Beurskens A, Köke A, van der Weijden T. The use of patient-specific measurement instruments in the process of goal-setting: a systematic review of available instruments and their feasibility. Clin Rehabil 2013 Nov;27(11):1005-1019. [doi: 10.1177/0269215513490178] [Medline: 23881336]
- 37. van Wegen EEH, Lim-de Vries LIIK, Nieuwboer A, Willems AM, de Goede CJ, Burgers IA, et al. Nottingham Extended ADL Index (NEAI). In: Klinimetrie bij de ziekte van Parkinsonn praktische handleiding. Amsterdam, the Netherlands: Nederlands Paramedisch Instituut, Amersfoort; 2005:32-36.
- 38. Zigmond AS, Snaith RP. The hospital anxiety and depression scale. Acta Psychiatr Scand 1983 Jun;67(6):361-370. [doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x] [Medline: 6880820]
- 39. Ware JE, Kosinski M, Keller SD. SF-12: How to score the SF-12 Physical and Mental Health Summary Scales. 2nd ed. Boston, MA: The Health Institute, New England Medical Center; 1995.

RenderX

- 40. Huber MAS. Towards a new, dynamic concept of health: its operationalisation and use in public health and healthcare and in evaluating health effects of food [dissertation]. Maastricht University. 2014 Jan 01. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.26481/dis.</u> 20141217mh [accessed 2022-07-28]
- 41. Broadbent DE, Broadbent MH, Jones JL. Performance correlates of self-reported cognitive failure and of obsessionality. Br J Clin Psychol 1986 Nov;25 (Pt 4):285-299. [doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8260.1986.tb00708.x] [Medline: 3801732]
- 42. What is a serious adverse event? U.S. Food and Drug Administration. 2016 Feb 01. URL: <u>https://www.fda.gov/safety/</u> reporting-serious-problems-fda/what-serious-adverse-event [accessed 2021-10-25]
- 43. Piquet V, Luczak C, Seiler F, Monaury J, Martini A, Ward AB, COVID Rehabilitation Study Group. Do patients with COVID-19 benefit from rehabilitation? functional outcomes of the first 100 patients in a COVID-19 rehabilitation unit. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2021 Jun;102(6):1067-1074 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2021.01.069] [Medline: 33548208]
- 44. Vanichkachorn G, Newcomb R, Cowl CT, Murad MH, Breeher L, Miller S, et al. Post-COVID-19 syndrome (long haul syndrome): description of a multidisciplinary clinic at Mayo Clinic and characteristics of the initial patient cohort. Mayo Clin Proc 2021 Jul;96(7):1782-1791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2021.04.024] [Medline: 34218857]
- 45. Smith V, Warty RR, Sursas JA, Payne O, Nair A, Krishnan S, et al. The effectiveness of virtual reality in managing acute pain and anxiety for medical inpatients: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Nov 02;22(11):e17980 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17980] [Medline: 33136055]
- 46. Schneider SM, Kisby CK, Flint EP. Effect of virtual reality on time perception in patients receiving chemotherapy. Support Care Cancer 2011 Apr;19(4):555-564 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00520-010-0852-7] [Medline: 20336327]
- 47. Twomey R, DeMars J, Franklin K, Culos-Reed SN, Weatherald J, Wrightson JG. Chronic fatigue and postexertional malaise in people living with long COVID: an observational study. Phys Ther 2022 Apr 01;102(4):pzac005. [doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzac005] [Medline: 35079817]
- Dilanchian AT, Andringa R, Boot WR. A pilot study exploring age differences in presence, workload, and cybersickness in the experience of immersive virtual reality environments. Front Virtual Real 2021 Oct 7;2:736793. [doi: 10.3389/frvir.2021.736793]
- Rogers-Brown JS, Wanga V, Okoro C, Brozowsky D, Evans A, Hopwood D, et al. Outcomes among patients referred to outpatient rehabilitation clinics after COVID-19 diagnosis - United States, January 2020-March 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021 Jul 09;70(27):967-971 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7027a2] [Medline: 34237048]
- Daynes E, Gerlis C, Chaplin E, Gardiner N, Singh SJ. Early experiences of rehabilitation for individuals post-COVID to improve fatigue, breathlessness exercise capacity and cognition - a cohort study. Chron Respir Dis 2021;18:14799731211015691 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/14799731211015691] [Medline: <u>33957805</u>]
- 51. Maggio MG, Latella D, Maresca G, Sciarrone F, Manuli A, Naro A, et al. Virtual reality and cognitive rehabilitation in people with stroke: an overview. J Neurosci Nurs 2019 Apr;51(2):101-105. [doi: <u>10.1097/JNN.00000000000423</u>] [Medline: <u>30649091</u>]
- 52. Aminov A, Rogers JM, Middleton S, Caeyenberghs K, Wilson PH. What do randomized controlled trials say about virtual rehabilitation in stroke? a systematic literature review and meta-analysis of upper-limb and cognitive outcomes. J Neuroeng Rehabil 2018 Mar 27;15(1):29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12984-018-0370-2] [Medline: 29587853]
- Havran MA, Bidelspach DE. Virtual physical therapy and telerehabilitation. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am 2021 May;32(2):419-428. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pmr.2020.12.005</u>] [Medline: <u>33814066</u>]
- 54. Grundstein MJ, Fisher C, Titmuss M, Cioppa-Mosca J. The role of virtual physical therapy in a post-pandemic world: pearls, pitfalls, challenges, and adaptations. Phys Ther 2021 Sep 01;101(9):pzab145. [doi: 10.1093/ptj/pzab145] [Medline: 34106273]
- Li L, Yu F, Shi D, Shi J, Tian Z, Yang J, et al. Application of virtual reality technology in clinical medicine. Am J Transl Res 2017;9(9):3867-3880 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>28979666</u>]

# Abbreviations

30-CST: 30-Second Chair to Stand Test
6-MWT: 6-Minute Walk Test
CFQ: Cognitive Failure Questionnaire
HADS: Hospital Anxiety and Depression Score
NEADL: Nottingham Extended Activities of Daily Living score
PSC: Patient-Specific Complaints questionnaire
SF-12: Short Form-12
TUG: Timed Up and Go Test
VR: virtual reality



Edited by T Leung, L Sheehy; submitted 27.01.22; peer-reviewed by K Laver, S Houben-Wilke, C Kiekens; comments to author 23.04.22; revised version received 01.07.22; accepted 19.07.22; published 15.08.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Groenveld T, Achttien R, Smits M, de Vries M, van Heerde R, Staal B, van Goor H, COVID Rehab Group Feasibility of Virtual Reality Exercises at Home for Post–COVID-19 Condition: Cohort Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e36836 URL: https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e36836 doi:10.2196/36836 PMID:<u>35858254</u>

©Tjitske Groenveld, Retze Achttien, Merlijn Smits, Marjan de Vries, Ron van Heerde, Bart Staal, Harry van Goor, COVID Rehab Group. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 15.08.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Return-to-Work Following Occupational Rehabilitation for Long COVID: Descriptive Cohort Study

Katelyn Brehon<sup>1</sup>, BHSc, MPH; Riikka Niemeläinen<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Mark Hall<sup>1</sup>, PT, PhD; Geoff P Bostick<sup>1</sup>, PT, PhD; Cary A Brown<sup>3</sup>, PhD; Marguerite Wieler<sup>1</sup>, BA, PT, MSc, PhD; Douglas P Gross<sup>1</sup>, PT, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Department of Physical Therapy, Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

<sup>2</sup>Millard Health Treatment Centre, Workers' Compensation Board of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Department of Occupational Therapy, Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Katelyn Brehon, BHSc, MPH Department of Physical Therapy Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine University of Alberta 77 University Campus Edmonton, AB, T6G2R3 Canada Phone: 1 403 700 0599 Email: <u>brehon@ualberta.ca</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** Emerging evidence suggests that worldwide, between 30% and 50% of those who are infected with COVID-19 experience long COVID (LC) symptoms. These symptoms create challenges with return-to-work (RTW) in a high proportion of individuals with LC. To tailor rehabilitation programs to LC sequelae and help improve RTW outcomes, more research on LC rehabilitation program outcomes is needed.

**Objective:** This study describes the characteristics and outcomes of workers who participated in an LC occupational rehabilitation program.

**Methods:** A cohort study was conducted. Descriptive variables included demographic and occupational factors as well as patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs, ie, the Fatigue Severity Scale [FSS], the Post-COVID Functional Scale [PCFS], the 36-item Short Form Health Survey [SF-36], the Pain Disability Index [PDI], the pain Visual Analogue Scale [VAS], the 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire [PHQ-9], the 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire [GAD-7], and the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders Fifth Edition [DSM-5] posttraumatic stress disorder [PTSD] checklist [PCL-5]). The main outcome variable was the RTW status at discharge. Descriptive statistics were calculated. Logistic regression examined predictors of RTW.

**Results:** The sample consisted of 81 workers. Most workers were female (n=52, 64%) and from health-related occupations (n=43, 53%). Only 43 (53%) individuals returned to work at program discharge, with 40 (93%) of these returning to modified duties. Although there were statistically significant improvements on the pain VAS (mean 11.1, SD 25.6,  $t_{31}$ =2.5, *P*=.02), the PDI (mean 9.4, SD 12.5,  $t_{32}$ =4.3, *P*<.001), the FSS (mean 3.9, SD 8.7,  $t_{38}$ =2.8, *P*=.01), the SF-36 PCS (mean 4.8, SD 8.7,  $t_{38}$ =-3.5, *P*=.001), the PHQ-9 (mean 3.7, SD 4.0,  $t_{31}$ =5.2, *P*<.001), and the GAD-7 (mean 1.8, SD 4.4,  $t_{22}$ =1.8, *P*=.03), there were no significant improvements in the PCFS, the overall mental component score (MCS) of the SF-36, or on the PCL-5. The availability of modified duties (odds ratio [OR] 3.38, 95% CI 1.26-9.10) and shorter time between infection and admission for rehabilitation (OR 0.99, 95% CI 0.99-1.00) predicted RTW even when controlling for age and gender.

**Conclusions:** Workers undergoing LC rehabilitation reported significant but modest improvements on a variety of PROMs, but only 43 (53%) returned to work. Outcomes would likely improve with increased availability of modified duties and timelier rehabilitation. Additional research is needed, including larger observational cohorts as well as randomized controlled trials to evaluate the effectiveness of LC rehabilitation.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e39883) doi:10.2196/39883



#### **KEYWORDS**

compensation and redress; postacute COVID-19 syndrome; long COVID; COVID-19; rehabilitation; return-to-work; health outcome; occupational health; patient-reported outcome; anxiety disorder

# Introduction

#### Background

Emerging evidence indicates that worldwide, between 30% and 50% of those who contract COVID-19 experience long COVID (LC) symptoms (dependent on ethnicity, gender, and hospitalization status) [1]. LC is defined by the World Health Organization as postacute COVID-19 sequelae lasting at least 3 months postinfection that are not explained by any other diagnosis [2]. An international study (N=3762) analyzing the symptom makeup and severity, expected clinical course, impact on daily functioning, and return to baseline health of individuals experiencing LC found that the time to full recovery exceeded 35 weeks for most respondents (>91%) [3]. For some, the time to full recovery is much longer.

Individuals recovering from COVID-19 will increase demands for rehabilitation due to the prevalence and diversity of recognized LC sequelae [4-11]. Common LC symptoms, such as profound fatigue, breathlessness, cognitive impairment (brain fog), and muscle and joint pain, among other mental and physical health symptoms, create challenges with return-to-work (RTW) [11-13]. A systematic review (N=81 studies) found that between 29% and 47% of those employed prior to contracting COVID-19 were unable to RTW [14]. RTW with LC was found to be most limited when symptoms included fatigue and cognitive impairment [14-17]. On an individual level, challenges with RTW cause feelings of lack of control and increased levels of uncertainty about employment and finances [15]. Since the risk of LC is greater in females, they will likely be disproportionately affected by the illness's subsequent impacts on loss of employment and income [12,18]. This creates a compounding societal issue as females were already more vulnerable than males in terms of income and employment prior to the pandemic [19]. Further, individuals who intersect multiple vulnerable groups at higher risk for COVID-19 exposure (eg, ethnic monitories, new immigrants, those working in health care settings) often have less access to jobs with modifications or accommodations to promote RTW [20]. Maintaining linkages with the workplace and returning to work as soon as safely possible helps avoid the long-term health and socioeconomic consequences that accompany prolonged unemployment [21].

To optimally tailor rehabilitation programs to LC sequelae and help improve outcomes of RTW programs, more research on LC rehabilitation is needed. This is especially true of rehabilitation programs that specifically aim to promote RTW. It is also important to explore whether certain individuals with LC fare better in rehabilitation than others, as this may identify potentially modifiable lifestyle or broader contextual factors that may facilitate the tailoring of rehabilitation services, thus increasing relevance and potentially improving RTW outcomes in this population.

#### Objectives

This study aims to describe the characteristics and outcomes of workers participating in occupational rehabilitation through Workers' Compensation Board of Alberta's (WCB-Alberta) Millard Health post-COVID rehabilitation program. We met this aim by (1) describing the characteristics of workers who accessed the program, (2) describing and comparing program admission and discharge data to determine whether there were significant changes in rehabilitation outcomes over the course of the program, and (3) comparing baseline and RTW status at discharge to determine what factors identified through admission data, if any, best predicted RTW status.

The specific research questions (RQs) were as follows:

- RQ1: What are the descriptive characteristics of workers participating in WCB-Alberta's Millard Health post-COVID rehabilitation program?
- RQ2: Are there significant improvements in outcomes between admission and discharge from the program?
- RQ3: Are worker descriptive characteristics or health status, identifiable upon admission, predictive of RTW status at discharge from the program?

# Methods

#### Design

A descriptive cohort study was conducted using data collected by WCB-Alberta for regular program evaluation purposes.

#### **Ethical Considerations**

This research was approved by the University of Alberta's Health Research Ethics Board (#Pro00113982).

#### **Population**

This study included data from workers participating in WCB-Alberta's Millard Health post-COVID rehabilitation program. This program was created to help workers with compensation claims due to workplace COVID-19 exposure who developed LC return to regular work duties [22]. The multidisciplinary program consists of occupational, physical, and exercise therapy along with psychology, nursing, and medical interventions, as needed. The program provides psychoeducational approaches for management of LC symptoms, guidance on pacing and energy conservation, and breathing strategies. Some activity or exercise interventions are also prescribed, as tolerated by the workers and in a manner that avoids the postexertional malaise that is common to the LC population. The programs are provided in person, through telerehabilitation (telephone or videoconference), or a combination of the 2, depending on each worker's individual context. A primary goal of the program is RTW; thus, advice about work activity, exploration of modified duties, and negotiation with employers about appropriate duties are also performed.



The data set included information about all workers who contracted COVID-19 between March 2020 and mid-May 2021. To be included in this study, workers had to be at least 18 years of age and discharged from the aforementioned rehabilitation program. Workers who had not yet been discharged from the program were excluded as their outcomes resulting from program participation were not yet known. All workers had been discharged from the program prior to early January 2022.

#### **Data Collection Procedures**

Anonymized data were extracted from provincial databases managed by WCB-Alberta Health Care Strategy. WCB-Alberta reports are electronic, and data from health care providers are automatically entered into databases. Reports are filed by health care providers at admission to, and discharge from, any WCB-Alberta program. Providers of the post-COVID rehabilitation program report on a variety of demographic, clinical, and occupational variables. Our team has previously conducted several studies using data from WCB-Alberta programs [23-26], and we worked with the same experienced team in Health Care Strategy to retrieve data for this study.

#### Sampling

All data points were included in descriptive statistical calculations. This allowed us to obtain a clear picture of the demographics and general outcomes of the post-COVID rehabilitation program. No sample sizes were calculated, as all workers completing the post-COVID rehabilitation program were included (ie, population based).

#### Measures

#### **Independent Variables**

The data set included a variety of descriptive variables, including demographic factors (eg, age, gender), occupational factors (eg, National Occupational Classification code, employment and working status, job attached status, modified work available, work abilities), treatment factors (eg, number and type of services received prior to beginning the post-COVID rehabilitation program, days between date of COVID-19 symptom onset and admission for rehabilitation, program length), and mode of treatment delivery (ie, virtual, in person, or combination). Gender was treated as a categorical variable with 3 options: male, female, and undisclosed.

Independent variables also included patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) administered at the time of admission to the program. The PROMs included in this study were the Fatigue Severity Scale (FSS) [27], the Post-COVID Functional Scale (PCFS) [28], the 36-item Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) [29], the Pain Disability Index (PDI) [30], the pain Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) [31], the 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) [32], the 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire (GAD-7) [33], and the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders Fifth Edition* (DSM-5) posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) checklist (PCL-5) [34]. Table 1 contains detailed information about each measure. Since the PROMs rely on self-reporting and completion is voluntary, there is typically a high level of missing data on these measures.



Table 1. Details about scoring of PROMs<sup>a</sup> completed by workers in WCB-Alberta's<sup>b</sup> Millard Health post-COVID rehabilitation program.

Survey	Measure details
FSS <sup>c</sup>	The FSS contains 9 numerical rating scales, with scores on each scale ranging from 1 (indicating strongly disagree) to 7 (indicating strongly agree) [27]. The 9 scales address the perceived level of disability caused by fatigue as well as how fatigue interferes with physical functioning and activities of daily living [27]. Raw scores are summed into a total score out of 63, with higher scores indicating greater impairment due to fatigue [27].
PCFS <sup>d</sup>	The PCFS is a 1-item question asking "how much the patient is affected in their everyday life by COVID-19" [28]. Scores range from 0 (indicating no functional limitations) to 4 (indicating severe functional limitations) [28].
SF-36 <sup>e</sup>	The SF-36 is a 36-item survey that includes domains related to the health-related quality of life specifically in terms of physical functioning, role limitations due to physical health, role limitations due to emotional problems, vitality (ie, energy/fatigue), emotional well-being, social functioning, pain, and general health [29]. Domains are scored, standardized [35,36], and combined into an overall PCS <sup>f</sup> and an MCS <sup>g</sup> [29].
PDI <sup>h</sup>	The PDI is a 7-item measure assessing the degree to which pain interferes with family and home responsibilities, recreation, social activity, occupation, sexual behavior, self-care, and activities of daily living [30]. Each item is measured on a scale from 0 (indicating no disability) to 10 (indicating the worst disability) [30]. Raw scores are summed into a total score out of 70, with higher scores indicating greater disability due to pain [30].
Pain VAS <sup>i</sup>	The pain VAS measures a patient's perceived pain intensity on a scale of 0-100, with 100 indicating the highest level of pain [31].
PHQ-9 <sup>j</sup>	The PHQ-9 is a 9-item measure assessing levels of depression [32]. Each item is scored from 0 (indicating not at all) to 4 (indicating nearly every day) [26]. Raw scores are summed into a total score out of 27, with higher scores indicating a higher severity of depression [32].
GAD-7 <sup>k</sup>	The GAD-7 is a 7-item measure assessing levels of anxiety [33]. Each item is scored from 0 (indicating not at all) to 3 (indicating nearly every day) [33]. Raw scores are summed into a total score out of 21, with higher scores indicating a higher severity of anxiety [33].
PCL-5 <sup>1</sup>	The PCL-5 is a 20-item measure assessing the DSM-5's <sup>m</sup> 20 symptoms of $PTSD^n$ [34]. Each item is scored from 0 (indicating not at all) to 4 (indicating extremely). Total scores range from 0 to 80, with higher scores indicating a higher likelihood of PTSD [34].

<sup>a</sup>PROM: patient-reported outcome measure.

<sup>b</sup>WCB-Alberta: Workers' Compensation Board of Alberta.

<sup>c</sup>FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale.

<sup>d</sup>PCFS: Post-COVID Functional Scale.

<sup>e</sup>SF-36: 36-item Short Form Health Survey.

<sup>f</sup>PCS: physical component score.

<sup>g</sup>MCS: mental component score.

<sup>h</sup>PDI: Pain Disability Index.

<sup>i</sup>VAS: Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>j</sup>PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire.

<sup>k</sup>GAD-7: 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire.

<sup>1</sup>PCL-5: *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders Fifth Edition* posttraumatic stress disorder checklist.

<sup>m</sup>DSM-5: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders Fifth Edition.

<sup>n</sup>PTSD: posttraumatic stress disorder.

#### Dependent Variable

The outcome variable for this study was RTW status at program discharge. RTW status was chosen as the outcome variable of interest because previous research has shown that RTW status is impacted by LC and RTW is a primary goal of the rehabilitation program [14-17]. RTW status was coded as a binary variable, with 1 indicating RTW and 0 indicating "other" ("other" indicated the worker was fit for work [FFW] but had not returned to work or that they were unable to work). We chose to collapse FFW with unable to work due to a low sample size (only 18 cases of FFW) and because those deemed FFW at discharge often have ongoing issues that prevent them from returning to their usual employment. Comparisons were made between the RTW, FFW, and unable-to-work groups on each

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e39883
```

RenderX

of the descriptive variables and PROMs. The FFW group was more similar to the unable-to-work group than the RTW group on several of the descriptive variables (ie, occupation, gender, program length, and availability of modified duties). Clinically, the FFW group was also similar to the unable-to-work group on the PDI, FSS, PHQ-9, GAD-7, and PCL-5, further justifying the collapsing of these 2 groups.

#### **Data Analysis**

Data were analyzed using SPSS Statistics version 28 (IBM Corp). To address RQ1, we calculated the mean and SDs of any interval data (eg, worker age) and the frequency of any categorical data (eg, gender or occupation).

To address RQ2, we calculated descriptive statistics for the various PROMs. We calculated the mean and SDs of interval

data and the frequency of categorical data. We performed paired-samples *t* tests for each variable collected upon admission to and discharge from the program to determine whether there were any significant improvements in outcomes. Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were performed if the dependent variable was not continuous (ie, the PCFS does not have a total score and therefore is an ordinal variable).

To address RQ3, logistic regression analyses were used to determine which variables (ie, worker demographics, data collected at admission), if any, were predictive of RTW status at discharge. Imputation techniques were used to address the high levels of missing data on the PROMs. We completed univariable logistic regression analyses to examine each potential prognostic factor. Due to the limited sample size, we were unable to build multivariable predictive models. However, we examined the potential confounding effects of age and gender on the significantly predictive variables. Relevant assumptions were tested.

# Results

#### **Demographics**

The data set included 81 workers who had been discharged from Millard Health post-COVID program WCB-Alberta (demographics shown in Table 2). The majority were female (n=52, 64%), had their program delivered virtually (n=79, 98%), and worked in health occupations (n=43, 53%). The mean (SD) age was 48.9 (10.5) years, and the mean (SD) length of time between symptom onset and program admission was 165.2 (73.0) days. Prior to starting the post-COVID program, the workers most frequently visited their doctor (n=64, 79%) or received physiotherapy (n=38, 47%). Although the majority were still employed at program admission (n=77, 95%), only 42(52%) had modified duties available. A small majority (n=43, 53%) returned to work at the time of program discharge. Of those who returned to work, 40 (93%) returned to modified duties.

 Table 2. Demographics of workers (N=81) undergoing WCB-Alberta's<sup>a</sup> Millard Health post-COVID rehabilitation program.

Variable	Value
Age (years), mean (SD)	48.9 (10.5)
Gender, n (%)	
Male	20 (25)
Female	52 (64)
Undisclosed	9 (11)
Duration (average days between symptom onset and admission), mean (SD)	165.2 (73.0)
Program length (work days), mean (SD)	49.9 (12.5)
Program delivery, n (%)	
Virtual	79 (98)
In person	0 (0)
Combination	2 (2)
Occupation category, n (%)	
Business, finance, and management	5 (6)
Health	43 (53)
Education, law, social, and community government services	10 (12)
Trades	15 (19)
Other	8 (10)
Interpreter required, n (%)	
Yes	1 (1)
No	80 (99)
Services received prior to admission, n (%)	
Physician	63 (79)
Physiotherapy	38 (47)
RTW <sup>b</sup> specialist	27 (33)
Psychology	26 (32)
Occupational therapy	19 (24)
Hospital admission	14 (17)
Diagnostic testing	19 (24)
Acupuncture	1 (1)
Chiropractor	1 (1)
Injections	1 (1)
No services prior to admission	8 (10)
Employed at admission, n (%)	
Yes	77 (95)
No	4 (5)
Modified duties available at admission, n (%)	
Yes	42 (52)
No	39 (48)
Work abilities (National Occupational Classification strength level) at admission, n (%)	
Limited (lifting required up to 5 kg)	56 (69)
Light (lifting required up to 10 kg)	8 (10)

XSL•FO RenderX

Variable	Value
Medium (lifting required up to 20 kg)	3 (4)
Heavy (lifting required over 20 kg)	4 (5)
N/A <sup>c</sup>	10 (12)
Working at admission, n (%)	
Yes	10 (12)
No	71 (88)
Employed at discharge, n (%)	
Yes	76 (94)
No	5 (6)
Modified duties available at discharge, n (%)	
Yes	50 (62)
No	31 (38)
Discharge outcome, n (%)	
RTW	43 (53)
Other	38 (47)
RTW outcome at program discharge (N=43)	
Return to regular work duties	3 (7)
Return to modified duties	40 (93)
Work abilities (National Occupational Classification strength level) at discharge	
Limited (lifting required up to 5 kg)	41 (51)
Light (lifting required up to 10 kg)	15 (18)
Medium (lifting required up to 20 kg)	8 (10)
Heavy (lifting required over 20 kg)	14 (17)
N/A	3 (4)

<sup>a</sup>WCB-Alberta: Workers' Compensation Board of Alberta.

<sup>b</sup>RTW: return-to-work.

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### **Patient-Reported Outcome Measures**

There were substantial missing data on the PROMs, with 58 (72%) workers not completing at least 1 of the measures at admission or discharge. Only raw SF-36 data were available at discharge, thus preventing calculation of domain scores at admission. However, overall PCSs and MCSs for the SF-36 were logged at admission and discharge.

Table 3 outlines mean (SD) admission and discharge scores on each PROM for those with complete data. Mean (SD) scores on the FSS were quite high at admission (mean 51.3, SD 11.4), indicating moderate-to-severe levels of fatigue in the sample. Pain seemed to cause moderate disruptions in the sample, with a mean (SD) PDI score of 33.3 (15.6) out of 70. Individuals moved from moderate depression (mean 14.1, SD 5.9) to mild depression (mean 10.1, SD 5.3) between admission and discharge, respectively.

Paired-samples *t* tests were run on those with complete matched PROM data (ie, complete data at admission and discharge). Due to the substantial amount of missing PROM data, we included

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e39883
```

RenderX

all workers with complete data (the maximum number of matched pairs on any PROM in our sample was 39). Significant changes were noted on several measures (Table 4). There were statistically significant improvements on the pain VAS (mean 11.1, SD 25.6,  $t_{31}$ =2.5, *P*=.02), the PDI (mean 9.4, SD 12.5,  $t_{32}$ =4.3, *P*<.001), the FSS (mean 3.9, SD 8.7,  $t_{38}$ =2.8, *P*=.01), the SF-36 PCS (mean 4.8, SD 8.7,  $t_{38}$ =-3.5, *P*=.001), the PHQ-9 (mean 3.7, SD 4.0,  $t_{31}$ =5.2, *P*<.001), and the GAD-7 (mean 1.8, SD 4.4,  $t_{22}$ =1.8, *P*=.03). There were no significant improvements to the overall MCS measured through the SF-36 or the PCL-5 scores.

The PCFS does not have a total score, so a paired-sample t test could not be carried out. Instead, a Wilcoxon signed-rank test was performed (Table 5). Again, due to the substantial amount of missing PROM data, we included only workers with complete matched data (n=38, 47%). There was not a significant difference in PCFS scores between admission and discharge.

We conducted a missing data analysis to determine whether workers with missing data were more or less likely to RTW at

discharge. Incomplete data at admission or discharge or both on GAD-7 were significantly associated with RTW (odds ratio

[OR] 0.34, 95% CI 0.13-0.87), suggesting that those with incomplete data had a lower likelihood of returning to work.



**Table 3.** Mean scores on PROMs<sup>a</sup> at the time of admission and discharge from WCB-Alberta's<sup>b</sup> Millard Health post-COVID rehabilitation program.

PROMs	Admission	Discharge
PCFS <sup>c</sup> (out of 4)		
Score, mean (SD)	2.2 (0.8)	2.1 (1.1)
Missing, n (%)	43 (53)	55 (68)
Pain VAS <sup>d</sup> (out of 100)		
Score, mean (SD)	48.2 (23.0)	42.0 (25.6)
Missing, n (%)	25 (31)	39 (48)
PDI <sup>e</sup> (out of 70)		
Score, mean (SD)	33.3 (15.6)	26.8 (16.2)
Missing, n (%)	19 (23)	42 (52)
FSS <sup>f</sup> (out of 63)		
Score, mean (SD)	51.3 (11.4)	48.3 (12.0)
Missing, n (%)	13 (16)	36 (44)
SF-36 <sup>g</sup> version 2 (all out of 100), mean (SD)		
Physical functioning	N/A <sup>h</sup>	32.9 (11.7)
Role physical	N/A	35.3 (7.3)
Role emotional	N/A	42.9 (6.3)
Bodily pain	N/A	29.7 (5.7)
Vitality	N/A	33.5 (10.8)
Social functioning	N/A	29.9 (12.5)
Mental health	N/A	38.4 (13.3)
General health perceptions	N/A	32.2 (15.9)
Overall PCS <sup>i</sup>	28.9 (8.5)	33.4 (9.4)
Overall MCS <sup>j</sup>	35.2 (11.0)	37.9 (9.0)
PHQ-9 <sup>k</sup>		
Score, mean (SD)	14.1 (5.9)	10.1 (5.3)
Missing, n (%)	39 (48)	43 (53)
GAD-7 <sup>1</sup>		
Score, mean (SD)	10.6 (5.0)	8.2 (5.2)
Missing, n (%)	39 (48)	43 (53)
PCL-5 <sup>m</sup>		
Score, mean (SD)	32.4 (15.8)	28.0 (13.2)
Missing, n (%)	50 (62)	48 (59)

<sup>a</sup>PROM: patient-reported outcome measure.

<sup>b</sup>WCB-Alberta: Workers' Compensation Board of Alberta.

<sup>c</sup>PCFS: Post-COVID Functional Scale.

<sup>d</sup>VAS: Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>e</sup>PDI: Pain Disability Index.

<sup>f</sup>FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale.

<sup>g</sup>SF-36: 36-item Short Form Health Survey.

<sup>h</sup>N/A: not applicable.

XSL•FO RenderX

<sup>i</sup>PCS: physical component score.

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e39883

<sup>j</sup>MCS: mental component score.

<sup>k</sup>PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire.

<sup>1</sup>GAD-7: 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire.

<sup>m</sup>PCL-5: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders Fifth Edition posttraumatic stress disorder checklist.

**Table 4.** Mean differences in PROM<sup>a</sup> scores between admission and discharge from WCB-Alberta's<sup>b</sup> Millard Health post-COVID rehabilitation program (paired-sample t tests).

Variable	Differences, mean (SD)	t (df)	Two-sided P value
Pain VAS <sup>c</sup> (n=32)	11.1 (25.6)	2.5 (31)	.02
PDI <sup>d</sup> (n=33)	9.4 (12.5)	4.3 (32)	<.001
FSS <sup>e</sup> (n=39)	3.9 (8.7)	2.8 (38)	.01
Overall PCS <sup>f</sup> (n=39)	-4.8 (8.7)	-3.5 (38)	.001
Overall MCS <sup>g</sup> (n=38)	-0.7 (13.3)	-0.3 (37)	.73
PHQ-9 <sup>h</sup> (n=32)	3.7 (4.0)	5.2 (31)	<.001
GAD-7 <sup>i</sup> (n=32)	1.8 (4.4)	2.3 (31)	.03
PCL-5 <sup>j</sup> (n=23)	5.6 (3.1)	1.8 (22)	.09

<sup>a</sup>PROM: patient-reported outcome measure.

<sup>b</sup>WCB-Alberta: Workers' Compensation Board of Alberta.

<sup>c</sup>VAS: Visual Analogue Scale.

<sup>d</sup>PDI: Pain Disability Index.

<sup>e</sup>FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale.

<sup>f</sup>PCS: physical component score.

<sup>g</sup>MCS: mental component score.

<sup>h</sup>PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire.

<sup>i</sup>GAD-7: 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire.

<sup>j</sup>PCL-5: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders Fifth Edition posttraumatic stress disorder checklist.

**Table 5.** Mean differences in PCFS<sup>a</sup> scores between admission and discharge from WCB-Alberta's<sup>b</sup> Millard Health post-COVID rehabilitation program (Wilcoxon signed-rank test).

Variable	Admission	Discharge	Median	Z value	Two-sided P value
Difference	Mean 2.2 (SD 0.8)	Mean 2.1 (SD 1.1)	Admission: 2.0 Discharge: 2.0	-0.6	.53
Missing, n (%)	43 (53)	55 (68)	N/A <sup>c</sup>	N/A	N/A

<sup>a</sup>PCFS: Post-COVID Functional Scale.

<sup>b</sup>WCB-Alberta: Workers' Compensation Board of Alberta.

<sup>c</sup>N/A: not applicable.

#### **Predicting Return-to-Work After Rehabilitation**

Univariate associations between all potential predictors and the outcome of RTW are shown in Table 6. Three factors were significantly associated with RTW: modified duties available at admission (OR 3.20, 95% CI 1.29-7.95), days between symptom onset and program admission (OR 0.93, 95% CI 0.87-0.998), and the PHQ-9 score at admission (OR 0.87, 95% CI 0.76-0.999). Modified duties available at admission remained a significant predictor of RTW (OR 3.38, 95% CI 1.26-9.10) when controlling for age and gender. Days between symptom

onset and program admission also remained a significant predictor of RTW (OR 0.94, 95% CI 0.88-0.999). The PHQ-9 score at admission did not remain significant when controlling for age and gender, suggesting that these demographic variables have a confounding effect. There were no statistically significant or clinically important associations found between any preadmission health care use variable and future RTW status. Imputation with mean (SD), minimum, and maximum values for those with missing data on the PROMs did not result in meaningful changes to the logistic regression analyses. Therefore, we did not present imputed analyses.



RenderX

Table 6. Logistic regression predicting RTW<sup>a</sup> at time of discharge from WCB-Alberta's<sup>b</sup> Millard Health post-COVID rehabilitation program.

Variable	OR <sup>c</sup> (95% CI)
Gender	
Male	1.00 (N/A <sup>d</sup> )
Female	1.03 (0.37-2.11)
Undisclosed	0.41 (0.08-2.91)
Age (years)	0.99 (0.95-1.04)
Job attached at admission	
No	1.00 (N/A)
Yes	3.60 (0.36-36.17)
Modified duties available at admission	
No	1.00 (N/A)
Yes	3.20 (1.29-7.95) <sup>e</sup>
Days between symptom onset and admission to program	$0.93 (0.87-0.998)^{f}$
Work abilities at admission	
Heavy	1.00 (N/A)
Medium	0.17 (0.006-4.52)
Light	0.33 (0.02-4.74)
Limited	0.40 (0.04-4.05)
N/A	0.27 (0.02-3.65)
Industry	
Other	1.00 (N/A)
Business, finance, and management occupations	6.67 (0.49-91.33)
Health occupation	2.32 (0.49-10.95)
Education, law, social, and community government services	2.50 (0.37-16.89)
Trades	0.83 (0.14-4.99)
PROMs <sup>g</sup>	
PCFS <sup>h</sup> (n=38), 0-1	1.00 (N/A)
PCFS (n=38), 2-3	2.57 (0.41-16.12)
Pain VAS <sup>i</sup> at admission (n=56)	1.00 (0.98-1.02)
PDI <sup>j</sup> at admission (n=62)	0.97 (0.94-1.00)
FSS <sup>k</sup> at admission (n=68)	0.96 (0.92-1.01)
Overall PCS <sup>1</sup> at admission (n=39)	1.01 (0.96-1.07)
Overall MCS <sup>m</sup> at admission (n=38)	1.01 (0.97-1.06)
PHQ-9 <sup>n</sup> at admission (n=42)	0.87 (0.76-1.00) <sup>e</sup>
GAD-7 <sup>o</sup> at admission (n=42)	0.88 (0.77-1.02)
PCL-5 <sup>p</sup> at admission (n=31)	0.97 (0.94-1.03)

<sup>a</sup>RTW: return-to-work.

<sup>b</sup>WCB-Alberta: Workers' Compensation Board of Alberta.

<sup>c</sup>OR: odds ratio.

<sup>d</sup>N/A: not applicable.

<sup>e</sup>Indicates significance at *P*<.01.

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e39883

<sup>f</sup>Indicates significance at P<.05.</li>
<sup>g</sup>PROM: patient-reported outcome measure.
<sup>h</sup>PCFS: Post-COVID Functional Scale.
<sup>i</sup>VAS: Visual Analogue Scale.
<sup>j</sup>PDI: Pain Disability Index.
<sup>k</sup>FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale.
<sup>l</sup>PCS: physical component score.
<sup>m</sup>MCS: mental component score.
<sup>n</sup>PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire.
<sup>o</sup>GAD-7: 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire.
<sup>p</sup>PCL-5: *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders Fifth Edition* posttraumatic stress disorder checklist.

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

In this cohort study of workers with LC participating in WCB-Alberta's Millard Health post-COVID rehabilitation program, many worker outcomes significantly but modestly improved between admission and discharge. However, several key functional measures did not improve (ie, the PCFS; the overall MCS, measured through the SF-36; and PTSD, measured through the PCL-5). Only a small majority of the sample returned to work (53%), and of these, 93% required modified duties. Those who identified at admission that modified duties were available in their workplace were 3.38 times as likely than those without available modified duties to RTW at program discharge, after controlling for age and gender. Workers with a longer time between symptom onset and program admission also had a lower likelihood of successful RTW.

Our study found that the presence of modified duties in the workplace at admission to LC rehabilitation results in better RTW outcomes. Although we could not find other studies quantifying the relationship between modified duties and RTW with LC, the emerging literature suggests that individuals with LC would likely have greater chances of RTW if they have access to flexible, gradual RTW plans with modified duties. For example, Wong et al [37] completed 2 focus groups (n=8) with rehabilitation counsellors and physicians providing services to individuals with LC and determined that modified work and gradual RTW plans are the most frequently used accommodations to assist individuals with LC with RTW. In a cross-sectional, mixed methods study (N=145) aimed at understanding experiences of workers with LC, Lunt et al [38] found that individuals with LC wanted workplace accommodations that included modified or reduced hours and workload as well as gradual and flexible RTW planning. Support for similar workplace accommodations was echoed in the United Kingdom's Health and Safety Executive's report on RTW after LC [39].

The importance of modified duties in LC rehabilitation is consistent with the broader field of occupational rehabilitation and work disability prevention, where modified work duties and RTW coordination are core components of rehabilitation and used to promote RTW [40]. Early intervention is another core principle of occupational rehabilitation [41] and consistent with our finding that more time between initial symptom onset and program admission leads to worse RTW outcomes.

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e39883
```

RenderX

However, to meet the clinical case definition of LC (symptoms lasting for at least 3 months after acute infection) [2], individuals with LC are often required to wait at least 3 months to access rehabilitation programs. This waiting period may in turn lead to worse RTW outcomes and therefore warrants further research to determine whether earlier educational or other rehabilitation interventions could improve RTW outcomes in people with lingering symptoms after COVID-19 infection who are not yet diagnosed with LC.

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study examining the predictors of RTW among workers with LC, likely because of the novelty of the condition. However, previous research has examined RTW in individuals with chronic fatigue syndrome, which has been found to have an overlapping clinical presentation with LC [42]. In a longitudinal study (N=508) exploring sociodemographic, work, and clinical characteristics associated with occupational status among individuals with chronic fatigue syndrome, those who returned to work functioned better (as measured by the SF-36) and were younger [43]. Individuals who reported more fatigue (measured by the Chalder Fatigue Questionnaire) or met the criteria for anxiety and depression (measured by the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale) were more likely to have stopped working between baseline and follow-up [43]. These findings suggest that levels of fatigue, age, function, anxiety, and depression may be important variables to consider in future studies analyzing prognostic factors of RTW among individuals living with LC.

#### Limitations

The primary limitations of this study are the large amount of missing data on the PROMs and the relatively small sample size. Completion of the PROMs was voluntary for patients in the program, which explains the sizeable amount of missing data. Missing data and a modest sample size limited our ability to build multivariate models and limited conclusions that could be drawn from our results. Having incomplete data on the GAD-7 was significantly associated with worse RTW, which suggests that those with missing data had a lower likelihood of returning to work. There are also likely unmeasured factors that influence both completion of the PROMs and RTW that should be further explored. Results are, however, important for individuals with LC due to the novelty of the condition and uncertainty around optimal rehabilitation approaches.

#### Conclusion

Workers undergoing LC rehabilitation reported significant but modest improvements on a variety of PROMs, but only 53% of workers with LC returned to work at the time of program discharge. RTW outcomes would likely improve with increased availability of modified duties and timelier rehabilitation. Additional research is needed, including larger observational cohorts with additional variables as well as randomized controlled trials to evaluate the effectiveness of LC rehabilitation.

#### Acknowledgments

No funding was received in support of this research. The Workers' Compensation Board (WCB) of Alberta assisted with data extraction. KB and DG completed data analyses and wrote the manuscript. All other coauthors were involved in providing input on the manuscript, approved the submitted version, and agreed to be personally accountable for their own contributions and to ensure questions on the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Chen C, Haupert S, Zimmermann L, Shi X, Fritsche L, Mukherjee B. Global prevalence of post covid-19 condition or long covid: a meta-analysis and systematic review. J Infect Dis 2022 Apr 16(jiac136):1-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiac136] [Medline: 35429399]
- 2. World Health Organization. A Clinical Case Definition of Post COVID-19 Condition by a Delphi Consensus. 2021. URL: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-Post\_COVID-19\_condition-Clinical\_case\_definition-2021.1 [accessed 2022-09-07]
- 3. Davis HE, Assaf GS, McCorkell L, Wei H, Low RJ, Re'em Y, et al. Characterizing long COVID in an international cohort: 7 months of symptoms and their impact. EClinicalMedicine 2021 Aug;38:101019. [doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101019]
- Mao L, Jin H, Wang M, Hu Y, Chen S, He Q, et al. Neurologic manifestations of hospitalized patients with coronavirus disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Neurol 2020 Jun 01;77(6):683-690 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2020.1127] [Medline: 32275288]
- Wang L, He W, Yu X, Hu D, Bao M, Liu H, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 in elderly patients: characteristics and prognostic factors based on 4-week follow-up. J Infect 2020 Jun;80(6):639-645 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2020.03.019] [Medline: 32240670]
- Yang X, Yu Y, Xu J, Shu H, Xia J, Liu H, et al. Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a single-centered, retrospective, observational study. Lancet Respir Med 2020 May;8(5):475-481. [doi: 10.1016/s2213-2600(20)30079-5]
- 7. Phillips M, Turner-Stokes L, Wade D, Walton K. Rehabilitation in the wake of Covid-19 A phoenix from the ashes. Br Soc Rehabil Med 2020;1:1-19 [FREE Full text]
- 8. Adhikari S, Meng S, Wu Y, Mao Y, Ye R, Wang Q, et al. Epidemiology, causes, clinical manifestation and diagnosis, prevention and control of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) during the early outbreak period: a scoping review. Infect Dis Poverty 2020 Mar 17;9(1):29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40249-020-00646-x] [Medline: 32183901]
- Singhal T. A review of coronavirus disease-2019 (covid-19). Indian J Pediatr 2020 Apr 13;87(4):281-286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12098-020-03263-6] [Medline: 32166607]
- Alberta Health Services COVID-19 Scientific Advisory Group. COVID-19 Scientific Advisory Group Rapid Response Report. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/info/ppih/if-ppih-covid-19-sag-risk-prediction-tools-rapid-review.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-09-07]
- Domingo F, Waddell L, Cheung A, Cooper C, Belcourt V, Zuckermann A. Prevalence of long-term effects in individuals diagnosed with COVID-19: A living systematic review. medRxiv Preprint posted online November 3, 2021. [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/2021.06.03.21258317]
- 12. Vu T, McGill S. An overview of post-covid-19 condition (long covid). Can J Health Technol 2021 Sep 24;1(9):1-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.51731/cjht.2021.160]
- 13. Public Health Ontario. Post-Acute COVID-19 Syndrome (PACS) in Adults. 2022. URL: <u>https://www.publichealthontario.ca/</u> \_/media/Documents/nCoV/ipac/2022/04/post-acute-covid-syndrome-pacs.pdf?sc\_lang=en [accessed 2022-09-07]
- Ceban F, Ling S, Lui L, Lee Y, Gill H, Teopiz K, et al. Fatigue and cognitive impairment in post-covid-19 syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Brain Behav Immun 2022 Mar;101:93-135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2021.12.020] [Medline: 34973396]
- 15. Burton A, Aughterson H, Fancourt D, Philip K. Factors shaping the mental health and well-being of people experiencing persistent COVID-19 symptoms or 'long COVID': qualitative study. BJPsych open 2022 Mar 21;8(2):1-8. [doi: 10.1192/bjo.2022.38]

https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e39883

RenderX

- Ladds E, Rushforth A, Wieringa S, Taylor S, Rayner C, Husain L, et al. Persistent symptoms after covid-19: qualitative study of 114 "long covid" patients and draft quality principles for services. BMC Health Serv Res 2020 Dec 20;20(1144):1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-06001-y] [Medline: 33342437]
- 17. Lopez-Leon S, Wegman-Ostrosky T, Perelman C, Sepulveda R, Rebolledo P, Cuapio A, et al. More than 50 long-term effects of COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Sci Rep 2021 Aug 09;11(1):16144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-95565-8] [Medline: 34373540]
- Hanson S, Abbafati C, Aerts J, Al-Aly Z, Ashbaugh C, Ballouz T. A global systematic analysis of the occurrence, severity, and recovery pattern of long COVID in 2020 and 2021. medRxiv Preprint posted online May 27, 2022. [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1101/2022.05.26.22275532]
- 19. Statistics Canada. Table 11-10-0135-02. Percentage of Persons in Low Income by Sex. 2022. URL: <u>https://www150.stat</u> can.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1110013502 [accessed 2022-09-07]
- Premji S. Barriers to return-to-work for linguistic minorities in Ontario: an analysis of narratives from appeal decisions. J Occup Rehabil 2015 Jun;25(2):357-367. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10926-014-9544-3</u>] [Medline: <u>25240395</u>]
- 21. Waddell G, Burton A. Is Work Good for Your Health and Well-Being?. Norwich, England: TSO; 2006.
- 22. Workers Compensation Board Alberta. COVID-19. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.wcb.ab.ca/assets/pdfs/workers/WFS\_COVID\_19.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-09-01]
- Gross DP, Park J, Rayani F, Norris CM, Esmail S. Motivational interviewing improves sustainable return to work in injured workers after rehabilitation: a cluster randomized controlled trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2017 Dec;98(12):2355-2363. [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2017.06.003] [Medline: 28647549]
- 24. Gross DP, Rachor GS, Yamamoto SS, Dick BD, Brown C, Senthilselvan A, et al. Characteristics and prognostic factors for return to work in public safety personnel with work-related posttraumatic stress injury undergoing rehabilitation. J Occup Rehabil 2021 Dec;31(4):768-784. [doi: 10.1007/s10926-021-09963-w] [Medline: 33751310]
- 25. Gross DP, Asante A, Pawluk J, Niemeläinen R. A descriptive study of the implementation of remote occupational rehabilitation services due to the covid-19 pandemic within a workers' compensation context. J Occup Rehabil 2021 Jun 28;31(2):444-453 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10926-020-09934-7] [Medline: 33118130]
- 26. Gross DP, Algarni FS, Niemeläinen R. Reference values for the SF-36 in Canadian injured workers undergoing rehabilitation. J Occup Rehabil 2015 Mar;25(1):116-126. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10926-014-9531-8</u>] [Medline: <u>24969159</u>]
- 27. Krupp LB, Alvarez LA, LaRocca NG, Scheinberg LC. Fatigue in multiple sclerosis. Arch Neurol 1988 Apr;45(4):435-437. [doi: <u>10.1001/archneur.1988.00520280085020</u>] [Medline: <u>3355400</u>]
- 28. Alberta Health Services. Post COVID-19 Functional Status Scale and Post COVID-19 Symptom Checklist. 2021. URL: https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/frm-21820.pdf [accessed 2022-09-07]
- 29. Ware JE, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care 1992 Jun;30(6):473-483. [Medline: <u>1593914</u>]
- 30. Tait RC, Chibnall JT, Krause S. The Pain Disability Index: psychometric properties. Pain 1990 Feb;40(2):171-182. [doi: 10.1016/0304-3959(90)90068-O] [Medline: 2308763]
- Myles PS, Troedel S, Boquest M, Reeves M. The pain visual analog scale: is it linear or nonlinear? Anesth Analg 1999 Dec;89(6):1517-1520. [doi: <u>10.1097/00000539-199912000-00038</u>] [Medline: <u>10589640</u>]
- 32. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x] [Medline: 11556941]
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med 2006 May 22;166(10):1092-1097. [doi: <u>10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092</u>] [Medline: <u>16717171</u>]
- Blevins CA, Weathers FW, Davis MT, Witte TK, Domino JL. The Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5): development and initial psychometric evaluation. J Trauma Stress 2015 Dec;28(6):489-498. [doi: <u>10.1002/jts.22059</u>] [Medline: <u>26606250</u>]
- 35. Ware J. In: Maruish ME, editor. User's Manual for the SF-36v2 Health Survey. 3rd ed. Lincoln, RI: Quality Metric; 2009.
- Hopman WM, Towheed T, Anastassiades T, Tenenhouse A, Poliquin S, Berger C, Canadian Multicentre Osteoporosis Study Research Group. Canadian normative data for the SF-36 health survey. CMAJ 2000 Aug 08;163(3):265-271 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 10951722]
- 37. Wong J, Kudla A, Pham T, Ezeife N, Crown D, Capraro P, et al. Lessons learned by rehabilitation counselors and physicians in services to covid-19 long-haulers: a qualitative study. Rehabil Counsel Bull 2021 Dec 14:1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/00343552211060014]
- Lunt J, Hemming S, Elander J, Baraniak A, Burton K, Ellington D. Experiences of workers with post-COVID-19 symptoms can signpost suitable workplace accommodations. Int J Workplace Health Manag 2022 Feb 23;15(3):359-374. [doi: 10.1108/ijwhm-03-2021-0075]
- 39. Pauwels S, Boets I, Polli A, Mylle G, de RH, Godderis L. Return to Work after Long COVID: Evidence at 8th March 2021. 2021. URL: <u>https://hse.gov.uk/research/assets/docs/return-to-work-after-long-covid.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-09-07]
- 40. Cancelliere C, Donovan J, Stochkendahl M, Biscardi M, Ammendolia C, Myburgh C, et al. Factors affecting return to work after injury or illness: best evidence synthesis of systematic reviews. Chiropr Man Therap 2016 Sep 8;24(1):32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12998-016-0113-z] [Medline: 27610218]



- Gatchel RJ, Polatin PB, Noe C, Gardea M, Pulliam C, Thompson J. Treatment- and cost-effectiveness of early intervention for acute low-back pain patients: a one-year prospective study. J Occup Rehabil 2003 Mar;13(1):1-9. [doi: 10.1023/a:1021823505774] [Medline: 12611026]
- 42. Wong TL, Weitzer DJ. Long covid and myalgic encephalomyelitis/chronic fatigue syndrome (ME/CFS)-a systemic review and comparison of clinical presentation and symptomatology. Medicina (Kaunas) 2021 Apr 26;57(5):418 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/medicina57050418] [Medline: 33925784]
- 43. Stevelink SAM, Mark KM, Fear NT, Hotopf M, Chalder T. Chronic fatigue syndrome and occupational status: a retrospective longitudinal study. Occup Med (Lond) 2022 Apr 19;72(3):177-183. [doi: <u>10.1093/occmed/kqab170</u>] [Medline: <u>34865116</u>]

#### Abbreviations

DSM-5: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders Fifth Edition FFW: fit for work FSS: Fatigue Severity Scale GAD-7: 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Questionnaire LC: long COVID MCS: mental component score PCFS: Post-COVID Functional Scale PCL-5: Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders Fifth Edition posttraumatic stress disorder checklist **PCS:** physical component score PDI: Pain Disability Index PHQ-9: 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire PROM: patient-reported outcome measure PTSD: posttraumatic stress disorder **RO:** research question **RTW:** return-to-work SF-36: 36-item Short Form Health Survey VAS: Visual Analogue Scale WCB-Alberta: Workers' Compensation Board of Alberta

Edited by T Leung, L Sheehy; submitted 26.05.22; peer-reviewed by M Wasilewski, D Richter; comments to author 22.07.22; revised version received 05.08.22; accepted 29.08.22; published 14.09.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Brehon K, Niemeläinen R, Hall M, Bostick GP, Brown CA, Wieler M, Gross DP Return-to-Work Following Occupational Rehabilitation for Long COVID: Descriptive Cohort Study JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e39883 URL: <u>https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e39883</u> doi:<u>10.2196/39883</u> PMID:<u>36094442</u>

©Katelyn Brehon, Riikka Niemeläinen, Mark Hall, Geoff P Bostick, Cary A Brown, Marguerite Wieler, Douglas P Gross. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 14.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Internet-Based Information Sharing With Families of Patients With Stroke in a Rehabilitation Hospital During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Case-Control Study

Tatsunori Murakami<sup>1,2</sup>, PT, MA; Yumi Higuchi<sup>1</sup>, PT, PhD; Tetsuya Ueda<sup>1</sup>, PT, PhD; Wataru Kozuki<sup>1</sup>, PT, MA; Aki Gen<sup>1</sup>, PT, MA

<sup>1</sup>Graduate School of Rehabilitation Science, Osaka Metropolitan University, Habikino, Japan

<sup>2</sup>Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, Hoshigaoka Medical Center, Japan Community Health Care Organization, Hirakata City, Japan

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Tatsunori Murakami, PT, MA Graduate School of Rehabilitation Science Osaka Metropolitan University 3-7-30 Habikino, 583-8555 Japan Phone: 81 72 950 2111 Email: <u>tatsunori.m.1011@gmail.com</u>

# Abstract

**Background:** The spread of COVID-19 has affected stroke rehabilitation. Given that inpatient visits are restricted in most institutions, alternative ways of providing information to family members are imperative. Informing families about patients' rehabilitation progress via the web may help involve families in the rehabilitation process, enhance patients' motivation to continue rehabilitation, and contribute overall to patients' improvement in activities of daily living (ADL).

**Objective:** We aimed to investigate the feasibility of the Internet-Based Rehabilitation Information Sharing (IRIS) intervention for families of patients with stroke at a rehabilitation hospital and examine the effect of IRIS on patients' ADL improvement.

**Methods:** In this case-control study, participants were inpatients at a rehabilitation hospital between March 2020 and April 2021. The intervention group (information and communication technology [ICT] group) included patients and families who requested IRIS, which consisted of a progress report on patients' rehabilitation using text, photos, and videos. Those who did not receive internet-based information were included in the non-ICT group. The control group, matched with the ICT group based on a 1:1 propensity score, was selected from the non-ICT group. The covariates for calculating the propensity score were patients' age, sex, and motor and cognitive scores on the Functional Independence Measure at admission. The main outcome was the degree of ADL improvement during hospitalization. Multiple regression analysis (forced entry method) was performed to confirm the impact of ICT use on ADL improvement. The independent variables were the presence of intervention, length of hospital stay, and number of days from onset to hospitalization.

**Results:** In total, 16 groups of patients and families participated in the IRIS. The mean age of patients was 78.6 (SD 7.2) and 78.6 (SD 8.2) years in the ICT and control groups, respectively. The median total Functional Independence Measure difference was 28.5 (IQR 20.3-53.0) and 11.0 (IQR 2.8-30.0) in the ICT and control groups, respectively, and the ICT group showed significant improvement in ADL function (P=.02). In the multiple regression analysis of the ICT and control groups, the unstandardized regression coefficient was 11.97 (95% CI 0.09-23.84) for ICT use. These results indicate that ICT use was independently and significantly associated with improvement in ADL.

**Conclusions:** This study examined the effect of IRIS on family members to improve ADL in patients with stroke who are hospitalized. The results showed that IRIS promotes the improvement of patients' ADL regardless of age, sex, motor and cognitive functions at admission, and the length of hospital stay.

(JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e38489) doi:10.2196/38489



#### **KEYWORDS**

COVID-19; internet-based; health information; stroke; family; rehabilitation; case-control; activities of daily living; information communication technology; physical function; recovery

# Introduction

#### Background

The spread of COVID-19 has affected medical institutions in general [1,2]. Given that inpatient visits are restricted in most institutions, communication between patients and families and between patients' families and medical workers is difficult [3]. Studies have shown that family members of patients with stroke who are hospitalized are not usually informed about the type of care provided to patients, rehabilitation progress, and functional prognosis [4-6]. Therefore, if inpatient visits are restricted, alternative ways of providing information to family members are imperative [6].

Web-based interventions are expected to improve the quality of medical services [7]. There have been increasing reports on telemedicine and telerehabilitation. Web-based medical services include video conferencing, education for patients and their families, counseling, and rehabilitation support [8]. The expected benefits of the web in medical services are efficiency, convenience, and reduced COVID-19 infection risk due to noncontact [9]. In the future, web-based interventions will continue to be developed, and a variety of intervention methods and effects will be reported. However, at present, there are no previous studies using information and communication technology (ICT) to share information with family members of patients admitted to rehabilitation hospitals.

The guidelines for adult stroke rehabilitation published by the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association [10] indicate that "Communication and coordination between a large team, including the patient and his or her families, physicians, nurses, physical and occupational therapists, speech-language pathologists [is] paramount in maximizing the effectiveness and efficiency of rehabilitation. Without communication and coordination, isolated efforts to rehabilitate the stroke survivor are unlikely to achieve their full potential." It is recommended that patient assessment in stroke rehabilitation be based on the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health [11]. Therefore, family information, such as family caregiving abilities and home environment, is useful for medical workers. Activities to intervene during hospitalization should be selected according to environmental factors after discharge. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health-based goals have been reported to increase rehabilitation efficiency [11]. With information from the family, personalized goals can be set for each patient.

Rehabilitation professionals have suspected that a patient's motivation plays an important role in determining the outcome of therapy. Motivation for rehabilitation can be conceived as an internal "personality trait" of the individual patient, a quality that is affected by social factors [12]. It was reported that among patients in rehabilitation hospitals, those who perceive higher levels of family support are more motivated to improve mobility [13]. Therefore, the patient perception of family support is an

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38489
```

important factor in enhancing the effectiveness of rehabilitation. However, during the COVID-19 outbreak, patients were isolated due to visitation limitations. Therefore, communication between patients and families mediated by health care providers is needed. Showing that family members care about the patient may improve their rehabilitation motivation.

#### Objectives

Patients' families play an important role in the rehabilitation of patients with stroke [14]. Health care providers should be more aware of the fact that a patient's family acts as a facilitator and supporter of the patient's functional improvement [15]. Therefore, interactive information sharing on rehabilitation with patients' families via the web is expected to involve families' ability to support rehabilitation, set personalized goals, motivate patients, and contribute to improving patients' activities of daily living (ADL). Thus, we aimed to investigate the feasibility of the Internet-Based Rehabilitation Information Sharing (IRIS) intervention for families of patients with stroke at a rehabilitation hospital and examine the effect of IRIS on patients' ADL improvement.

# Methods

#### **Study Design and Participants**

In this case-control study, electronic medical records were retrospectively examined between March 2020 and April 2021. Participants were inpatients at a rehabilitation hospital in Hirakata City, Osaka, Japan. The inclusion criteria were being aged >60 years and having a stroke diagnosis. The exclusion criterion was having been institutionalized before stroke onset.

The study period was during a time when hospital policy restricted visiting for all patients following the spread of COVID-19 infection, making it difficult for family members to see the progress of rehabilitation. In this study, the intervention group (ICT group) included patients and families who requested internet-based information provision. Information forms placed at the reception counter of the wards were distributed to hospitalized patients, and posters were displayed in the corridors of the wards. The information sheet contained the email address of the physiotherapist in charge of the ward, and patients' families could receive internet-based information by indicating their willingness to participate in the study by sending an email to the concerned physiotherapist.

In contrast, patients and families who did not receive internet-based information were included in the non-ICT group. The non-ICT group was selected as the control group after a 1:1 propensity score matching [16] with the ICT group. The covariates for calculating the propensity score were patients' age, sex, motor score on the Functional Independence Measure (FIM) at admission, and cognitive score on the FIM. Nearest-neighbor matching was used as the matching method.

#### **Ethics Approval**

This study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee at Osaka Prefecture University (2018-118) and the Research Ethics Committee at Japan Community Health Care Organization Hoshigaoka Medical Center (IRB-HG2146). Hoshigaoka Medical Center obtained consent from all patients for the use of anonymized data from patients who are hospitalized for clinical research. Patients were also offered the opportunity to opt out, and the information was posted on the hospital's official website.

#### Intervention

The intervention, named IRIS, began within 2 weeks of admission to the rehabilitation hospital, and it was maintained until discharge. For the ICT group, the therapist reported on patients' rehabilitation progress to their families at least once every 2 weeks using videos and text and responded to questions from family members. The IRIS mainly consisted of a progress report on rehabilitation. Videos were sent to patients practicing standing and walking during physiotherapy, patients practicing ADL during occupational therapy, and patients testing their higher brain functions in speech-language pathology. The intentions and concerns of patients' families were also included to facilitate decision-making. Videos were used to explain ways to help assist a patient. Patients' families sent pictures of their homes so that the physiotherapist in charge could suggest modifications to enable adaptation to patients' functions. An overview of the IRIS is shown in Figure 1.

In addition, using IRIS, the medical staff interviewed the patient's family members about the patient's environmental factors and used these factors in setting the patient's rehabilitation goals. For example, for a patient who lived alone during the day and had difficulty moving independently to the toilet, the patient's family's wishes were included when suggesting that the patient practice using a portable toilet. Additionally, in cases where the use of stairs was essential to enter the house, the need for stair climbing practice was identified and prioritized.

The information shared using IRIS between the health care provider and the patient's family was also provided to the patient. The family learned about the patient's rehabilitation process and informed the patient that the family expected the patient to improve. This information was used to encourage the patient's rehabilitation motivation.

The Medical Care Station (MCS) application (Embrace Co., Ltd) was used to provide information. MCS is a security-conscious, "completely private" social networking service that shares information in a timeline format. Only authorized members can view MCS communications.

Figure 1. The overview diagram of Internet-Based Rehabilitation Information Sharing (IRIS).



# **Inpatient Rehabilitation**

All patients received daily physical and occupational therapy, as well as speech and language therapy as needed. The total time commitment was a maximum of 3 hours per day. The program was determined by each in-charge therapist after evaluating the patient. The hospital held a face-to-face conference approximately 1 month after admission, and the medical staff informed patients' families about the rehabilitation progress during their hospital stay.

#### **Main Outcome**

The main outcome was the degree of ADL improvement during hospitalization. The total FIM scores at the time of admission and discharge were evaluated by the occupational therapist in charge, and the difference between the 2 scores was defined as ADL improvement. In addition, data on patients' age, sex, discharge destination, hospital stay, and the number of days

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38489
```

from onset to hospitalization were obtained from the medical records.

#### **Characteristics of the Patient's Family**

In the ICT group, patient family information, including age, sex, relationship with the patient (spouse or child), and occupation, were obtained from the MCS.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

For univariate comparisons, the  $\chi^2$  test, uncorrelated 2-tailed *t* test, and Mann-Whitney *U* test were used. Multiple regression analysis (forced entry method) was performed to confirm the impact of ICT use on ADL improvement. In the analysis of the ICT and control groups, the independent variables were the presence of intervention, length of hospital stay, and number of days from onset to hospitalization.

# Results

#### **Control Group Selection**

A total of 131 participants met the inclusion criteria during the study period. The patient results are presented in Table 1. In total, 16 groups of patients and families participated in the IRIS. The median (IQR) total FIM score on admission was 37.0 (28.8-79.3) in the ICT group and 75.0 (55.0-97.0) in the non-ICT

group, and patients who received IRIS reported significantly lower independence in ADL on admission (P=.004). In addition, 16 control participants were selected from the non-ICT group and matched to the ICT group using age, sex, motor FIM score at admission, and cognitive FIM score at admission as covariates (Figure 2). The total FIM score at admission for the control group was 40.5 (IQR 22.8-81.8), which was not significantly different from that of the ICT group (P=.90).

Table 1. Comparise	on of ICT and control gro	ups by matching. P	values are all based of	on comparisons with the I	CT group.
--------------------	---------------------------	--------------------	-------------------------	---------------------------	-----------

Variable	ICT <sup>a</sup> group (n=16)	Control group (n=16)	P value	Non-ICT group (n=115)	P value
Age (years), mean (SD)	78.6 (7.2)	78.6 (8.2)	.96 <sup>b</sup>	77.3 (8.2)	.53 <sup>b</sup>
Sex, female, n (%)	6 (37.5)	5 (31.2)	>.99 <sup>c</sup>	50 (43.5)	.79 <sup>c</sup>
Type of stroke, n (%)			.45 <sup>c</sup>		.81 <sup>c</sup>
Ischemic	10 (62.5)	7 (43.8)		79 (68.7)	
Hemorrhagic	5 (31.2)	6 (37.5)		32 (27.8)	
Subarachnoid hemorrhage	1 (6.2)	3 (18.8)		4 (3.5)	
Discharge destination, home, n (%)	10 (62.5)	8 (50)	.72 <sup>c</sup>	85 (73.9)	.38 <sup>c</sup>
Length of hospital stay (days), mean (SD)	95.3 (37.4)	70.6 (33.5)	.06 <sup>b</sup>	66.0 (37.3)	.004 <sup>b</sup>
Onset to hospitalization (days), mean (SD)	31.4 (17.5)	30.9 (15.3)	.93 <sup>b</sup>	27.7 (15.7)	.38 <sup>b</sup>
Total FIM <sup>d</sup> score (out of 126), median (IQR)					
Admission	37.0 (28.8-79.3)	40.5 (22.8-81.8)	.90 <sup>e</sup>	75.0 (55.0-97.0)	.004 <sup>e</sup>
Discharge	81.0 (60.3-105.0)	62.5 (29.5-109.5)	.21 <sup>e</sup>	105.0 (78.0-119.0)	.03 <sup>e</sup>
Difference	28.5 (20.3-53.0)	11.0 (2.8-30.0)	.02 <sup>e</sup>	22.0 (10.0-31.0)	.02 <sup>e</sup>
Motor FIM score (out of 91), median (IQR)					
Admission	21.5 (13.0-51.3)	20.5 (13.0-53.0)	.90 <sup>e</sup>	51.0 (31.0-66.0)	.003 <sup>e</sup>
Discharge	64.0 (38.8-76.3)	42.5 (16.0-80.0)	.14 <sup>e</sup>	79.0 (54.0-87.0)	.06 <sup>e</sup>
Difference	24.0 (17.0-46.0)	10.5 (3.0-25.8)	.03 <sup>e</sup>	20.0 (9.0-27.0)	.048 <sup>e</sup>
Cognitive FIM score (out of 31), median (IQR)					
Admission	19.0 (12.3-26.5)	20.0 (9.3-28.5)	.93 <sup>e</sup>	26.0 (20.0-32.0)	.01 <sup>e</sup>
Discharge	22.0 (16.3-29.0)	21.0 (11.3-30.0)	.78 <sup>e</sup>	28.0 (21.0-33.0)	.02 <sup>e</sup>
Difference	2.0 (0.0-5.0)	0.0 (0.0-1.8)	.29 <sup>e</sup>	0.0 (0.0-3.0)	.28 <sup>e</sup>

<sup>a</sup>ICT: information and communication technology.

<sup>b</sup>Unpaired 2-tailed *t* test.

 $^{c}\chi^{2}$  test.

<sup>d</sup>FIM: Functional Independence Measure.

<sup>e</sup>Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 2. Flow of the study participants. FIM: Functional Independence Measure; ICT: information and communication technology.



#### **Main Outcome**

The mean age of the patients was 78.6 (SD 7.2) and 78.6 (SD 8.2) years in the ICT and control groups, respectively. The median total FIM difference, which was the main outcome, was 28.5 (IQR 20.3-53.0) and 11.0 (IQR 2.8-30.0) in the ICT and control groups, respectively, and the ICT group showed significant improvement in ADL function (P=.02). The mean number of days from onset to hospitalization was 31.4 (SD 17.5) and 30.9 (SD 15.3) days for the ICT and control groups, respectively, which was not significantly different (P=.93). The

length of hospital stay—95.3 (SD 37.4) and 70.6 (SD 33.5) days for the ICT and control groups, respectively—showed a trend toward a longer hospital stay, but this result was not statistically significant (P=.06).

In the multiple regression analysis of the ICT and control groups, the unstandardized regression coefficients were 11.97 (95% CI 0.09-23.84) for ICT use, 0.19 (95% CI 0.03-0.36) for the length of hospital stay, and -0.37 (95% CI -0.72 to -0.02) for the number of days from onset to hospitalization. These results indicate that ICT use was independently and significantly associated with ADL improvement (see Table 2).

**Table 2.** Factors associated with activities of daily living improvement. Multiple regression analysis (forced imputation method) was used, with the dependent variable being the total Functional Independence Measure difference (R2=0.420). The number of participants is the sum of those in the ICT<sup>a</sup> and control groups (n=32).

Factor	В	β	95% CI	P value
Group (1: ICT group)	11.97	0.32	0.094-23.840	.048
Length of hospital stay (days)	0.19	0.37	0.031-0.356	.02
Onset to hospitalization (days)	-0.37	-0.31	-0.719 to -0.018	.04

<sup>a</sup>ICT: information and communication technology.

#### **Characteristics of the Patient's Family**

Information on the 16 family members in the ICT group is as follows. The 16 family members of the ICT group included 2 (12%) spouses (aged 64 and 74 years; both were female) and

14 (88%) children (6 sons and 8 daughters). There were 2 (12%) children in their 30s, 7 (44%) in their 40s, and 5 (31%) in their 50s (Table 3). Additionally, 13 (81%) family members were working.

No adverse events, such as information leakage, were reported.



Table 3. Families' characteristics in the information and communication technology group.

Ch	aracteristic	Family member (n=16), n (%)		
Age (years)				
	30-39	2 (12)		
	40-49	7 (44)		
	50-59	5 (31)		
	60-69	1 (6)		
	70-79	1 (6)		
Employment status				
	Working	13 (81)		
	Not working	3 (19)		

# Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study examined the effect of IRIS on family members to improve the ADL of patients with stroke who are hospitalized. The results showed that IRIS promoted patients' ADL improvement regardless of age, sex, motor and cognitive function at admission, or the length of hospital stay.

#### **Comparison to Prior Work**

In a previous study, a 4-day consecutive empowerment program for family members of patients with stroke who are hospitalized showed an improvement trend in patients at 2 weeks (during hospitalization) and significant improvement in patients' ADL at 2 months (after discharge) compared to that of the control group [17]. Therefore, interventions for family members of patients with stroke who are hospitalized may indirectly improve the patients' ADL. During the study period, inpatient visits were restricted to prevent the spread of COVID-19, so the control group families may have been less well informed than usual [18]. Therefore, we believe that the IRIS is an effective way to provide information, encourage the involvement of patients' families in the rehabilitation process, and improve the effectiveness of the rehabilitation program.

In the Cochrane Database, there is some very low-quality evidence that goal setting may improve some outcomes for adults receiving rehabilitation for an acquired disability [19]. Personalized care planning leads to improvements in certain indicators of physical and psychological health status [20]. By obtaining more information on environmental factors from the patient's family, IRIS was able to set personalized and appropriate goals, which may have contributed to improved patient functioning.

Living alone has been reported to be the strongest predictor of poststroke depression [21]. Living alone has also been reported to be a factor that leads to worse outcomes in inpatient rehabilitation after stroke. Furthermore, it was reported that the outcome of inpatient rehabilitation was better for those who lived with their children than for those who lived only with their spouses. This result was not due to differences in the time from stroke onset to hospital arrival [22], which may indicate that functional recovery was more effective in rehabilitation for

```
https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38489
```

patients with cohabiting family members than those living alone, who were less likely to have recovery expectations from their family members. There is evidence that information improves patient and caregiver knowledge about stroke and reduces patient depression scores [23]. Additionally, feeling strongly supported by family members has been reported to improve motivation to exercise [24]. It is possible that communicating the patient's family's recovery expectations to the patient through the IRIS program may have improved the patient's motivation for rehabilitation and promoted ADL improvement.

Strokes often occur around the age of 70-80 years [25], and children of patients with stroke are often aged 40-50 years. Many family members support patients while working, but their busy schedules may make it difficult to both work and support the patients [26]. Moreover, documents related to inpatient care are difficult to understand and may stress patients' families. The web, however, makes it possible to share videos and thereby transmit information that is visually easy to understand. Patients' families do not need to worry about the time of the day when checking or sending information. Furthermore, the system can be used as a measure to restrict inpatient visits to prevent the spread of COVID-19. In the future, information sharing between hospital staff and patients' families using the web will likely become more common.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

This study is the first to examine IRIS for family members of patients with stroke who are hospitalized to improve patients' ADL. Despite the importance of these findings, this study had a few limitations. First, this study was not a randomized controlled trial. Since we were not involved in the allocation process, we were unable to eliminate the effects of selection bias and unmeasured confounders. Family members of patients who want to share information via the web may be more likely to be proactive in supporting patients. Previous studies have reported that factors associated with ADL improvement in patients with stroke who are hospitalized include patients' age [27], sex [28], and motor and cognitive functions at the time of admission [29]. In this study, patients' age, sex, and motor function and cognitive function at admission were used as covariates for propensity score matching and selecting a control group. We also used the length of stay, which is an indicator of the degree of the rehabilitation provided, as a covariate in the

XSL•FO RenderX

multiple regression analysis. Therefore, although this study was not a randomized controlled trial, we believe that we statistically adjusted for the confounders as much as possible. Second, limited information on patients' families was collected. In the future, we plan to investigate family members' understanding of patients, satisfaction with inpatient care, and psychological anxiety. Third, we were unable to evaluate patients' motivation for rehabilitation. It is unclear whether sharing information with patients' families via the web affects patients' motivation. Fourth, the study was conducted at a single institution, and the sample size was small. Therefore, it is necessary to conduct a large-scale study to verify the generalizability of the study findings.

#### **Future Research Directions**

Considering the difficulty of providing information for patients' families due to inpatient visitation restrictions owing to COVID-19, we believe that the IRIS has a reasonable demand. Additionally, patients' families' responses to the IRIS were positive, and no adverse events were reported. Thus, it would be useful to continue implementing the IRIS to disseminate vital patient-related information to patients' families.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to express our sincere gratitude to Mr Kazuhiro Inamura, Chief Rehabilitation Officer, Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Department, Japan Community Health Care Organization Hoshigaoka Medical Center, and to all the staff members involved in the rehabilitation ward.

# Data Availability

The data sets analyzed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Zhao J, Rudd A, Liu R. Challenges and potential solutions of stroke care during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak. Stroke 2020 May;51(5):1356-1357 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1161/STROKEAHA.120.029701</u>] [Medline: <u>32228369</u>]
- Bass DI, Meyer RM, Barros G, Carroll KT, Walker M, D'Oria M, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on cerebrovascular disease. Semin Vasc Surg 2021 Jun;34(2):20-27 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1053/j.semvascsurg.2021.05.001</u>] [Medline: <u>34144743</u>]
- Camicia ME, Cournan MC, Rye J. COVID-19 and inpatient rehabilitation nursing care: lessons learned and implications for the future. Rehabil Nurs 2021 Aug;46(4):187-196 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1097/RNJ.00000000000337</u>] [Medline: <u>34009902</u>]
- 4. Pindus DM, Mullis R, Lim L, Wellwood I, Rundell AV, Abd Aziz NA, et al. Stroke survivors' and informal caregivers' experiences of primary care and community healthcare services a systematic review and meta-ethnography. PLoS One 2018 Feb 21;13(2):e0192533 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192533] [Medline: 29466383]
- Kristensson L, Björkdahl A. Experience of information provision at the stroke unit from the perspective of relatives to stroke survivors. Rehabil Process Outcome 2020 Aug 13;9:1179572720947086 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1179572720947086] [Medline: 34497469]
- Sutter-Leve R, Passint E, Ness D, Rindflesch A. The caregiver experience after stroke in a COVID-19 environment: a qualitative study in inpatient rehabilitation. J Neurol Phys Ther 2021 Jan;45(1):14-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/NPT.0000000000336] [Medline: <u>33086240</u>]
- Ekeland AG, Bowes A, Flottorp S. Effectiveness of telemedicine: a systematic review of reviews. Int J Med Inform 2010 Nov;79(11):736-771. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2010.08.006] [Medline: 20884286]
- 8. Chi NC, Demiris G. A systematic review of telehealth tools and interventions to support family caregivers. J Telemed Telecare 2015 Jan;21(1):37-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X14562734] [Medline: 25475220]
- Doraiswamy S, Abraham A, Mamtani R, Cheema S. Use of telehealth during the COVID-19 pandemic: scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Dec 01;22(12):e24087 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24087] [Medline: 33147166]
- Winstein CJ, Stein J, Arena R, Bates B, Cherney LR, Cramer SC, American Heart Association Stroke Council, Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing, Council on Clinical Cardiology, Council on Quality of Care and Outcomes Research. Guidelines for adult stroke rehabilitation and recovery: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke 2016 Jun;47(6):e98-e169. [doi: <u>10.1161/STR.000000000000098</u>] [Medline: <u>27145936</u>]
- Amundsen O, Vøllestad NK, Meisingset I, Robinson HS. Associations between treatment goals, patient characteristics, and outcome measures for patients with musculoskeletal disorders in physiotherapy practice. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2021 Feb 13;22(1):182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12891-021-04048-4] [Medline: 33583404]

RenderX

- 12. Maclean N, Pound P. A critical review of the concept of patient motivation in the literature on physical rehabilitation. Soc Sci Med 2000 Feb;50(4):495-506. [doi: 10.1016/s0277-9536(99)00334-2] [Medline: 10641802]
- Kozica-Olenski S, McRae P, Bew P, Mudge A. 'I will walk out of here': qualitative analysis of older rehabilitation patients' perceptions of mobility. Australas J Ageing 2020 Sep 25;39(3):209-216. [doi: <u>10.1111/ajag.12777</u>] [Medline: <u>32096895</u>]
- Visser-Meily A, Post M, Gorter JW, Berlekom SBV, van den Bos T, Lindeman E. Rehabilitation of stroke patients needs a family-centred approach. Disabil Rehabil 2006 Dec 30;28(24):1557-1561. [doi: <u>10.1080/09638280600648215</u>] [Medline: <u>17178619</u>]
- 15. Bakas T, Clark PC, Kelly-Hayes M, King RB, Lutz BJ, Miller EL, American Heart Association Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing and the Stroke Council. Evidence for stroke family caregiver and dyad interventions: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association and American Stroke Association. Stroke 2014 Sep;45(9):2836-2852. [doi: 10.1161/STR.00000000000033] [Medline: 25034718]
- 16. Benedetto U, Head SJ, Angelini GD, Blackstone EH. Statistical primer: propensity score matching and its alternatives. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2018 Jun 01;53(6):1112-1117. [doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezy167] [Medline: 29684154]
- 17. Deyhoul N, Vasli P, Rohani C, Shakeri N, Hosseini M. The effect of family-centered empowerment program on the family caregiver burden and the activities of daily living of Iranian patients with stroke: a randomized controlled trial study. Aging Clin Exp Res 2020 Jul 31;32(7):1343-1352. [doi: 10.1007/s40520-019-01321-4] [Medline: 31473982]
- Lee JJ, Tsang WN, Yang SC, Kwok JYY, Lou VW, Lau KK. Qualitative study of Chinese stroke caregivers' caregiving experience during the COVID-19 pandemic. Stroke 2021 Apr;52(4):1407-1414 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.120.032250] [Medline: <u>33588588</u>]
- Levack WM, Weatherall M, Hay-Smith EJC, Dean SG, McPherson K, Siegert RJ. Goal setting and strategies to enhance goal pursuit for adults with acquired disability participating in rehabilitation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Jul 20(7):CD009727 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009727.pub2] [Medline: 26189709]
- Coulter A, Entwistle VA, Eccles A, Ryan S, Shepperd S, Perera R. Personalised care planning for adults with chronic or long-term health conditions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Mar 03(3):CD010523 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010523.pub2] [Medline: 25733495]
- Damsbo AG, Kraglund KL, Buttenschøn HN, Johnsen SP, Andersen G, Mortensen JK. Predictors for wellbeing and characteristics of mental health after stroke. J Affect Disord 2020 Mar 01;264:358-364 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.12.032] [Medline: 32056772]
- Ishikawa Y, Hifumi T, Urashima M. Influence of living alone or with a spouse only on the short-term prognosis in patients after an acute ischemic stroke. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Nov 06;17(21):8223 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17218223] [Medline: 33172171]
- Forster A, Brown L, Smith J, House A, Knapp P, Wright JJ, et al. Information provision for stroke patients and their caregivers. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2012 Nov 14;11:CD001919 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001919.pub3] [Medline: 23152210]
- 24. Inui Y, Tanaka Y, Ogawa T, Hayashida K, Morioka S. Relationship between exercise motivation and social support in a support facility for persons with disabilities in Japan. Ann Med 2022 Dec 14;54(1):820-829 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/07853890.2022.2049860] [Medline: 35285358]
- 25. Toyoda K, Inoue M, Koga M. Small but steady steps in stroke medicine in Japan. J Am Heart Assoc 2019 Aug 20;8(16):e013306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.013306] [Medline: 31390925]
- 26. Carretero S, Garcés J, Ródenas F, Sanjosé V. The informal caregiver's burden of dependent people: theory and empirical review. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2009 Jul;49(1):74-79. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.archger.2008.05.004</u>] [Medline: <u>18597866</u>]
- Kongsawasdi S, Klaphajone J, Wivatvongvana P, Watcharasaksilp K. Prognostic factors of functional outcome assessed by using the modified rankin scale in subacute ischemic stroke. J Clin Med Res 2019 May;11(5):375-382 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14740/jocmr3799] [Medline: 31019633]
- Hankey GJ, Spiesser J, Hakimi Z, Bego G, Carita P, Gabriel S. Rate, degree, and predictors of recovery from disability following ischemic stroke. Neurology 2007 May 08;68(19):1583-1587. [doi: <u>10.1212/01.wnl.0000260967.77422.97</u>] [Medline: <u>17485645</u>]
- 29. Gialanella B, Santoro R, Ferlucci C. Predicting outcome after stroke: the role of basic activities of daily living predicting outcome after stroke. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2013 Oct;49(5):629-637 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 22641250]

# Abbreviations

ADL: activities of daily living FIM: Functional Independence Measure ICT: information and communication technology IRIS: Internet-Based Rehabilitation Information Sharing MCS: Medical Care Station



Edited by T Leung, L Sheehy; submitted 04.04.22; peer-reviewed by W Lo, 冲 李; comments to author 04.07.22; revised version received 25.07.22; accepted 10.08.22; published 20.09.22.
Please cite as:
Murakami T, Higuchi Y, Ueda T, Kozuki W, Gen A
Internet-Based Information Sharing With Families of Patients With Stroke in a Rehabilitation Hospital During the COVID-19 Pandemic:
Case-Control Study
JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2022;9(3):e38489
URL: <a href="https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38489">https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38489</a>
PMID: <a href="https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38489">https://rehab.jmir.org/2022/3/e38489</a>

©Tatsunori Murakami, Yumi Higuchi, Tetsuya Ueda, Wataru Kozuki, Aki Gen. Originally published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology (https://rehab.jmir.org), 20.09.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Rehabilitation and Assistive Technology, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://rehab.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

